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CONTRACT

2012-62-011
The Parties to this contract are the State of lllinois acting through the undersigned Agency, the lllinois Department of Healthcare And Family
Services (*HFS” or collectively the State) and the Vendor. This contract, consisting of the signature page and numbered sections listed below and -
any attachmenits referenced in this contract, constitutes the entire contract between the Parties conceming the subject matter of the confract, and
supersedes all prior proposals, contracts and understandings between the Parties conceming the subject matter of the contract. This contract can be
signed in multiple counterparls and signature may be electronic or digital upon agreement of the Parties.

TERM AND TERMINATION

DESCRIPTION OF SUPPLIES AND SERVICES
PRICING

STANDARD BUSINESS TERMS AND CONDITIONS
STANDARD CERTIFICATIONS

DISCLOSURES AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
SUPPLEMENTAL PROVISIONS

Noobkown =

In consideration of the mutual covenan!s and agreements contained in this contract, and for other good and valuable cbnsideralion, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree to the terms and conditions set forth herein and have caused this contract o be
executed by their duly authorized representatives on the dates shown below.

VENDOR STATE OF ILLINOIS

Cognizant Technology Solutions U.S. Corporation Healthcare and Family Services

Signature //{%ctf / efosiotcot” Official Signature QV"L& Hz/lfh-—h-/

Printed Name f VEENMNE Lo cononor ' Printed Name _ | Julfe Hamos | : l

Tite LORPORATE LouvmwsEL  pae 05//‘//2 &/3  Tile ___ Direclor : | Date [//Z 0/2(?/5
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JEAwEck New JEesey ©76éc Printed Name

phone 2-0/- £O/- ©2 23 Fax 20/‘./0/;02‘/3 Title _

E-mail EVEENE. SOLOMop OV @& LOGNMT2ANT. CON Address__201 South Grand Avenue East

Springfield, IL. 62763

Phone ___217-782-7755 Fax

E-mail
CHIEF PROCUREMENT OFFICER

Official Signature ' _ Designee Signature

Printed Name Printed Name

Title ' Date o Tile ' - Date
Address |

STATE USE ONLY ‘ - NOT PART OF CONTRACTUAL
PROVISIONS

EBC# . ' Project Title

Contract # Procurement Method (IFB,_RFP, Sma_ﬂ.jtc).’

IPB Ref, # IPB Publication Date: Award
Code: :

Subcontractor Utilization? Yes No Subcontracfor Disclosure? Yes No

Funding Source Obligation #

CPQ 33 — General Counsel Approval:

Signatorg_ Printed Name LAt —

Revision 12/14/2010 ‘ ‘  Page 1



STATE OF ILLINOIS
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

1.

TERM AND TERMINATION
11 TERM OF THIS CONTRACT:

12

13

1.4

1.5

The term of this contract shall be from the date of final execution by the State and shall conlinue for 6 years.
if a start dale is not identified, the term shall commence upen the last dated signature of the Parties.
In no event will the total term of the contract, including the initial term, any renewal terms and any extensions, exceed 10 years.

Vendor shall not commence billable work in furtherance of the contract prior to final execution of the contract.

. RENEWAL: Subject to the maximum total term as identified ab_ove, the State has the option to renew for the following term(s):
“The Cdntract may be renéwed és shown below. A ‘ - B 7

_The State reserves the right to renew for a total of 4 years in one of the followihg mannefs: ‘

a) One renewal covering the entire renewal allowanc,

- b) Individual one-year renewals up to and including the entire renewal allowance, or
.¢) Any combination of full or partial-year renewals uptoand induding the entire renewal allowance.

Pricing for the renewal term(s), or the formula for détennihing price Is shown in the pricing section of this contract, -

Any renewal is subject to the same terms and conditions as the original contract except as stated in this subsection. The State
may renew this contract for any or all of the option periods specified; may exercise any of the renewal options early and may exercise
more than one option at a time based on continuing need and favorable market conditions when in the best interest of the State. The
contract may not renew automatically nor may the contract renew solely at the Vendor's option. . ‘

TERMINATION FOR CAUSE: The State may terminate this contract, in whole or in part, immediately upon notice to the Vendor
if: (a) the State determines that the actions or nactions of the Vendor, its agents, employees or subcontractors have caused, or.
reasonably could cause, jeopardy to heaith, safety, or property, or (b) the Vendor has ndtiﬁqd the State in writing that it is unable

" or unwilling to perform the contract.

If Vendor fails to perform to the State's satisfaction any material requirement of this contract, is in violation of a material provision:

. of this contract, or the State determines that the Vendor lacks the financial resources to perform the contract, the State shall

provide written notice to the Vendor to cure the problem identified within the period of ime specified in the State’s written nolice.

. if not cured by that date the State may either. (a) immediately terminate the contract without additional written notice or (b)
- enforce the terms and conditions of the contract. : :

For termination due to any of the causes contained in this Section, the State retains its rights to seek any available legal or
equitable remedies and damages. :

TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE: The State may, for its convenience and with 30 days prior written notice to Vendor,
terminate this contract in whole or in part and without payment of any penalty or incurring any further obligation to the Vendor.
Vendor may, for its convenience and with 120 days prior written notice to the State, terminate this contract without payment of
any penalty or incurring any further obligation to the State. The Vendor shall be entitied to compensation upon submission of
invoices for supplies and services provided in compliance with this contract up te and including the date of termination.

" PAYMENT UPON TERMINATION; PAYMENT UPON TERMINATION: The Vendor shall be entitled fo compensation upon

submission of invoices for supplies and services provided in compliance with this contract up to and including the date of
termination. '



DESCRIPTION OF SUPPLIES AND SERVICES

21

2.2

GOAL: HFS desires Vendor to provide professional experis to assist with the Medicaid Management Information System
(MMIS) Upgrade Project. HFS does not desire to engage all the experts at once but rather to be able to staff the projects
optimally at the time required. As these projects progress, staffing requirements may change and HFS reserves the right lo
request additional experts, although the expertise categories will remain stable over the course of this contract, and Vendor will
use reasonable efforts to provide such additional experts within the timeframe agreed by the parties. HFS intends to transition its
resourcing model to a Full Time Equivalent (FTE) model to support the new Pharmacy Benefit Management System (PBMS) and
MMIS systems in the fulure, which may reduce the requirements for Vendor staff as these projects progress.

SUPPLIES AND/OR SERVICES REQUIRED:

221

Veendor shall provide expertise to assist with the MMIS Upgrade Project, which Includes upgrades to the PBMS and
Core MMIS. HFS may, at its sole option, determine that additional experts from the categories listed below are
needed throughout the course of the project and Vendor will use reasonable efforts to provide such additional experts
within the timeframe agreed by the parties. HFS may, atits sole option, increase or decrease the number of experts
required over the course of the project. o ‘ :

Experts are divided into the following categories:

2211

221.2

Expertise Category 1 - Profect Management Experts

Vendor shall provide qualified Project Management experts to support both the PBMS and the Core MMIS
projects.
Expertise Category 2 — Medicaid Team Leader Experts ,
Vendor shall provide Medicaid Team Leader experts to support both the PBMS and the Core MMIS projects.
The Team leaders shall coordinate the activities, status and productivity of the Subject Matter Experts (SME)
team they lead. These experts shall have experience in their particular area of Medicaid expertise. These
experls include: :
2.2.1.2.1 A Medicaid Policy Liaison with extensive experience in the overall administration of a Medicaid

program for a State Medicaid enterpriss. . _
2.2.1.2.2 Vendor shall provide thirleen (13) Team Leaders with expertise in one of each Medicaid business

area listed below and with managerial or leadership experience and capabillty; ‘

221.221  Provider Management

221222 Member Management

221.223  Claims Processing

221.224  Pharmacy Program

221.225  Collections / Recovery

221.226  Fiscal Management

221227  Waiver Program Management

221228 Reimbursement

221229  Federal Reporting

221.2210 Program Integrity

221.2211 Long Term Care

221.2212 Managed Care '

22.1.2.213 Provider Enroliment

221.3 Expertise Category 3 ~ Medicaid Subject Matter Experts

2.2.1.3.1 Vendor shall provide the following subject matter experts to support the PBMS project. They wili
report to the SME Team Leader designated and shall provide status and other assistance as
required. These experts shall have expertise in thelr specific area of Medicaid expertise. These
experts include:

221.31.1  Twelve (12) for Provider Enroliment
221.31.2  One(1) for Member Management
221,313  One (1) for Claims Processing
2.2.1.31.4  Three (3) for Pharmacy Program

2.2.1.3.2 Vendor shall provide the following subject matter experts to support the Core MMIS project. These
experts shall have experience in their particular area of Medicaid expertise.

221321 Twelve {12} for Provider Enroliment
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24

222

223,

224.

225,
228.

227.

2.31

232

221322 Two (2) for Member Management

221323 Three (3) for Claims Processing
221324 Three (3) for Pharmacy Program
221325 Two (2} for Collection / Recovery
2213286 Two {2) for Fiscal Management
221327 - Two({2)for Managed Care
221328 ~ Two (2) for Walver Program
221329 - Two (2) for Reimbursement

2213210 Two (2) for Federal Reporting
2213211 Three (3) for Program integrity
2213212 One (1) for Long Term Care
2213213 Three (3) for Provider Management
2213214 One (1) for Dental Program

2214 Expertise Category 4 ~ Business Services Experts

Vendor shall provide a Culture Change Management Specialist to support both the PBMS and the Core
MMIS projects. The specialist shall plan, direct and control the culture change management process for the -
MMIS Upgrade project - g - : : -

2215 Expertise Category 5- Technical Services Experts
* Vendor shall provide an Audit and Security Coordinator expert and a Quality Assurance Coordinator expert
‘ -fo support both the PBMS and the Core MMIS projects. .~ . ‘

HFS Will identify the area needed on the staffing requisition provided to the Vendor at the time the expért is needed.

Vendor will 0sé reasonable efforts to comply with HF S’s request and HFS will work with Vendor to come to a mutually
agreed upon amount of ime for Vendor to provide a qualified expert to fill a staffing requisition. o '

The Agency may, at its sole option, réquire an in-person interview or a bhone interview with prospectivé experts within
two weeks after the vendor is notified in writing that the Agency intends to interview the experl(s). if an in-person
interview is required, the interview will be held in Springfield, IL. - ‘ T . -

HFS may, at'ils sole dption. determine during an interview whether a proposed expert does or does not héwe the
necessary skill-set. If the expert is deemed qualified, HFS will work with Vendor to determine a start date for that

. experl. If the exper! is deemed unqualified, HFS will provide the vendor a new staffing requisition seeking another

qualified expert, - ‘

HFS may, at its sole option, determine that additionat experts are needed throughout the course of the project. HFS wili
supply the Vendor a staffing requisition if additional experts are needed and Vendor will use reasanable efforts to
provide such additional experts within the timaframe agreed by the partles. HFS may, at its sole option, increase or

decrease the amount of experts required over the course of the project.

HFS may, at its sole option, release any expert supplied by Vendor who, in HFS's reasonable opinion, fails to
perform/demonstrate the necessary skills to complete any respective part of this project. If the expert Is released, HFS
may, at its sole option, replace the expert and will give Vendor a new staffing requisition seeking a qualified expert.

VENDOR | STAFF SPECIFICATIONS:

Vendor shall obtain the required staff to fill the requested requisitions. Vendor shall also perform the following duties
under this contract: :
2.3.1.1. ensure that the proposed staff possess the required qualifications

2.3.1.2. determine which select candidates will be submitied to HFS

2.3.1.3. ensure that HFS will get the number of experts HFS needs.

The Vendor shall provide an individual to act as Vendor's central point of contact for HFS to submit stafﬁng
requisitions, receive staffing information, contro! invoicing and provide billing information.

ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTING:

241

This contract may not be assigned, transferred in whole or in part by the Vendor without the prior written consent of the
State. '



25
26

2.7

8

29

242 For purposes of this section, subcontractors are those specifically hired to perform all or part of the work covered by
the contract.

Will subcontractors be utiized? [X] Yes [] No

24.3  Vendor shall describe below the names and addresses of all authorized subcontractors to be utilized by Vendor in the
performance of this contract, togsther with a description of the work to be performed by the subcontraclor and the
anticipated amount of money that each subcontractor is expected to recelve pursuant to this contract. Vendor shall
provide a copy of any subcontracts if requested by the State.

Subcontractor Name SLG Innovation Inc. Amount to be paid_Approximately

$22,638 298.98 (based on the expecled volume of services)

Address Canal Street, Suite 1523 Chicago, Il 60606 ‘
Description of work_SLG innovation shall provide experienced staff to Vendor to perform services related to the MMIS Upgrade
Project Experts Services on an “as needed" basis.

Subcontractor Name Amount to be paid
Address ' Description of work

244  The Vendor shall nofify the State of any additional or substitute subcontractors hired during the term of this conlract.
Vendor shall provide to the State a copy of all such subcontracts within 20 days of execution of the subcontract.

245 All subcontracls must include the same certifications that Vendor must make as a condition of this contract. Vendor
shall include in each subcontract the subcontractor certifications as shown on the Standard Subcontractor Certification
form available from the State, ' ‘

TRANSPORTATION AND DELIVERY: N/A

WHERE SERVICES ARE TO BE PERFORMED: Unless otherwise specified in this section all services shalt be performed in the
United States. If the Vendor manufactures the supplies or performs the services purchased hereunder in another country in
violation of this provision, such action may be deemed by the State as a breach of the contract by Vendor. Vendor shall disclose
the locations where the services required shall be performed and the known or anticipated value of the services to be performed
at each location. ff the Vendor received additional consideration in the evaluation based on work being performed in the United
States, it shall be a breach of contract if the Vendor shifts any such work outside the United States.

Location where services will be performed Hlinois & Michigan
Value of services performed at this location 100%

Location where services will be performed
Value of services performed at this location

SCHEDULE OF WORK: Any work performed on State premises shall ba done during the hours reasonably designated by the
State and performed in a manner that does not unreasonably interfere with the State and its personnel.

WARRANTIES FOR SUPPLIES AND SERVICES:

281  Vendor warrants that, subject to the Warranty Period, all services will be performed to meet, in all material respects,
the requirements of the contract in an efficient and effective manner by trained and competent personnel. *Warranty
Period” means a period of thirty (30) days foliowing the performance of a particular service or such other time period
agreed upon by the parties in writing. Vendor shall monitor performances of each individual and shall promptly
reassign any individual who is not performing in accordance with the contract, who is disruptive or not respectful of
others in the workplace, or who in any way violates the contract or State policies made known to Vendor, in advance,
in writing.

282  Excepl as expressly provided In this contract, vendor does not make or give any representation or warmanty or
condition of any kind, whether such representation, warranty, or condition be express or implied, including any
warranty of merchantability, quality, or fitness for a particular purpose or any representation, warranty or condition from
course of dealing or usage of trade.

REPORTING, STATUS AND MONITORING SPECIFICATIONS:



291 Vendor shall immediately notify the State of any event that may have a maleriat impact on Vendor's ability to perform
the contract.

292 By August 31 of each year, Vendor shall report the number of qualified veterans and certain ex-offenders hired during
Vendor's last completed fiscal year. Vendor may be entitled to employment tax credit for hiring individuals in those
groups (35 ILCS 5/216, 5217).

210  NON-INFRINGEMENT WARRANTY BY STATE .
2101 All materials provided to Vendor by or on behalf of the State for Vendor's use in providing the services will be owned or
fully licensed by the State, and the State has the right to provide such materials to Vendor.



3.2

33

34

35

3.6

3.7

METHOD AND RATE OF COMPENSATION:

Initial Term

Expertise Categories Hourly Rate # of Estimated Hours Estimated Total

Project Management Experts $117.08 X 12,000 hours = §$1,404,960.00
Medicaid Team Leader Experts $109.28 X 168,000 hours = $18,359,040.00
Medicaid Subject Matter Experts $109.28 X 378,883 hours = $41,404,334.24
Business Services Experts $97.57 X 12,000 hours = $1,170,840.00
Technical Services Experts $97.57 X 24,000 hours = $2,341,680.00
Estimated Yotal initial Term $64,680,854.24

Hours shown are only estimates. HFS is not obligated to pay the total dollar amounts shown. Vendor shall be paid on
an hourly basis. o '

TYPE OF PRICING: Pricing under this contract is

] Firm N/A
B Estimated

RENEWAL COMPENSATION: If this contract is renewed, the price shall follow the formula below:

Renewals o : '
Expertise Categories Hourly Rate -_# of Estimated Hours ~_Estimated Total
Project Management Experts $126.78 X 8,000 hours = $1,030,320.00
Medicaid Team Leader Experts $120.21 X 112,000 hours = $13,463,520.00
Medicaid Subject Matter Experts* $120.21 X0 hours = $0.00
Business Services Experts $107.33 X 8,000 hours = §858,640.00
Technical Services Experls $107.33 - X 16,000 hours = $1,717.280.00
- Estimated Total Renewal , $17,069,760.00

Hours shown are only estimates. HFS is not obligated to Ql ay the total dollar amounts shown. Vendor shali be paid on.

- an hourly basis,

*HFS does not anticipate any Medicaid Subject Matter Experts needed in the Renewal term, However, HFS may, at its sole option;
determine that Medicaid Subject Matter Experts are needed. Per section 2.2.1, HFS may, at its sole option, increase or
decrease the number of experts required over the course of the project. : )

EXPENSES: All travel must be approved by HFS prior to traveling. The Vendor will be reimbursed up to $200,000 for travel
expenses for the first contract year and $7,000 for each additional contract year. Expenses billed for rave! must follow the State of llinois
Travel Guidelines. The Vendor will not be requested to travel if the money has already been expended for that year. For further information

on the Stals of Hfinois Travel Guidelines please go to hitp:/iwww.cms.il.gowicms/2_servicese othrviguid.him.

DISCOUNT: 0.5 % discount for payment within 10 days of receipt of invoice

TAX: Vendor shall not bili for any taxes unless accompanied by proof the State is subject to the tax. if neoessary.' Vendor may
request the applicable agency’s lllinois tax exemption number and federal tax exemption information.

INVOICING:

371 Vendor shall invoice the Agency monthly for all fees, charges, and reimbursable items payable to Vendor. The invoice
should contain two limesheets, one from the first day of each month through the fifteenth day, and the secand from the
sixteenth day through the last day of each month. The billable hours on the invoice must equal hours worked
multiplied by the hourly rate in effect under the contract. The Agency wili use its best efforts to Inifiate payment, of
complete and approved invoices within sixty (60) days afier receipt of such invoices from Vendor. Send invoices to:

HFS IT Contract Monitor, 2200 Churchill Road, Building C-3, Springfield, lllinois 62702.



38

37.2

373

374

Vendor shall not work overtime, on weekends or on state holidays unless previous arrangements have been made and
prior Agency approval has been obtained. Any approved overtime (in excess of 8 hours per day or 40 hours per week)
is to be billed at the straight, hourly rate in effect under the contract.

All invoices submitted by the Vendor shall contain the “Contractor Statement of Hours Worked” timesheet that is
generated from the Agency's system.

The State requires a fee of $15 to cover expenses related to the administration of the Minority Contractor Opportunity
Initiative. Vendor shall pay afee of $15. The Comptroller shall deduct the fee from the first check issued to the Vendor
under the contract.

PAYMENT TERMS AND CONDITIONS:

3.8.1

38.2

383

3.8.4

By submitting an invoice, Vendor certifies that the supplies or services provided meet all requirements of the contract in
all material respects, and the amount billed and expenses incurred are as allowed in the contrac, Invoices for supplies
purchased, services performed and expenses incurred through June 30 of any year must be submitted to the State no
later than July 31 of that year; otherwise Vendor may have to seek payment through the Illinois Court of Clalms (30
ILCS 105/25). All invoices are subject to statutory offset (30 ILCS 210).

Payments, including late payment charges, will be paid in accordance with the State Prompt Payment Act (30 ILCS
540) and rules (74 IIl. Adm: Code 900) when applicable. This shall be Vendor's sole remedy for late payments by the
State. Payment terms contained on Vendor's invoices shall have no force and effect,

The State will not pay for supplies provided or services rendered, including related expenses, incurred prior to the
execution of this coniract by the Parties even if the effective date of the contract is prior to execution, :

Vendor must (i) be in compliance with all material provisions of the contract, (ii} pay its employees prevailing wages
when required by applicable law (Examples of prevailing wage categories include public works, printing, janitorial,
window washing, building and grounds services, site technician services, natural resource sarvices, security guard and
food services. Vendor is responsible for contacting the Ilinois Dept of Labor 217-782-6206;
http./fwww.stale.il.us/agencyfidolindexhtm to ensure understanding of prevailing wage requirements), (iii) pay its
suppfiers and subconfractors according to the terms of their respective contracts, and (iv) provide lien waivers to the
State upon request.



4, STANDARD BUSINESS TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.4,

4.2,

43.

4.4,

4.5.

4.6.

4.7.

AVAILABILITY OF APPROPRIATION (30 ILCS 500/20-60): This contract is contingent upon and subject to the availability of
funds. The State, at its sole option, may terminate or suspend this contract, in whole or in part, without penalty or further
payment being required, if (1) the llinois General Assembly or the federal funding source fails to make an appropriation sufficient
lo pay such obligation, or if funds needed are insufficient for any reason, (2) the Governor decreases the Department's funding
by reserving some or all of the Department’s appropriation(s) pursuant to power delegated to the Governor by the lllinois General
Assembly; or (3) the Department determines, in its sole discretion or as directed by the Office of the Governor, that a reduction is
necessary or advisable based upon actual or projected budgetary considerations. Contractor will be notified in writing of the
failure of appropriation or of a reduction or decrease.

AUDIT/RETENTION OF RECORDS (30 ILCS 500/20-85): Vendor and its subcontractors shall maintain books and records
relating to the performance of the contract or subcontract and necessary to support amounts charged to the State under the
contract or subcontract. Books and records, including information stored in databases or other computer systems, shall be
maintained by the Vendor for a period of three years from the later of the date of final payment under the contract or completion
of the contract, and by the subcontractor for a period of three years from the later of final payment under the term or completion
of the subconlract. If federal funds are used to pay contract costs, the Vendor and its subcontractors must retain its records for
five years. Books and records required to be maintained under this section shall be available for review or audit by
representatives of: the procuring Agency, the Auditor Generai, the Executive Inspector Generat, the Chief Procurement Officer,
State of llinois internal auditors or other govemmental entities with monitoring authority, upon reasonable nolice and during normal
business hours. Vendor and its subcontractors shall cooperate fully with any such audit and with any investigation conducted by
any of these entities. Failure to maintain books and records required by this section shall establish a presumption in favor of the State
for the recovery of any funds paid by the State under the contract for which adequate books and records are not available to
support the purported disbursement. The Vendor or subcontractors shall not impose a charge for audit or examination of the
Vendor's books and records.

NO WAIVER OF RIGHTS: Except as specifically waived in writing, failure by a Party fo exercise or enforce a right does not
waive that Party's right to exercise or enforce that or other rights in the future.

FORCE MAJEURE: Failure by either Party to perform its duties and obligations will be excused by unforesesable circumstances
beyond its reasonable control and not due to its negiigence induding acts of nalure, acts of terrorism, riots, labor disputes, fire, flood,
explosion, and govemmental prohibition. The non-declaring Party may, upon written notice, cancel the contract without penalty if
performance does not resume within 30 days of the declaration. _

CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION: Each Party, including its agents and subcontractors, to this contract may have or gain access
te confidential data or Information owned or malntained by the other Party in the course of carrying out its responsibilities under
this contract. Vendor shall presume all information received from the State or to which it gains access pursuant to this contract is
confidential. Vendor information, unless clearly marked as confidential and exempt from disclosure under the fllincis Freedom of
Informaticn Act, shall be considered public. No confidential data collected, maintained, or used in the course of performance of
the contract shalt be disseminated except as authorized by law and with the writien consent of the disclosing Party, either during
the period of the contract or thereafter. The receiving Party must return any and all data collected, maintained, created or used
in the course of the performance of the contract, in whatever form it is maintained, promptly at the end of the contract, or earlier
at the request of the disclosing Party, or notify the disclosing Party in writing of its destruction. The foregoing obligations shall
not apply to confidential data or information lawfully in the receiving Party's possession prior to its acquisition from the disclosing
Party; received in good faith from a third-party not subject to any confidentiality obligation to the disclosing Party; now is or later
becomes publicly known through no breach of confidentiality obligation by the receiving Party; or is independently developed by
the receiving Party without the use or benefit of the disclosing Party’s confidential information.

USE AND OWNERSHIP: All work performed or supplies created by Vendor under this contract, whether written documents or
data, goods or deliverables of any kind, shall be desmed work-for-hire under copyright law and all intellectual property and other
laws, and the State of lllinois is granted sole and exclusive ownership to all such work, unless otherwise agreed in wriling.
Vendor hereby assigns to the State all right, title, and interest In and to such work including any related intellectual property
rights, and/or waives any and all claims that Vendor may have to such work including any so-cailed "moral rights” in connection
with the work. Vendor acknowledges the State may use the work product for any purpose. Confidential data or information
contained in such work shall be subject to confidentiality provisions of this contract. Notwithstanding anything herein to the
contrary, the State acquires no rights in Vendor's intellectual propsrty or other proprietary works of authorship, preexisting or
otherwise, that have not been created specifically for the State hereunder, including without limitation, any derivatives thereof,
which have been or are originated, developed, purchase, acquired or licensed by Vendor or its affiliates, or by third parties under
contract to Vendor or its affiliates, unless created specifically for the State hereunder. -

INDEMNIFICATION AND LIABILITY: The Vendor shall indemnify and hold harmless the State of liinois, its agencies, officers,
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 State rights, title and interest in and to the claim or cause of action.

employees, agents and volunteers from any and all costs, demands, expenses, losses, claims, damages, liabilities, settlements
and judgments, including reasonable in-house and contracted attoneys' fees and expenses, arising out of: (a) any breach or
vioiation by Vendor of any of ils certifications, representations, warranties, covenanis or agreements set forth herein; (b) any
actual or alleged death or injury to any person, damage to any property or any other damage or loss claimed to result in whole or
in part from Vendor's negligent performance; or (c) any act, activity or omission of Vendor or any of its employees,
representatives, subcontractors or agents in breach of this contract. Neither Party shall be Kable for incidental, special,
consequential or punitive damages of any kind or nature whatsoever, whether in an action based on contract, warranty, strict
liability, tort (including, without limitation, negligence) or otherwise, even if such Party has been informed in advance of the
possibility of such damages or such damages could have been reascnably foreseen by such Party. Vendor’s liability to the State
arising out of or in connection with this contract shall not exceed, in the aggregate, the total fees paid or payable by the State
under this contract, provided, notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, in no event shall the Veendor’s liability be (i) less
than Twenty Five Million Dollars ($25,000,000) or (ii) greater than One Hundred Million Doliars {$100,000,000).The limitations
specified in this section will survive and apply even if any limited remedy specified in this contract is found to have failed of iis
essential purpose.

- INSURANCE: Vendor shall, at all fimes during the term and any renewals, maintain and provide a Certificate of Insurance

naming the State as additional insured for all required bonds and insurance where permitted by law. The Vendor shall notify the
Agency of any insurer changes. Certificates may not be invalidated until at least 30 days notice has been provided to the State

~ by Vendor. Vendor shall provide: (a) General Commercial Liability-occurrence form in amount of $1,000,000 per occurrence

(Combined Single Limit Bodily Injury and Property Damage) and $2,000,000 Annual Aggregate; (b) Auto Liability, including Hired
Auto and Non-owned Auto, (Combined Single Limit Bodily Injury and Property Damage) in amount of $1,000,000 per accident;
and (c) Worker's Compensation Insurance in amount required by law. Insurance shall not limit Vendor's obligation to indemnify,
defend, or settle any claims.

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR: Vendor shall act as an independent contractor and not an agent or employee of, or joint

 venturer with the State. Al payments by the State shall be made on that basis.

SOLICITATION AND EMPLOYMENT: Vendor éhall not employ any person employed by the State during the term of this contract
fo perform any work under this contract. Vendor shall give notice immediately to the Agency’s director if Vendor solicits or intends

to solicit State employees to perform any work under this contract . '
' COMPLIANCE WITH THE LAW: The Vendor, its employees, agents, and subcontractors shall comply with all applicab};

federal, state, anid local laws, rules, ordinances, regulations, orders, federal circutars and all license and permit requirements in
the performance of this contract. Vendor shall be in compliance with applicable tax requirements and shall be current in payment of
such laxes. Vendor shall obtain at its own expense, all licenses and permissions necassary for the performance of this contract,

BACKGROUND CHECK: Whenever the State desms it reascnably necessary for security reasons, the State may conduct, at its
expense, criminal and driver history background checks of Vendor's and subcontractors officers, employees or agents. Vendor or
subcontractor shall reassign immediately any such individual who, in the opinion of the State, does not pass the background

- checks.

APPLICABLE LAW: This confract shall be construed in accordance with and is subject to the laws and rules of the State of llinois. The
Department of Human Rights’ Equal Opportunity requirements (44 1ll. Adm. Code 750) are incorporated by reference, Any claim against
the State arising out of this contract must be filed exclusively with the Illinois Court of Claims (705 ILCS 505/1). The State shall not
enter into binding arbitration to resolve any contract dispute. The State of lllinois does not waive sovereign immunity by
entering into this contract. The official text of cited statutes is incorporated by reference (An unofficlal version can be viewed at
hitp./iwww.ilga.govAegislation/ics/ilcs.asp). In compliance with the linois and federal Constitutions, the flinois Human Rights Act, the
U. 3. Civil Rights Act, and Section 504 of the federal Rehabilitation Act and other appticable laws and rules the State does not
unfawfully discriminate in employment, contracts, or any other activity.

ANTI-TRUST ASSIGNMENT: If Vendor does not pursue any claim or cause of action it has arising under federal or state antitrust
laws relating to the subject matter of the contract, then upon request of the lllincis Attorney General, Vendor shall assign to the -

CONTRACTUAL AUTHORITY: The Agency that signs for the State of Iliinis shall be the only State entity responsible for
performance and payment under the contract. When the Chlef Procurement Officer or authorized designee signs in addition to
an Agency, they do so as approving officer and shall have no liabillty to Vendor. When the Chief Procurement officer or
authorized designee signs a master contract on behalf of State agencies, only the Agency that places an order with the Vendor
shall have any liability to Vendor for that order.
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4.17.

4.18.

4.19.

NOTICES: Nctices and other communications provided for herein shall be given in writing by registered or certified mail, returmn
receipt requested, by receipted hand delivery, by courier (UPS, Federal Express or other similar and reliable carier), by e-mail,
or by fax showing the date and time of successful receipt. Notices shall be sent to the individuals who signed the contract using
the contact information following the signatures. Each such notice shall be deemed to have been provided at the time it is
actually received. By giving notice, either Party may change the contact information.

MODIFICATIONS AND SURVIVAL: Amendments, modifications and waivers must be in wriing and signed by authorized
representatives of the Parties. Any provision of this contract officially declared void, unenforceable, or against public policy, shall be
ignored and the remaining provisions shall be interpreted, as far as possible, to give effect to the Parties’ intent. All provisions that by their
nalure would be expected to survive, shall survive termination. In the event of a conflict between the State's and the Vendor's
terms, conditions and attachments, the State's terms, conditions and attachments shall prevail.

PERFORMANCE RECORD / SUSPENSION: Upon request of the State, Vendor shall meet to discuss performance or provide
contract performance updates to help ensure proper performance of the contract. The State may consider Vendor's
performance under this contract and compliance with law and rule to determine whether to continue the contract, suspend
Vendor from doing future business with the State for a specified period of time, or to determine whether Vendor can be
considered responsible on specific future contract opportunities.

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT: This contract and all related public records maintained by, provided to or required to be
provided to the State are subject to the Ilincis Freedom of Information Act notwithstanding any provision to the contrary that may
be found in this contract.

11



STANDARD CERTIFICATIONS

Vendor acknowledges and agrees that compliance with this section and each subsection for the term of the contract and any renewals is a
material requirement and condition of this contract. By executing this confract Vendor certifies compliance with this section and sach
subsection and is under a continuing cbligation to remain in compliance and report any non-compliance. :

This section, and each subsection, applies to subcontractors used on this contract. Vendor shall include these Standard Ceriifications in
any subcontract used in the performance of the contract using the Standard Subcontractor Certification form provided by the State.

If this contract extends over multipte fiscal years including the initial term and all renewals, Vendor and its subcontractors shall confirm
compliance with this section in the manner and format determined by the State by the dale specified by the State and in no event later than
July 1 of each year that this contract remains in effect.

If the Parties determine that any certification in this section is not applicable to this contract it may be stricken without affecting the
remaining subsections. o : . .

51 As pah of each certiﬁcétio'n, Vendor, ackhowledges and agrees that should Vendor or its subcontractors provide false
: information, or fall to be or remain in compliance with the Standard Certification requirements, one or more of the foillowing
~ sanctions will apply: ' : R ' ' ' I :

. the contract may be void by operation of faw, .
. the State may void the contract, and i =
. the Vendor and it subcontractors may be subject to one or more of the following: suspension, debarment, denial of

‘payment, civil fine, or criminal penalty. -

Identifying a sanction or failing to identify a sanction in relation to any of the specific certifications does not waive imposition of
other sanctions or preclude application of sanctions not specifically identified. ‘ o :

52 Vendor certfies It and its employees wil comply with appicable provisions of the U.S. Civil Rights Act, Section 504 of the Federal
Rehabilitation Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.) and applicable rules in performance under this
contract. ' : : ' ‘ - . oL

53 Vendor certifies it is not in default on an educational loan (5 ILCS 385/3). This applies to individuals, sole proprietorships,
partnerships and individuals as members of LLCs. ' S ‘ -

5.4 Vendor (if an individual, sole proprietor, partner or an individual as member of a LLC) certifies It has not recelved an (i) an early retirement
o incentive prior to 1993 under Section 14-108.3 or 16-133.3 of the lllincis Pension Code, 40 ILCS 5/14-108.3 and 40 ILCS 516-133.3,
or (i) an early retirement incantive on or after 2002 under Section 14-108.3 or 16-133.3 of the llinois Pension Code, 40 ILCS §/14-108.3
and 40 ILCS 5/16-133, (30 ILCS 105/15a). : ‘ :

8.5 Vendor certifies it s a property formed and existing legal entity (30 ILCS 500/1.15.80, 20-43); and as applicable has obtained an
-assumed name certificate from the appropriate authority, or has registerad to conduct business in lllinois and Is in good standing
with the illinois Secretary of State. -~ -~ . , : ) o oo

58  Vendor certifies it has not been donvicted of bribing or attempting to bribe an officer or employee of the State of lllinois or any other State,
: " nor has Vendor made an admission of guitt of such conduct that is a matter of record (30 ILCS 500/50-5).

5.7 If Vendor has been convicted of a felony, Vendor cerlifies at least five years have passed after the date of completion of the
sentencs for such felony, unless no person held respansible by a prosecutor's office for the facts upon which the conviction was based
continues to have any involvement with the business (30 ILCS 500/50-10).

5.8 . IfVendor, or any officer, director, partner, or other managerial agent of Vendor, has been convicted of a felony under the Sarbanes-
Oxdey Act of 2002, or a Class 3 or Class 2 felony under the illinois Securities Law of 1953, Vendor certifies at least five years have
passed since the date of the conviction. Vendor further certifies that it is not barred from being awarded a contract and acknowledges
that the State shalt declare the contract void f this certification is false (30 ILCS 500/50-10.5). '

5.9 Vendor certifies it is not barred from having a contract with the State based on viclating the prohibition on providing assistance to the
state in identifying a need for a contract (excep! as part of a public request for information process) or by reviewing, drafting or
preparing solicitation or similar documents for the State (30 ILCS 500/50-10.56).

5.10 Vendor certifies that it and its affiiates are not delinquent in the payment of any debt to the State (or if delinquent has entered into a
deferred payment plan to pay the debt), and Vendor and its affiliates acknowledge the State may declare the contract void if

12
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5.15

5.16

517
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519

5.20

5.21

5.22

5.23

5.24

5.25

5.26

this certification is false (30 ILCS 500/50-11) or if Vendor or an affiliale later becomes delinquent and has not entered into a deferred
payment plan lo pay off the debt (30 ILCS 500/50-60).

Vendor certifies that it and alt affiliates shall collect and remit finois Use Tax on all sales of tangible personal property into the
State of Ilinois in accordance with provisions of the lllinois Use Tax Act {30 ILCS 500/50-12) and acknowledges that failure to

comply can result in the contract being declared void.

Vendor certifies that it has not been found by a court or the Pollution Control Board to have commitied a willful or knowing
violation of the Environmental Protection Act within the last five years, and is therefore not barred fom being awarded a contract
(30 ILCS 500/50-14).

Vendor certifies it has not paid any money or valuable thing to induce any person to refrain from bidding on a State contract, nor has
Vendor accepted any money or other valuable thing, or acted upon the promise of same, for not bidding on a State contract (30
ILCS 500/50-25). a :

Vendor certifies it is not in violation of the *Revolving Door” section of the Illinois Procurement Code (30 ILCS 500/50-30).

Vendor cerlifies that it has not retained a-person or entity to attempt to influence the outcome of a procurement decision for
compensation contingent in whole or in part upon the decision or procurement (30 ILCS 500/50-38). :

Vendor certifies it will report to the Hilinois Attomey General and the Chief Procurement Officer any suspected collusion or other
ant-competitive practice among any bidders, offerors, contractors, proposers or employees of the State (30 IL.CS 500/50-40, 50-
45, 50-50).

In accordance with the Stee! Products Procurement Act, Vendor certifies steet products used or supplied in the performance of a
contract for public works shail be manufactured or produced in the United States, unless the executive head of the procuring
agency grants an exception (30 ILCS 565). ' L

a) If Vendor employs 25 or more employees and this contract Is worth more than $5000, Vendor certifies it will provide a
drug free workplace pursuant to the Drug Free Workplace Act. :
b) If Vendor is an individual and this confract is worth more than $5000, Vendor shall not engage in the uniawfui

manufacture, distribution, dispensation, possession or use of a controfled substance during the performance of the
contract (30 JLCS 580).

Vendor certifies that neither Vendor nor any substantially owned affiliate is pérticipating or shall participate in an intemational
boycott in violation of the U.S. Export Administration Act of 1979 or the applicable regulations of the U.S. Departmant of -
Commerce. This applies to contracts that exceed $10,000 (30 ILCS 582).

Vendor certifies It has not been convicted of the offense of bid rigging or bid rotating or any similar offense of any state or of the
United States (720 ILCS 5/33 E-3, E-4).

Vendor certifies it complies with the fllinois Department of Human Rights Act and rules applicable to public contracts, including
equal employment opportunity, refraining from uniawfut discrimination, and having written sexual harassment policies (775 ILCS
5/2-105).

Vendor certifies It does net pay dues to o reimburse or subsidize payments by its employees for any dues or fees to any
“discriminatory club” (775 ILCS 25/2).

Vendor certifies it complies with the State Prohibiion of Goods from Forced Labor Act, and certifies that no foreign-made
squipment, materials, or supplies furnished to the State under the contract have been or wilt be produced in whole or in part by
forced labor, or indentured labor under penal sanction (30 ILCS 583). . ' '

Vendor certifies that no foreign-made equipment, materials, or supplies furnished to the State under the contract have been
produced in whole arin part by the labor or any child under the age of 12 (30 ILCS 584).

Vendor certifies that it is not in viclation of Section 50-14.5 of the Hllinois Procurement Code (30 ILCS 500/50-14.5) that states:
“Owners of resldential buildings who have committed a willful or knowing violation of the Lead Poisoning Prevention Act (410
ILCS 45) are prohibited from doing business with the State untlf the violation is mitigated”. :

Vendor werrants and certifies that it and, to the best of its knowledge, its subcontractors have and will comply with Executive
Order No. 1 (2007). The Order generally prohibits Vendors and subcontractors from hiring the men-serving Governor's family
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5.28

members to lobby procurement activities of the State, or any other unit of gavernment in lllinois including local govemments if
that procurement may resuit in a contract valued at over $25,000. This prohibition also applies to hiring for that same purpese
any former Stale employee who had procurement authority at any tme during the one-year period preceding the procurement
lobbying activity.

Vendor certifies that information technology, including electronic information, software, systems and equipment, developed or
provided under this contract will comply with the applicable requirements of the IHinois Information Technology Accessibility Act
Standards as published at www.dhs.state.il.us/iitaa. {30 ILCS 587)

Vendor certifies that it has read, understands, and is in compliance with the registration requirements of the Elections Code (10
ILCS 5/9-35} and the restrictions on making political contributions and related requirements of the Illinois Procurement Code (30
ILCS 500/20-160 and £0-37). Vendor will not make a political confribution that will violate these requirements. Thase
requirements are effective for the duration of the term of office of the incumbent Governor or for a period of 2 years after the end
of the contract term, whichever is longer.

In accordance with section 20-160 of the Illinois Procurement Code, Vendor certifies as applicable:

[ Vendor is not required to register as a business entity with the State Board of Elections.

or

X Vendor has registerad and has attached a copy of the official certificate of registration as issued by the State Board of
Elections. As a registered business entity, Vendor acknowledges a continuing duty to update the registration as required by the
Act.

14
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6.0 FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Financial Disclosures and Conflicls of interest forms (“forms™) must be accurately completed and submitted by the vender, any parent entiiy{ies) and
any subcontractors, There are nine steps to this form and each must be completed as instructed in the step heading, unless otherwise provided. A
bid, offer, or proposal that does not Include this form shall be considered non-responsive. The Agency/University will consider this form when
evaluating the bid, offer, or proposal or awarding the contract.
The requirement of disclosure of financial interests and conflicts of interest is a continuing cbligation.  If circumstances change and the previously
submitted form is no longer accurats, disclosing entities must provide an updated form.

Separate forms are required for the vendor, any parent entity(ies) and any subcontractors.
Subcontractor forms must be provided with a copy of the subcontract, If required, within 15 days after execution of the State contract or after
exscution of the subcontract, whichever Is later, for all subcontracts with an annual value of more than $50,000.

This disclosure Is submitted for:
< vendor

] Vendor's Parent Entity(ies) (100% ownarship)

{] Subcontractor(s) >$50,000

[C] Subeantractor's Parent Entity{ies) > $50,000

Project Name and lllincis
Procurement Bulletin Number

MMIS Project Upgrade Services, procurefnent# 2012-62-011

Vendor Name Cognizant Technolagy éoluiions U.S. Corporation
Doing Business As (DB;A) NA

Parent Entity Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation
Subcontractor SLG Innovation Ing..

instrument of Ownership or Beneﬂclaf
Interest ‘ :

Corporate Stock (C-Corporation, S-Corpbration, Professional Corporation, Service

Corporation ['] If you sslected Othar, please describe: NJ/A
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3 SUPPORHNG DOCUMENTATIO BMITTAL .
fl vandcrs complete regardiess of annual bid; “‘offer. or contract .alue}

(Submntracmrs with subcontractapnual valie of 1nore than $50,000 must complate} -

You must select one of the six oplions below and select the documentation you are submitting. You must provide the documentation the applicable
section requires with this form.

(] Option 1 - Publicly Traded Enfities
1.A. [} Complete Step 2, Option A for each qualifying individual or entity holding any ownership or distributive income share in
excess of 5% or an amount greater than €0% ($106,447.20) of the annual salary of the Govermor.
OR
1.B.[] Attach a copy of the Federal 10-K, and skip to Step 3.

(3 Option 2 - Privately Hald Entities with more than 200 Shareholders

2A.[0 Compiete Step 2, Option A for each qualifying Individual or entity holding any ownership or distributive income share in
axcess of 5% or an amount greater than 60% ($106,447.20) of the annual salary of the Govemor.
OR
2.8.[C] Complete Step 2, Option A for each qualifying individual or entity holding any ownership share in excess of 5% and
attach the Information Federal 10-K reporfing companies are required to report under 17 CFR 229.401,
Option 3 - All other Privately Held Entities, not including Sole Proprietorships
3.A, [X] Complete Step 2, Option A for each qualifying Individual or entity holding any ownership cr distributive income share In
axcass of 5% or an amount greater than 60% ($106,447.20) of the annual salary of the Governor.
{”] Option 4 - Forelgn Entitles
4A. ] Complete Step 2, Option A for each qualifying individual or entlty holding any ownership or distributive income share in
excess of 5% or an amount greater than 60% ($106,447.20) of the annual salary of the Gavemor.
CR
4.B. [_] Atiach a copy of the Securities Exchange Commission Form 20-F or 40-F and skip to Step 3.
[ Option 5 - Not-for-Profit Entities
) Complete Step 2, Option B,
(3 Option 6 - Sole Proprietorships

3 Skipto Step 3.
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s STEP 2 '
DISCLOSURE OF FINANCIAL INTEREST OR BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(Al vendors, except'sole propristerships, musi compete regardless of anaual bid, offer, or contract value)
(Subcontragters with subsontract annual value of more than $50.600 must comple

Complats elther Option A (for all entities other than nol-for-profits) or Opfion B (for not-for-profits). Additional rows may bs inserted into the tables or
an attachment may be provided If needed.

OPTION A - Ownership Share and Distributive Income

Ownership Share - If you selected Option 1.A, 2A,, 2.B,, 3.A,, or 4.A. In Step 1, provide the name end address of each individual and their
percentage of ownership if sald percentage exceeds 5%, or the dollar value of their ownership if sald dollar value exceeds $1086,447.20.

Check hera if including an attachment with requested information In a format substantially similar to the format below.

TABLE - X

Name Address Percentage of Ownership $ Value of Ownership
Cognizant Technotogy 500 Frank W. Bum Boulevard, 100% Please see the attached 10-K filing.
Soluiions Corporation Teaneck, New Jersey 07666

Distributive Income - If you selected Option 1.A, 2A., 3.A, or 4A. in Slep 1, provide the name and address of each Individual and their
parcentage of the disclosing vendor's fotal distributive income if sald percentage exceeds 5% of the total distributive income of the disclosing entiy,
or the dollar value of their distributive income if said doflar value exceeds $108,447.20.

X Check hers if including an atiachment with reguested information in a format substantially similar to the format below.

TABLE-Y

Name Address % of Distributive Income $ Value of Distributive Income
Cognizant Technology 500 Frank W. Burr Boulevard, 100% Please see the attached 10-K filing.
Bolutions Corporation Teaneck, New Jersey 07666
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Please ceriify that the following stalements are frue.
I have disclosed all individuals or enfities that hold an ownership interest of greater than 5% or greater than $106,447.20.

B Yes [ No

I have disclosed all Individuals or entities that were enfilled to recelve distributive Income in an amount greater than $108,447.20 or greater
than 5% of the total distributive income of the disclosing entity.

Yes [J No
OPTION B - Disclosure of Board of Directors {Not-for-Profits)

If you selecled Option 5 In Step 1, list members of your board of direclors. Please Include an attachment If necessary.

TABLE-Z
Name Address
N/A N/A

Yes [} No. Is your company represented by or do you employ a lobbylst or other agent required to register under the Lobbyist Regisiration Act
{lobbyist must be registered pursuant to the Act with the Secretary of State) or other agent who is not idenfified through Step 2, Option A above and
who has communlcated, is communicating, or may communicate with any State/Public University officer or employee concerning the bid or offer? if
yes, please identify each lobbylst and agent, including the nams and address below.

Name Address Relationship to Disclosing Entity
Sarah Sheehan, illinols Governmental 500 N. Dearborn Street Unaffilialed Advisor
Consulling Group, LLC Suite 1030

Chicago, lllinois 60654

Describe all costs/fees/compensation/reimbursements related to the assistance provided by each representative
lobbyist or other agent to obtain an Agency/University contract: Cognlzant is paying $5,000/month fee to Sarah
Sheehan, Hliinois Govemmental Consulting Group, LLC relating to assistance with (i) Vendor's responses to
the State’s requests for proposal and (i) other matters relating to Vendor's relationship with the State.
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'STEp'd Y TSI

ROMIBITED CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

sonpiete regaraless of annuai bid, ofter, or contraat value)
giract anual value.of oz than 550,000 muste

T

Step 4 must be completed for each person disclosed in Step 2, Option A end for sole proprietors Identified in Step 1, Option 6 above. Please provide
the name of the person for which responses ere provided. N/A

Do you hold or are you the spouse or minor chifd who holds an elective office in the State of llinois or hold a seat
in the General Assembly?

Have you, your spouse, or minor child been appointed to or employsd in any offices or agencies of Stale
govemment and recelve compensation for such employment In excess of 80% (3106,447.20) of the salary of the
Govemor?

Are you or are you the spouse or minor child of an officer or smployee of the Cepltal Development Board or the
{linois Toll Highway Authority?

Have you, your spouse, or an immediate family member who lives in your residence currently or who lived In your
residence within the last 12 months been appolnted as a member of a board, commission, authority, or task force
authorized or creatad by State law or by executive order of the Govermor?

if you answered yes lo any question in 1-4 above, please answer the following: Do you, your spouse, o minor
child receive from the vendor more than 7.5% of the vendor's total distributable income or an amount of
distributable income In excess of the salary of the Governor ($177,412.00)?

{f you answered yes to any question In 1-4 above, please answer the following: Is there a combined interest of self
with spouse or minor chiid more than 15% ($364,824.00) in the aggregate of the vendor's distributable income or
an amount of distributable income in excess of two times the salary of the Govemor?

S SO AT R ~STEP6. " , R
i POTENTIAL CONFLICTS OF INTEREST RELATING TO PERSONAL RELATIONSHIPS

i . {Complete only,if bid, offer or contract has an annuzl valile gver $25.060)

"% {Subdeniracters with subcontiact annual value of incre ihan 350,000:must ccmplele)

[ Yes [INo

[0 Yes [ No

[CJYes[INo

[JYes [INo

[Ovyes[JnNo

(] Yes [INo

Step 5 must be completed for each person disclosed In Step 2, Option A and for sole proprietors identified in Step 1, Option € above.

Pieass provide the name of the person for which respanses are provided: N/A

1.

Do you currently have, or In the previous 3 years have you had State employment, including contractual
employment of services?

Has your spouss, father, mother, son, or daughter, had State employment, including contractual employment for
services, In the previous 2 years?

Do you hoid currently or have you hekd in the previous 3 years elective office of the State of illinais, the govemment
of the Uniled States, or any unlt of local govemment authorized by the Constitution of the Stale of lilinals or the
statutes of the State of lllinols?

Do you have a relationship to anyone (spouse, father, mother, son, or daughter) holding elective office currently or
in the previous 2 years?

Do you hold or have you held in the previous 3 years any appointive government office of the State of Niinols, the
United States of America, cr any unit of local government authorized by the Censtitution of the State of lilinols or
the statutes of the State of lllinols, which office entities the hoider to compensation in excess of expenses incured
in the discharge of that?

Do you have a refationship lo anyone (spouse, father, mother, son, or daughter) holding appointive office currently
or in the previous 2 years?

Do you cumrently have or In the previous 3 years had employment as or by any registered fobbylst of the Stale
govermment?

[ Yes (O No
] Yes [INe
[ Yes [CINo

[ Yes [J No

1 Yes [ No

[ Yes (I No
[ Yes [ No
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8. Do you currenfly have or in the previous 2 years had a refationship to anyone (spouse, father, mother, son, or []Yes [INo
daughter) that Is or was a registered lobbyist?

9. Do you currently have or in the previous 3 years had compensated employment by any registered election or re- [ Yes [ No
election commities registered with the Secretary of State or any county clerk in the State of lllinols, or any politica!
acfion committee registered with either the Secretary of Stale or the Federa! Board of Elections?

10. Do you currently have or in the previous 2 years had a refationshlp lo anyone (spouse, father, mother, son, or [J Yes [ No
daughter) who is or was a compensated employse of any reglstered election or reslection committee registered
with the Secretary of State or any county clerk in the State of Illinois, or any pelifical action commitlee reglstered
with either the Sacretary of State or the Federal Board of Elections?

4

act value) . -
Jnusteomplete)

If you answered “Yes” in Step 4 or Slep 5, please provide on an edditional page a detalied explanation that includes, but is not limited to the name,
salary, Stale agency or university, and position titie of each Individual. ,
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G R R S T STEP7
POTENTIAL CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

RELATING TO DEBARMENT & LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

. (Completz only if fier, or cantract has an srneal vaiwe over $25.060)
(Comp , , 4 )

(Subicontraclers witlh subzonlract annual valug of more than $50.000 must coinplete)
This step must be completed for each person disclosed In Slep 2, Option A, Step 3, and for each entity and sole proprietor dsclosed In Step 1.

Please provide the name of the person or entity for which responses are provided: Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation

1. Within the previous ten years, have you had debarment from contracling with any govemmental enity? ] Yes B No
2. Within the previous ten years, have you had any professional licensure discipling? ] Yes X3 No
3. Within the previous ten ysars, have you had any bankruptcies? ] Yes X No
4. Within the previous ten years, have you had eny adverse civil judgments and adminlstrative findings? ] Yes X No
5. Within the previous ten yesrs, have you had any criminat felony convictions? [ Yes X No

If you answered “Yes®, please provide a detailed explanation that Includes, but Is not limited to the name, State agency or university, and position
title of each Individual. N/A

Bt e < «STEP§ i
DISCLOSURE OF CURRENT AND PENDING CONTRACTS

7 (Complete only if bid; offer, or contract n2s an annuat value cver $25,000)
- (Subcontracters with subcontract annual value of more than §50,000 must camplete)

If you selected Option 1, 2, 3, 4, or 8 in Step 1, do you have any contracts, pending contracts, bids, proposals, or other ongoing procurement
relationships with units of State of Ilinois govemment? X Yes [[] No.

If "Yes", please specify below. Attach an additional pags In the same format as provided below, if desired.

Agency/University Project Title Btatus Value Contract
Reference/P.O.llinols
Procurement Bulletin #
Department of iL HIX Project Ongoing Procurement — Confidential Bid 12-71894
Insurance awaiting state's decision
ilinois Department Application Portfolio Awarded, Pending $2,303,840 22028068
Central Management | Ralionalization Masler Contract Contract
Services

Please explain the procurement relationship: N/A
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This disclosure s signed, and made under penalty of perjury for all for-profit entities, by an authorized officer or emplayes on behalf of the bidder or
offeror pursuant to Sections 50-13 and 50-35 of the lllinois Procurement Code. This disclosure information is submitied on behalf of:

Nams of Disclosing Eniity: Cognizanl Technology Solutions U.S, Corporation.

gd byt
Signature|_Stuvew Sduserty Date: March 1sh_, 2013
Printed Name: Steven Schwarlz

Title: Senior Vice Presidant, General Counsel and Secretary
Phone Number; 201-801-0233

Emall Address: SSchwarz@cognlzant.com
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7.

SUPPLEMENTAL PROVISIONS

71

State Supplemental Provisions

OO0 O0OoOooa

X

AR

7.1.2

713

714

Definitions
Required Federal Clauses, Certifications and Assurances
ARRA Requirements {American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009)

Public Works Requirements (construction and maintenance of a public work) (820 ILCS 130/4)

Prevailing Wage (janitorial cleaning, window cleaning, building and grounds, site technician, natural resources, food
services, and security services, if valued at more than $200 per month or $2000 per year {30 ILCS 500/25-60)

Prevailing Wage {ail prining contracts) {30 ILCS 500/25-60)
BEP Subcontracting Requirements (Utilization Plan and Letter of Intent)

Other (describe)
State Supplemental Terms and Conditions :
Attachment A ~HIPAA Business Associate Agreement

Supplemental Terms and Conditions

Conﬁdentlalrg of Program Recipient identificaion.

Vendor shall ensure that all information, records, data, and data elements pertalnmg to applicants for and recipients of
public assistance, or to providers, facilities, and assoclations, shall be protected from unauthorized disclosuse by .
Vendor and Vendor's employees, by Vendor's corporate affiliates and their employees, and by Vendor's subcontraciors
and their employees, pursuant to 305 ILCS 5/11-9, 11-10, and 11-12; 42 USC 654{26); 42 CFR Part 431, Subpart F;

and 45 CFR Part 160 and 45 CFR Part 164, Subparts Aand E. To the extent that Vendor, in the course of performing
the Conlract, serves as a business associate of the Agency, as "business associate" is defined in the HIPAA Privacy
Rule {45 CFR 160.103), Vendor shall assist the Agency in responding to the client as provided in the HIPAA Privacy
Rule, and shall maintain for a period of six {6) years any records relevant to a cllent's eligibility for services under the
Agency's medical programs.

Nondiscrimination. _
Vendor and Vendor's principals, employees and subcontractors shall abide by Executive Orders 11246 and 11375.
Vendor further agrees to take affirmative action to ensure that no unlawful discrimination is committed in any manner,
including, but not limited to, in the delivery of services under this Contract.

Fraud and Abuse. :

Vendor shall report in writing to the Agency‘s Office of Inspector General (OIG) any suspecled fraud, abuse or
misconduct associated with any service or function provided for under this contract by any parties directly or indirectly
affiliated with this Agreement including but not limited to, Vendor staff, Vendor Subcontractor, Agency employee or
Agency contractor, Vendor shall make this report within three days of first suspecting fraud, abuse or misconduct.
Vendor shall not conduct any investigation of the suspected fraud, abuse or misconduct without the 8Xpress
concurrence of the OIG; the foregoing notwithstanding, the Vendor may conduct and continue investigations necessary
to determine whether reporting is required under this paragraph. Vendor must report to OIG as described in the first
sentence above. Vendor shafl cooperate with all investigations of suspected fraud, abuse or misconduct reported
pursuant to this paragraph. The Vendor shall require adherence with these requirements in any contracts it enters into
with Subcontractors. Nolhlng in this paragraph precludes the Vendor or Subcontractors from establishing measures to
maintain qualny of services and control costs that are consistent with their usual business practices, conducting
themselves in accordance with their respective legal or contractual obllgahons or taking internat personnel-related
actions.

Exclusions.

7.1.4.1. Vendor shall screen all current and prospectwe employees, contractors and sub-contractors prior to
engaging their services under this Contract and at least annually thereafter, by:
7.1.4.1.1 requiring that all current or prospective employees, contractors or sub-contractors disclose whether
they are an Excluded Individuat or Entity; and '
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- 715

7186

717

71.8

719

Lobbyin:
7

7.1.4.1.2 reviewing the list of sanctioned persons maintained by the Agency's Office of inspector General
(OIG) (http://www.state.il.us/agency/oig), and the List of Excluded Individuals/Entities maintained
by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services OIG (HHS/CIG} (http://www.dhhs.qov/oig).
7.44.2  For purposes of this section, "Excluded Individual or Entity" shall mean a person or entity which: i
7.1.4.2.1 under Section 1128 of the Social Security Act, is or has been terminated, barred, suspended or
otherwise excluded from participation in, or as the result of a settlement agreement has voluntarily
withdrawn from participation in, any program under federal law, including any program under Titles
XV, XIX, XX or XXI of the Social Security Act; I .
7.14.22 has not been reinstated in the program afier a period of exclusion, Suspension, debarment, or
ineligibility; or .
7.1.4.2.3 has been convicted of a criminal offense related to the provislon of health care items or services in
the last ten (10} years.
7.14.3 Vendor shall terminate its relations with any employee, contractor or sub-contractor immediately upon
leamning that such employee, contractor or sub-contractor meets the definition of an Excluded Individual or
Entity, and shall notify the OIG of the termination.

Child Supponr. . _ o L
Vender shall ensure that its employees who provide services to the Agency under this Contract are] in compliance with

- child support payments pursuant to a court or administrative order of this or any other State. A partnership shall be

deemed lo be out of compliance with this requirement if any partner is in default. Vendor will not be considered out of

compliance with the requirements of this Section If, upon request by the Agency, Vendor provides:

7.1.5.1  Proof of payment of past-due amounts in full; '

7.1.5.2  Proof that the alleged obligation of past-due amounts is being contested through appropriate court or
administrative proceedings and Vendor provides proof of the pendency of such proceedings; or

7.1.5.3 - Proof of entry into payment arangements acceptable to the appropriate State agency.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST. In 'addition‘ to any other provision in this Contract goﬁerning conflicts of interest, Vendor
certifies that neither Vendor, nor any party directly or indirectly affilialed with Vendor, including, but not limited to,

. Vendor's officers, directors, employees and subcontractors, and the officers, directors and employees of Vendor's.

subcontractors, shalt have or acquire any interest, public or private, direct or indirect, which may conflict in any manner
with performance of this Contract. - -~~~ - - - .. - - . -

Clean Air Act and Clean Water Act.‘ ) .

Vendor is in compliance with all applicable standards, orders or regulations Issued pursuant fo the federal Clean Air
Act (42 U.S.C. 7401 et seq.) and the federal Water Pollution Control Act (33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq.}. Violaticns shall be
reported to the United States Depariment of Health and Human Services and the appropriate Reglonal Office of the
United States Environmental Protection Agency. : o :

1.8.1 Vendor certifies to the best of Vendor's knowledge and belief, that no federally appropriated funds have been
paid or will be paid by or on behalf of Vendor, to any person for influencing or attempting lo influence an
officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer :or employee of Congress, or an
employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any federal contract, the making of
any federal loan or grant, or the entering Into of any cooperalive agreement, or the extension, continuation,
renewal, amendment, or modification of any federal contract, grant, loan or cooperative agreement.

7.1.8.2 If any funds other than federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employes of any agency, a Member of Congress, an

officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this federal

contract, grant, loan or cooperative agreement, Vendor shall complete and submit Standard Form LLL,
"Disclosure Forms to Report Lobbying,” In accordance with its instructions. Such Form Is to be obtained at

' Vendor's request from the Agency's Bureau of Fiscal Operations. _
7.1.8.3  Vendor shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award document for subawards

- ‘at all tiers (including subcontracts, - subgrants, and contracts under grants, foans, and cooperative
agreements) and that all subrecipients shall certify and disclose accordingly.

7.1.84 This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this Contract was
- executed. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into the transaction
imposed by Section 1352, Title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required certification shall ba
subject {o a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for each such failure.

Termination for Breach of HIPAA Business Associate Agreement

Vendor shall comply with the terms of the HIPAA Business Associate Agreement set forth in Attachment A. Upon the
Agency's leaming of a material breach of the terms of the HIPAA Business Associate Agreement set forth in
Attachment A, the Agency shall: )
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7.1.10

7111

7112

7.113

7.1.9.1 Provide Vendor with an opportunity to cure the breach or end the violation, and terminate this Contract if
Vendor does not cure the breach or end the violation within the time specified by the Agency; or
7.1.9.2 Immediately terminate this Contract if Vendor has breached a material lerm of the HIPAA Business
Associale Agreement and cure is not possible; or
7.1.9.3 Report the viclation to the Secretary of the United States Department of Health and Human Services, rf
neither termination nor cure by Vendor is feasible.

HIPAA Business Associate Agreement.

Vendor and the Agency shall comply with the terms of the HIPAA Business Asscciate Agreement set forth in
Attachment A,  If Vendor materially breaches the terms of the HIPAA Business Associate Agreement, the Agency may
requrre a cure or terminate this Confract, as provided herem

Retention of HIPAA Records.
Vendor shall maintain for a minimum of six (6) years documentation of the protected heaith information disclosed by
the Vendor, and all requests from individuals for access to records or amendment of records, pursuant to Attachment

~ A, sections C.6. and C.7., of this Contract, in accordance with 45 CFR 164.530(j).

Marketing. '
7.1.121 Definition. Markeling is any communication by Vendor about a product or service that encourages the

individual (as defined in Attachment A, mcorporated by reference and made a part hereof) to purchase or use

the product or service, unless the communication s limited to:

7.1.12141 A description of health-related products or services (or payment for such products or
services) that are provided by or included in a plan of benefits of the Agency or Vendor
pursuant to this Contract, including communications regarding the entities participating in
a health care provider network or health plan network, replacement of or enhancements
to a health plan, and health-related products or services available oniy to an enrollee that

: add value to but are not part of the plan of benefits; ,

711242 Communications for treatment of the individual; or

711213 Communications for case management or care coordination for lhe individual or {o direct
or recommend altemative treatments, thorapaes health care providers, or settings of care

o to the individual.

7.1.12.2 Authorization. , .

711221 Vendor must obtain an authorization for any use or disclosure of protected health
information (as defined in Attachment A} for marketing, except if the communication is in
the form of: face to face communication made by Vendor to the individual, or a

. promotional gift of naminal value provided by Vendor.

711222 If the marketing involves direct or Indirect remuneration to Vendor from a third party, the

authorization shall state that such remuneration is involved.

Nonexclusion.

7.1.13.1 Vendor is not currently barred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntanfy
excluded from participation in this transaction by any Federal or State department or agency, or is currently
barred or suspended from contracting with the State under Sect;on 50-35(f), 50-35(g) or 50-65 of the Iilinois .
Procurement Cede, 30 JLCS 500/1-1 et seq

7.1.13.2 If at any fime during the term of this Agreement Vendor becomes barred, suspended, or excluded from
- participation in this transaction, Vendor shall, within thirty (30) days of becomrng barred, suspended or
.excluded, provide 1o the Agency a written description of each offense causing the exclusion, the date(s) of .
the offense, the action(s) causing the offense(s), any penalty assessed or senfence |mposed and the date
any penalty was paid or sentence complete.
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Attachment A
HIPAA Business Associate Agreement
2012-62-011

Definitions.

1.
2

3

8.

8.

“Designated Record Set” shall have the same meaning as the term “designated record set” in 45 CFR Section 164.501.

“Individual” shall have the same meaning as the term “individual® in 45 CFR Section 160,103 and shall include a person who qualifies
as a perscnal representative in accordance with 45 CFR Section 164.502(g). ' .

“PHI" means Protected Health Information, which shall have the same meaning as the term "protected health information” in 45 CFR
Section 160,103, limited to the information created or received by Business Associate from or on behalf of the Agency in connection
with Business Associate's performance of the Services.

“Privacy Ruie” shall mean the Standards for Privacy of individually Identifiable Health Information at 45 CFR Part 160 Subpart A and
45 CFR Part 164 subparts A and E.

“Required by law" shall have the same meaning as the term “required by law" in 45 CFR Section 164.103.

*Services" shall have the meaning set forth in this Contract, and, if not therein defined, shall mean the services described in this Contract to

be performed by Business Associate for the Agency.

“Business Associate” shall mean Cognizant Technology Solutions U.S. Corporation. ,

All capitalized terms used in this Attachment shall have the meanings established for purposes of HIPAA or the HITECH Act, as 7
applicable. ‘ S . : ,
*Contract’ shall mean this Business Associate Agreement. S

Business Associate's Permitted Uses and Disclosures. o -
1. Except as limited by the Contract, Business Associate may use or disclose PHI to perform functions, activities, or services for, or on

2
3

4
5.

behalf of, the Agency as specified in the Contract, provided that such use or disclosure would not viotate the Privacy Rule.

Business Associate may use PHI for the proper management and administration of Business Associate to camy out its legal

responsibilities. . - :
Business Associate may disclose PHI for the proper management and administration of Business Associate, provided that the
disclosures are required by faw, or Business Associale obtains reasonable assurances from the person to whom the PHI is disclosed
that the PHi will remain confidential and used or further disciosed only as required by law or for the purpose for which it was disclosed
to the person. Business Associate shall require the person to whom the PH! was disclosed to notify Business Associate of any
instances of which the person is aware in which the confidenfiality of the PHI has been breached. | ,

Except as otherwise limited by this Contract, Business Associate may use PHI to provide data aggregation services to the Agency as
permitted by 45 GFR Section 164.504(e)(2)(i)(B). ' o ,
Business Associate may use PHI to report violations of law to appropriate federal and state authorities, consistent with 45 CFR

Section 164.502())(1). '

Limitations on Business Associate's Uses and Disclosures. Business Assogiate shall:

1.
2.

o

Not use or further disclose PHI other than as permitted or required by the Contract or as required by law;

Use appropriate safeguards to prevent use or disclosure of PHI other than as provided for by this Contract;

i. PHI'in paper media shall not be disclosed and must be deidentified, and information siripped of identifiers;

il. PHL in electronic media shall be encrypted and secured; S _ '

fil.email transmissions containing PHI shall mest the standards for transmission security encrypted and secured pursuant to 45 CFR

© § 164.312(e) standards specifications for integrity controls and encryption. :

Mitigate, to the extent practicable, any harmful effect that is known to Business Associate of a use or disclosure of PH! by Business
Associate in violation of the requirements of this Contract:

Report to the Agency any use or disclosure of PHI not provided for by this Cantract of which Business Associate becomes aware;
Ensure that any agents, including a subcontractor (approved by HFS), to whom Business Assogiate provides PHI received from the
Agency or created or received by Business Associate on behalf of the Agency in connection with its performance of the Services,
agree to the same restrictions and conditions at least as stringent as those that apply through this Attachment to Business Associate
with respect to such information; : '

Provide access to PHI, if maintained by Business Associate in a Designated Record Set, to the Agency or to another individual whom
the Agency names, in order to meet the requirements of 45 CFR Section 164,524, at the Agency's written request, and in the time and
manner reasonably specified by the Agency;

Make available PH, if maintained by Business Associate in a Designated Record Set, for amendment and to incorporate any
amendments to PHI in such Designated Record Set that the Agency directs pursuant to 45 CFR Section 164.526 al the request of the
Agency or an individual, and in a time and manner specified by the Agency; ‘
Make Business Associate's internal practices, books, and records, including poficies and procedures and PHI, relating to the use and
disclosure of PHI received from the Agency or created or received by Business Associate on behalf of the Agency available to the
Agency and to the Secretary of Health and Human Services for purposes of delermining the Agency's compliance with the Privacy
Rule. To the extent permitted by law, upon written request, Vendor shall provide the Agency with a copy of such internal policies or
documentation that Vendor provides to the Secretary pursuant to this Section.
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9. Document disclosures of PHI and information related to disclosures of PHI as would be required for the Agency to respond to a
request by an individual for an accounting of disclosures of PHI in accordance with 45 CFR Section 164.528,

10. Provide to the Agency or to an individual, in a time and manner specified by the Agency, information collected in accordance with the
terms of this Contract to permit the Agency to respond to a request by an individual for an accounting of disclosures of PHI in
accordance with 45 CFR Section 164.528. In the event that Business Associate in connection with the Services uses or maintains an
Electronic Heaith Record of PHI of or about an individual, Business Associate will make an accounting of disciosures of such PH! in
accordance with Section 13405(c) of the HITECH Act, as of its compliance date;

11. Retum or destroy all PHI received from the Agency or created or received by Business Associate on behaif of the Agency that
Business Assaciate stil maintains in any form, and to retain no copies of such PHI, upon termination of this Contract for any reason. If
such return or destruction is not feasible, Business Associate shall provide the Agency with notice of such purposes that make return
or destruction infeasible, and upon the parties' written agreement that return or destruction is infeasible, Business Associate shall
extend the protections of the Contract to the PHI and limit further uses and disclosures to those purposes that make the return or
destruction of the PHl infeasible. This provision shall apply equally to PHI that is in the possession of Business Associate and to PHI
that is in the possession of subcontractor or agents of Business Associate.

Agency Obligations. The Agency shall: .

1. Provide Business Assaciate with the Agency's Notice of Privacy Practices and notify Business Associate of any changes to said

Notice; :

2. Notify Business Associate of any changes in or revocation of permission by an individual to use or disclose PHI, o the extent
that such changes may affect Business Associate's permitted or required uses and disclosures of PHI;

3 Notify Business Assoclate of any restriction to the use or disclosure of PHI that the Agency had agreed to in accordance with 45
CFR Section 164.522, to the extent that such restriction may affect Business Associate's use or disclosure of PHI;

4, Not request that Business Associate use or disclose PHI in any manner that would not be permissible under the Privacy Ruls,

HIPAA, the HITECH Act or any applicable federal or state law or regulation if done by the Agency.
Breach Requirements.
1. Business Associale shall comply with Sections 164.308, 164.310, 164.312 and 164.316 of title 45, Code of Federaf Regulations
as of their respective compliance dates. The Business Associate's obligations include but are not limited o the following: ,
a. Implementing administrative, physical, and technical safeguards that reasonably and appropriately protect the confidentiatity,
integrity, and availability of the Electronic Health Information that the Business Associate creates, recelves, malntains, or
transmits on behalf of the Agency in connection with Business Asscciate’s performance of the Services as required by
HIPAA; and :
b. Ensuring that any agent, including a subcontractor (approved by Agency), to whom the Business Associate provides such PHI
agrees to implement reasonable and appropriate safeguards to protect such PHI; and
c. Reporting to the Agency any Security Incident affecting PHI of which it becomes aware. "Security Incident” shall not include
any attempted but ineffective unauthorized accesses or uses of PHI, such as pings and other broadcast attacks on Business
Associate's firewall, port scans, unsuccessful log-on attempts, and denial of service, as long as no such incident results in
unauthorized access, use or disclosure of PHI. ’
Privacy Obligations.
To comply with the privacy cbligations imposed by HIPAA, Business Associate agrees to:
To the extent practicable, mitigate any harmful effects that are known to the Business Associate of a use or disclosure of
Protected Health Information or a Breach of Unsecured Protectad Health Information In violation of this Attachment;

2. Use and disclose an Individual's Protected Health Information only if such use or disclosure is in compliance with each and every
applicable requirement of 45 CFR Section 164.504.(e) and

3. Refrain from exchanging any Protected Health Information with any entity of which the Business Associate knows has a pattem
of activity or practice that constitutes a material breach or violation of HIPAA; ‘

4, To the extent possible, use or disclose to its subcontractors or agents, and request from the Agency, only a Limited Data Set of

any PHI, and if a Limited Data Set is not possibfe, such use, disclosure or request shall be limited to the minimum necessary PH
to perform, or fulfill a specific function required, contemplated or permitted hereunder.

Breach Notification. In the event that the Business Associate discovers a Breach of Unsecured Protected Health Information, the Business

Associale agress to lake the following measures within 10 calendar days after the Business Associate first becomes aware of the incident

1. To notify the Agency of the Breach of Unsecured PHI involving the acquisition, access, use or disclosure of the Unsecured PHI, Such
notice by the Business Associate shall be provided after the Business Associate first becomes aware of the Breach of Unsecured PHI,
except where a law enforcement official determines that a notification would impede a criminal investigation or cause damage to national
security. Said notice is attached.

2 For purposes of clarily of this provision, Business Associate must notify the Agency of any such Breach of Unsecured PHI within the above
time frame even if Business Associate has not condlusively determined within that time that the Incident constitutes a Breach of Unsecured
PHI as defined by HIPAA,

3. The Business Asscciale is deemed to have become aware of the Breach of Unsecured PHI as of the first day on which such Breach of .
Unsecured PHI is known or reasonably should have been known to any person other than the individual commitiing the Breach of
Unsecured PHA, thatis an employes, officer or other agent of the Business Associate;

4, To include the names of the Individuals whose Unsecured Prolected Health Information has been o is reasanably befieved to have been,
the subject of a Breach of Unsecured PHI;

5. To complele and submit the Breach Notice form to the Agency (see Exhibit A); and

6. To provide to the Agency a sample of the notice thal was used to inform individuals about the breach.
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H. Notitication Duty. Business Associates shall provide nofification to the individuals whose information was breached as a result of Business
Associate’s or Business Associate's agents’ or subconlractors’ breach of their respective obligations under this contract, unless the Agency
agrees to assume such costs.

I Costs. If a Breach results from Business Associate’s breach of its obligations under this contract, Business Associate agrees to pay directly
or reimburse the Agency for the Agency's reasenable and direct out of pocket costs for the Agency to provide Breach notifications io
affected individuals who are required by law to receive such notifications, unless Agency agrees to assume any costs. Business
Associate’s payment of costs shall, if determined, in its reasonable discretion by Agency, to be necessary, include credit monitoring

. services fo individuals as a result as a result of such breach, ' '
J. - Indemnification for Breach Notification. Subject to the terms, conditions and limitations set forth in this contract, Business Associate shall
' indemnify the Agency for any and all reasonable costs, fines, fees associated with any incident involving the acquisition, access, use or
disclosure of Unsecured Protected Health Information in a manner not permitted under 45 C.F.R. parts D and E, which resulted from
Business Associate's or Business Associate's agents’ or subcontractors' breach of their respective obligations under this contract.

K. Security Rule Compliance. Business Associate shall comply with the Security Rule’s administrative, physical and technical safeguard
requirements as set forth in 45 CFR Part 164 Sections 164.308, 164.310, 164.312, and 164.316, As part of compliance with the Security
Rule, Business Associate shall develop and implement written security policies and procedures with respect to the PHI, including
Electronic PHi it has in its possession and control. :

L. Business Associate shall ensure minimum necessary policies are adhered to by all individuals aceessing the PHY; irrespective of the
o medium (ie. Paper, electronic, etc.) that the PHiI is stored or maintained. - : . R ‘
~ M. Bysigning this Contract, the Business Associate agrees to comply with the requirements of HITECH applicable to Business Associate in its

performance of the Services, including meeting the administrative, physical and technical safeguard requirements of the HIPAA Security
Rule. (45 CFR Part 164 Sections 164.308, 164.310, 164.312, and 164.316.) - .

N Business Associate agrees that the Eiectronic PHI that it transmits will be encrypted and that it will adopt internal procedures for reporting
’ breaches and mitigating potential damages assccialed with Breaches of Unsecured PHI and uses and disclosures in violation of this
: Aftachment. , ' .
. "P._"Interpretation. Any ambiguity in this Contract shall be resolved in favor of a meaning that permits the Agency to comply with HIPAA, the
* HITECH Act and the Privacy Rule. - L S R R T
Q- - Third Party Beneficiary. Nothing contained in-this Attachment is intended to confer upon any person (other than the parties hereto) any

. fights, benefits, or remedies of any kind or character whatsoever, whether in contract, statute, tort (such as negligence), or otherwise, and

no person shall be deemed a third-party beneficiary under or by reason of this Attachment.
Cog-nwT2AXT [ecH won 06y $OLo7T ows UK. [0Lr0RT7000 L
» R POPATE LOvwSEL.

Sespoee Hotoiionon ‘Fussne Soveonvy, COF

Business Associate Signature and Date

. By signing, the authorized representative of Business Associate agrees to abide by the terms of this Businass Associate Agreenient.
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NOTIFICATION TO THE DEPARTMENT (HFS) OF BREAGH OF
UNSECURED PROTECTED HEALTH INFORMATION
(EXHIBIT A)

This form applies to reporting all breaches of unsecured protected health information (phi) including but not limited to: electronic phi, phi in

paper media, phi on portable electronic devices (laptops, tablets, smart phones, thumb drives, hard drives.}

The Business Associate must complete this form to notify HFS pursuant to the Business Associate Agreement, of any Breach of Unsecured

Protected Health Information. In accordance with Business Associate Agreement, notice must occur immediately or within 10 calendar

days after the breach being discovered.
Notice shall be provided to the following Contacls at HFS:

(1) Conlract Administrator » In compliance with the Notice Requirements of the Underlying Agreement, at:
llinois Department of Healthcare and Family Services
Attn:

(2) HFS Privacy Officer at;

llinois Department of Healthcare and Family Services
Attn; Privacy Officer
201 South Grand Avenue East
Springfield, Hlinois 62763
information to be Submitted by Business Associate:

Contract Information:

Contract Number;

Contract Title:

Contact Person for this Incident:

Contact Person's Title:

Contact's Address:

Contact's E-mall:

Contact's Telephone Number:

NOTIFICATON

- Business Associate (BA) hereby notrf es the Department that lhere has been a Breach of Unsecured (unencrypted) Pro!ected Health !nfonnahon that

BA has used or has had access to under the terms of the BA Agreemenl as described in detarl below:

Date of Breach ! Date of Discovery of Breach:

Detalled Description of the Breach:

Types of Unsecured Protected Health Information involved in the Breach (such as full name, SSN, Date of Birth,
Address, Account Number, Disability Code etc - List All). C . .

What steps are being taken to investigate the breach, mitigate losses, and protect against any further breaches?

Number of Individuals Impacted if over 500, identify whether individuals live in multiple states?

Submitted by:

Signature: : Date:

Printed Name and Title:
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Taxpayer |ldentification Number

 certify that:
1. The number shown cn this form is my correct taxpayer identilication humber and

2. lam not subject 1o backup withholding because: (a) | am exempt from backup withholding, or {b) |
have not been notitied by the Internal Revenus Service (IRS) that | am subject 1o backup withhoiding
a5 a rasult of a lailure to report all interes! or dividends, or {c) the IRS has noiilied me that { am no
longer subjec! to backup withholding, and

3. lama U.S. person {including a U.S. resident afien).

o Jfyou are an individual, enter your name and SSN as it appears on your Social Security Card,

o ifyou are a sole proprietor, enter the ownar’s name on the name line followed by the name of
the business and the owner's SSN or EIN.

« If you are a single-member LLC Ihal is disregarded as an antily separate from ils owner,
enter the owner's name on the narne line and the d&/a on the business name ling antd enter
the owner's SSN or EIN.

» If the LLC is a corporation or parinership, enter the enlity’s business name and EIN and for
corporalions, attach IRS acceptance lettar (CP261 or GP277).

« For all other entities, enter the nama of the entity as used o apply for the entity's EIN and the
EIN,

Name: Cognizant Technology Solutions US ration

Business Name: Coanizant Technology Solutions US Corporation

Taxpayer ldentification Number:

Employer Identification Number [ ENGcGGu_

Legal Status (check one):

] Individua! ["] Governmentat

! Sole Propnetor [ Nonresident alien

1 Partnerstvp [ ] Estate or trust

{1 Legal Services Corporalion [] Pharmacy (Non-Carp.)

] Tax-exempt ] Pharmacy / Funeral Home / Cemetery (Corp.)

{7J Corporation providing or billing [J Limited Liability Company {select applicable tax classiication)

medical and/or health care services
< Corporation NOT providing or biling [[] D = disregarded entity
medical and/or heaith care services {3 € = corporation

] P = partnership

Signature: 2 JG/‘W Date: _9" May 2012




FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

STEP7
POTENTIAL CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

RELATING TO DEBARMENT & LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

(Complete only if bid, offer, or contract has an annual value over $25,000}
{Subcontractors with subcontract annual value of more than $50,000 must complete)

This step must be completed for each person disclosed in Step 2, Option A, Step 3, and for each entity and sole
proprietor disclosed in Step 1.

Please provide the name of the person or entity for which responses are provided: Sarah Sheehan
1. Within the previous ten years, have you had debarment from contracting with any [:| Yesf@ No
governmental entity?

2. Within the previous ten years, have you had any professional licensure discipline? D Yesﬂg No
3. Within the previous ten years, have you had any bankruptcies? ] Yes% No

4. Within the previous ten years, have you had any adverse civil judgments and administrative []ves % No
findings?

5. Within the previous ten years, have you had any criminal felony convictions? |:| Yes[gq No

If you answered “Yes”, please provide a detailed explanation that includes, but is not limited to the name, State agency
or university, and position title of each individual. N/A

State of illinois Chief Procurament Qffice
fFinancial Disclosures and Conflicts of Interest
V., 134



FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

STEP9
SIGN THE DISCLOSURE

(All vendors must complete regardless of annuai bid, offer, or contract value) '
{Subcontractors with subcontract annual value of more than $50,000 must complete)

This disclosure is signed, and made under penalty of perjury for all for-profit entities, by an authorized officer or
employee on behalf of the bidder or offer or pursuant to Sections 50-13 and 50-35 of the lllinois Procurement Code.
This disclosure information is submitted on behalf of:

— /.f,,r‘

Name of Disclosing gaity: : Sarah STehan
- )
Signature: 77

’/\Q\ﬁ Date: March 4, 2013

Printed Name: Sarah Sheehan
Title: Principal
Phone Number: 312 755 9000

Email Address: Sheehan®@il-gov.com

State of lllinois Chief Procurement Office
Financial Disclosures and Conflicts of Interest
V.13.4



STATE OF ILLINOIS
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Financia! Disclosures and Conflicts of Interest forms (“forms”) must be accurately completed and submitted by the
vendor, any parent entity(ies) and any subcontractors. There are nine steps to this form and each must be completed as
instructed in the step heading, unless otherwise provided. A bid, offer, or proposal that does not include this form shall
be considered non-responsive. The Agency/University will consider this form when evaluating the bid, offer, or proposal
or awarding the contract.

The requirement of disclosure of financial interests and conflicts of interest is a continuing obligation. If circumstances
change and the previously submitted form is no longer accurate, disclosing entities must provide an updated form.

Separate forms are required for the vendor, ény parent entity(ies) and any subcontractors.

Subcontractor forms must be provided with a copy of the subcontract, if required, within 15 days after execution of the
State contract or after execution of the subcontract, whichever is later, for all subcontracts with an annual value of more
than $50,000. ' ‘

This disclosuré is submitted for:

[] vendor

[ ] vendor’s Parent Entity(igs) {100% ownership)’
(] subcontractor(s) >$50,000

D Subcontractor’s Parent Entity(ies) > $50,000

Project Name and lllinois MMIS Project Upgrade Services, procurement # 2012-62-011
Procurement Bulletin Number
‘Vendor Name Cognizant Technology Solutions U.S. Corporation
Doing Business As (DBA) N/A
Parent Entity ‘Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation
Subcontractor S1G Innovatioh, Inc.
Instrument of Ownership or Corporate Stock (C-Corporation, S-Corporation, Professional Corporation, Service
Beneficial Interest Corporation) [_] If you selected Other, please describe: N/A




SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION SUBMITTAL

(All vendors complete regardless of annual bid, offer, or contract value)
(Subcontractors with subcontract annual value of more than $50,000 must complete)

You must select one of the six options below and select the documentation you are submitting. You must provide the
documentation the applicable section requires with this form.

[] Option 1 - Pubticly Traded Entities

1.A. [_] Complete Step 2, Option A for each qualifying individual or entity holding any ownership or
distributive income share in excess of 5% or an amount greater than 60% ($106,447.20) of the
annual salary of the Governor.

OR
1.B.[ ] Attach a copy of the Federal 10-K, and skip to Step 3.

[ ] option2- Prlvately Held Entities with more than 200 Shareholders

2 A, D Complete Step 2, Option A for each qualifying individual or entity holdmg any ownership or
dlstrlbutlve income share in excess of 5% or an amount greater than 60% ($106 447.20) of the
annual salary of the Governor. : -

'OR‘ ‘

2.B. D Complete Step 2, Optlon A for each’ quahfylng individual or entity holding any ownership share
in excess of 5% and attach the information Federal 10 K reporting companies are reqmred to.
report under 17 CFR 229.401. :

<] option 3 - All other Privately HeId-Entities, not including Sole Proprietorships -

3.A. [ Complete Step 2, Option A for each qualifying individual or entity holding any ownership or
distributive income share in excess of 5% or an amount greater than 60% ($106,447.20) of the ‘
annual salary of the Governor. '

[] option 4 - Foreign Entities

4.A. [:I Complete Step 2, Option A for each qualifying individual or entity holding any ownership or
distributive income share in excess of 5% oran amount greater than 60% (5106 447.20) of the
annual salary of the Governor '

- OR . .
4, B [:] Attach a copy cof the Securltles Exchange Commlssmn Form 20-F or 40-F and skip to Step 3

. [:] Optlon 5 — Not- for PI‘Oflt Entltles

[ ] complete Step 2, Option B. -
[:I Option 6 — Sole Proprietorships

[] skip to Step 3.

State of lllinois Chief Procurement Office
Financial Disclosures and Conflicts of Interest

V.13.4



‘ DISCLOSURE OF FINANCIAL INTEREST OR BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(ANl vendors, except sole proprietorships, must complete regardless of annual bid, offer, or contract value)
_{Subcontractors with subcontract annual value of more than $50,000 must complete)

Complete either Option A (for all entities other than not-for-profits) or Option B {for not-for-profits). Additional rows
may be inserted into the tables or an attachment may be provided if needed.

OPTION A - Ownership Share and Distributive Income

Ownership Share - If you selected Option 1.A,, 2.A, 2.B., 3.A,, or 4.A. in Step 1, provide the name and address of each
. individual and their percentage of ownership if said percentage exceeds 5%, or the dollar value of their ownership if said
dollar value exceeds $106,447.20.

D Check here if including an attachment with requested information in a format substantially similar to the format
below. '

TABLE - X
Name : - Address : . | Percentage of Ownership $ Value of Ownership
d Burns [ B3 - . S

Tracey Burns

T -

Distributive Income - If you selected Option 1.A., 2.A., 3.A., or 4.A. in Step 1, provide the name and address of each
individual and their percentage of the disclosing vendor’s total distributive income if said percentage exceeds 5% of the
total distributive income of the disclosing entity, or the dollar value of their distributive income if said dollar value . -
exceeds $106,447.20. ' : ' o K ' '

[} Check here if including an attachment with requested information in a format substantially similar to the format
below.

TABLE - Y _ ‘
Name .| Address- o % of Distributive Income | $ Value of Distributive Income -
N/A N/A . - N/A -N/A

" State of Illinois Chief Procurement Office
Financial Disclosures and Conflicts of Interest
V.13.4



Please certify that the following statements are true.

| have disclosed all individuals or entities that hold an ownership interest of greater than 5% or greater than

$106,447.20.

lZ|YesE| No

I have disclosed alt individuals or entities that were entitled to receive distributive income in an amount greater
than 5$106,447.20 or greater than 5% of the total distributive income of the disclosing entity.

@Yes[] No

OPTION B - Disclosure of Board of Directors (Not-for-Profits)

If you selected Option 5 in Step 1, list members of your board of directors. Please include an attachment if necessary.

TABLE - Z
Name Address
N/A N/A

STEP3

DISCLOSURE OF LOBBYIST OR AGENT

(Complete only if bid, offer, or contract has an annual value over $25,000}
(Subcantractors with subcontract annual value of more than $50,000 must complete)

[] Yes [X] No. Is your company represented by or do you employ a lobbyist or other agent required to register under
the Lobbyist Registration Act (lobbyist must be registered pursuant to the Act with the Secretary of State) or other agent
who is not identified through Step 2, Option A above and who has communicated, is communicating, or may
communicate with any State/Public University officer or employee concerning the bid or offer? If yes, please identify
each lobbyist and agent, including the name and address below.

Name

Address

Relationship to Disclosing Entity

N/A

N/A

N/A

Describe all costs/fees/compensation/reimbursements related to the assistance provided by each representative
lobbyist or other agent to obtain an Agency/University contract: N/A

State of Illinois Chief Procurement Office
Financial Disclosures and Conflicts of Interest
v.13.4




PROHIBITED CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

{All vendors must complete regardless of annual bid, , offer, or contract value)
" (Subcontractors with subcontract annual value of more than $50,000 must complete)

Step 4 must be completed for each person disclosed in Step 2, Option A and for sole proprietors identified in Step 1,
Option 6 above. Please provide the name of the person for which responses are provided: Ed Burns and Tracey Burns

1. Do you hold or are you the spouse or minor child who holds an elective office in the State of D Yes lZl No
lllinois or hold a seat in the General Assembly?

2. Have you, your spouse, or minor child been appointed to or employed in any offices or D Yes [X] No
agencies of State government and receive compensation for such employment in excess of
60% (5106,447.20) of the salary of the Governor?

3.  Are you or are you the spouse or minor child of an officer or employee of the Capital (] ves B No
Development Board or the lllinois Toll Highway Authority?

4. Have you, your spouse, or an immediate family member who lives in your residence [ ]ves X No
currently or who lived in your residence within the last 12 months been appointed as a
member of a board, commission, authority, or task force authorized or created by State law
or by executive order of the Governor?

5. If you answered yes to any question in 1-4 above, please answer the following: Do you, your |:| Yes D No
spouse, or minor child receive from the vendor more than 7.5% of the vendor’s total
distributable income or an amount of distributable income in excess of the salary of the
Governor ($177,412.00)?

6. If you answered yes to any question in 1-4 above, please answer the following: Is there a [JYes[JNo
combined interest of self with spouse or minor child more than 15% (5354,824.00) in the
aggregate of the vendor’s distributable income or an amount of distributable income in
excess of two times the salary of the Governor?

POTENTIAL CONFLICTS OF INTEREST RELATING TO PERSONAL RELATIONSHIPS

(Complete only if bid, offer, or contract has an annual value over $25,000)
_{Subcontractors with subcontract annual value of more than $50,000 must complete)

Step 5 must be completed for each person disclosed in Step 2, Option A and for sole proprietors identified in Step 1,
Option 6 above.

Please provide the name of the person for which responses are provided: £d Burns and Tracey Burns

1. Do you currently have, or in the previocus 3 years have you had State employment, including [] Yes [X] No
contractual employment of services?

2. Has your spouse, father, mother, son, or daughter, had State employment, including DYeleNo
contractual employment for services, in the previous 2 years?

State of lllinois Chief Procurement Office
Financial Disclosures and Conflicts of Interest
V.13.4



3. Do you hold currently or have you held in the previous 3 years elective office of the State of |‘_—| Yes |X} No
lllinois, the government of the United States, or any unit of local government authorized by
the Constitution of the State of lllinois or the statutes of the State of lllinois?

4, Do you have a relationship to anyone (spouse, father, mother, son, or daughter} holding ] Yele No
elective office currently or in the previous 2 years?

5. Do you hold or have you held in the previous 3 years any appointive government office of []Yes [X] No
the State of Iltinois, the United States of America, or any unit of local government authorized
by the Constitution of the State of lllinois or the statutes of the State of lilinois, which office
entitles the holder to compensation in excess of expenses incurred in the discharge of that?

6. Do you have a relationship to anyone (spouse, father, mother, son, or daughter} holding [ ves [X] No
appointive office currently or in the previous 2 years?

7. Do you currently have or in the previous 3 years had employment as or by any registered [ ]ves[X] No
lobbyist of the State government?

8. Do you currently have or in the previous 2 years had a relationship to anyone (spouse, ] Yes@ No
father, mother, son, or daughter) that is or was a registered lobbyist?

9. Do you currently have or in the previous 3 years had compensated employment by any L__| Yes & No
registered election or re-election committee registered with the Secretary of State or any
county clerk in the State of lllinois, or any political action committee registered with either
the Secretary of State or the Federal Board of Elections?

10. Do you currently have or in the previous 2 years had a relationship to anyone (spouse, [] ves X No
father, mother, son, or daughter) who is or was a compensated employee of any registered
election or reelection committee registered with the Secretary of State or any county clerk in
the State of lllinois, or any political action committee registered with either the Secretary of
State or the Federal Board of Elections?

EXPLANATION OF AFFIRMATIVE RESPONSES

{All vendors must complete regardless of annual bid, offer, or contract value)
{Subcontractors with subcontract annual value of more than $_§_Q,0070 must complete)

If you answered “Yes” in Step 4 or Step 5, please provide on an additional page a detailed explanation that includes, but
is not limited to the name, salary, State agency or university, and position title of each individual.

State of lllingis Chief Procurement Office
Financial Disclosures and Conflicts of Interest
Vv.134



| STEP 7 -
POTENTIAL CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

RELATING TO DEBARMENT & LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

(Complete only if bid, offer, or contract has an annual valug over $25,000)
(Subcontractars with subcontract annual value of more than $50,000 must complete) . | -

This step must be completed for each person disclosed in Step 2, Option A, Step 3, and for each entity and sole
proprietor disclosed in Step 1.

Please provide the name of the person or entity for which responses are provided: Ed Burns and Tracey Burns

1. Within the previous ten years, have you had debarment from contracting with any I:]Yes[E No
governmentai entity?

2. Within the previous ten years, have you had any professional licensure discipline? |:] Yes [X] No
3.  Within the previous ten years, have you had any bankruptcies? [:] Yes & No
4,  Within the previous ten years, have you had any adverse civil judgments and administrative D Yes @ No

findings?

5.  Within the previous ten years, have you had any criminal felony convictions? [ ]ves[X] No

If you answered “Yes”, please provide a detailed explanation that includes, but is not limited to the name, State agency
or university, and position title of each individual.

STEP 8
DISCLOSURE OF CURRENT AND PENDING CONTRACTS

(Complete only if bid, offer, or contract has an annual value over $25,000}
~ {Subcontractors with subcontract annual value of more than 550,000 must complete)

If you selected Option 1, 2, 3, 4, or 6 in Step 1, do you have any contracts, pending contracts, bids, proposals, or other
ongoing procurement relationships with units of State of lllinois government? @ Yes D No.

If “Yes”, please specify below. Attach an additional page in the same format as provided below, if desired.

Agency/University Project Title Status Value Contract
Reference/P.0./lHinois
Procurement Bulletin #
llinois Hlinois Health insurance Proposal 512,000,000 #12-71894
Department of Exchange
Insurance
[llinois Application Portfolio Awarded, Pending $691,152 22028068
Department Rationalization Master Contract
Central Contract
Management

State of llinois Chief Procurement Office
Financial Disclosures and Conflicts of Interest
V.13.4



[ Services l l | l J

Please explain the procurement relationship: We Are a MBE subcontractor on the lllinois HIX and Application Portfolio
Rationalization bids to the Prime Vendor Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation

State of Illinois Chief Procurement Office
Financial Disclosures and Conflicts of Interest
V. 13.4



STEP9
SIGN THE DISCLOSURE

(All vendors must complete regardless of annual bid, offer, or contract value )
* (Subcontractors with subcontract annual value of more than $50,0D0 must complete)

This disclosure is signed, and made under penalty of perjury for all for-profit entities, by an authorized officer or
employee on behalf of the bidder or offeror pursuant to Sections 50-13 and 50-35 of the lllinois Procurement Code. This
disclosure information is submitted on behalf of:

Name of Dlsclos:ng Entlt 5LG Innovation, Inc.

Signature: w) T Date: March 14, 2013

Printed Name: Ed Burns
Title: President
Phone Number: 630-803-2009

Email Address: edburns@siginnovation.com

State of lllinois Chief Procurement Office
Financial Disclosures and Conflicts of Interest
V.13.4



Cognizant Response to RFP for MMIS Upgrade Project Expert Services

Solutions

"'a“

Registration No. 17245

COGNIZANT TECHNOLOGY SOLUTIONS US
C

500 Frank W
Burr Boulevard

Teaneck NJ 07666

Information for this business last updated on:
Friday, Aprif 20, 2012

Certificate produced on Friday, April 20, 2012 at 5:51 AM

s Cogm'zant Technology SolutionsU.S Corp.
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important: Solicitation file attachments are now located at the bottom of this page.

Solicitation Overview ®
_ elp

Identification

Reference Number: 22023351

Request ID: 12-65482

Agency Reference Number: 2012-62-011

Agency: HFS - Healthcare and Family Services

Title: HFS MMIS Upgrade Project Expert Services

Date First Offered 03/30/2012

Small Business Set-Aside: No
Does this solicitation contain Yes
a BEP or DBE requirement?:

Overview
The Illinois Department of Healthcare and Family Services is seeking a professional staffing vendor to
provide expertise to assist with the MMIS Upgrade Project which includes the Pharmacy Benefit
Management System (PBMS) and Core MMIS.

The MMIS Upgrade Project Expert Services RFP is attached in both Microsoft Word and PDF formats.

Key Information

Solicitation Type: Request for Proposal
Category: General Services
Status: Closed

Published: 03/30/2012

Due Date: 06/07/2012

Due Time: 11:00 AM Local Time

Solicitation Contact

Name: Beau Wilson
Address: 2200 Churchill Road, Springfield, Il 62702
Phone: 217-558-4021
Fax: 217-557-9844
E-Maii Address: beau.wilson@illinois.gov
Class Code
.- -]
Class Codes: E110 EDP; Consulting Services
Attachments

To download file(s), click on filename(s) located below. If not logged into the system, a login prompt will display. If
you are not registered with the site, click on Registration located at the top of the llinois Procurement Bulletin
Homepage to register.

Attachment Overview:

File Attachments: e RFP.docx (224868 Bytes)

o RFP.pdf (276518 Bytes)

T oovIILvIALIVLL Lagc 1 Ul

http://www.purchase state.il.us/ipb/1llinoisBID.nsf/all/655A6 A7A2 AE5A352862579D1007E1ABO 7/2/2013
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Notice @

Identlflcatlon

Reference Number 22023351

Request ID: 12-65482

Date First Offered 03/30/2012

Title: HFS MMIS Upgrade Project Expert Services
Agency Reference Number: 2012-62-011

Agency: HFS - Healthcare and Family Services
Purchasing Agency: HFS - Healthcare and Family Services

Purchasing Agency SPO: Brett M Cox

Status: Closed

Overv:ew _

escnptuon andSpecrf cauo ‘
The Illinois Department of Healthcare and F amily Services is awarding a contract to Cognizant Technology
Solutions to provide experienced staff with professional expertise to assist with the MMIS Upgrade Project.

Ke Informatlon ] _ , i I—

Fins s <1 ¢ P S ) RV ) K] S X OR GAINT b = UWLNEDT FT TS A LI A, U b R O B TSR P B e

Notlce Type Contract Award Notice
Published: o 11129/2012

Notice Expiration Date: - 121372012
Professional & Artistic: No

Small Business Set-Aside: No ’

Does this solicitation contain a BEP Yes

or DBE requirement?: ' : o . :
Relevant Category: General Services

Total Amount of Award: $71,423,107.84 (Tota! Dollar Value Only/Includes Any Renewal Options)

Estimated/Actual Value Description: initial 6 year term estimated cost: $54,353,347.84
- optional 4 year renewal term estlmated cost: $17,069,760.00

Length of Initial Term: _ 72

Contract Begin Date: 01/01/2013
Contract End Date: 12/31/2018
Renewal Terms: 48 months

st ok L EEEAE VRS T R N R R R ST R R G R R NSRRI
Number of Respondmg Bidders: 3
Number of Unsuccessful Responsive - 2
Bidders:
Total Number Awarded: 1

Listing of Alt Bidders/Offerors Considered But Not Selected:
LRS Consulting Services

RTT & Associates
Source Selection: RFP

Vendor(s) Selected for Award

Vendor Name : Amount of Award BEP Goal % DBE Goal %
Cognizant Technology Solutions $71,423,107.84 35% 0%
Notice contac L5 R RS e G ) ST bR SR R IR 3 Pt S AT B ST 1 PR, AP LI TR AT A A,
Name: Karen Mankowski
Street Address: 2200 Churchill Road

http://www.purchase.state.il.us/ipb/IllinoisBID.nsf/All/a3b99403084be25c86257ac500808¢807OpenDocu... 7/2/2013
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City: Springfield

State: IL

Zip Code: 62702

Phona: 217-558-8268

Fax Number: 217-557-9844

EMail Address: karen.mankowski@illinois.gov
Class Code

Class Codes: E110 EDP; Consulting Services
Attachments

To download file(s), click on filename(s) located below. Not all Notices will have files to download.

File Attachments:

http://www.purchase.state.il.us/ipb/IllinoisBID.nsf/All/a3b99403084be25c86257ac500808¢80?0penDocu...  7/2/2013



"_I\/Ior'ningstar@ Document Research™

FORM 10- K

| COGNIZANT TECHNOLOGY SOLUTIONS CORP CTSHJ |

* Filed: February 26, 2013(perlod December 3, 2012)

Annual report with a comprehensive overview of the company

The infarmation contalned herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or Hmely The user
assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information, except to the extent such damages or losses canno! be
limited or excfuded by applicable iaw. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.
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PART 1

Item 1. Busincss
Overview

We are a leading provider of information technology (IT), consulting and business process outsourcing services, dedicated to helping the world’s leading
companies build stronger businesses. Our clients engage us to help them build more efficient operations, provide solutions to critical business and technology
problems, and to help them drive technology-based innovation and growth. Our core competencies include: Business, Process, Operations and IT Consulting,
Application Development and Systems Integration, Enterprise Information Management, or EIM, Application Testing, Application Maintenance, IT
Infrastructure Services, or IT IS, and Business and Knowledge Process Outsourcing, or BPO and KPO. We tailor our services to specific industries and.
utilize an integrated global delivery model. This seamless global sourcing model combines client service teams based on-site at the client locations with delivery
teams located at dedicated near-shore and offshore global delwery centers that are located primarily in India, China, the United States, Canada, Argentina,
‘Brazil, Hungary, France and the Phlhppmcs

Industry Background

In loday’s complex business environment, many companies face intense competitive pressure and rapidly changing market dynamics, driven by such
factors as changes in the economy, government regulations, globalization, virtualization and other technology innovations. At the same time, companies must
evaluate the effect of emerging technologies such as social networks, mobile devices, advanced analytics and cloud computing, or SMAC, on their business
operations. These technologies represent a new 1T slack that will profoundly change the way companies relate to their customers, engage with employees, and
bring innovative products and services (o market. In response 1o these challenges, many companies are focused on improving efficiencies, enhancing
effectiveness and driving innovation through technology to favorably impact both the bottom-lin and the top-iine. Companies need to buiid agility into both the
cost and revenue sides of their models. In this conlext, they increasingly view the global sourcing model as a key to their efforts to operate more cost-effectively
and productively. Separalely, to confront secular industry shifls, changing demographics and new technologies, companies are looking to innovate and build
new and different capabilities with emerging technologies to ensure their business models stay relevant, ’

Companies increasingly seek (o meet the dual mandate of more efficient and effective operations. including cost reduction, along with technology-based
innovation and business transformation in a comprehensive, integrated manner. Achieving these objectives presents major challenges and requires companies
to have highly skilled professionals trained in many diverse and new lechnologies and specialized industries. Increasingly, companies are relying on service
providers, like us, operating with globat delivery models, to help them meet these ever-changing objectives.

Global demand for high quality, lower cast technology scrvices from outside providers has created a significant opportunity for IT service providers that
can successfully leverage the benelfits of and address the challenges in using a global talent pool. The effective use of personnel from across the globe can offer
a variely of benefits, including lower costs, faster delivery of new IT solulions and innovations in industry-specific solutions, processes and technologies.
_ Certain countries, particularly India, the Philippines, Singapore and China, have large talent pools of highly qualified technical professionals who can provide
high quality IT and business and knowledge process outsourcing services at a lower cost. India is a leader in IT services and is regarded as having one of the  *
largest and highest quality pools of talent in the world. Historically, IT service providers have used offshore labor pools primarily to supplement the internal
staffing needs of customers. However, cvolving customer demands have led to the increasing acceptance and use of offshore resources for higher value-added
services. These services include application design, development, testing and systems integration, technology consulting and infrastructure management.
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The Cognizant Approach

Our solutions are built on a global network of delivery centers, decp domain cxpertise and a robust port/olio of services.

Global Delivery Model. Our geographic reach extends across the globe, with more than 50 delivery centers in 14 countries. We have a four-tiered global
architecture for service delivery and operations, consisting of employees co-located at clients’ sites, local or in-country delivery cenlers, regional delivery
centers and global delivery centers. We are continuously expanding global delivery capacity in our centers in India, China and the Philippines. We have added
more regional delivery in Europe (for example, in Hungary) and in-country delivery centers in the United States and Europe (for example, in Minot, North
Dakota, Des Moines, lowa and Grenoble, France) and have increased our presence throughout the world. We also use our proprietary Cognizant 2.0
knowledge-sharing and project-management piatform to unite all of our operations around the globe, access capabilities across the company, and streamline
workflow. Our extensive facilities, technology and communications infrastructure facilitate the seamless integration of our global workforees.

Domain Expertise. Qur business is organized and managed primarily around our four industry-oriented business segments:
«  Financial Services; ‘
¢ Healthcare;

. Manufacturing, Retail and Logislics; and

+  Other, which includes Comnmunications, Information, Media and Entertainment, and High Technology.

This industry focus has been central to our revenue growth and high client satisfaction. As the IT services industry continues to mature, clients are
_looking for service providers who understand their businesses, industry initiatives, customers, markets and cultures, and can create solutions 1aitored to meet
their individual business needs. To strengthen our industry practices, we hire professionals who are deeply experienced in the industries we serve, thus
cstablishing a broad base of business analysts and consultants. We continually invest in industry training for our staff and build out industry-specific
services and solutions. This approach is central to our high levels of on-time delivery and client satisfaction, as we understand the full context of our clients’

challenges and have deep experience in addressing them.

Portfolic of Services. We offer a broad range of services designed to help clients address business challenges and enhance their ability to pursue growth
opportunities. Our key service areas, Consulting and Technology Services and Outsourcing Services, are delivered to our clients across our four business
segments in a standardized, high-quality manner through our global delivery medel. We continually invest in the expansion of our service portfolio to

_anticipate and meel clients’ evolving needs. In recent years, in addition 1o our traditional offerings, we have begun to provide services that enable clients to
harness emerging SMAC technologies. Our current service areas include: o

+  Consulting and Technology Services
. Business, Process, Opcrations and IT Consulting
. Application Development and Systems Integration
. Applicaticn .Testing ‘

«  Quisourcing Services

. Application Maintenance

. IT Infrastructure Services
. Business and Knowledge Process Outsourcing

Source: COGNEZANT TECHNGLOGY SOLUTIONS CORP, 10-K -Felruary 26, 2013 Powered by Morningstar™ Docunent Research ™

The information contaiied herein moy nat be copietl, adrpred ar diaftibuted ainT /s not warranted (a be accuraie, complete or timely. The user assumes aff risks for any damages or I0sses arising from any use of this
intarmation, except o the exlent such damages or logses canrol be limited or exciuded by applicable law. Past financisl performance s ho guarantee of future resuits.



Table of Contents

Business Segments

We are organized around our [our industry-oriented business segments, and we report the operations of our business as follows:

Finangial Services Healtheare Manufagturing/Retail/Logistics Other

Banking Healthcare Manufacturing and Logistics Conmununications

[nsurance Life Sciences Retail, Travel and Hospitality Inforrnation, Media and Entertainment
Consumer Goods - High Technology

Financial Services

Our Financial Services business segment serves leading financial institutions throughout the waorld. Our clients include banks, invesiment firms and
insurance companies. In 2012, this segment represented approximately 41.3% of our total revenues. Revenues from our Financial Services business segment
were $3,035.4 million, $2,518.4 million, and $1,944.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively. This business
segment provides services to our customers operating in the following industries:

*  Banking. We focus on serving raditional retail and commercial banks, diversified financial enterprises, broker-dealers, asset management firms,
depositories, clearing organizations and exchanges. Our clients engage us to help make their operations as effective, productive and cost-efficient
as possible, and 1o support new capabilities. We assist these clients in such areas as: Retail Banking, Wholesale Banking, Consumer Lending,
Cards and Payments, Risk Management, Investinent Banking and Brokerage, Asset and Wealth Management, and Securities Services.

The demand for our services in the banking sector is being driven by several significant changes in the industry. In respense to the global
econormic crisis, central banks and government bodies have adopted policies designed lo maintain low interest rates, raise capital requirements,
impose new regulations, and institute risk-mitigation measures, such as restricting proprietary trading. Such actions have the effect of curtailing
some revenuc sources and increasing compliance costs for most financial institutions. In addition, financial institutions must consider adopting
new technologies. such as SMAC, which will impact the way they interface with customers and employees, and how they manage their
operations. We help our customers adapt to these changes by providing technology-based industry-specific solutions. In addition to Application
Development and Maintenance, the services increasingly in demand in this sector include EIM. Testing, Customer Relationship Management, or
CRM, Enterprise Resource Planning, or ERP, BPO, IT IS, and Business and Technology Consulting.

- Insurance. We serve the needs of global property and casualty insurers, life insurers, reinsurance firms and insurance brokers who turn to us for
assistance in improving the efficiency and effectiveness of their operations and in achieving business transformation. We focus on such aspects of
our clients’ operations as: Business Acquisition, Policy Administration, Claims Processing, Management Reponmg, Regulatory Compliance and -
Reinsurance.

Among ihe factors driving the need for our services in the insurance industry is a desire to improve the sales and marketing process, both
by deepening direct retail customer relationships and strengthening interactions with networks of independent and captive insurance agents, often
through the use of social and mobile technologies. Insurers also seek 1o enhance their profitability by differentiating their products and services,
resulting in a need for specialized underwriting models and systems. Additionally, many insurers seek to improve business effectiveness by
reducing expense ratios and exiting non-core lines of business and operations. Our services which are most in demand in this sector include:
Application Development and Integration, Consulting, BPO/KPQ, IT IS, EIM, and SMAC services.

3
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Healthcare

Our Healthcare segment serves many leading healthcare and life sciences companies. In 2012, our Healthcare business segment represented
approximately 26.3% of our total revenues. Revenues from our Healthcare business segment were $1,934.9 million, $1,622.2 million, and $1,177.1 million
for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2610, respectively. This business segment provides services to our clients operating in the following
industries:

«  Healthcare. We work with many leading global healthcare organizations, including healthcare payers, providers and pharmacy benefit managers.
The healthcare industry today faces the dual challenge of improving the quality of care while lowering the cost of care and making healthcare
afTordable to a larger population. A key factor driving this transformation has been the Affordable Care Act.

Our Healthcare Practice focuses on providing a broad range of services and solutions to the industry to address regulatory requirements and
emerging industry trends such as: Regulatory Compliance, Integrated Health Management (including establishing health information exchanges),
EIM, Claims [nvestigalive Services (aimed at preventing fraud and abuse and strengthening administrative processes), and Operational
Improvement (in arcas such as claims processing, cnrollment, membership and billing). We also partner with our clicnts to cnable their systems
and processes to deal with the retail orientation of health care, such as the support of individual mandates and the adoption of mobile and
analytics solutions to improve access to health information and decision making by end consumers.

= Life Sciences. We partner with leading phannaceullcal biotech, and medical device companies, as well as providers ofgenencs animal health
and consumer health products to assist them in transforming their business by helping them be more efficient and effective from an IT and
business operations perspeclive while helping them drive innovation and virtualization in growing their business. *

Among the industry forces generating demand for our services are: financial pressures caused by payer and goilemmenl pricing pressures,
patent expiry and competition from generics; the drive to expand into new geographic markets; the need for more targeted or personalized therapies
teading 10 R&D innovation; continued diversification of product portfolios and the relaled high cost of product development; and a dynamic
regulatory environment with greater emphasis on product safety, ethics and compliance, transparency of pricing and promotional activity.

Our Life Sciences solutions help transform many of the business processes in the life sciences value chain (Research, Clinical
Development, Manufacturing and Supply Chain, Sales and Marketing) as well as regulatory and administrative functions and general IT. Among
our services most often in demand are Consulting, EIM, Customer Solutions, BPO/KPO, IT IS, Application Maintenance, Application
Development and Systems Integration, Testing and SMAC services.

Manufaciuring/Retail/Logistics

Our Manufacturing, Retail and Logistics segment provides business consulling and technology services for global leaders in a range of sub-scctors,
including industrial, automotive, process logistics and retailing. In 2012, this segment represented approximately 20.4% of our total revenues. Revenues from
our Manufacturing/Retail/Logistics business segment were $1,498.7 million, $1,197.5 millicn, and $849.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2012,
2011, and 2010, respectively. This business segment services customers in the following industry groups:

+  Manufacturing and Logistics. Clients in this sector include manufacwrers of automobiles and industrial products, and processors of natural
resources, chemicals and raw materials. In loglsncs our clients include rail, truck, marine and other transportation and distribution compames
We also serve many leading energy utilities, as well as oil and gas producers. Our clients seek our help in implementing
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business-relevant changes that will make them more productive, competitive and cost-effective. To that end, we help organizalions improve
operational efficiencies, enhance responsiveness, and collaborate with trading partners to better serve their markets and end customers. We
leverage a comprehensive understanding of the business and technology drivers of the industry. Some of our Manufacturing and Logistics
solutions for Industrial and Automotive clicnts include: Warranty Management, Dealer System Integration, Supply Chain Management, Sales and
Operations Planning, and Mobility. Fer transportation and logistics clients, our service areas include Warehouse and Yard Management,
Transportation Asset Management, Transporiation Network Design, Global Trade Management and Analytics.

Industry trends that influence the demand for our services in this sector include the increasing globalization of sourcing and the desire of
clients to further penctrate emerging markets, leading to longer and more complex supply chains. In the power generation sector, industry trends
include the continued drive toward energy conservation, including “smart meter" installations, the need for better grid reliability and security,
regulatory changes and the need to relieve cost pressures through better assel performance and web-based customer care systems. Clients also wish
to oplimize their supply chains to better manage inventory, support growing eCommerce operations and improve customer-supplier collaboration.
They seek to apply intelligent systems 10 manufacturing and logistics operations, enable mobile platforms to support field sales and usc data
analytics to make better informed decisions. These trends are driving demand for offerings'such as Enterprise Applicaticn Services, or EAS,
EIM, Consulting and SMAC technologies.

Retail, Travel and Hospitality, We serve a wide spectrum of retailers and distributors, including supermarkets, specialty premium retailers,
department stores and large mass-merchandise discounters, who seek our assistance in becoming more efficient and cost-effective and in helping
to drive business transformation. Current trends affecting demand in the retail industry include a need for greater cost-efficiency to combat the
industry’s traditionally narrow profit margins, changes in supply chain management to facilitate direct store delivery, the ability to accommodate
multi-channel {in-store and on-line) models, and the impact of SMAC technologies on customer and employee interaction.

Services in high demand in the retail sector include Consulting, eCommerce, EAS, Systems Integration, Testing, BPO/KPO and EIM. We
* also serve the entire travel and hospitality industry including airlines, hotels and restaurants, as well as online and retail travel, global distribution
systems and intermediaries and real estate companies, providing solutions such as CRM, EIM and BPO/KPO..

- Consumer Goods. We work with many of the world’s premier consumer goods manufacturers, creating innovative solutions and strategies that
help them build and sustain strong brands while enhancing their price-competitiveness, category leadership and consumer loyalty Principal |
segments served include consumer durables, food and beverage, footwear and apparel, and home and personal care products. 'Our expertise in
these areas spans a wide range, from demand-driven supply chains, to revenue-creating trade promotion management syslems 10 analytics
sysiems and mobility solutions that anticipate and serve ever-changing customer needs.

The demand for our scrvices in this sector is being propelled by such factors as the need of consumer goods compamcs to accelerate product
innovalion to remain competitive and deliver top-line growth, the continuing drive to optimize global sourcing and supply chain management, the -
" impact of SMAC technologies on consumer interaction, marketing and sales processes, the use of data analytics to increase the effectiveness of
product development and marketing, as well as-ongoing pressures to curtail IT costs. In response to these heeds, we provide solutlons including
Application Developmem and Systems Integration, Consulting, CRM, EIM, Testing, BPO, IT IS and SMAC services.
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Other

The Other business segment includes the Communications, Information, Media and Entertainment, and High Technology operating segments. In 2012,
our Other business scgment represented approximately 12.0% of our total revenucs. Revenues from our Other business segment were $877.5 million, $783.1
million, and $621.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2012, 201 1, and 2010, respectively. The Other business scgment is an aggregation of operating
segments ¢ach of which, individually, represents less than 10.0% of consolidated revenues and segment operating profit. Descriptions of the key operating
segments included in the Other business segment are as follows:

= Communications. Our communications industry practice serves some of the world’s leading communications service (cable, wireless and
wireline) providers, equipment vendors, and software vendors. We help our clients address the important changes in the communications
industry, such as: transition to new network technologies; designing, developing, testing and introducing new products and channels; improving
custommer service and increasing customer satisfaction; transforming Business Support Systems (BSSs) and Operations Support Systems
{(0SSs); transitioning to agile development methodologies; and cnabling applications for cloud deployment. Customer Solutions, Mobility, IT IS,
Testing, ERP Implementation, EIM, and Cloud services have been in particular demand.

«  [nformation, Media and Entertainment. We work with same of the world’s largest media and entertainment companies, including information
service providers, publishers, broadcasters, and movie, music and video game companies. The growth of digital platfonns is causing significant
change to these industries and we are working with clients to help meet these challenges and help transform their businesses. Additional trends
affecting the industry include a decline of traditional print publishing, the need for digital asset management and the lmpacl of SMAC

" technologies on the consumption of entertainment content.

We provide services in critical areas such as the Digital Content Supply Chain and Media Asset Management. Some of our other services
- include: Business Solutions (such as Advertising Management, Online Media, and e-Business); Digital Distribution, Workflow Automation;
Intellectual Property Management, Anti-Piracy Initiatives; and Operational Systems (Advertising Sales, Studio Management, Billing and
Payments, Content Management and Delivery). :

«  High Technofogy. We serve some of the warld’s leading independent software vendors, or ISVs, technology equipment manufacturers, and online
service providers. We assist the 1SVs with their transitions to new business models (such as Software-as-a-Service, or SaaS medels) and facilitate
their license management and sales processes. We help the high-technology manufacturers take on complex, transformational business process
and product engineering initiatives. The technology sector is largely driven by product development. This creates strong demand for Analytical,
Engineering, Testing, Go to Market strategies, and Content Management services. Other in-demand services include CRM, Product Technical
Suppont, Supply Chain Management and the application ofSMAC technologics to the customer cxpcncncc as well as Application Dcvclopmcm
Systems Integration and Application Maintenance.

Our Solutions and Services .
Across each of our business segmenls we prov1de a broad and expanding range of consulting, information technology and outsourcmg services,
mcluding:

Consulting and Technology Services
= T Strategy and Business Consulting. Qur global consulting team, Cognizant Business Consulting, or CBC, helps clients re-imagine and
transform their businesses to gain competitive advantage. With these new operating models, the value chain is being disaggregated to drive speed to
market and agility.
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CBC is built on a. foundation of deep thought leadership and actionable strategies. CBC works with clients to improve business
perlormance and operational productivity in order to exceed business goals. We also provide assistance with Strategy Consulting, Business and
Opcrations Consulting, IT Strategy & Change Management, and Program Management Consulting.

Key factors driving the demand for CBC’s services are the following:

The need 1o run the business better while increasing operational flexibility and reducing time to market;
Optimizing big data and predictive analylics to gain competitive insight;

Large business transfornnations, impacting business and IT operating models;

Increased demands to collaborate and compete in the market for customers, capabilities and ﬁlcnt;

Desire 1o remove roadblocks in the Business/IT relationship - to increase the return on technology investments, both directly and
through positioning [T as a source of digital business innovation; :

Readiness 10 embrace virtualization capabilities, including greater infrastructure outsourcing and cloud solutions, with a focus on
identifying and managing risk and cost; and

Ongoing regulatory shifts, which require enhanced risk management and compliance frameworks, as well as greater organizational
resilience. ' : '

In this environment, the services currently provided by CBC include:

IT strategy consulting to define new IT target operating models, new delivery models and to optimize IT to business alignment,
sourcing strategics and IT costs;

Program management consulting, including post-acquisition integration, business and IT integration, business transformation, and
large scale business transformation;

Operations unprovcmcnl consulting for business process management, operatlons strategy, global sourcing and supply chain

- management. and chan"c m'lndgcmcnl

Strategy consulting with respect to re-imagining new busmess and operating models, market growth, mergers and acqulsmons
product innovation and sustainability initiatives; and

Business consulting related to finance, risk advisory, human resources, marketing and analytics functions.

CBC also is expanding new services and capabilities in areas such as BPO, Supply Chain Manabemem Enterprise Analytics, EAS, and
consuling related 10 the man:u,cmem of core assets and intellectual property, or IP.

«  Application Development and Svstems Integration . We offer a full range of Application Design, Application Development and Systems
Integration services, which enable cusiomers 1o focus on and invest in their core business activities and in growlh'-producing innovation, while
enswring that their IT functions operale in the most efficient, responsive and cost-effective manner. We have particular depth of skills in
implementing large, complex, business-critical IT development and integration programs. :

Demand for our Application Development and Systems Integration services is being driven by the growing need of customers to access
autside capabilitics 1o respond to the impact of changes in markets, regulation, competition and SMAC technologics on their busincsses.

As part of our Application Development services, we define customer requirements, write specifications and design, develop, test and
integrate software across multiple platforms including Internet technologies. We modify and test appllcanons to enable syslcms to function in new

upthllmb
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environmeuts. In addition, these services include ERP and CRM implementation services. We follow one of two allemmative approaches to
application development and systems intcgration:
. full life-cycle application development, in-which we assume start-lo-finish responsibility for analysis, design, implementation, testing and
integration of systems; or
. cooperative development, in which our employees work with a customer’s in-house IT personnel to jointly analyze, design, implement,
test and integrate new sysiems.
In both of these approaches. our on-site team members work closely and collaboratively with our clients. Detailed design, implementation
and testing are gencrally performed at dedicated near-shore and offshore development and delivery centers. In addition, we maintain an on-site
prescnce at each custoiner location in order to address evolving client needs and resulting changes to the project.

A key part of our application development and systems integration offering is a suite of services to help organizations build and integrate
business applications with the rest of their operations. Using this suite of services, we leverage our skills in business application development and
enterprise application integration to build sophisticated business applications and to integrate these new applications and websites with client
server and legacy systems. We build and deploy robust, scalable and extensible architectures for use in a wide range of industries. We maintain
competency centers specializing in various areas such as: Microsoft solutions; IBM, SAP, Oracle and Java applications; and Cloud Computing
and Mobile solutions. These competency centers enable us to provide application development and integration services to a broad spectrum of
clients. .

Our re-engincering service offerings assist customers migrating [rom systems based on legacy computing environments to newer standards-
based distribution architcetures, ofien in responsc to the more stringent demands of business. Our re-engincering tools automate many of the
processes required to implement advanced technology platforms. We believe that this automation substantially reduces the time and cost to
perfonn re-cngineering services. These tools also enable us to perform source code analysis and to re-design target databases and convert certain
progranining languages. If necessary, our programimers also help clients re-design and convert user interfaces.

«  Enterprise Information Management. Our EIM practice focuses on helping clients harness the vast amounts of data available on their
operations, customers and markets, and to cenvert that data into information and insights that are valuable to their businesses and can be used to
drive management decisions. We help clients identify the types of data available both within their organizations and from outside sources,
including social media, and to bring that data together in a meaningful “data to foresight” continuum. Among the trends driving this business are:
the desire of companies to betier understand consumer demands and market opporunities in order to creale new products and services, the
cxplosion of differently structured types of data from newly crafled busincss processes, the need to manage reporting requirements in regulated
industries such as healthcare and financial services, and the pressures to manage operations morc cfficicntly and cost-cffccuvcly through the use
ol analytical tools. Amony the services we provide in the EIM area are the following:

. Slrmcgw advisory and management consultmg services across Information Management, Business Intelligence & Analytics;
. Enterprise Data Management, including the creation of data warehouses, data marts, operational stores, enterpnse master data
- management platforms, enterprise metadata platforms as well as enterprise data governance;
. Descriplive Analytics/ Business [ntelligence that involves the strategy, design, build and mana;,ement of information assets that drive day
‘ to day decision making; -
. Straicgic Corporate Performance Management, enabling clients 1o create executive dashboards or scorecards to better manage operations;
8
'
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. Packaged Analytics designed to provide solutions to specific business problems leveraging technologies such as Mabile and Cloud; and
. Big Data to assist clients in managing and deriving actionable insights from the explosion in the volume, varicty, velacity and complexity
of data.

- Applicarion Testing. Qur Application Testing practice offers a comprehensive suite of services in testing, consulting and engineering. Our Quality
Assurance, or QA, transformation services help clicnts develop deep, agile QA capabilitics that create or extend their compelitive advantage. QA
is driven by six strategic themes: integrated automation, user advocacy. IP-based intelligent platform. a factory model, end-to-end quality focus,
and an on-demand infrastructure model. Qur business-aligned services in the areas of system and integration testing, package testing, user
acceptance, aulomation, performance testing and test data management address our clients” critical quality needs. Consulting and infrastructure
solutions in quality management, test tools and test infrastructure enable our clients to capitalize on emerging opportunities. Factors driving the
demand for our testing services include the adoption of SMAC technologies, the need for testing of new regulatory compliance processcs, and the
desire of clients for inore cost-ctfective and nimble “on-demand” testing. Accordingly, among the functions we provide are: testing related to
integration of SAP, Scibel and other systems, IT process and quality consulting, testing of customized mobile and cloud-based applications, and
Testing as a Service. We focus our Managed Test Centers on specific domains (e.g., specific industries and software solutions), ensuring we tailor
our testing solutions to the particular needs of our clients. We help our clients achieve significant reduction in time to market as well as cost of
quality, and realize significant improvements in the maturity of their quality processes.

e Sociul, Mobile, Anulytics and Cloud-based Services. We are aiding clients in adaptmg social, mobile, analytics and cloud-based (SMAC)
technologies to their businesses. Such new technologies are becoming fundamental components of the enterprise IT architecture. These technologics
arc profoundly changing {he way companies relaie o their customers, interact with employees, and bring products and services to market. As
such, the SMAC stack holds the premise of innovation and the potential for innovation-driven top line growth and efficiencies that improve the
botton line. We help clients analyze social media sentiment and build those insights into their customer relationship management process. In other
cases, we are enabling clients to imanage and analyze vast accumulations of data and to use that data to drive management decisions. We also offer
end-to-end services to enable cloud-based processes, from consulting and implementation to ongoing support activities.

Outsourcing Services

»  Application Maintenance . Our Application Maintenance service offering supports some or all of a client’s applications, ensuring that systems
remain operational and responsive to changing user requirements and provide on-going enhancements as required by the client. Beyond the
iraditional view of I'T outsourcing as a cost-saving mcasure, our Application Maintenance services enable clients to improve the overall agility,
responsiveness, productivity and efficiency of their IT.infrastructure. Increasingly, we also are assisting clients in adaplm;, their [T systems to
SMAC technologtes. - : .

By supporting some or all of a client’s appllcnnons our services help ensure that a user's core operational systems are free of defects and
responsive to changing needs. As part of this process, we are often able to introduce product and process enhancements and improve service levels
10 customers requesling modifications and on-going support. We also provide Application Value Management Solutions that can help balance cost.
complexity and capacity and can he[p clients reduce cost of ownership, improve service levels and create new operational efficiencies.

Our global delivery business model enables us to provide a range of rapid response and cost-effective support services to our clients. Our
an-sile leam members ofien provide help-desk services at the client’s facxllty These tcam members typically arc available in the event of an
emergency service
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request and are able to quickly resolve customer probiems from remote locations. In the case of more complex maintenance services, including
medifications, enhancements and documentation, which typically have longer tummaround times, we take full advantage of our offshore resources
to develop solutions more cost-effectively than would be possible relying on higher cost local professionals.

As part of our Application Maintenance services, we assist clients in renovating their core systems to meet the requirements imposed by new
regulations, new standards or other external events. We seek to anticipate the operational environment of our clients’ IT systems as we design and
develop such systems. We also offer diagnostic services to clients to assist them in identifying shortcomings in their IT systems and optimizing
the performance of their systems.

IT Infrastructure Services. We provide end-to-end IT Infrastructure Management Outsourcing services and anticipate growing demand for these
services in the coming years. We provide service capability in redundant Global Operating Centers, or GOCs, worldwide, through which we are
able to provide significant scale, qualily and cost savings to our clients in IT IS. Clients are increasingly seeking IT IS to sharpen their focus on
corc business operations, reallocate overhead costs to growth investments, enable businesses to respond more quickly to changing demands,
decrease time to market, ensure that the IT infrastructure can scale as the business evolves, and access skill scts that lic outside the organization.
The major services we provide include Data Center, Infrastructure Security, Network and Convergence, End-User Computing Services, and
Mobility. We also have a new set of Cloud Services offerings that embrace virtualization technologies across delivery solutions including private
cloud, enterprise multi-tenant cloud and public cloud models.

Business and Knowledge Process Ouisourcing. We provide BPO/KPO services through unique industry-aligned solutions that integrate
process, domain and technology expertise to enable our clients to respond in a nimble and flexible manner to market opportunities and challenges,
while also creating variable cost structures to drive greater effectiveness and cost-cfficiency. We have extensive domain-specific expertise in core
front office, middle office and back office functions including, but not limited to: Finance and Accounting, Procurement, Data Administration,
Data Management, and Research and Analytics. Our industry-specific solutions include clinical data management, pharnmacovigilance, equity
research support, commercial operations and order management. In addition to BPO, related services include Consulting to ensure process
excellence, and a range of platform-based services. Qur goals for our client relationships are customer satisfaction, operational productivity,
strategic value, and business transformation, Among the factors driving growth in our services are the desire to improve cost-effectiveness, the
emergence of SMAC technologies, and the need for clients to access capabilities beyond their organizations to adapt to rapid changes in
technologies, markets and customer demands. ’

Business Strategies
Our objcctives are to maximize stockholder value and enhance our position asa leading provider of information technology, consuiting and business
process omsourcmg services. We implement the following core strategies to achieve these objectives:

Growth through Reinvestment. Historically, we have invested our profit above the 19% to 20% non-GAAP operating margin level excluding stock-based
compensation expense, back into our business. We believe this to be a significant contributing factor to our strong revenue growth. This investment is
primarily focused in the areas of: strengthening and expanding our portfolio of services; continuing to expand our geographic presence for both sales and
delivery; hiring client partners and relationship personnel with specific industry experience or domain expertise; training our technical staff in a broader range
of service offerings; recognizing and rewarding exceptional performance by our employees; and maintaining a level of resources, trained in a broad range of
service offerings, to be well positioned to respond 10 our client requests, as described below.

Expand Service Offerings and Solutions : We have several teams dedicated to creating technology-based innovative solutions and developing new,
high value services. The teams collaborate with

10
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custamers to develop these services. For example, we are currently developing new offerings in Business and IT Consulting and industry-criented
IT sclutions atop innovative technologies. We invest in internal research and development and promote knowledge building and sharing across the
organization to advance the development of new services and solutions. Furthermore, we continue to enhance our capabilities and service offerings
in the arcas of CRM, ERP, EIM, Sofiware Testing, Infrastructure Management, industry-oricnted BPO services and SMAC technologies.

We believe that the continued expansion of our service offerings will provide new sources of revenue, reduce our reliance on any one
technology initiative and help foster long-term relationships with our customers by allowing us te better serve their needs. Additionally, as part of
our vision to continue our growth and anticipate our clients’ and the markets’ rapidly changing demands in the near-term, mid-term and long-
lerm, we are investing in emerging opportunities which seek to transform client and user platforms to internet, cloud and mobile-based

experiences.

«  Expand Domestic and International Geographic Presence :-We have established sales and marketing offices in various metropolitan areas in
the United States and internationally. As we expand our customer base, we plan to open additional sales and marketing offices in North America,
Europe, Latin America, Asia, and the Middle East. This expansion is expected to facilitate sales and services to existing and new customers.

*  Research and Dcvelopmeh! and Compeiency Centers: We have project experience and expertise across multiple architectures and technologies,
and have made significant investments in our competency centers and in research and development to keep abreast of the latest technology
developments. Most of our technical staff is trained in multiple technologies and architectures. As a result, we are able to react to clients’ needs
quickly and cfficiently redeploy cur technical staff to different technologies. Also, to develop and maintain this flexibility, we have made a
substantial investment in our competency centers so that the experience gained from particular projects and research and development efforts is
leveraged across our entire organization. Through our investment in research and development activities and the continuing education of our
technical pérsonnel, we enlarge our knowledge base and develop the necessary skills 1o keep pace with emerging technologics. We believe that our
ability 1o work in new technologies allows us 1o foster long-term relationships by having the capacily to continually address the needs of both
existing and new clients.

«  Enhance Processes, Methodologies and Productivity Toolsets: We have a comprehensive process framework that addresses the entire software
cngineering life cycle and support activities, which are scalable for projects of different sizes and complexities. This proprietary framework,
which we reler to as “Process Space™ (part of Cognizant 2.0), is supported by in-house project management, metrics management and workflow
tools and is available to all our programmers globally. Process Space has evolved since its original release in 1996 in breadth, depth and
maturity, based on the implementation feedback from projects and findings of internal quality audits and external assessments. Process
capabilities are monitored at the sub-process level and performance targets are monitored at the process level, Performance targets are aligned with
the overall business abjeclives. Statistical process controls are used extensively 10 continuously monitor, predict and improve perfonnance. Our
Delivery Assurance Group facilitates process implementation from project inception and audits the projects periodically to ensure that the
implementation is effective and the risks are being managed. With the globalization of business, we are committed to improving and enhancing
our proprietary Process Space software engineering process and other methodologies and toolsets. In light of the rapid evolution of technology, we
believe that continued investment in research and development is critical lo our continued success. We are constantly designing and developing
additional productivity software tools to automate Lesting processes and improve project estimation and risk assessment techniques.

We have invested considerably in automation ta improve process institutionalization across the organization. For example, we have built and
deployed "Cognizant 2.0,” an intelligent delivery ecosystem which orchestrates processes, inethodologies and best practices driving effective usage

of
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kuowiedge, while providing a collaborative framework for our world-wide client service personnel. Our process framework has been extensively '
adapied to caler Lo different types of projects managed by the organization across different service lines, such as Application Development,
Managed Services, Application Testing, BPO and IT IS.

Global Delivery Model. We have a four-tiered global architecture for service delivery and operations, consisting of employees co-located at clients’ sites, local
or in-country delivery centers, regionhl delivery centers'and global delivery centers. Our extensive facilities, technology and communications infrastructure
facilitate the scamless integration of our global workforces. This is accomplished by permitting tearn members in different locations to access common project
~ information and 1o work directly on client projects. This infrastructure allows for rapid completion of projects, highest level of quatity. efficient use of clients’

technological resources and real-time access to project information by the on-sile account manager or the client. In addition, for large projects with short time
frames. our offshore facilities allow for parallel processing of various development phases to accelerate delivery time.

Two-in-a-Box: Our proprictary client engagement model, called Two-in-a-Box™, or TIB, represents our commitmenl to providing superior service |
to help our clicnis reduce 1T operational costs, embrace best practices and undergo sustainable business transformation. Centered on the needs of
the client’s organization, TIB is designed specifically to help the client quickly reduce IT budgets, revamp [T operations and re-deploy freed-up
assets (o0 more strategic initiatives that generate business value. The TIB model begins with a relationship management team, led by the Client
Partner, or CP, with deep industry expertise, working onsite to absorb the client’s culture, operational processes, challenges and business goals

“ and to assist with strategic planning. Another critical TIB team member is the dedicated global delivery manager, or DM. The relationship between

the CP and DM is essential to ensure that our [T services are delivered with precision and that they are tailored to each client’s unique needs.

Highly-Skilled Workforce: Our managers and senior technical personnel provide in-depth project management expertise to clients. To maintain
this level of expertise, we place significant emphasis on recruiting and training our workforce of highly-skilled professionals. We have
approximately 19,600 project managers and senior service delivery stafl around the world, many of whom have significant work experience in
North America, Gurope and Asia. We also maintain programs and personnel to hire and train the best available technical professionals in both-
legacy systems and emerging technologies. We provide extensive combined classroom and on-the-job training to newly-hired technical staff, as well
as additional annual training programs designed to enhance the business praclices. tools, technology and consulting skills of our professional
staft. :

Continue to be an Employer of Choice in the Industry : As a rapidly growing professional services firm, a key attribute of our continued success
is the ability to continually hire, assimilate, motivate and retain the best talent possible in the industry. We have developed strong relationships
with key universities around the world, particularly in India, to provide a continual pipeline of talented stalf from Tier One schools. In addition,
we have established an active lateral recruiting program in North America, Europe and India and an on-campus recruiting program in North
America. We continue to expand our presence and brand in our key supply markets, further enhancing our ability to hire experienced
professionals from competing IT services firms and industry to support our client needs and growth. We invest heavily in training prﬁgrams,
motivational programs and career development to ensure personal professional growth for each of our employees.
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Further Develop Long-Term Client Relationships. We have strong long-term strategic relationships with our clients and business partners. We seek 10
establish long-term relationships that present recurring revenue opportunities, frequently trying to establish relationships with our clients’ chief information
officers, or other IT and business decision makers, by offering a wide array of cost-effective high quality services. Approximately 98% of our revenues for the
year ended December 31, 2012 were derived from clients who had been using our services at the end of 201 1. We also seek to leverage our experience with a
client’s IT systems into new business opportunities. Knowledge of a client’s processes and [T systems gained during the performance of application
Inaintenance services, for example, may provide us with a competitive advantage in securing additional maintenance, development and other projects from that
client.

Pursue Selective Strategic Acquisitions, Joini Ventures and Strategic Alliances. We believe that opportunitics continue 1o cxist in the fragmented
market in which we operate to expand our business through selective strategic acquisitions, joint ventures and strategic alliances. We believe that acquisition
and joint venture candidales may enable us to expand our geographic presence, service offering and capabilities mere rapidly. For example, in late 2012, we
completed an acquisition of Medicall Inc., an offshore provider of outsourced clinical services focused on the healthcare sector. The services require clinical
licensure and expertise. As part of the transaction, we acquired over 600 U.S.-licensed nurses located primarily in the Philippines. This acquisition allows us
10 expand our BPO expertise within the healthcare industry. Finally, we expect to continie to form strategic alliances with select IT service ﬁrms that offer
complementary services to best meet the requirements of our clients.

Sales and Marketing

We market and sell our services directly through our professional staff, senior management and direct sales personnel operating out of our Teaneck,
New Jersey headquarters and our business development offices which are strategically located in various metropolitan areas around the world. The sales and
marketing group works with our clicnt delivery team as the sales process moves closer to the customer’s sclection of a services provider. The duration of the
sales process varies depending on the type of service, ranging from approximately two months to over one year.

Customers

The number of customers served by us has increased significantly in recent years. As of December 31, 2012, we were providing services to
approximately 821 clients, as compared to approximately 785 clients as of December 31, 2011, and approximately 712 clients as of December 31, 2010. As
of December 31, 2012, we increased the number of strategic clients to 214. We definc a strategic client as one offering the potential to generate at least
$5 million to $50 million or more in annual revenues at maturity. Accordingly, we provide a significant volume of services to many customers in each of our
business segments. Therefore, 2 loss of a significant customer or a few significant customers in a particular segment could materially reduce revenues for such
segment. However, no individual customer exceeded 10.0% of our consolidated revenues for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010. In addition,
the services we provide to our larger customers are often critical to the operations of such customers and a termination of our services generally would require |
‘an cxtended transition period with gradually declining revenues. For the years ended Deccmbcr 31 2012, 2011, and 2010, 79, 4%, 78.5%, and 78.0% of our
revenue, respectively, was from North Amerlcan customers.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, we derived our revenues from the following business segmenits: 41.3% from Financial Services, 26.3% from
Heaithcare, 20.4% from Manufacturing/Retail/Logistics and 12.0% from Other. ' -
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We generally provide our services on a time-and-material, fixed price, or per-transaction basis. The volume of work performed for specific customers is
likely 1o vary from year 1o year, and a significant customer in one year may not use our services in a subsequent year. Presented in the table below is
additional information about our customers.

Ycar Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Revenues from top five customers as a percentage of total revenues _ 14.0% 16.3% 17.9%
Revenues [rom Lop ten customers as a percentage of total revenues 25.0% 27.7% 30.3%
Revenues under fixed-bid contracts as a percentage of total revenucs . - 33.1% 31.7% 31.5%

Competition

The inlensely competitive IT services and ou'r.sourcmg market includes a large number ofparttctpams and is subjecl to rapid change. This market
includes participants from a variety of market segments, including: .

. syslcms integration firms;

= _contract programming companies;

- application soltware companies;

< traditional large consuiting firms;

»  the professional services groups of computer equipment companies; and

»  facilities management and outsourcing compames

Qur direct compemors include, among olhers Accenture, Capgemini, Computer Sciences Corporation, Genpact, HCL Technologies, HP Enterprise
{formetly Electronic Data Systems), IBM Global Services, Infosys Technologies, Tata Consultancy Services and Wipro. In addition, we compete with
numerous smaller local companies in the various geographic markets in’which we operale.

. Some of our competitors have significantly greater financial, lechmcal and markeling resources and/or greater name recognmon The principal
compemlve factors affecting the markets for our services include:

= performance and reliability; - : ‘ . . R .
«  quality of technical support, training anci services; . »
"+ responsiveness to custonier needs;
« -+ reputation and cxpcriehce; .
+ financial stability and strong colrp'orate governance; and o E
-. compctilivc pricing of services. -
We rely on the following lo compete effectively:
» awell-developed recruiting, training and retention model;
~«  asuccessful service delivery model;
* -abroad referral base; )
+  continual investment in process in1preyement and knowledge capture;
+  investmentin infrz}S(ruclure and research and development;

+' financia! stability and strong corporate governance;
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+  continued focus on responsiveness ta customer needs, quality of services, competitive prices; and

+  project management capabilities and technical expertise.

Intellectual Property

We provide value to our clients based, in part, on our proprictary innovations, methodologies, reusable knowledge capital and other intellectual property.
We recognize the importance of intellectual property and its ability to differentiate us from our competitors. We rely on a combination of intellectual property
laws, as well as confidentiality procedures and contractua! provisions, to protect our intellectual property and our brand. We have registered, and applied for
the registration of, U.S. and intermnational trademarks, service marks, domain names, and copyrights. As of December 31, 2012, we have aiso applied for or
obtained a total of 299 trademark registrations in 60 countries. In addition, we have filed 9 U.S. and international patent applications covering certain of our
proprictary technology. Although the company believes the ownership of such patents, copyrights, trademarks and service marks is an important factor in its
business and that its success does depend in part on the ownership thereof, the company relies primarily on the innovative skills, technical competence and
marketing abilitics of its personnel.

Employees

We finished the year 2012 with approximately 156,700 employees. We employed approximately 124,100 persons in the Asia Pacific region,
approximately 27,300 persons in various locations throughout North America and Latin America and approximately 5,300 persons in various locations
throughout Eurcpe, principally in the United Kingdom. We are not party to any significant collectlve bargaining agreements. We consider our relations with
our employces to be good.

Qur Executive Officers

The following table identifies our current executive officers:

- . i In Current

Nanie . Age - Capacities in Which Served : . . _Povitlon Since
Lakshnu Narayananw 59 Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors . ' 2007
Francisco D'Souza® 44 Chief Executive Officer ' 2007
Gordon Cobum® . 49  President ' . : 2012

Karen McLoughlin® - 48  Chief Financial Officer 2012
Ramakrishnan Chandrasckarant - - : 55  Group Chief Executive — Technology and Operations 2012
Rajccv Mchtaw . . i 46  Group Chief Executive — Industry and Markets - 2012
Malcolm Frankm ) 46 Executive Vice President, Strategy and Marketing ) . 2012

Steven Schwartz& ‘ S 45  Senior Vice President, General Counse! and Secretary 2007

(1) Lakshmi Narayanan was appointed Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors, effective January 1, 2007. Mr. Narayanan served as our Chief Executive
* Officer from December 2003 through December 2006 and as our President from March 1998 through December 2006. Mr. Narayanan joined our Indian
subsidiary as Chief Technology Officer in 1994 and was elected President of such subsidiary on January 1, 1996. Prior to joining us, from 1975 to
1994, Mr. Narayanan was the regional head of Tata Consultancy Services, a large consulting and software services company located in India.
Mr. Narayanan serves on the board of directors and as the Chairman of the Governance Committee of TVS Capital Funds Limited. Mr. Narayanan
holds a Bachelor of Science degree, a Master of Science degree and a Management degree from the Indian Institute of Science.
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Francisco D'Souza was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer and became a member of the Board of Directors, effective January 1, 2007,
Effective February 6, 2012, Mr. D'Souza ceased serving as our President, at which time Mr. Coburn was appainted to such position. Mr. D'Souza
served as our Chicf Operating Officer frem December 2003 through December 2006. Prior to that, from November 1999 to December 2003, he served as
our Senior Vice President, North American Operations and Business Development. From March 1998 to November 1999, he served as our Vice
President, North American Operations and Business Development and as our Director-North American Opetations and Business Development from
June 1997 to March 1998, From January 1996 to June 1997, Mr. D’Souza was engaged as our consultant. From February 1995 10 December 1995,
Mr. D'Souza was employed as Product Manager at Pilot Software. Between 1992 and 1995, Mr. D*Souza held various marketing, business
development and technology management positions as a Management Associate at The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation. While working at The Dun &
Bradstrect Corporation, Mr. D’Souza was part of the team that established the software development and maintenance business conducted by us.

Mr. D’Souza is a member of the Board of Directors of the General Electric Company. Mr. D'Souza also serves on the Board of Trustees of Carnegie .
Mellon University, the Board of Trustees of The New York Hall of Science and the Board of Directors of the U.S.-India Business Council.

Mr. D'Souza holds 2 Bachelor of Business Administration degree from the University of Macau (formerly known as the University of East Asia) and a
Master of Business Adiministration degree from Carnegie Mellon University.

Gordon Coburn was appointed President of the company, effective February 6. 2012. From March 1998 until February 6, 2012, Mr. Coburn served
as the company’s Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer and from January 2007 until February 6, 2012, Mr. Coburn also held the pesition of Chief
Operating Officer. Mr. Coburn also served as the company's Execulive Vice President from December 2003 through December 2006. From November
1999 to December 2003, he served as our Senior Vice President. He previously was our Vice President from 1996 to November 1999. Mr. Coburn
served as Senior Director—Group Finance and Operations for Cognizant Corporation from November 1996 to December 1997. From 1990 to October
1996, Mr, Cobum held key financial positions with The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation. Mr. Cobum serves on the board of directors of The Corporate
Executive Board Company and TechAmerica. He also served on the board of directors of ICT Group, Inc. until ils acquisition on February 2, 2010.

Mr. Coburn holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from Wesleyan University and a Master of Business Administration degree from the Amos Tuck School at
Dartmouth College.

Karen McLoughlin was appointed Chief Financial Officer of the company, effective February 6, 2012. She previously served as the company’s Senior
Vice President of Finance and Enterprise Transformation, a role she held since January 2010. In such role, Ms. McLoughlin was responsible for the
company’s worldwide financial planning and analysis, enterprise risk management and enterprise transformation functions, including the facilitation
and exccution of various internal reengincering and transformation initiatives designed to enable the company’s strategic vision. From August 2008 1o
January 2010, Ms. McLoughlin served as the company’s Senior Vice President of Finance, responsible for overseeing the Company’s global financial
planning and analysis team and enterprise risk management, and from October 2003 unti! August 2008, Ms. McLoughlin served as the company’s Vice
President of Global Financial Planning and Analysis. Prior to joining Cognizant in October 2003, Ms. McLoughlin held various positions at Spherion
Corporation (**Spherion™) from August 1997 to October 2003 and at Ryder System Inc. (“Ryder™) from July 1994 10 August 1997. At both Spherion
and Ryder, Ms. McLoughlin held financial management positions and was involved in strategic planning, the intcgration of several mergers and
acquisitions, financial systems implementations and corporate reorganizations. Prior to joining Ryder, she spent six years in the South Florida Praclice
of Price Walerhouse (now PricewaterhouseCeopers). Ms. McLoughlin has a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from Wellesley College and a Master
of Business Administration degree from Columbia University.

Ramakrishnan Chandrasekaran was appointed Group Chief Executive — Technology and Operations, effective February 6, 2012. In this role,

Mr. Chandrasckaran is responsible for leading our solutions and delivery teams world-wide. From August 2006 to February 2012, he served as our

President and Managing Director, Global Delivery, responsible for leading our global delivery organization, spearheading new solutions, and

" championing process improvements. Mr. Chandrasckaran served as our Executive Vice
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President and Managing Director from January 2004 through July 2006. Prior to that, fom November 1999 to January 2004, he served as our Senior
Vice President responsible for Independent Software Vendor, or ISV, relationships, key alliances, capacity growth, process initiatives, business
development and offshore delivery, Mr. Chandrasckaran joined us as Assistant Vice President in December 1994, before being promoted to Vice
President in January 1997. Prior to joining us, Mr. Chandrasekaran worked with Tata Consultancy Services. Mr. Chandrasekaran holds a2 Mechanical
Engincering degree and Master of Business Administration degree from the Indian Institute of Management.

_Rajeev Melita was appointed Group Chief Executive — Industries and Markets, effective February 6, 2012. In this role, Mr. Mehta is responsible for

leading our industry vertical and geographic market operations on a global basis. From August 2006 to February 2012, he served as our Chief Operating
Officer, Global Client Services, responsible for our sales, business development and client relationship management organizations. Mr. Mehta, who
joined Cognizant in 1997, most recently served as Senior Vice President and General Manager of our Financial Services Business Unit, a position he
held from June 2005 to August 2006. From November 2001 to June 2005, he served as our Vice President and General Manager of our Financial
Services Business Unit. From January 1998 to November 2001, Mr. Mehta served as our Director of the U.S. Central Region. Mr. Mehta served as our
Senior Manager of Business Development from January 1997 to January 1998. Prior to joining Cognizant in 1997, Mr. Mehta was involved in
implementing GE Information Services offshore outsourcing program and also held consulting positions at Deloitte & Touche and Andersen Consulting.
Mr. Mehta holds a Bachelor of Science degree from the University of Maryland and a Master of Business Administration degree from Carnegie Mellon
University. ' ’ ' -
Malcobn Frank was appointed Executive Vice President, Strategy and Marketing, effective February 6, 2012, In this role, Mr. Frank is responsible for
shaping our corporate strategy and global. Mr. Frank served as our Senior Vice President of Strategy and Marketing from August 2005 to February
2012. Tn both these reles, Mr. Frank’s responsibilities have included, and continue to include, directing all aspects of our corporate marketing function,
including strategy and branding, industry and media relations, corporate communications and-corporate marketing. From August 2005 until June 2009,
Mr. Frank was also responsible for leading our field marketing function. Prior 1o jeining Cognizant in August 2005, Mr. Frank was ce-founder,
President and Chief Executive Officer of CXO Systems, Inc., an independent software vendor providing dashboard selutions for senior managers, from
March 2002 to July 2005. From June 1999 to Seplember 2002, Mr. Frank was the founder, President, Chief Execulive Officer and Chairman of
Nervewire Inc. (“Nervewire™), a management consulting and systems integration firm. Prior to founding Nervewire, Mr. Frank was a co-founder,
cxecutive officer, and Senior Vice President at Cambridge Technology Partners, where he ran Worldwide Marketing, Business Development, and several
business units, (rom January 1990 to June 1999. Mr. Frank graduated from Yale University with a degree in Economics. '
Steven Schwartz was named Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary in July 2007, having global responsibility for managing Cognizant’s
legal function. Mr. Schwartz, who joined Cognizant in 2001, most recently served as Vice President and General Counsel, a position he held from
March 2003 1o July 2007. From April 2002 to March 2003, he served as our Vice President and Chief Corporate Counsel. From October 2001 to
December 2002, he served as our Chief Corporate Counsel. Mr. Schwartz also serves as our Chief Legal Officer. Mr. Schwartz serves on the board of
directors of Information Technelogy Industry Council and Citizen Schools. Mr. Schwartz holds a Bachelor of Business Administration degree from the
University of Miami, a Juris Doctor degree from Fordham University School of Law and a Master of Law (in Taxation) degree from the New York
University School of Law.

None of our executive officers are related to any other executive officer or to any of our Directors. Our executive officers are ¢lected annually by the Board

of Directors and serve until their successors are duly elected and qualified.
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Corporate History

We began our [T development and maintenance services business in early 1994, as an in-house technology development center for The Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation and its operating units. In 1996, we, along with certain other entities, were spun-off from The Dun & Bradsireet Corparation to form
a new company, Cognizant Corporation. On June 24, 1998, we completed an initial public offering of our Class A common stock. On June 30, 1998, a
majority interest in us, and certain other entities were spun-off from Cognizant Corporation to form IMS Health. Subscquemly, Cognizant Corporation was
renamed Nielsen Media Research, Incorporated.

On January 30, 2003, we filed a tender offer in which IMS Health stockholders could exchange IMS Health shares held by them for our Class B
common stock held by IMS Health. On February 13, 2003, IMS Health distributed all of our Class B common stock that IMS Health owned in an exchange
offer to its stockholders. On February 21, 2003, pursuant o the terms of our Restated Centificate of Incorporation, all of the shares of Class B common stock
automatically converted into shares of Class A common stock. Since February 21, 2003, there have been no outstanding shares of Class B common stock.
Effective May 26, 2004, pursuant to our Certificate of Incorporation, there are no authorized shares of Class B common stock.

Available Information

We make available the following public filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, free of charge through our website at
www.cognizant.com as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish such material to, the SEC:

»  our Annual Reports on Form 10-K and any amendments thereto;
*  our Quarterly Repons on Form 10-Q and any amendments thereto; and

»  our Current Reports on Form 8-K and any amendments thereto.

In addition, we make available our code of business conduct and ethics entitled “Cognizant’s Core Valucs and Standards of Business Conduct” free of
charge through our website. We intend to disclose any amendments to, or waivers from, our code of business conduct and ethics that are requlred to be
publicly disclosed pursuant to rules of the SEC and the NASDAQ Global Select Market by posting it on our website.

No information on our website is mcorporaled by reference into this Form 10-K or any other pubhc filing made by us with the SEC.
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ltem 1A. Risk Factars
Factors That May Affect Future Results

It addition to the risks and uncertainties described elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, if any of the following risks occur, our
business, financial condition, vesults of operations or prospects could be materially adversely affected. In such case, the trading price of our
conmon stock could decline. :

Our global operations are subject to complex risks, some of which might be beyond our control.

We have offices and operations in various countries around the world and provide services to clients globally. In 2012, approximately 79.4% of our
revenues-were attributable to the North American region, 16.3% were attributable to the European region, and 4.3% werc attributable to the rest of the world,
primarily the Asia Pacific region, If we are unable to manage the risks of our global operations, including regulatory, economic, political and other uncertaintics
in India, fluctuations in foreign exchange and inflation rates, international hostilities, terrorism, natural disasters, and multiple legal and regulalory systems,
our results of operations could be adversely affected.

A substantial portion of our assets and-operations are located in India and we are subject to regulatory, economic, political and other
uncertainties in Tndia, '

We intend Lo continue to develop and expand our offshore facilities in India where a majority of our technical professionals are located. While wage costs
are lower in India than in the United States and other developed countries for comparably skilled professionals, wages in India have historically increased at a
faster rate than in the United States and other countries in which we operate. If this Lrend continues in the future, it would result in increased costs for our
skilled professionals and thereby potentially reduce our eperating margins. Also, there is no assurance that, in future periods, competition for skilled
professionals will not drive salarics higher in India, thereby resulting in increased costs for our technical professionals and reduced operating margins.

India has also recently expericnced civil unrest and terrorism and has been inveolved in conflicts with neighboring countries. In recent years, there have
been military confrontations between India and Pakistan that have occurred in the region of Kashmir and along the India-Pakisian border. The potential for
hostilities between the two countries has been high in tight of tensions related to recent terrorist incidents in India and the unsettled nature of the regional
geopolitical environment, including events in and related to Afghanistan and Iraq. If India becomes engaged in armed hostilities, particularly if these hostilities
are protracted or involve the threat of or use of weapons of mass destruction, it is likely that our operations would be materially adversely affected. In addition,
companics may decline to ¢antract with us for services in light of international terrorist incidents or armed hostilities, even where India is not involved,
because of more generalized concerns about relying on a service provider utilizing international resources that may be viewed as less stable than those provided -
domestically. :

In the past, the [ndian economy has experienced many of the problems that commonly confront the economies of developing countries, including high
inflation, erratic gross domestic product growth and shortages of foreign exchange. The Indian-government has exercised, and continues to exercise, significant
influence over many aspects of the Indian economy and Indian government actions concerning the economy could have a material adverse effect on private
sector entities like us. In‘the past, the Indian government has provided significant tax incentives and relaxed cenain regulatory restrictions in order to encourage
foreign investment in specified sectors of the economy, including the software development services industry. Programs that have benefited us include, among
others, tax holidays, liberalized import and export dulies and preferential rules on foreign investment and repatriation. Notwithstanding these benefits, as noted
above, India’s central and stale governments remain significantly involved in the Indian economy as regulators. In recent years, the Indian government has
introduced non-income related taxes, including new service taxes, and income-related taxes,
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including the Minimum Alternative Tax, or MAT. In addition, a change in govemment leadership in India or a change in policies of the existing government in
India that results in the elimination of any ol the benefits realized by us from our Indian operations or the imposition of new taxes applicable to such operations
could have a maerial adverse elfect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

In addition, the emergence of a widespread health emergency or pandemic, which may be more difficult to prevent or contain in a country like India as
compared to more developed countries, could create economic or financial disruption that could negatively affect our revenue and operations or impair our
abitity to manage our business in certain parts of the world.

Our international sales and operations are subject to many uncertainties.

Revenues from customers outside North America represented approximately 20.6% of our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012. We anticipate
that revenucs from customers outside North America will continue to account for a material portion of our revenucs in the foresecable future and may increasc
as we expand our international presence, particularly in Europe, the Asia Pacific region and the Latin America region. In additicn, the majority of our
employees, along with our development and delivery centers, are located in India. As a result, we may be subject to risks inherently associated with
international operations, including risks associated with foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, which may cause volatility in our reported income, and
risks associated with the application and imposition of protective legislation and regulations relating to import or export or otherwise resulting from foreign
policy or the variability of foreign economic conditions. From time to time, we may engage in hedging transactions to mitigate our risks relating to exchange rate '
fluctuations. The use of hedging contracts is intended 1o mitigate or reduce transactional level velatility in the results of our foreign operations, but does not
completely eliminate volatility and risk. In addition, use of hedging contracts includes the risk of non-performance by the counterparty. Additional risks
associated with international operations include difficulties in enforcing intellectual property and/or contractual rights, the burdens of complying with a wide
variety of foreign laws, potentially adverse tax consequences, tariffs, quotas and other barriers and potential difficulties in collecting accounts receivable. In
addition, we may face competition in other countries from companies that may have more experience with operations in such countries or with international
operations, Additionally, such companics may have long-standing or well-cstablished relationships with local officials and/or desired clients, which may put
us at a competitive disadvantage. We may also face difficulties integrating new facilities in different countries into our existing operations, as well as integrating
employees that we hire in different countries into our existing corporate culture. Our international expansion plans may not be successful and we may not be
able 10 compete effectively in other countries. There can be no assurance that these and other. factors will not impede the success of our international expansion
plans, limit our ability to compete eflectively in other countries or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial

condition.

Qur operating results may be adversely affected by fluctuations in the Indian rupee and other foreign currency exchange rates and
restrictions on the deployment of cash across our global operations.

Although we report our operating results in U.S. dollars, a portion of our revenues and expenses are denominated in currencies other than the U.S.
dollar. Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates can have a number of adverse effects on us. Because our consolidated financial statements are presented
in U.S. dollars, we must translate revenues, expenses and income, as well as assets and liabilities, into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect during or at the
end of each reporting peried. Therefore, changes in the value of the U.S. dollar against other currencies will affect our revenues, income from operations, other
income (expense), nel and the value of balance sheet items originally denominated in other currencies. There is no guarantee that our financial results will not
be adversely affected by currency exchange rate fluctuations or that any efforts by us to engage in currency hedging activities will be effective. In addition, in
some countries we could be subject Lo strict restrictions on the movement of cash and the exchange of foreign currencies, which could limit our ability to use
these funds across our global aperations. Finally, as we continue to leverage our global delivery model, more of
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our expenses are incurred in currencies other than those in which we bill for the related services. An increase in the value of certain currencies, such as the
[ndian rupee, against the U.S. dollar could increase costs for delivery of services at offshore sites by increasing labor and other costs that are denominated in
local currency.

Our operating results may be adversely affected by our use of derivative financial instruments.

We have entered into a series of foreign exchange forward contracts that are designated as cash flow hedges of certain rupee denominated payments in
India. These contracts are intended to partially offset the impact of the movement of the exchange rates on future operating costs. In addition, we also entered
into foreign exchange forward contracts in order to mitigate foreign currency risk on Indian rupee denominated net monetary assets. The hedging strategies that
we have implemented, or may in the future implement, to mitigate foreign currency exchange rate risks may not reduce or completely offset our exposure to
foreign exchange rate fluctuations and may expose our business to unexpected market, operational and counterparty credit risks. Accordingly, we may incur
losses from our use of derivative financial instruments that could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition,

Our glebal operations expose us to numerous and sometimes conflicting legal and regulatory reqmremenls and violations of these
regulations could harm our business. -

Because we provide services to clients throughout the world, we are subject to numerous, and sometimes conflicting, legal rules on matters as diverse as
impor/export controls, content requirements, trade restrictions, tariffs, taxation, sanctions, government affairs, internal and disclosure control obligations,
data privacy and labor relations. Violations of these laws or regulations in the conduct of our business could result in fines, criminal sanctions against us or
our officers, prohibitions on doing business, damage te our reputation and other unintended consequences such as liability for monetary damages, fines
and/or criminal prosecution, unfavorable publicity, restrictions on our ability to process information and allegations by our clients that we have not performed
our contractual obligations. Due to the varying degrees of development of the legal systems of the countries in which we operate, local laws might be
insufficient to protect our rights. Our failure to comply with applicable legal and regulatory requirements could have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition.

Among other anti-corruption laws and regulations, including the U.K. Bribery Act, we are subject to the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or
FCPA., which prohibits improper payments or offers of improper payments to foreign officials to obtain business or any other benefit. The FCPA also requires
covered companies to make and keep books and records that accurately and fairly reflect the transactions of the company and to devise and maintain an
adequate system of intemnal accounting controls. In many parts of the world, including countries in which we operate, practices in the local business
community might not conform to international business standards and could violate these anti-corruption laws or regulations. Although we have policies and
procedures in place that are designed to promote legal and regulatory compliance, our employees, subcontractors and agents could take actions that violate
these policies or procedures or applicable anti-corruption laws or regulations. Furthermore, the U.S. government may seek to hold us liable for successor
liability FCPA violations committed by companies in which we invest or that we acquire. Violations of these laws or regulations could subject us to criminal or
civil enforcement actions, including fines and suspension or disqualification from government contmctmg or contracting with private entities in certain highly
regulated industries, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business,

lntcrnntionnl hostilities, terrorist activities, other violence or war, natural disasters, pandemics and infrastructure disruptions, could delay
ot reduce the number of new service orders we receive and impair our ability te service our customers, thereby adversely affecting our business,
financial cundlllon and results of operations.

~  Hostilities involving the United States and acts of terrorism, violence or war, such as the attacks of September 11, 2001 in the United States, the
attacks of July 7, 2005 in the United Kingdom, the attacks of
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November 26, 2008 and July 13, 2011°in Mumbai, India, and the continuing conflict in the Middle East and Afghanistan, natural disasters, global health
risks or pandemics or the threat or perecived potential for these events could materiatly adversely affect our operations and our ability te provide services to our
customers, Such events may cause customers to delay their decisions on spending for information technology, consulting, and business and knowledge
process outsourcing services and give rise 10 sudden significant changes in regional and global economic conditions and cycles. These events also pose
significant risks to our people and to physical facilities and operations around the world, whether the facilities are ours or those of our clients, which could
alfect our financial results. By disrupting communications and travel, giving rise to trave] restrictions, and increasing the difficulty of obtaining and retaining
highly-skilled and qualified personnel, these events could make it difficult or impossible for us to deliver services to some or all of our clients. As noted above,
the majority of our technical professionals are located in India, and the vast majority of our technical professionals in the United States and Europe are Indian
nationals who are able to work in the United States and Europe only because they hold current visas and work permits. Travel restrictions could cause us to
incur additional unexpected labor costs and expenses or could restrain our ability to retain the skilled professiona]s' we need for our operations. In additien, any
extended disruptions of eleciricity, other public utilities or network services at our facilities, as well as system failures at, or security breaches in, our facilities
or syslems, could also adversely affect our ability Lo serve our clients. :

Although we continue to believe that we have a strong competitive position in the United States, we continue lo increase our efTorts to geographically
diversify our clients and revenue. Despite our efforts to diversify, hostilities involving the United States, the United Kingdom, India and other countries in
which we provide services to our clients, and other acts of terrorism, violence or war, natural disasters, global health risks or pandemics may reduce the
demand for our services and negatively affect our revenues and profitability. While we plan and prepare to defend against each of these occurrences, we might
be unable to protect our people, facilities and systems against all such occurrences. If these disruptions prevent us from effectively serving our clients, our
operating results could be adversely affected.

- Anli-outsourcing legislation, if adopted, and negative perceptions assoctated with offshore outsourcing could adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations and impair our ability to service our customers.

The issue of companies oulsourcing services to organizations operating in other countries is a topic of political discussion in many countries, including ‘
the United States, which is our largest market. For example, measures aimed at limiting or restricting outsourcing by United States companics are periodically
considered in the U.S. Congress and in numerous state legislatures to address concerns over the perceived association between offshore outsourcing and the
loss of jobs domestically. On August 13, 2010, President Barack Obama signed legislation which imposed additional fees of $2,000 for certain H-1B petitions
and $2.,250 for certain L-tA and L-1B petitions beginning in August 2010 through September 20, 2014. These fees were later extended through September 20,
2015. Given the ongoing debate over outsourcing, the introduction and consideration of other restrictive legislation or regulations is possible. If enacted, such
measures may: broaden existing restrictions on outsourcing by federal and state government agencies and on government contracts with firms that outsource .
services directly or indirccl]j’, or impact private industry with measures that include, but are not limited to, tax disincentives, fees or penallies, intellectual
property transfer restrictions, mandatory government audit requirements, and new standards that have the effect of restricting the use of certain business
and/or work visas. In the event that any of these measures become law, our business, results of operations and financial condmon could be adversely affected
and our ability to provide services to our customers could be impaired. ‘

in addition, from time Lo lime, there has been publicity about negative experiences associated with offshere outsourcing, such as domestic job loss, and
thefi and misappropriation of sensitive client data, particularly involving service providers in India. Current or prospective clients may elect to perform certain .
services themselves or inay be discouraged from utilizing global service delivery providers due to negative perceptions that may be associated with using global
service delivery medels or firms, Any slowdown or reversal of existing
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industry trends toward global service delivery would seriously harm our ability to compete effectively with competitors that provide the majority of their
services from within the country in which our clients operate.

Existing and future legislative and administrative/ regulatory policies restricting the performance of business process services from an offshore location
in jurisdictions in Europe, the Asia Pacific, or any other region in which we have clients could also have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and financial condition. For example, legislation enacted in the United Kingdom, based on the 1977 EC Acquired Rights Directive, has been
adopted in some form by many European Union. or EU, countrics, and provides that if a company outsources all or part of its business to a service provider
or changes its current service provider, the affected employees of the company or of the previous service provider are entitled to become employees of the new
service provider, generally on the same terms and conditions as their original employment. In addition, dismissals of employees who were employed by the
company or the previous service provider immediately prior to that transfer are automatically considered unfair dismissals that entitle such employees to
compensation. As a result, to avoid unfair dismissal claims, we may have 1o offer, and become liable for, voluntary redundancy payments to the employees of
our clients who outsource business to us in the United Kingdom and other EU countries that have adopted similar laws. These types of policies may
materially affcet our ability to obtain new business [rom companies in the United Kingdom and EU and to provide outsourced scrvices to companics in the
United Kingdom and EU in a cost-effective manner.

Our growth may be hindered by immigration restrictions.

Our future success continues to depend on our ability to attract and retain employees with technical and project management skills, including those from
developing countries, especially India. The ability of foreign nationals to work in the United States and Europe depends on their ability and our ability to
obtain the necessary visas and work permits.

The H-1B visa classification enables United States employers to hire certain qualified foreign workers in positions that require an education at least
cqual to a four-ycar bachclor degree in the United States in specialty occupations such as [T systems engincering and computer systems analysis. The H-1B
visa usually permiis an individual 1o work and live in the United States for a period of up to six years. Under certain limited circumstances, H-1B visa
extensions after the six-year period may be available. There is a limit on the number of new H-1B petitions that the United States Clllzenshlp and Immigration
Services, or CIS, may approve in any federal fiscal year, and in years in which this limit is reached, we may be unable to obtain H-1B visas necessary to
bring forcign employees o the United States. Currently, the limit is 65,000 for holders of United States or United States-equivalent bachelor degrees (the
general cap), and an additional 20,000 for holders of advanced degrees from United States post-secondary educational institutions. CIS announced on
June 11, 2012 that the agency had reached its general cap of 65,000 H-1B visas, and on June 7, 2012 that the agency had reached its advanced degree cap of
'20,000 H-1B visas for the fiscal year (FY) 2013. We will begin filing H-1B petitions with CIS against the fiscal year (FY) 2014 caps beginning April 1, 2013
for work in H-1B status beginning on October 1, 2013. As part of our advanced planning pracess, we believe that we have a sufficient number of employees
who are work permit-ready to meet our anticipated business growth in the current year. In addition, there are strict iabo‘r regulations associated with the H-1B
visa classification. Larger users of the H-1B visa program, like us, face additional/higher legal and regulatory standards, and are oflen subject to
investigations by the Wage and Hour Division of the United States Department of Labor (DOL) and unannounced random site inspections by CIS’s parent
agency. the United States Department of Homeland Security (DHS). A finding by DOL, DHS, and” or another governmental agency of willful or substantial
failure to comply with existing regulations on the H-1B classification may result in back-pay liability, substantial fines, and/ or a ban on future use of the H-
1B program and/ or other immigration benefits.

We also reguiarly transfer foreign prolessionals 1o the United States to work, including work on projects at client sites, usmb the L-1 visa classification.
Companics abroad arc allowed to transfer certain managers ‘and
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executives through the L-1A visa, and employees with specialized company knowledge through the L-1B visa to related United States companies, such as a
parent, subsidiary, affiliate, joint venture, or branch office. We have an approved “Blanket L” petition, under which the corporate relationships of our
transferring and receiving entities have been pre-approved by CIS, thus enabling individual L-1 visa applications to be presented directly to a visa-issuing
United States consular post abroad rather than undergoing a pre-appraval process through CIS in the United States. In recent years, both the United States
consular posts in India that review initial L-1 applications and CIS, which adjudicates individual petitions for initial grants and extensions of L-1 visa status,
have become increasingly restrictive with respect to this category, particularly the L-1B “specialized knowledge” standard. As a result, the rate of refusals of
initial individual L-1 petitions and extensions for Indian nationals has increased. In addition, even where L-1 visas are ultimately granted and issued, security
measures undertaken by United States consular posts around the world have delayed or prevented visa issuances. Our inability to bring qualified technical
personnel into the United States 1o staff on-site customer locations would have a material adverse effect on our business, resulis of operations and financial
condition.

Pursuant to the L-1 Visa Reform Act, we must meet a number of restrictions and requirements to obtain L-1 visas for our personnel. For example, all L-1
applicants, including those brought to the United States under a Blanket L Program, must have worked abroad with the related company for one full year in
the prior three years. In addition, L-1B “specialized knowledge” visa holders may not be primarily stationed at the work site of another employer if the L-1B
visa holder will be principally controlled and supervised by an employer other than the petitioning employer. Finally, L-1B status may not be granted where
placement of the L-1B visa holder at a third party site is part of an arrangement to provide labor for the third party, rather than placement at the site in

" connection with the provision of a product or service involving specialized knowledge specific to the petitioning employer.

We do not place L-1B workers at third party sites where they are under the primary supervision of a different employer, nor do we place L-1B workers
at third party sites in an arrangement to provide labor for the third party without providing a service involving our workers® specialized knowledge. Since
implementation of the L-1 Visa Reform Act, we consistently have established this fact to CIS's satisfaction. However, if CIS and/ or the United States
Depariment of State, through jts visa-issuing consular posts abroad, decide to interpret these provisions in a very restrictive fashion, this could impair our-
ability to effectively staff our projects in the United States with personnel from abroad. New guidance governing these and refated statutory provisions from
CIS is anticipated, and if such guldance is restrictive in nalure, our ablllry to staff our projects in the United States with personnel from abroad will be
impaired. . .

We also process immigrant visas for lawful permanent residence (Green Cards) in the United States for employees 1o fill positions for which there are an
insufficient number of able, willing, and qualified United States workers available to fill the positions. Compliance with existing United States immigration
and labor laws, changes in those laws, and/ or increase in governmental scrutiny, making it more difficult to hire foreign nationals or limiting our ability to
successfully obtain permanent residence for our foreign employees in the United States, could require us to incur additional unexpected labor and/ or other
costs and expenses, and/ or could restrain our ability to retain the skilled professionals we need for our operations in the United States. Any of these
restrictions or limitations on our hiring practices could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

- In addition to immigration restrictions in the United States, there are certain restrictions on transferring employees to work in the United Kingdom,
where we have experienced significant growth. The United Kingdom currently requires that all employees who are not nationals of European Union countries
{plus nationals of Bulgaria and Romania), or EEA nationals, obtain work permission before obtaining a visa/entry clearance to travel to the United Kingdom.
European nations such as Hungary, Poland, Lithuania, Slovakia, and the Czech Republic do not have a work permit requirement but employees need to
register to work within 30 days of arrival. The United Kingdom has a points-based system under which certain cemﬁcates of sponsorship are issued by
licensed employer sponsors, provided the employees they seek to employ in the United Kingdom can
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accumulate a certain number of points based on certain attributes. Where the employee has not worked for a Cognizant group company outside the United
Kingdom for at least 6 months, we must carry out a resident labor market 1est to confirm that the intended role cannot be filled by an EEA national. We are
currently an A-rated sponsor and were allocated certificates of sponsorship which we believe are sufficient to meet our current and expected demand for
transfers to the United Kingdom. On November 23, 2010, the United Kingdom announced new restrictions to control annual net migration, but ailowed for
temporary intra-company transfers of employees from outside the European Economic Area for up to five years as long as the employees meet certain
compensation requirements.

[mmigration and work permit laws and regulations in the United States, the United Kingdom, the EU, Switzerland and other countries are subject to
legislalive and administrative changes as well as changes in the application of standards and enforcement. [mmigration and work permit laws and regulations
" can be significantly affected by palitical forces and levels of economic activity. Our international expansion strategy and our business, results of operations,
and financizal condition may be materially adversely affected if changes in immigration and work permit laws and regulations or the administration or
cnforcement of such laws or regulations impair our ability (o staff projects with professionals who are not citizens of the country where the work is 10 be
performed.

Our revenues are highly dependent on clients primarily located in the United States and Europe, as well as on clients concentrated in certain
industries, including the financial services industry. Continuing or worsening economic conditions or factors that negatively affect the economic
health of the United States, Europe or these industries may adversely affect our business.

Approximately 79.4% of our revenues during the year ended December 31, 2012 were derived from customers located in North America. In the same
periad, appreximately 16.3% of aur revenues were derived from customers located in Europe. If the United States or European economy continues to weaken
or slow and conditions in the financial markets continue to deteriorate, pricing for our services may be depressed and our customers may reduce or postpone
their technology spending significantly, which may in turn lower the demand for our services and negatively affect our revenues and profitability.
Additionally, any prolonged recession in the United States and Europe could have an adverse impact on our revenues because our revenues are primarily
derived from the United States and Europe. In addition, during the year ended December 31, 2012, we earned approximately 41.3% of our revenues from the
financial services industry, which includes insurance. Deterioration in the financial services industry or significant consolidation in that industry, or a
decrease in growth or consolidation in other industry segments on which we focus, may reduce the demand for our services and negeatively affect our revenues
and profitability. In addition, if we are unable to successfully anticipate changing econemic and political conditions affecting the industries and markets in
which we operate, we may be unable to effectively plan for or respond to those changes, and our business could be negatively affected.

We face intense competition from other service providers.

We operate in intensely competitivé industries that experience rapid technological developments, changes in industry standards, and changes in customer
requircments. The intensely competitive information technology, consulting and business process outsourcing professianal services markets include a large
number of participants and arc subject to rapid change. These markets include participants from a variety of market segments, including:

. systems integration firms;

*  contract programming companies;
+  application software companies;

« . internet solwtions providers;

+  large or traditional consulting companies;
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«  professional services groups of computer equipment companies; and

* infrastructure management and outsourcing companies.

These markets also include numerous smaller local competitors in the various geographic markets in which we operate which may be able to provide
services and solutions at lower costs or on terins more attractive to clients than we can. Our direct competitors include, among others, Accenture, Capgemini,
Computer Sciences Corporation, Genpact, HCL Technologies, HP Enterprise (formerly Electronic Data Systems), IBM Global Services, Infosys
Technologies, Tata Consultancy Services and Wipro. Many of our competitors have significantly greater financial, technical and marketing resources and
greater name recognition and, therefore, may be better able to compete for new work and skilled professionals. There is a risk that increased competition could
put downward pressure on the prices we can charge for our services and on our operating margins. Similarly, if our competitors develop and implement
methodologies that yield greater efficiency and productivity, they may be able to offer services similar to ours at lower prices without adversely affecting their
profit margins.-Evcn if our offerings address industry and client needs, our competitors may be more successful at selling their services. If we are unable to
provide our clients with superior services and solutions at competitive prices or successfully market those services to current and prospective clients, our
results of operations may suffer. Further, a client may choose to use its own intemal resources rather than engage an outside firm to perform the types of
services we provide. We cannot be certain that we will be able o sustain our current levels of profitability or growth in the face of competitive pressures,
including competition for skilled technology professionals and pricing pressure from competitors employing an on-site/offshore business model.

In addition, we may face competition [rom companies that increase in size or scope as the result of strategic mergers or acquisitions. These transactions
may include consolidation activity amang hardware manufacturers, software companies and vendors, and service providers. The result of any such vertical
integration may be greater integration of products and services that were once offered separately by independent vendors. Our access to such products and
services may be reduced as a result of such an industry trend, which could adversely affect our competitive position. These types of events could have a
variety of negative effects on our compelitive position and our financial results, such as reducing our revenue, increasing our costs, lowering our gross margin
percentage, and requiring us to recognize IMpairments on our assets. ’ '

We may not be able to sustain our current Yevel of profitability.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, we reported an operating margin of 18.5%. Our operating margin may decline if we experience declines in
demand and pricing for our services, an increase in our operating costs, including imposition of new non-income related taxes, or due (0 adverse fluctuations
in foreign currency exchange rates. In addition, historically, wages in India have increased at a faster rate than in the United States. Additionally, the number
and type of equity-based compensation awards and the assumptions used in valuing equity-based compensation awards may change resulting in increased
stock-based compensation expense and lower margins. Although we have historically been able to partially offset wage increases and foreigh currency
fluctuations through further leveraging the scale of our operating structure, obtaining price increases, and issuing a lower number of stock-based compensation
awards in proportion to our overall headcount, we cannot be sure that we will be able to continue to do so in the futre.

Our profitability could suffer if we are not able to control our costs or improve our efficiency.

Our ability 1o control our costs and improve our efficiency affects our profitability. If we are unable to control our costs or improve our efficiency, our
profitability could be negatively allected.

Our business will suffer if we fail to develop new services and enhance our existing services in order to keep pace with the rapidly evolving
technological environment. :

The information technology, consulting and business process outsourcing professional services markets are characterized by rapid technological
change, evolving industry standards, changing customer preferences and

26

Sguice: COGNIZANT TECHNOLOGY SOLUTIONS CORP, 10-K, February 26, 2013 Powered by Motningstar™ ocument Pesearch®”

I'he inforination contained herein may not be copied, sdapied or distributed and is not wairamed to be accurale. compigle or timely. The User 83suUmes il riSKS 1or any damages ar 103ses arlsing trom mity use of this
intormaotion, except (o the extent suci damoges or lasses cannof be limited or exctuded by appficable faw. Past tinancial peileimance is o guaiantee of liiuie rasulls.



Table of Contents

new producl and service introductions. Our future success will depend on our ability te develop solutions that keep pace with changes in the markets in which
we provide services. We cannot be sure that we will be successful in developing new services addressing evolving technologies in a timely or cost-effective
manner or. if these services are developed, that we will be successful in the marketplace. In addition, we cannot be surc that products, scrvices or lechnologics
developed by others will not render our services non-competitive or obsolete. Our [ailure to address the demands of the rapidly evolving technological
environment could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our ability to remain competitive wil also depend on our ability to design and implement, in a timely and cost-effective manner, solutions for customers
that both leverage their legacy systems and appropriately utilize newer technologies such as cloud-based services, Web 2.0 models, and software-as-a-service.
OQur failure to design and implement solutions in a timely and cost-effective manner could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations
and financial condition. ) '

We may face difficulties in providing end-to-end business solutions or delivering complex and large projects for our clients that could cause
clients to discontinue their work with us, which in turn could harm our business.

We have been expanding the nature and scope of our engagements and have added new service offerings, such as IT consulting, business and '
knowledge process outsourcing. systems integration and outsourcing of entire portions of IT infrastructure. The success of these service offerings is '
dependent, in part, upon continued demand for such services by our existing, new and prospective clients and our ability to meet this demand in a cost-
competitive and effective manner. In addition, our ability to effectively offer a wider breadth of end-to-cnd business sclutions depends on our abilily lo attract
cxisting or new clicnts to these service ofterings. Te obtain engagements for such end-to-end solutions, we also are more likely to compete with large, well-
established international consulting firms, resulting in increased competition and marketing costs. Accordingly, we cannot be certain that our new service
offerings will effectively meet client needs or that we will be able to attract existing and new clients 1o these service cfferings.

The increased breadih of our service offerings may result in larger and more complex projects with our clients. This will require us to establish closer
relationships with our clicats and a thorough understanding of their eperations. Our ability to ¢stablish such relatienships will depend on a number of factors,
including the proficiency of our professionals and our management personnel. Our failure to understand our client requirements or our failure to deliver
services that meet the requirements specified by our clients could result in termination ofcllem contracts, and we could be liable to our clients for significant
penalties or damages.

Larger projects may involve multiple engagements or stages, and there is a risk that a client may choose not to retain us for additional stages or may
cancel or delay additional planned engagements. These terminations, cancellations or delays may result from factors that have little or nothing to do with the
guality of our services, such as the business or linancial condition of our clients or the economy generally. Such cancellations or delays make it difficult to
plan for projcct resource requirements and inaccuracies in such resource planning and allocation may have a ncgative impact on our profitability.

If our clients are not satisfied with our services, our business could be adversely affected.

Our business model depends in large part on our ability to attract additional work from our base of existing clients. Our business model also depends on
our account teams’ ability to develop relationships with our clients that enable us to understand our clients’ needs and deliver solutions and services that are
tailored to those needs: If a client is not satisfied with the quality of work performed by us, or with the type of services or solutions delivered, then we could
incur additional costs to address the situation, the profitability of that work might be impaired, and the client’s dissatisfaction with our services could damage
our ability to obtain additional work from that client. In particular, clients that are not satisfied might seek to terminate existing contracts prior lo their
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scheduled expiration date and could direct luture business to our competitors. In addition, negative publicity related to our client services or relationships,
regardless of its accuracy, may further damage our business by affecting our ability 1o compete for new contracts with current and prospective clients.

We rely on a few customers for a large portion of our revenues.

Our top five and top ten customers generated approximately 14.0% and 25.0%, respectively, of our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012. The
volume of work performed for specific customers is likely to vary from year to year, and a major customer in one year may not use our services in a
subsequent year. The loss of one of our large customers could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We generally do not have long-term contracts with our customers and our results of operations could be adversely affected if our clients
terminate their contracts with us on short notice. .

Consistent with industry practice, we generally do not enter into long-term contracts with our cusiomers. A majority of our contracts can be terminated
by our clicnts with short notice and without significant carly termination cost. Terminations may result from factors that are beyond our control and unrclated
10 our work product or the progress of the project, including the business or financial conditions of the client, changes in ownership or management at our
clients. changes in client strategies or the economy or markets generally. When contracts are terminated, we lose the anticipated revenues and might not be able
10 eliminate our associated cosls in a limely manner. Consequently, our profit margins in subsequent periods could be lower than expected. If we are unable 1o
replace the lost revenite with other work on terms we find acceptable or efTectively eliminate costs, we may not be able 1o maintain our level of profitability.

Our results of operuliohs may be affected by the rate of growth in the use of technology in business and the type and level of technology
spending by our clients.

Our business depends, in pant, upon conlinued growth in the use of technology in business by our clients and prospective clients as well as their
customers and suppliers. In challenging econemic environments, our clients may reduce or defer their spending on new technologies in order to focus on other
priorities. At the same time, many companies have already invested substantial resources in their current means of conducting commerce and exchanging
information, and they may be reluctant or slow to adopt new approaches that could disrupt existing personnel, processes and infrastructures. If the growth of
technology usage in business, or our clicnts’ spending on technology in business, declines, or if we cannot convince our clients or potential clients to embrace
new technological solutions, our results of operations could be adversely affected.

If we are unable to collect our receivables from, or bill our unbilled services to, our clients, our results of operations and cash flows could be
adversely affected.

Our business depends on our ability to successfully obtain payment from our clients of the amounts they owe us for work performed. We evaluate the
financial condition of our clients and usually bill and collect on relatively short cycles, We maintain allowances against receivables and unbilled services.
Actual losses on client balances could differ from those that we currently anticipate and, as a result, we might need to adjust our allowances. There is no
guarantee that we will accurately assess the creditworthiness of our clients. Macroeconomic conditions, such as the continued credit crisis and related turmoil
in the global financial system, could also result in financial difficulties, including limited access to the credit markets, insolvency or bankruptcy, for our
clients, and, as a result, could cause clients to delay payments to us, request modifications to their payment arrangements that could increase our receivables
balance, or default on their payment obligations to us. Timety collection of client balances also depends on our ability to complete our contractual
commitinents and bill and collect our contracted revenues. If we are unable to meet our contractuat requirements, we might experience delays in collection of
and/or be unable to collect our client balances, and if this occurs, our results of ‘
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operations and cash flows could be adversely affected. In addition, if we experience an increase in the time to bill and collect for our services, our cash flows
could be adversely affected.

We are investing substantial cash in new facilities and physical infrastructure, and our profitability could be reduced if eur business does
not grow proportionately.

We have made and continue to make significant contractual commitments related te capital expenditures on construction or expansion of our
development and delivery centers. We may encounter cost overruns or project delays in connection with new facilities. These expansions will likely increase
our fixed costs and if we are unable to grow our business and revenues proportionately, our profitability may be reduced.

Competition for highly-skilled technical personnel is intense and the success of our busmess depends on our ability to attract and retain
highly-skilled professionals.

Our future success will depend to a significant extent on our ability to attract, train and retain highly-skilled professionals so as to keep our supply of
skills and resources in balance with client demand. In particular, we must attract, train and retain appropriate numbers of talented people, including project
managers. IT engineers and other senior technical personnel, with diverse skills in order to serve client needs and grow our business. We are particularly '
dependent on retaining our senior executives and other experienced managers with the skill sets required by our business, and if we are unable to do so, our
ability 1o develop new business and effectively lead our current projects could be jeopardized. Similariy, the profitability of our business model depends on our
ability to effectively utilize personnel with the right mix of skills and experience to suppori our projects. The processes and costs associated with recruiting,
training and retaining employees place significant demands on our resources. ' )

We belicve there is a shortage of, and significant competition for, professionals with the advanced technologicat skills nccessary to perform the services
we offer. We havé subcontracted to a limited extent in the past, and may do so in the future, with other service providers in order to meet our obligations to our
customers. Our ability to maintain.and renew existing engagements and obtain new business will depend, in large part, on our ability to atiract, train and
retain technical personnel with the skills that keep pace with continuing changes in information technology, evolving industry standards and changing
customer preferences. Further, we must train and manage our growing work force, requiring an increase in the level of responsibility for both existing and new
management personnel. We cannot guarantee that the management skills and systems currently in place will be adequate or that we will be able to train and
assimilate new employees successfully. Our profits and ability to compete for and manage client engagements could be adversely affected if we cannot manage
employee hiring and attrition to achieve a stable and efficient workforce structure.

Qur ability to operate and compete cffcctlvely could be impaired if we lose key personnel or if we cannot attract additional qualified
personncl. : .

Cur future performance depends to a significant degree upon the continued service of the key members of our management team, as well as marketing, -
sales and technical personnel, and our ability to attract and retain new management and other personnel. We do not maintain key man life insurance on any of
our excculive officers or significant employees. Competition for personnel is intense, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to retain our key
employees or that we will be successful in attracting and retaining new personnel in the future. The loss of any one or more of our key personnel or the failure
1o attract and retain key personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Restrictions in non-competition agreements with our executive officers may not be enforceable.

Currently we have entered into non-competition agrecments with the majority of our executive officers. We cannot be certain, however, that the
restrictions in these agreements prohibiting such executive officers from
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engaging in competitive activities are enforceable. Further, substantially atl of our professional non-exccutive staff are not covered by agreements that would
prohibit them from working for our campetitors. If any of our key professional personnel leaves our employment and joins one of our compelitors, our
business could be adversely afiected.

Qur earnings may be adversely affected if we change our intent not te repatriate foreign carnings or if such carnings become subject to U.S.
tax on a current basis.

Effective January 1, 2002, and in accordance with authoritative literature, we no longer accrue incremental U.S. taxes on our Indian earnings recognized
after 2001 as these earnings (as well as other foreign eamings for all periods) are considered to be indefinitely reinvested outside of the United States. While we
have no plans 1o do so, events may occur that could effectively force us 1o change our intent not to repatriate such eamings. If we change our intent and
repatriate such earnings, we will have to accrue taxes associated with such earnings at a substantially higher rate than our effective income tax rate in 2012.
These increased taxes could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our carnings may be negatively impacted by the loss of certain tax benefits provided by India to companies in our industry as well as by
proposed tax legislation in India. :

Our Indian subsidiaries, collectively referred to as Cognizant India, are primarily export-oriented and are eligible {or certain income tax holiday benefits
granted by the Indian govemnment for export activities conducted within Special Economic Zones, or SEZs, for periods of up to 15 years. Changes in Indian
tax laws that would reduce or deny SEZ tax benefits could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. In
addition, all Indian profits, including those generated within SEZs, are subject to the MAT, at the current rate of approximately 20.0%. Any MAT paid is
creditable against future corporaté income tax, subject to limitations. Currently, we anticipate utilizing our existing MAT balances against future corporale
income tax. Our ability to fully do so may be influenced by possible changes to the Indian tax laws as well as the future financial results of Cognizant
India. Our inability to fully utilize our deferred income tax assets related to the MAT could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations
and financial condition. ‘ '

Our earnings and financial condition may be negatively impacted by certain tax related matters.

We are subject 10 income taxes in both the United States and numerous foreign jurisdictions. The provision for income taxes and cash tax liability in the
future could be adversely affected by numerous factors including, but not limited to, income before taxes being lower than anticipated in countries with lower
statutory tax rates and higher than anticipated in countries with higher statutory tax rates, changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, and
changes in tax laws, regulations, accounting principles or interpretations thereof, which could adversely impact our results of operations and financial
condition in future periods. In addition, our income tax returns are subject 1o examination in the jurisdictions in which we operate. We regularly assess the
likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from these examinations to determine the adequacy of our provision for income taxes. An unfavorable outcome of cne
or more of these examinations may have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

“If our pricing structures are based on inaccurate expectations and assumptwns regarding the cost and complexlty of performing our work,
then our contracts could be unprofitable.

We negotiate pricing terms with our clients utilizing a range of pricing structures and conditions. We predominantly contract to provide services either on
a time-and-materials basis or on a fixed-price basis. Our pricing is highly dependent on our intemal forecasts and predictions about our projects and the
marketplace, which might be based on limited data and could turn out to be inaccurate. If we do not accurately cstimate the costs and timing for completing
projects, our contracts could prove unprolitable for us or yield lower profit margins than anticipated. We face a number of risks when pricing our contracts,
as many of our projects entail ' -
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the coordination of operations and workforces in multiple locations and utilizing workforces with different skill sets and competencies across geographically
diverse service locations. Our pricing. cost and profit margin estimates for the work that we perform frequently include anticipated long-term cost savings
from transformational and other initiatives hat we expect Lo achieve and suslain over the life of the contract. There is a risk that we will underprice our
projects, fail to accurately estimate the costs of performing the work or fail to accurately assess the risks associated with potential contracts. In particular, any
increased or unexpected costs, delays or failures to achieve anticipated cost savings, or unexpected risks we encounter in connection with the performance of
this work. inchuding those caused by factors outside our control, could make these contracts less profitable or unprofitable, which could have an adverse
effect on our profit margin.

[n addition, a significant portion of our projects are on a fixed-price basis, subjecting us to the foregoing risks to an even greater extent. Fixed-price
contracts accounted for approximately 33.1% of our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012. We expect that an increasing number of our future
projects wili be contracted on a fixed-price basis. In addition to the other risks described in the paragraph above, we bear the risk of cost over-runs and
operaling cost inflation in connection with projects covered by fixed-price contracts, Our failure ta estimate accurately the resources and time required for a
fixed-price project, or our failure to complete our contractual obligations within the time frame committed, could have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition.

Our profitability could suffer if we are not able to maintain favorable pricing rates.

OQur profit margin, and therefore our profitability, is dependent on the rates we are able 1o recover for our services. If we are not able 1o maintain favorable
pricing for our services, our profit margin and our profitability could suffer. The rates we are able to recover for our services are affected by a number of
factors, including:

+  ourclients’ perceptions of our ability to add value through our services;

+  competition; ' ' .

+ introduction of new services or products by us or cur competitors;

+  our competitors’ pricing policies; ' .

= our ability to accurately estimate, attain and sustain contract revenues, margins and cash flows over increasingly longer contract penods
«  bid practices of clients and their use of third-party advisors;

the usc by our competitors and our clients of offshore resources to provide lower-cost service delivery capabilities;

+  our ability to charge premium prices when jusliﬁed by market demand or the type of service; and

¢ peneral economic and political conditions. ) .
- Our profitability could suffer if we are not able to maintain favorable utilization rates.

" The cost of providing our services, including the utilization rate of our professionals, affects our profitability. If.we are not able to maintain an
appropriate utilization rate for our professionals, our profit margin and our profitability may suffer. Our utilization rates are affected by a number of factors,
including: :

= our ability to efficiently transition employees from completed projects 10 new assignments;
< our ability to hire and assimilale new employees;
- our ability to accurately forecast demand for our services and thereby ‘maintain an appropriate headcount in each of our geographies and

workforces;
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«  our ability to etfectively manage altrition; and

+  our need to devote time and resources to training. professional development and other non-chargeable activities.

If we do not continue to improve our operational, financial and other internal controls and systems to manage our rapid growth and size or
if we are unable to enter, operate and compete effectively in new geographic markets, our business may suffer and the value of our stockholders’
investment in our Company may be harmed.

Our anticipated growth will continue to place significant demands on our management and other resources. Our growth will require us to continue to
develop and improve our operational, financial and other intemal contrals in the United States, Europe, India and elsewhere. In particular, our continued
growth will increase the challenges invelved in: ]

- recruiting, training and retaining technical, finance, marketing and management personnel with the knowledge, skills and experience that our
business model requires;

+ maintaining high levels of client satisfaction;

- developing and improving our internal administrative infrastructure, particularly our financial, operational, communications and other internal
systems;

= preserving our culture, values and entrepreneurial environment; and

+ effectively managing our personnel and operations and effectively communicating to our personnel worldwide our core values, strategies and goals.

) In addilion, the increasing size and scope of our operations increasc the possibility that a member of our personnel will engage in unlawful or fraudulent

activity, breach our contractual obligations, or otherwise cxpose us to unacceptable business risks, despite our efforts to train our people and maintain internal
controls to prevent such instances. If we do not continue to develop and lmplement the right processes and tools to manage our enterprise, our ability to compete
“successfully and achieve our business objeclives could be impaired.

As pan of our growth strategy\ we plan to continue expanding our operations in Europe, Asia, the Middle East, and Latm America, We may not be able
1o compete cffectively in these markets and the cost of entering these markets may be substantially greater than we expect. If we fail to compete effectively in the
new markets we enter, or if the cost of entering those markets is substantially greater than we expect, our business, results of operations and financial
condition could be adverscly affected. In addition, if we cannot compete cffectively, we may be rcqmrcd to reconsider our stratcgy to invest in our intcrnational -
expansion plans and change our intent on lhe repatriation of our eamlngs

Qur operating results may experience significant quarterly fluctuations.

Historically, we have experienced significant quarterly fluctuations in'our revenues and results of operations and expect these fluctuations to continue.
Among the factors causing these vanatlons have been ' ’ -

*  the nature, number, nmmt,, scope and contractual terms of the projects in which we are engaged;
»  delays incurred in the performance of those projects;
+  the accuracy of estimates of resources and tinie required to complete ongoing projects; and
«  general economic conditions.
In addition, our future revenucs, operating margins and profitability lﬁay fluctuate as a result of:

+  changes in pricing in response to customer demand and competitive pressures;
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»  changes to the financial condition of our clients;

- the mix of on-site and offshore staffing;

»  the ratio of fixed-price contracts versus time-and-materials contracts;

+  employee wage levels and utilization rates;

+  changes in foreign exchange rates, including the Indian rupee versus the U.S. dollar;
= the timing of collection of accounts receivable;

* enactment of new taxes;

»  changes in domestic and intemational income tax rates and regulations; and

+  changes to levels and types of stock-based compensation awards and assumptions used to determine the fair value of such awards.

A high percentage of our operating expenses, particularly personnel and rent, are relatively fixed in advance of any particular period. As a result,
unanticipated variations in the number and timing of our projects or in employee wage levels and utilization rates may cause significant variations in our
operating results in any particular period, and could result in losses. Any significant shortfall of revenues in relation to our expectations, any material
reduction in utilization rates for our professional staff or variance in the on-site/offshore siaffing mix, an unanticipated termination of a major project, a
customer’s decision not Lo pursue a new project or proceed to succeeding stages of a current project or the completion of several major customer projects during
a quarter could require us 1o pay underutilized employees and could therefore have a material adverse effect on our busmess, results of operatxons and
(inancial condition.

As aresult of these faclors, it is possible that in some future periods, our revenues and operating results may be sign'iﬁcantly below the expectations of
public market analysts and investors. In such an event, the price of our common steck would likely be materially and adversely affected.

We could be held liable for damages or our reputntlon could be damaged by disclosure of conﬁdentml information or personal data, security
breaches or system failures. -

We are dependent on information technology networks and systems to process, transmit and securely store electronic information and to communicate
among our locations around the world and with our clients. Security breaches of this infrastructure could lead to shutdowns or disruptions of our systems and
potential unauthorized disclosure of confidential information or data, including personal data. In addition, many of our engagements involve projects that are
critical to the operations of our customers’ businesses and provide benefits that are difficult to quantify. The theft and/or unauthorized use or publication of
our, or our clicnis’, confidential information. or other proprictary business information as a result of such an incident could adversely affcct our competitive
position and reduce marketplace acceptance of our services. Any failure in the networks or computer systems used by us or our customers could result in a
claim for substantial damages against us and significant reputational harm, regardless of our responsibility for the failure. Although we attempt to limit by
contract our liability for damages arising from negligent acts, errors, mistakes or omissions in rendering our services, we cannot assure you that any such
damages are subject to a contractual limitation or that any such contractual limitations on liability will be enforceable or will otherwise protect us from liability
for damages.

Tn addition, we often have access to or are required to manage, utilize, collect and store sensitive or confidential client or employee data, including
nonpublic personal data. As a result, we are subject to numerous U.S. and foreign jurisdiction laws and regulations designed to protect this information, such
as the European Union Directive on Data Protection and various U.S. federal and state laws govemning the protection of health or other individually identifiable
information. {f any person, including any of our employees, neghgemly disregards or intentionally breaches controls or procedures with which we ate
responsible for complying with respect to
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such data or otherwise mismanages or misappropriates that data, or if unauthorized access to or disclosure of data in our possession or control occurs, we
could be subject to significant liability to our clients or our clients” customers for breaching contractual confidentiality and security provisions or privacy
laws, as well as liability and penalties in connection with any violation of applicable privacy laws and/or criminal prosecution. Unauthorized disclosure of
sensitive or confidential client or employee data, whether through breach of computer systems, systems failure, employee negligence, fraud or
misappropriation, or otherwise, could damage cur reputation and cause us to lose clients. Similarly, unauthorized access to or through our information
systems and networks or those we develop or manage for our clients, whether by our employees or third parties, could result in negative publicity, legal
liability and damage 1o our reputation.

~ Although we have general liability insurance coverage, including coverage for errors or omissions, there can be no assurance that coverage will conlinue
10 be available on reasonable terms or will be sufficient in amount to cover one or more large claims, or that the insurer will not disclaim coverage as to any
future claim. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceed available insurance coverage or changes in our insurance policies,
including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results
of operations and [inancial condition.

Qur business could be negatively affected if we incur legal liability, including with respect to our contractual obligations, in connection with
providing our sclutions and services. ’ : :

If we fail to meet our contractual obtigations or otherwise breach obligations to our clients, we could be subject 10 legal liability. We may enter into non-
standard agreements because we perceive an important economic opportunity by doing so or because our personnel did not adequately adhere to our guidelines.
In addition, the contracling practices of our competitors may cause contract terms and conditions that are unfavorable 10 us to become standard in the
marketplace, I we cannot or do not perform our obligations, we could face legal liabilily and our contracts might not always protect us adequately through
limitations on the scope and/or amount of our potential liability. If we cannot, or do not, mect our contractual obligations to provide sclutions and services, and
if our exposure is not adequately limited through the enforceable terms of our agreements, we might face significant legal liability and our business could be
adversely affected.

In"the normal course of business and in conjunction with certain client engagements, we have entered into contractual arrangements through which we
may-be obligated to indemnify clients or other parties with whom we conduct business with respect to certain matters. These arrangements can include
provisions whereby we agree to hold the indemnified party and cenain of their affiliated entities harmless with respect to third-party claims related 1o such
matters as our breach of certain representations or covenants, or out of our intellectual property infringement, our gross negligence or willful misconduct or
certain other claims made against certain parties. Payments by us under any of these arrangements are generally conditioned on the client making a claim and
providing us with full control over the defense and settlement of such claim. It is not possible to determine the maximum potential amount under these
indemnification agreements due 1o the unique facts and circumstances involved in each particular agreement. Historically, we have not made payments under
these indemnification agreements so they have not had any impact on our operating results, financial position, or cash flows. However, if events arise
requiring us to make payment for indemnification claims under our indemnification obligations in contracts we have entered, such payments could have a
material impact on our operating results, financial position, and cash flows.

‘We could incur lizbility or our reputation could be damaged if our provision of services and solutions to our clients contributes to our clients’
internal control deficiencies.

Our clients may perform audits or require us to perform audits and provide audit reports with respect to the controls and procedures that we use in the
performance of services for such clients, especially when we process data belonging to them. Our ability 1o acquire new clients and retain existing clients may
be adversely affected and our reputation could be harmed if we receive a qualified opinion, or if we cannot obtain an unqualified
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opinion, with respect to our controls and procedures in connection with any such audit in a timely manner. Additionally, we could incur liability if our
controls and procedures, or the contrals and procedures we manage for a client, were to result in internal controls failures or impair our client’s ability to
comply with its own intcrnal control requirements.

We may not be able to enforee or protect our intellectual property rights, which may harm our ability to compete and harm our business.

Our future success will depend, in part, on our ability to protect our proprietary methodologies and other valuable intellectual property. We presently
hold no issued patents or registered copyrights. however, we have filed patent applications and we intend to file additional patent applications. There is no
guarantee that any patents will be granted in the United States or in any other country we may seek protection or that they will serve as a barrier from
competition from other organizations. Additionally, the proiection afforded by internaticnal patent laws as well as the enforcement actions differ from country
to country. There is no guarantee that we will be able to maintain adequate protection or enforcement of our intellectual property rights.

We also rely upon a combination of copyright and trade secret laws, non-disclosurc and related contractual arrangements, and other sceurity measures to
protect our intellectual property rights. Existing laws of some countries in which we provide services or solutions, such as China, might offer only limited
prolection of our intellectual property rights. India is a member of the Beme Convention, and has agreed to recognize protections on copyrights conferred under
the laws of foreign countries, including the laws of the United States. We believe that laws, rules, regulations and treaties in effect in the United States, India
and other countries in which we operate are adequate to protect us from misappropriation or unauthorized use of our intellectual property. However, there can
be no assurance that these laws will not change in ways that may prevent or restrict the transfer of software components, libraries and teolsets and other
technology or data we use in the performance of our services among the countries in which we operate and provide services. There can be no assurance that the
steps we have taken 1o protect our intellectual property rights will be adequate to deter misappropriation of any of our intellccwal property, or that we will be
able 1o detect unauthorized use and take appropriate steps to enforce our rights. Enforcing our rights might also require considerable time, money and
oversight. i -

Unauthorized use of our intellectual property may result in development of technology, preducts or services that compete with our products and services
and unauthorized parties may infringe upon or misappropriate our products, services or proprietary information. If we are unable to protect our intellectual
property, our business may be adversely affected and our ability to compete may be impaired. . :

Depending on the circumstances, we might need to grant a specific client greater rights in intellectual property developed or used in connection with a
contract than we normally do. In certain situations, we might forego all rights to the use of intetlectual property we create and intend to reuse across multiple
clicnt engagements, which would limit our ability to reusc that intcllectual property for other clients. Any limitation on our ability to provide a service or
solution could cause us to lose revenue-generating opportunities and require us to incur additional expenses to develop new or modified solutions for future

projects.

Our ability to enforce our sofiware license agreements, service agreements, and other intellectual property rights is subject to general litigation risks, as
well as uncertainty as to the enforceability of our intellectual property rights in various countries. To the extent that we seek ta enforce our rights, we could be
subject to claims that an intellectual property right is invalid, otherwise not enforceable, or is licensed to the partly against whom we are pursuing a claim. In
addition, our assertion of intellectual property rights may result in the other party secking to assert alleged intellectual property rights or assert other ¢laims
against us, which could harm our business. If we are not successful in defending such claims in litigation, we may not be able to sell or license & particular
service or solution due 1o an injunction, or we may have to pay damages that could, in turn, harm our results of operations. In addition, governments may
adopt regulations, or courts may render decisions, requiring compulsory licensing of intellectual property to others, or governments may require that products
meet specilied

35

Soutce: COGNIZANT TECHNQLOGY SOLUTIONS CORP, 10-K, February 26, 2013 ) Powered by Morningsiar® Bocument Heseran:hSH

The inforination contained herein may not be copled, adapied ar disiributed and /s not watranted ta be accumte, compiete or timely. The user assumes ail risks for any damagss or losses arlaing front any use of this
informiotion, excep! (o e extent such damages or iosses canno! he fimited or exciuded by npplicable law. Pasf tipancial performaonce Is rio guoiantes of future rasuils.



Table of Contents

standards that serve to favor local companies. Our inability to enforce our intellectual property rights under these circumstances may harm our competitive
position and our business.

Our services or solutions ceuld infringe upon the intetlectual property rights of others and we may be subject to claims of infringement of
third-party intellectual property rights.

We cannot be sure that our services and solutions, or the solutions of others that we offer to our clients, do not infringe on the intellectual property rights
of others. Third parties may assert against us of our customers claims alleging infringement of patent, copyright, trademark, or other intellectual property
rights to technologies or services that are important 10 our business. Infringement claims could harm our reputation, cost us money and prevent us from
offering some services or solutiens. In our contracts, we generally agree to indemnify our clients for cerfain expenses or liabilities resulting from potential
infringement of the intellectual property rights of third parties. In some instances, the amount of our liability under these indemnities could be substantial. Any
claims that our products, services or processes infringe the intellectual property rights of others, regardless of the merit or resolution of such claims, may
result in significant costs in defending and resolving such claims, and may divert the efTorts and attention of our management and technical personnel from
our business. In addilion, as a result of such intellectual property infringement claims, we could be required or otherwise decide that it is appropriate to:

*  pay third-party infringement claims;

»  discontinue using, licensing, or selling particular products subject to infringement claims;

» discontinue using the technology or processes subject to infringement claims;

+  develop other technology not subject to infringement claims, which could be costly or may not be possible; and/or

+  license technology from the third party claiming infringement, which license may not be available on commercially reasonable terms.

The occurrence of any of the foregoing could result in unexpected expenses or require us to recegnize an impairment of our assets, which would reduce
the value of our assets and increase expenses. [n addition, if we alter or discontinue our offering of affected items or services, our revenue could be affected. If a
claim of infringement were successful against us or our clients, an injunction might be ordered against our client or our own services or operations, causing

further damages.

We expect that the risk of infringement claims against us will increase if our competitors are able to obtain patents and other intellectual property rights
for software products and methods, technological solutions, and processes. We may be subject to intellectual property infringement claims from certain
individuals and companies who have acquired patent portfalios for the primary purpose of asserting such claims against other companies. The risk of
infringemenu claims against us may also increase as we continue to develop and license our intellectual property to our clicnts and other third parties. Any
infringement claim or litigation against us could have a material adverse cffect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We might lose our ability to utilize the intellectual property of others, which could harm our business.

We could lose our ability, or be unable 1o secure the right, to utilize the intellectual property of others. Third-party suppliers of software, hardware or
other intellectual property assets could be unwilling to permit us to use their intellectual property and this could impede or disrupt use of their products or
services by us and our clients. If our ability to provide services and solutions to our clients is impaired as a result of any such denial, our operating results
could be adversely affected.
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We may not be able to successtully acquire target companies or integrate acquired companies or technologies into our company, and we
may became subject to certain liabilities assumed or incurred in connection with our acquisitions that could harm our operating results.

1f we arc unable to complete the number and kind of acquisitions for which we plan, or if we are incfficicnt or unsuccessful at integrating any acquired
businesses into our operations, we may not be able to achieve our planned rates of growth or improve our market share, profitability or competitive position in
specific markets or services. We expect lo continue pursuing strategic acquisition and joint venture opportunities designed to enhance our capabilities, expand
our capacity and geographic presence and/or enter new technology areas. We cannot predict or guarantee that we will successfully identify suitable acquisition
candidates or consummate any acquisition or joint venture. We may need to divert and/or dedicate management and other resources to complete the
transactions. Once we have consummated an acquisition transaction or entered into a joint venture transaction, we may not be able to integrate Lhe acquired
business or joint venturc (and personnel) into our operations, recognize anticipated efficicncies and/or benefits, realize our strategic objectives or achieve the
desired financial and operating results, in each case, both generally and as a result of our unique organizational structure. Acquisitions and joint ventures
involve a number of special risks, including diversion of management’s attention, failure to retain key personnel and the potential assumption or incurrence of
liabilities and/or obligations.”

Although we conduct due diligence in connection with each of our acquisitions, there may be liabilities that we fail to discover, that we inadequately
assess in our due diligence efforts or that are not properly disclosed to us. In particular, to the extent that any acquired business (or any properties thereof)
{i) failed to comply with or otherwise violated applicable laws or regulations, (ii) failed to fulfill contractual obligations to customers or (iii) incurred material
liabilities or obligations 1o customers that are not identified during the diligence process, we, as the successor owner, may be financially responsible for these
violations, failures and liabilities and may suffer financial and/or reputational harm or otherwise be adversely affected. In addition, as part of an acquisition,
we may assume responsibilities and obligations of the acquired business pursuant to the terms and conditions of services agreements entered by the acquired
entity that are not consistent with the terms and conditions that we typically accept and require. Although we attempt to structure acquisitions in such a
manner as to minimize our exposure to, among other things, the factors and conditions contemplated by the foregoing two sentences (including-through
indemnification protection), we cannot predict or guarantee that our efforts will be effective or will protect us from liability. The discovery of any material
liabilities associated wnh our acquisitions for which we are unable to recover indemnification amounts could harm our operatmg results.

System failure or disruptions in communications could disrupt our business and result in lost customers and curtailed operatlons whlch
would reduce our revenue and profitability.

To deliver our services to our customers, we must maintain a high speed network of satellite, fiber optic and land lines and active voice and data
communications twenty-four hours a day between our main operating offices in Chennai, our other development and delivery centers and the offices of our
customers worldwide. Although we maintain redundancy facilities and satellite communications links, any systems failure or a significant lapse in our ability
to transmit voice and data through satellite nnd telephone commumcatmns could result in Jost customers and curtailed operatlons which would reduce our
revenue and profitability.

Consolidation in the industries that we serve could adversely affect our business.

" Companies in the industries that we serve may seek 1o achieve economies of scale and other synergies by combining with or acquiring other companies.
If two or more of our current clients merge or consolidate and combine their operations, it may decrease the amount of work that we perform for these clients. If
one of our current clients merges or consolidates with a company that relies on another provider for its consulting, systems integration and technology, or
pulsourcing services, we may lose work from that client or lose the opportunity to gain additional work. The increased market power of larger companies
could also increase pricing and competitive pressures on us. Any of these possible results of industry consolidation could adversely affect our business.
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Our ability to attract and retain business may depend on our reputation in the marketplace.

Our scrvices are inarketed to clients and prospective clients based on a number of factors. Since many of our specific clicnt engagements involve unique
services and solutions, our corporate reputation is a sngmﬁcant factor in our clients” evaluation of whether to engage our services. We believe the Cognizant
brand name and our repulation are important corporate assets that help distinguish our services from those of our competitors and also contribute to our efforts
1o recruit and retain talented employees. However, our corporate repuiation is potentially susceptible to damage by actions or statements made by current or
former clients, competitors, vendors, adversaries in legal proceedings, govenment regulators, former and current employees and personnel as well as members
of the investment community and the media. There is a risk that negative information about our company, even if based on false rumor or misunderstanding,
could adversely alfect our business. [n particular, damage Lo our reputation could be difficult and time-consuming to repair, could make potential or existing
clients reluciant to select us for new engagements, resulting in a loss of business, and could adversely affect our recruitment and retention efforts. Damage fo
our reputation could also reduce the value and effectiveness of the Cognizant brand name and could reduce inveslor confidence in us, adversely affecting our
share price. :

Provisions in our charter, by-laws and stockhelders’ rights plan and provisions under Delaware law may discourage unsolicited takeover
proposals.

Provisions in our charter and by-laws, each as amended, our stockholders’ rights plan and Delaware General Corporate Law, or DGCL, may have the
effect of deterring unsolicited takeover proposals or delaying or preventing changes in our control or management, including transactions in which
stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares over then-current market prices. In addition, these documents and provisions may limit the
ability of stockholders to approve transactions that they may deem to be in their best interests. Our board of directors has the authority, without further action
by the stockholders, to fix the rights and preferences, and issue shares of preferred stock. Our charter provides for a classified board of directors, which will
prevent a change of control of our board of directors at a single meeting of stockholders. The prohibition of our stockholders’ ability to act by written consent
and the restrictions imposed on our stockholders’ ability to call a special meeting may have the effect of delaying stockholder actions until annual meetings or
until a special meeling is called by our chairman or chief executive officer or our board of directors. The supermajority-voting requirement for specified
amendments to our charter and by-laws allows a minority of our stockholders to block those amendments. The DGCL also contains provisions preventing
stockholders from engaging in business combinations with us, subject to certain exceptions. These provisions could also discourage bids for our common
stock at a premium as wcll as creale a depressive effect on the market price of the shares of our common stock.

New and changing corporale governance and public disclosure requirements add uncertainty to our compliance policies and increase our
costs of compliance.

Changing laws, regulations and standards relating to accounting, corporate governance and public disclosure, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002. other SEC regulations, and the NASDAQ Global Select Market rules, are creating uncertainty for companies like ours. These laws, regulations and
standards may lack specificity and are subject to varying interpretations. Their application in practice may evolve over time, as new guidance is provided by
regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in continuing uncertainty rcgardmg compliance matters and higher costs of compliance as a result of
ongoing revisions to such corporate governance standards.

In particular, our efforts to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the related regulations regarding our required assessment of
our internal controls over financial reporting and our external auditors™ audit of that assessment requires the commitment of significant financial and -
managerial resources. We consistently assess the adequacy of our internal controls over financial reporting, remediate any control deficiencics that may be
identified, and validate through testing that our controls are functioning as documented. While we do not anticipate any material weaknesses, (he inability of
management and our independent auditor to
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provide us with an unqualified report as to the adequacy and effectiveness, respectively, of our internal controls over financial reporting for future year ends
could result in adverse consequences Lo us, including, but not limited to, a loss of investor confidence in the reliability of our financial statements, which
could causc the market price of our stock to decline.

We are commiited to maintaining high standards of corporate governance and public disclosure, and our efforts to comply with evolving laws,
regulations and standards in this regard have resulted in, and are likely to continue to result in, increased general and administrative expenses and a diversion
of management time and attention from revenue-generaling activities to compliance activities, In addition, the laws, regulations and standards regarding
corporale governance may make it more difficult for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance. Further, our board members, chief executive officer
and chief financial officer could face an increased risk of personal liability in connection with their performance of duties. As a result, we may face difficulties
attracting and retaining qualified board members and executive officers, which could harm our business. Il we fail to comply with new or changed laws,
regulations or standards of corporate governance, our business and reputation may be harmed. '

Our share price could be adversely affected if we are unable to maintain effective internal controls.

The accuracy of our financial reporting is dependent on the effectiveness of our internal controls. We are required to provide a report from management to
our stockholders on our internal control over financial reporting that includes an assessment of the effectiveness of these controls. Internal contrel over
financial reperting has inherent limitations, including human error, the possibility that controls could be circumvented or become inadequate because of
changed conditions, and fraud. Because of these inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting might not prevent or detect all misstatements or
fraud. If we cannot maintain and execute adequale internal control ever financial reporting or implement required new or improved controls to ensure the
reliability of the financial reporting and preparation of our financial stalements for external use, we could suffer harm to our reputation, fail to meet our public
reporting requirements on a limely basis, or be unable to properly report on our business and the results of our operations, and the market price of our
securities could be materially adversely affected. : :

- We are exposed to credit risk and fluctuations in the market values of our investment portfoiio.

Recent turmoil in the financial markets has adversely affected economic activity in the United States, Europe and other regions of the world in which we
do business. We believe that based on our current cash, cash equivalents and investment balances and expected operating cash flows, the current lack of
liquidity in the credit markets will not have a material impact on our liquidity, cash flow or financial flexibility. Continued deterioration of the credit and
capital markets could result in volatility of our investment earnings and impairments to our investment portfolio, which could negatively impact our financial
condition and reported income. The centinued decline in economic aclivity could adversely affect the ability of counterparties to certain financial instruments
such as marketable securities and derivatives to meet their obligations to us.

Our stock price continues to be volatile.

Our stock has at times experienced substantial price volatility as a result of variations between our actual and anticipated financial results,
announcements by us and our competitors, projections or speculation about our business or that of our competitors by the media or investment analysts or
uncertainty about current global economic conditions. The stock market, as a whole, also has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have
affected the market price of many technology companies in ways that may have been unrelated to these companies® operating performance. Furthermore, we
believe our stock price should reflect future growth and profitability expectations and, if we fail (o meet these expectations, our stock price may significantly
decline.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
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Item 2. Properties

Ta support our plamned growth, we are continually expanding our development and delivery center capacity through the construction of new facilities,
supplemented by additional leasing of non-owned facilitics. Below is a summary of development and delivery facilities in India, China, the Philippines and
Singapore and our executive office in Teaneck, New Jersey as of December 31, 2012.

Number of Square Footage :‘:::::: Tatal Square
Location Locations Leased Owned Footage
India: .
Chennai 12 2,450,185 5,041,307 7,491,492
Pune .5 1,547,930 343,703 _ 1,891,633
Bangalore 5 2,055,577 225,000 2,280,577
Kolkata .6 944,410 827,727 1,772,137
Hyderabad 7 _ 2,256,374 N — 2,256,374
Coimbatore .3 173,641 725611 899,252 .
Cochin 2 st - 251,139,
Mumbai 3 330,665 — 330,665
Gurgaon 4 188,080 —_- 188,080
Mangalore I 42,760 — 42,760 -
Shanghai, China 3 100,500 - 100,500
Manila, the Philippines 4 146,497 — 146,497 -
Singapore City 2 33,786 33,786
Total .57 10,521,544 7,163,348 17,684,892
Exccutive Office: , ) ‘ B o o o o
Teaneck o v S i S 96,107 S— 96,107 -

We operate out of our Teaneck, New Jersey headquarters and our regional and intemational offices. We have business development offices located in
metropolitan areas including in North and Latin America: Boston (MA), Bridgewater (NJ), Buenos Aires, Chicago (IL), Dallas (TX), Knoxville (TN), Los
Angeles (CA), Phoenix (AZ), San Francisco (CA), Sao Paulo, Tampa (FL), and Toronto; in Europe: Amsterdam, Basel, Brussels, Copenhagen, Dublin,
Frankfurt, Geneva, Helsinki, London, Lyon, Madrid, Oslo, Paris, Prague, Stockholm, and Zurich; in the Middle East: Dubai, and Riyadh; and in the Asia
Pacific region: Auckland, Bangkck, Brisbane, Chennai, Hong Kong, Kuala Lumpur, Manila, Melboumne, Osaka, Shanghai, Sydney, Singapore, Tokyo,
and Wellinglon. : ' ’

In addition to the locations included in the above table, we operate development and delivery facilities in North and Latin America: Bentonville (AR),
Boston (MA), Bridgewater (NJ), Buenos Aires, Chicago (IL), Detroit (MI), Des Moines (1A), Guadalajara. Minot (ND), Phoenix (AZ), Sac Paulo, Tampa
(FL) and Toronto; in Europe; Amsterdam, Budapest, Grenoble, Eindhoven, Heidelberg and London. We also have several training facilities strategicaily
located near or within our main offices and development and delivery centers.

We believe that our current facilities are adequate to support our existing operations. We also believe that we will be able to obtain suitable additional
facilitics on commereially reasonable terms on an “as needed basis.” The above properties arc used to provide services across all four of our business
scgments,

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of cur management, the outcome of such
claims and legal actions, if decided adversely, is not expected to have a material adverse effect on our quarterly or annual operating results, cash flows or
consolidated linancial position.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Our Class A common stock trades on the NASDAQ Global Select Market (NASDAQ) under the symbol “CTSH™.

The following table shows the per share range of high and low sale prices for shares of our Class A conunon stock, as listed for qublation on the
NASDAQ, for the quarterly periods indicated.

Quarter Ended . B} . . High . Low

March 31, 2011 ) ) $81.85  § 70.53
June 30, 2011 _ ~ $83.48 § 64.40
September 30, 2011 ] ) 87171 $ 53.54
December 31, 2011 ) 57744 $59.95
Match 31, 2012 $ 78.00 $ 64.92
June 30, 2012 ) . $77.85 $55.25
September 30, 2012 © 87145 $ 53.92
December 31, 2012 . . . $ 74.87 $ 64.20

As of December 31, 2012, the approximate number of holders of record of our Class A common stock was 171 and the approximate number of
benelicial holders of our Class A common stock was 38,800.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our Class A common stock. We curremly mtend to retain any future earnings to ﬁnance the growth of
our busmess and, therefore, do not curremly anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future,

Issuer Purchuses of Equity Securities

From December 2010 through December 2012, our Beard of Directors authorized $1.0 billion in funds for repurchases of Cogmzam s oulstandmg
shares of Class A common stock, excluding fees and expenses. The program authorizes management to repurchase shares in the open market or in private
ransactions from time to time, dcpcndmg on market conditions and expircs on December 31, 20] 3.

During the three momhs ended December 31, 2012, we repurchased ‘approximately 525 9 million of our Class A common stock under our stock
repurchase program. Stock repurchases were funded from working capllal ’ :

‘ Approximate *
Total Number of . Dollar Value
Shares Purchosed of Shares
. as Part of Publicly that May Yet Be
Tolal Number Average Announced . Purchased under the
of Shares Price Paid Plans or Plons or Programs
Month Purchased per Share Programs {In thousands)
October 1, 2012 — October 31, 2012 — $§ — —_ $ 159,584
November 1, 2012 — November 30, 2012 398,120 $65.17 398,120 $ 133,639
December 1, 2012 — December 31, 2012 . — $§ — — $ 133,639 .
Total . 398,120 $65.17 398,120 b3 133,639
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares Lhe cumulative total stockholder return on our Class A common stock with the cumulative total return on the NASDAQ-
100 Index, S&P 500 Index and a Peer Group Index (capitalization weighted) for the period beginning December 31, 2007 and ending on the last day of our last
completed fiscal year. The stock performance shown on the graph below is not indicative of future price performance. ’

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURNh
Among Cognizant, the NASDAQ-100 Index, the S&P 500 Index

And a Peer Group Indexe (Capitzalization Weighted)
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(1) Graph assumes $100 invested on December 31, 2007 in our Class A common slock. the NASDAQ-IOO Index, the S&P 500 Index, and the Peer Group

Index (capitalization weighted}.
{2) Cumulative total return'assumes reinvestment of dividends.

(3)  We have constructed a Pcer Group Index of other information technology consulting finms consisting of Accenture Lid., Computer Sciences Corporation,
Computer Task Group, Inc., Exlservice Holdings Inc, Genpact Ltd Inc., iGate Corp., Infosys Technologies Ltd., Sapient Corp., Syntel, Inc., Wipro
Ltd. and WNS Holdings LTD. In 2012, we removed Satynm Computer Serwccs L1d. from our peer group because it was delisled from the New York

Stock Exchange on March 16, 2012.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table scts forth our selected consolidated historical financial data as of the dates and for the periods indicated. Our selected consolidated
financial data set forth below as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2012 have been derived
from the audited financial statements included elsewhere herein. Our selected consolidated financial data set forih below as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and
2008 and for cach of the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements not included elsewhere
herein. Our selected consolidated financial information for 2012, 201 | and 2010 should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements
and the Notes and “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditicn and Results of Operations™ which are included elsewhere in this
Annuzl Report on Form 10-K.

Year Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2019 2009 2008
{in thousands, excepd per share data) _

Consolidated Operations Data:

Revenyes - 0§ 7346472 $6,121,156  $4,592,389  $3,278663 § 2,816,304
Cost ol revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization expense .
shown separately below) ‘ 4,278,241 3,538,622 2,654,369 1,849,443 1,572,816
Selling. general and administrative expenses 1,557,646 1,328,665 972,093 721,359. 652,021
Depreciation and amortization expense T 149,089 117,401 103,875 89,371 74,797
Income from operations _ ] 1,361,496 1,136,468 861,852 N 618,490 7 516,670
Other income {expense), net: } o 7 ._ o L e ) » o
Interest income L asia T Ta00a9 T 25793 T 15895 22,188
Other, net . o e (18414) (6,568) _ (9,065) . 2,566 (23,648);
Total other income (expense), net o _ 26,100 32,681 N 16,728 18,461 o (1,460) :
Income before provision for income taxes ) - _ 1,387,596 ‘ 1,169,149, - 878,580 - 636,951 - 515,210
Provision for income taxes . _ ] 336,3337 ) 285,531 145,040 101,988 84,365
Net incomc ' ' $1,051,263 $ 883,618 § 733,540 $ 534,963 § 430,845
Basic earnings per share s 349 § 2.91 5 244 § 182 § 1.49
Diluted carnings per share ~ oy 344 8 285§ 237 § 1.78 § 1.44
Cash dividends declared per common share $ — $ — 5 — b — $ —
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding-Basic 301,291 303,277 300,781 293304 290,121 |
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding-Diluted 305,861 310,351 309,137 301,115 298,940
Consolidated Financial Position Data; . L ‘;_ o o i o '_ R - . ﬁ
Cash, cash equivalents and short term investments ~ $2,863,758  § 2432264  § 2,226,388  §$1,399,332 % 762,579
Long-tcrm investments o . o — . — 151,131 ~ 161,693
Long-term obligations: : . o L ] L 7 o o )
Deferred income tax liabilities, net _ 2,777 .. .3339 4,946 — 1254
QOther noncutrent liabilities ] 287,081 ’ 342,003 ) 62,971 38,455 14,111
Working capital ’ 3,436,964 2,875,801 2,587,508 1,660,960 1,080,542
Toual assets 6,521,571 5,507,933 4,583,074 3,338,240 2,37_4,54_50 R
Stockholders' equity _— © 4,854,383 3,952,886 3,584,431 2,653,177 1,965,578 -
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Executive Summary

In 2012, our revenues increased to $7,346.5 million compared to $6,121.2 million in 201 1. Net income increased to $1,051.3 million or $3.44 per
diluted share, including stock-based compensation expense, net of tax, equal to $0.26 per diluted share during 2012. This is compared to net income of
$883.6 million, or $2.85 per diluted share, including stock-based compensation expense, net of tax, equal to $0.22 per diluted share during 2011. The key
drivers ofour revenue growth in 2012 were as follows:

= Strong performance across alt of our business segments, pamculariy our Manufacturing/Retail/Logistics, Financial Services and Healthcare
business segments, which reparted revenue growth of 25.2%, 20.5%, and 19.3%, respectively, compared to 2011;

+  Continued strength in the North America market where revenues grew 21.5% or $1,033.3 million compared to 201 1;
+  Increascd customer spending on discretionary projects;

»  Expansion of our service offerings, including IT IS and BPO services, which enabled us to cross-sell new services to our cuslomers and meet the
rapidly growing demand for complex large-scale outsourcing solutions;

« Increased penetration at existing customers, including strategic clients; and

+ "Continued expansion of the market for global delivery of IT services and business process outsourcing.

We saw a continued demand from our customers for a broad range of IT solutions, including application maintenance, complex systems development
engagements, testing, ERP, infrastructure management, BPO, and business intelligence. We finished the year with approximately 821 active clients compared
to approximately 785 as of December 31,2011 and increased the number of strategic clients by 23 during the year bringing the total number of our stratcgic
clients 1o 214. We define a strategic.client as one offering the potential to generate at least $5 million to $50 million or more in annual revenues at maturity. Our
top five and top len customers accounted for 14.0% and 25.0%, respectively, of our total revenues in 2012 as compared to 16.3% and 27.7%, respectively, for
the year ended December 31, 2011. As we continue to add new customers and increase our penetrahon at existing customers, we expecl the percentage of
revenues from our top five and (op ten customers to decline over time.,

Our revenue growth is also attributed to increasing market acceptance of, and strong demand for, offshore IT software and services and business
process outsourcing. NASSCOM (India’s National Association of Software and Service Companies) reports indicate that export revenues from India’s IT
software and services and business process outsourcing sectors are expected to meet the lower-end of its growth guidance and at least achieve a double digit
growth for NASSCOM'S fiscal year 2013. According 1o NASSCOM’s “Perspective 2020: Transform Business, Transform India” report, global changes
and new megatrends within economic, demographic, busincss, social and environmental arcas are set 10 expand the outsourcing industry by creating new
dynamics and opportunities and are expec(ed to result in export revenues of $175 billion by 2020. '

Our revenue from European customers increascd by 8.9% to apprommatcly $1,195.5 mllllon in 2012 compared to approximately $l ,097.5 million in
2011. Revenue from Europe, excluding the UK, increased by approximately $31.9 million from approximately $398.6 million in 2011 to approximately
$430.6 million in 2012 and revenue from the UK increased by approximately $66.1 million from approximately $698.9 million in 2011 to approximately
$764.9 million in 2012. We believe that Europe. the Middle East and the Asia Pacific regions, particularly Japan, India, Australia and Singapore, will
continue to be arcas of significant investment for us as we sce these regions as growth opportunitics for the long term.

In 2012, our operating margin decreased slightly to 18.5% compared to 18.6% in 201 1. Excluding stock-bascd compensation expensc of approximately
$107.4 million, operating margin in 2012 was 20.0%. This was
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within our historic targeted operating margin range, excluding stock-based compensation costs, of 19% to 20% of total revenues. The slight decrease in
operating margin was primarily due 1o continued investments to grow our business partially offset by the favorable impact of the depreciation of the Indian
rupee versus the U.S. dollar, net of the impact of our cash fiow hedge losses, and economies of scale driven by increased revenues that resulted from our
expanded sales and marketing activities in the current and prior years that allowed us to leverage our cost structure over a farger organization. Historically, we
have invested our profitability above the 19% to 20% operating margin level, which excludes stock-based compensation, back into our business, which we
believe is a significant contributing factor to our strong revenue growth. This investment is primarily focused in the areas of hiring client partners and
relationship personnel with specific industry experience or domain expertise, training our technical staff in a broader range of service offerings, strengthening
our business analytics capabilities, strengthening and expanding our portfolio of services; continuing to expand our geographic presence for both sales and
delivery as well as recognizing and rewarding exceptional performance by our employees. In addition, this investment includes maintaining a level of
resources, trained in a broad range of service offerings, to be well positioned to respond 1o our customer requests to take on additional projects. For the year
ending December 31, 2013, we expect lo continue to invest amounts in excess of our targeted operating margin levels back into the business.

We finished the year with approximately 156,700 employces, which is an increcase of approximately 19,000 over the prior year. The increase in the
number of our technical personnel and the related infrastructure costs to meet the demand for our services is the primary driver of the increase in our operating
expenses in 2012. Annualized wrnover, including both voluntary and involuntary, was approximately 10.7% for 2012. The majority of our turnover occurs in
India. As a result, annualized attrition rates on-site at clients are below our global attrition rate. In addition, attrition is weighted towards the more junior
members of our staff. We have experienced increases in compensation and benefit costs, including incentive-based compensation costs, in [ndia which may
continue in the future; however, historically, this has not had a material impact on our results of operations as we have been able to absorb such cost increases
through price increases or cost management strategies such as managing discretionary costs, the mix of our professional staff as well as utilization levels, and
achieving other operating efficiencies.

Our current India real estate development program inctudes planned construction of 10.5 million square feet of new space between 2011 and the end of
2015. This program includes the expenditure of over $700.0 million during this period on land acquisition, facilities construction and fumishings to build
new company-owned state-of-the-art development and delivery centers in regions primarily designated as Special Economic Zones, or SEZs, located in
India, During 2013, we expect to spend approximately $400 million globally for capital expenditures, including the Indian real estate development program.

At December 31, 2012, we had cash, cash equivalents and shori-term investments of $2,863.8 million and working capital of $3,437.0 million. .
Accordingly, we do not anticipate any near-term liquidity issues. During 2012, we repurchased approximately $486.0 million of our Class A common stock
under our existing stock repurchase program. Stock repurchases were funded from working capital. ’

During 2013, barring any unforcseen events, we cxpect the following factors to affect our business and our opcraﬁng results:

- Continued focus by customers on directing IT spending towards cost containment projects, such as application maintenance, infrastructure
management and BPO; -

- Demand from our customers to help them achieve their dual mandate of simultancously achieving cost savings while investing in innovation;
* _ Secular changes driven by evolving technologies and regulatory changes; ) )
»  Volatility in foreign currency rates; and

»  Continued uncertainty in the world economy, particularly in Europe.
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In responsce 1o this macrocconomic cnvironment, we plan to:
< Continue to invest in our talent basc and new service offerings;
«  Panner with our existing cuslomers to garner an increased portion of our customers’ overall IT spend by providing innovative solutions;
= Continue our focus on growing our business in Europe, the Middle East and the Asia Pac1ﬁc region, where we believe there are opportunities to
gain market share;
+  Continue to increase our strategic customer base across all of our business segments;

+  Opportunistically look for acquisitions that may improve our overall service defivery capabilities, expand our geographic presence and/or enable
us to enter new areas of technology;

»  Continue to focus on operating discipline in order to appropriately manage our cost structure; and

+  Continue to locate most of our new development center facilities in tax incentivized areas.

Results of Operations
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain financial data for the three years ended December 31, 2012:

{Dollars in thousands)
% of % of % of Increase (Decrense)

2012 . Revenues - 2011 Revenues 2010 . Revenues 2012 2011
Revenues $ 7,346,472 1000 $6,121,156 100.0 § 4,592,389 1000 $1,225,316 §1,528,767
Cost of revenues . 4,278,241 58.2 3,538,622 578 2, 654 569 ~57.8 739,619 884,053
Selling, general and administrative 1,557,646 21.2 1,328,665 21 i 972 093 212 228 9817 356,572
Depreciation and amortization 149,089 20 117,401 1.9 . 103,875 23 31,688 13,526
Income from operations 1,361,496 18.5 1,136,468  18.6 861,852 188 225,028 274,616
Other income (expense), net 26,100 5 32,681 L 16,728 o (6,581) 15,953
Provision for income taxes 336,333 285,531 145,040 . 50,802 140,451
Net income $ 1,051,263 143 § 883,618 144 § 733,540 160 $ 167,645 § 150,078

{1}  Includes stock-based compensatlon expense of $16,773, $15,257, and $13,147 for the years ended December 31,2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
{2) Includes stock-based compensation expense of$90 582, 874, 975, and $43,837 for the years ended December 31 2012, 2011 and 2010, respecuve]y

-

+« The following table includes non-GAAP income from operations, excluding stock-based compensation, a measure defined by the Securmes and
Exchange Comimission as a non-GAAP financial measure. This non-GAAP financial measure is not based on any comprehensive set of accounting rules or
principles and should not be considered a substitute for, or superior to, financial measures calculated in accordance with GAAP, and may be different from
non-GAAP measures used by other companies. In addition, this non-GAAP measure should be read in conjunction with our financial statements prepared in

" accordance with GAAP. The reconciliations of Cognizant's GAAP financial measures to the corresponding non-GAAP measures should be carefully evaluated.
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We seek to manage the company W a targeted operating margin, excluding stock-based compensation expense, of 19% to 20% of revenues. Accordingly,
we believe that non-GAAP income from operations, excluding stock-based compensation expense, is a meaningful measure for investors to evaluate our
financial performance. We believe providing investors with an operating view consistent with how we manage the company provides enhanced transparency
into the operating results of the company. For our intemnal management reporting and budgeting purposes we use financial statements that do not include stock-
based compensation expense for financial and operational decision making to evaluate period-to-period comparisons and for making comparisons of our
operating results to that of our competitors. Moreover, because of varying available valuation methodologies and the variety of award types that companies can
use to account for stock-based compensalion expense, we believe that providing a non-GAAP financial measure that excludes stock-based compensation
expense allows investors to make additional comparisons between our aperating results and those of other companies. Accordingly, we believe that the
presentation of non-GAAP income from operations when read in conjunction with our reporied GAAP income from operations can provide useful supplemental
information to our management and to investors regarding financial and business trends relating to our financial cendition and results of aperations.

A limitation of using non- -GAAP income from operations versus income from operations reported in accordance wn.h GAAP is that non-GAAP income
from operations cxctudes stock-based compensation expense, which is recurring. Stock-based compensation expense will continue to be for the foreseeable
future a significant recurring expense in our business. In addition, other companies may calculate non-GAAP financial measures differently than us, thereby
limiting the usetulness of this non-GAAP financial measure as a comparative tool. We compensate for these limitations by providing specific information
regarding the GAAP amounts excluded from non-GAAP income from opemuons to allow investors to evaluate such non-GAAP financial measures with
financial measures calculated in accordance with GAAP,

A reconciliation of income from operations as reported and non-GAAP income from operations, excluding stock-based compensation expense, is as
follows for the years ended December 31; )

(Dollars in thousands) *

% of ’ % of % of
3 . 2012 Revenues 2011 . Revenues 2010 Revenues
Income from operations, as reported . o L © $1,361,496 18.5 ° $1,136,468  18:6 _ 3$861,852 18.8
Add: stock-based compensation expense . 107,355 1.5 90,232 . 14 56,984 1.2
Non-GAAP income from operalions, excluding stock-based ‘ - . ‘, T ’
conpensation expense $1,468,851- ~ 200 - §1,226,700 200 $918,836 - 200

Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2011 -

Revenue. Revenue increased by 20% or approximately $1,225.3 million, from approximately $6,121.2 million during 2011 10 approximately $7,346.5
million in 2012. This increase was primarily attributed to greater acceptance of our global delivery model among an increasing number of industries,
continued interest in using our global delivery model as a means to reduce overall IT and operations costs, increased customer spending on discretionary
projects. and continued penetration in all our geographic markets. Revenue from customers existing as of December 31, 20t | increased by approximately
$1,088.8 million and revenue from new customers added during 2012 was approximately $136.5 million or approximately 11.1% of the year over year
revenue increase and 1.9% of total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012. In addition, revenue from our North American, European and Rest of
World customers increased in 2012 by $1,033.3 million, $98.0 million and $94.0 million, respectively, as compared 10 2011. We had approximately 821
active clients as
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of December 31, 2012 as compared to approximately 785 active clients as of December 31, 2011. In addition, we experienced strong demand across all of our
business segments for an increasingly broad range of services, Our Financial Services, Healthcare, and Manufacturing/Retail/Logistics business segments
accounted for approximately $517.0 million, $312.7 million and $301.2 million, respectively, of the $1,225.3 million increase in revenue. Additionally, our
consulling and technology services and outsourcing revenues increased by approximately 20.4% and 19.6%, respectively, compared to 2011 and represented
approximately 51.1% and 48.9% respectively, of total revenues in 2012, No customer accounted for sales in excess of 10% of revenues during 2012 or 2011.

Cost of Revenues (Exclusive of Depreciation and Amortization Expense) . Our cost of revenues consists primarily of salaries, incentive-based
compensation, stock-based compensation expense, payroll taxes, employee benefits, immigration and project-related travel for technical personnel,
subcontracting and sales commissions related to revenues. Our cost of revenues increased by approximately 20.9% or $739.6 million from $3,538.6 million
in 2011 to $4,278.2 million in 2012. The increase was due primarily to an increase in compensation and benefits costs of approximately $660.3 million,
resulting primarily from the increase in the number of our technical personnel, partially offset by the favorable impact of the depreciation of the Indian rupee
versus the U.S. dollar, net of the impact of our cash flow hedge losses.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses . Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, incentive-based
compensation, stock-based compensation expense, payroll taxes, employee benefits, travel, promotion, communications, management, finance, administrative
and occupancy costs. Selling, general and administrative expenses, including depreciation and amortization, increased by approximately 18.0% or '
$260.7 million, from $1,446.1 million during 2011, to $1,706.7 million dilring 2012, and decrcased as a percentage of revenue from 23.6% in 2011 to
23.2% in 2012. The decrease as a percentage of revenue was due primarily to the favorable impact of the depreciation of the Indian rupee versus the U.S.
dollar, net of the impact of our cash flow hedge losses, and economies of scale driven by increased revenues that resuited from our expanded sales and
marketing activities in the current and prior years that allowed us to leverage our cost structure over a larger organization, partially offset by investments to
grow our business and expenscs related to the expansion of our infrastructure to support our revenue growth. -

Income firom Operations. Income from operations increased approximately 19.8%, or $225.0 million, from approximately $1,136.5 million during
2011 to approximately $1,361.5 million during 2012, representing operating margins of 18.5% of revenues in 2012 and 18.6% of revenues in 2011. The
slight decrease in operating margin was primarily due to continued investments to grow, our business partially offset by the favorable impact of the
depreciation of the Indian rupee versus the U.S. dellar, net of the impact of our cash flow hedge losses, and economies of scale driven by increased revenues
that resulted from our expanded sales and marketing activities in the current and prior years that allowed us to leverage our cost structure over a larger
organization. Excluding the impact of applicable designated cash flow hedges, the depreciation of the Indian rupee against the U.S. dollar positively impacted
our operating margin by approximately 355 basis points or 3.55 percentage points. Each additional 1.0% change in the exchange rate between the Indian rupee
and the U.S. dollar will have the effect of moving our operating margin by approximately 24 basis points or 0.24 percentage points. Excluding stock-based
compensation cxpensc of $107.4 million and $90.2 million for 2012 and 2011, respectively, operating margins for cach of the two years were 20.0%.

. We entered into foreign exchange fonward contracts to hedge cenain Indian rupee denominated payments in India. These hedges are intended to mitigate
the volatility of the changes in the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the Indian rupee. During 2012, the settlement of centain cash flow hedges
negatively impacted our operating margin by approximately 131 basis points or 1.31 percentage points.
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Other Incoime (Expense), Net. Total other income (expense), net consists primarily of foreign currency exchange gains and (losses) and interest income.
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, Total other income (expense), net:

(Dollars in thousands) .

‘ ) 2012 2011 ;11;1:::::]
Foreign currency exchange (losses) « . o $(11,745) $(32,400) $20,655
(Losses) gains on foreign exchange forward contracts not designated as hedging instruments (8,270) 23,621 (31,891)
Net foreign currency exchange (losses) i ' ' ‘ ‘ - (20,015) (8,779) (11,236)
Interest income _ o 44514 39,249 5,265
Other, net o : : _ 1601 L2211 - (610)
Total other income (expense), net : $ 26,100 $32,681 $ {6,581)

The foreign currency exchange losses of approximately $11.7 million were primarily attributed to the remeasurement of the Indian rupee net monetary
assets on Cognizant India’s books 10 the U.S. dollar functional currency. The $8.3 million of losses on foreign exchange forward contracts not designated as
hedging instruments relate to the realized and unrealized losses on foreign exchange forward contracts entered into primarily to offset foreign currency exposure
1o Indian rupec denominated net monetary assets. At December 31, 2012, the notional value of our undesignated hedges was $208.6 million. The $5.3 million
increase in interest income was primarily attributed to higher invested balances. '

Provision for Income Taxes. The provision for income taxes increased from approximately $285.5 million in 2011 to approximately $336.3 million in
2012. The effective income tax rate decreased slightly from 24.4% in 2011 to 24.2% in 2012. The decrease in our effective income tax rate was primarily
attributed to favorable discrete items in 2012 partially offset by the scheduled reduction in 2012 of certain income tax holiday benefits in India.

Net Income. Net incoine increased from approximately $883.6 million in 201 to approximately $1,051.3 million in 2012, representing 14.4% and
14.3% of revenues, respectively.

Yeur Ended December 31, 2011 Con.rparcd to Year Ended December 31, 2010

Revenue. Revenue increased by 33.3%, or approximately $1,528.8 million, from approximately $4,592.4 million during 2010 to approximately
$6,121.2 million in 2011. This increase was primarily altributed 1o greater acceptance of our global delivery model among an increasing number of
industries, continued interest in using our global delivery model as a means to reduce overall IT costs and increased customer spending on discretionary
projects. Revenue from customers existing as of December 31, 2010 increased by approximately $1,371.3 million and revenue from new customers added
d(ln‘ng 2011 was approximately $157.5 million or approximately 10.3% of the year over year revenue increase and 2.6% of total revenues for the year ended
" December 31, 201 1. In addition, revenue from our North American and European customers increased in 2011 by $1,220.2 million and $241.9 million,
respectively, as compared to 2010. We had approximately 785 active clients as of December 31, 2011 as compared to approximately 712 active clients as of
December 31, 2010. In addition, we experienced strong demand across all of our business segments for an increasingly broad range of services. Our Financial
Services and Healthcare business segments accounted for approximately $574.0 million and $445.0 million, respectively, of the $1,528.8 million increase in
revenue. Additionally, our consulling and technology services and outsourcing revenues increased by approximately 40.7% and 26.4%, respectively, compared
(o 2010 and represented approximately 50.9% and 49.1%. respectively. of total revenues in 201 1. No customer accounted for sales in excess of 16% of
revenues during 2011 or 2010, ‘
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Cost of Revenues (Exclusive of Depreciation and Amortization Expense) . Qur cost of revenues consisis primarily of salaries, incentive-based
compensation, stock-based compensation expense, payroll 1axes, employces benefits, immigration and project-related travel for technical personnel,
subcontracting and sales commissions related 10 revenues. Our cost of revenues increased by approximately 33.3% or $884.0 million from $2,654.6 million
during 2010 to $3,538.6 million in 2011. The increase was due primarily to an increase in compensation and benefits cosls of approximately $821.8 million,
resulting {rom the increase in the number of our technical personnel necessary to support our revenue growth.

Selling, General and Administrarive Expenses . Selling, gencral and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, incentive-based
compensation, stock-based compensation expense, payroll taxes, employee benefits, travel, promotion, communications, management, finance, administrative
and occupancy costs. Selling, general and administrative expenses, including depreciation and amortization, increased by approximately 34.4% or
$370.1 million, from $1,076.0 million during 2010, to $1,446.1 million during 2011, and increased as a percentage of revenue from 23.4% in 2010 to 23.6%
in 2011. The increase as a percentage of revenue was due primarily Lo increases in compensation and benefit costs and investments to grow our business,
including expanded sales and marketing activities,

Income from Operations. lncome from operations increased approximately 31.9%, or $274.6 million, from approximately $861.9 million during
2010 to approximately $1,136.5 million during 2011, representing operating margins of 18.6% of revenues in 2011 and 18.8% of revenues in 2010. The
decrease in operating margin was attributed (o an increase in compensation and benefit costs and investments tc grow our business, including expanded sales
and marketing activities. Excluding the impact of applicable designated cash flow hedges, the depreciation of the Indian rupee against the U.S. dollar
positively impacted our operating margin by approximately 54 basis points or (.54 percentage points. Each additional 1.0% change in the exchange rate
between the [ndian rupee and the U.S. dollar will have the effect of moving our operating margin by approximately 27 basis points or 0.27 percentage points.
Excluding stock-based compensation expense of $90.2 million and $57.0 million for 2011 and 2010, respectively, operatmg margins for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010 were 20.0% and 20.0%, respecuvely

We enlered into foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge certain Indian rupee denominated payments in India. Thcse hedges are mtended o mltlgate
the volatility of the changes in the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the Indian rupee. During 2011, settlement of certain cash flow hedges favorably
impacted our operating margin by approxxmately 31 basis points or 0.31 percentage points. :

Other Income (Expense), Net. Total other income (expense), net consists primarily of foreign currency exchange gains and (losses) and interest income.
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, Total other income (expense), net:

(Dollars in thousands}

Increase/

2011 . . 2010 {Irecrease) |

Foreign currency exchange (losses) galns ‘ 7 ' i B ) 3 (32,400) $ 11,220 $(43,620) .
Gains (losses} on foreign exchange forward contracts not designated as hedgmg instruments L 23,621 (21,088) 44,709 -
Net foreign currency exchange (losses) _ ] ) ) 'i T (8,779) ~ (9,868) 1,089
Interest income- - ' 39,249 25,793 13,456
Other, net ' 2,211 803 1,408
Total other income {expense), net $32,681 $16,728 $15,953

The foreign currency exchange losses of approximately $32.4 miilion were primarily attributed to the remeasurement of the Indian rupee net monetary
assets on Cognizant India’s books 1o the U.S. dollar functional
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currency. The $23.6 million of gains on foreign exchange forward contracts were primarily related to the change in fair value of foreign exchange forward
contracts entered into to offset foreign currency exposure to Indian rupee denominated net monetary assets and the realized losses related to the settlement of
cerain foreign exchange forward contracts in 2011. At December 31, 2011, the notional value of our undesignated hedges was $234.2 million. The $13.5
miilion increase in interest income was primarily attributed to higher invested balances.

Provision for Income Taxes. The provision for income taxes increased from approximately $145.0 million in 2010 to approximately $285.5 million in
201 1. The effective income tax rate increased from 16.5% in 2010 to 24.4% in 2011. The increase in our effective income tax rate was primarily attributed to
the expiration of India’s STP tax holiday program in 2011, ’ '

~ Net Income. Net income increased from approximately $733.5 mitlion in 2010 to approximately $883.6 million in 2011, representing 16.0% and 14.4%
of revenucs, respectively. The decrease in net income as a percentage of revenues in 2011 is primarily attributed to a higher effcctive income tax rate in 201 1.

Results by Business Segment

Our reportable segments are: Financial Services, which includes customers providing banking/transaction processing, capital markets and insurance
services; Healthcare, which includes healthcare providers and payers as well as life sciences customers; Manufacturing/Retail/Logistics, which includes
manufacturers, retailers. travel and other hospitality customers, as well as customers providing logistics services; and Other, which is an aggregation of
industry operating segments each of which, individually, represents less than 10.0% of consolidated revenues and segment operating profit. The Other segment
includes information, media and entertainment services, communications, and high technology operating segments. Our sales managers, account executives,
account managers and project teams are aligned in accordance with the specific industries they serve. :

Our chief operating decision maker evaluates Cognizant’s performance and allocates resources based on segment revenues and operating profit. Segment
operating profit is defined as income from operations before unallocated costs, Generally, operating expenses for each operating segment have similar
characteristics and are subject to the same factors, pressures and challenges. However, the economic environment and its effects on industries served by our
operating groups may affect revenue and operating expenses to differing degrees. Expenses included in segment operating profit consist principally of direct
selling and delivery costs as well as a per seat charge for use of the development and delivery centers. Certain selling, general and administrative expenses,
excess or shortlall of incentive compensation for delivery personnel as compared to target, stock-based compénsat'ion-expcnse, a portion of depreciation and
arnortization and the impact of the settlements of our cash flow hedges are not allocated to individual segments in internal management reports used by the
chief operating decision maker. Accordingly, such expenses are excluded from segment operating profit.

As of December 31, 2012, we had approximately 821 active clients. Accordingly, we provide a significant volume of services to many customers in
each of our business segments. Therefore, a loss of a significant customer or a few significant customers in a particular segment could materially reduce
revenues for such segment. However, no individual customer exceeded 10.0% of our consolidated revenues for the years ended December 31,2012, 2011, or
2010. In addition; the services we provide 1o ‘our [arger customers are ofien critical to the operations of such customers and we believe that a termination of our
services would require an extended transition period with grédual declining revenues.
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Revenues [rom exlemal customers and segment operating profit, before unallocated expenses, for the Financial Services, Healthcare,
Manufacturing/Retail/Logistics, and Other segments for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010 are as follows:

(Dollars in thousands)

2012 2011
2012 2011 2010 Increave, L % Increate W
Revenues: ) : . S ) } o .
Financial Services _ $ 3035447 $2,518422 § 1,944,450 § 517,025 205 §$° 573972 295
Healthcare ) ) 1,934,898 1,622,157 1,177,113 .312,741 193 445,044 378 .
Manufacluring/Retail/Logistics 1,498,668 . 1,197,472 ' 849,643 301,196 252 347,829 40.9
Other ‘ . 877,459 783,105 621,183 94,354 . 120 161,922 26.1
Total revenue $ 7.346472 %$6,121,156 $4,592,389 §$1,225,316 200 $1,528,767 333
Segment Operating Profit: ‘ ) ’ ’ ' - ) ) ) )
Financial Services ) $ 998,339 § 872,267 § 668,595 § 126,072 145 § 203,672 305
Healthcare . 724,454 625,052 436,879 . 99,402 15.9 © 188,173 431
Manufacturing/Retail/Logistics : 527,870 T 440416 283,676 87,554 19.9 156,740 553
Other ‘ _ ‘ 288,052 254,145 208,306 33,907- 133 45,839  22.0
Total segment operating profit $2,538,815 - $2,191,880 $1,597,.456 $ 346935 158 § 594424 37.2

Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compared 10 Year Ended December 31, 2011
Financial Services Segment

Revenue. Revenue increased by 20.5% or approximately $517.0 million, from approximately $2,518.4 million during 2011 to approximately
£3.035.4 million in 2012. The increase in revenue was primarily driven by continued expansion of existing customer relationships as well as revenue
contributed by new customers. The increase in revenue from customers existing as of December 31, 2011 and customers added during 2012 was
approximately $481.5 million and approximately $35.5 million, respectively. Within the segment, revenue from our insurance and banking customers
increased apprbximulely $266.8 million and $250.2 million, respectively, over the prior year. Overall, the year-over-year increase can also be aitributed to
leveraging sales and markeling investments in this business segment as well as greater acceptance of our global services delivery model and increased customer
spending on discretionary projects. ‘

_ Segment Operating Profit. Segment operating profit increased by 14.5% or approximately $126.1 million, from approximately $872.3 million during.
2011 to approximately $998.3 million during 2012, The increase in segment operating profit was attributable primarily to increased revenues and the
tavorable impact of the depreciation of the Indian rupee versus the U.S. dollar, partially offset by an increase in compensation and benefit costs resulting
primarily from additional headcount to support our revenue growth and continued investment in sales and marketing.

Healthcure Segment

Revenue. Revenue increased by 19.3% or approximately $312.7 million, from approximately $1,622.2 million during 2011 to approximately
$1,934.9 million in 2012. The increase in revenue was primarily driven by continued expansion of existing customer relationships as well as revenue
contributed by new customers. The increase in revenue {rom customers existing as of December 31, 2011 and customers added
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during 2012 was approximately $292.9 million and approximately $19.8 million, respectively. Within the segment, growth was stronger among our
healtheare customers, where revenue during 2012 increased by approximately $222.4 million. Revenue during 2012 increased by approximately $90.3 million
for our life sciences customers. The increases can also be attributed to leveraging sales and marketing investiments in this business segment as well as greater
acceptance of our global services delivery model and increased customer spending on discretionary projects. IT spending by our life sciences customers may
be adversely impacted by the patent cliff affecting our customers and continued consolidation in the industry.

Seginent Operating Profit. Segment operating profit increased 15.9% or approximately $99.4 million, from appreximately $625.1 million during
2011 1o approximately $724.5 million during 2012. The increase in segment operating profit was attributable primarily to increased revenues and the
favorable impact of the depreciation of the Indian rupee versus the U.S. dollar, partially offset by an increase in compensation and benefit costs resulting
primarily from additional headcount to support our revenue growth and continued investment in sales and marketing.

Manufacturing/Retail/Logistics Segment

Revenie. Revenue increased by 25.2% or approximately $301.2 million, from approximately $1,197.5 million during 2011 10 approximately
$1,498.7 million in 2012. The increase in revenue was primarily driven by continued expansion of existing customer relationships as well as revenue
contributed by new customers. The increase in revenue from customers existing as of December 31, 2011 and customers added during 2012 was
approximately $243.4 million and approximately $57.8 million, respectively. Within the segment, growth was stronger among our retail and hospitality
custoners, where revenue during 2012 increased by approximately $219.0 million. In 2012, revenue among our manufacturing and logistics customers
increased by approximately $82.2 million. The increase can also be attributed to leveraging sales and marketing investments in this business segment as well
as greater acceptance of our global services delivery model and increased customer spending on discretionary projects.

Segment Operating Profit. Segment operating profit increased 19.9% or approximately $87.6 million, [rom approximately $440.4 million during 2011
to approximately $528.0 million diring 2012, The increase in segment operating profit was attributable primarily to increased revenues and the favorable
impact of the depreciation of the Indian rupee versus the U.S. dollar, partially offset by an increase in compensation and benefit costs resulting primarily from
additional headcount to support-our revenue growth and continued investment in sales and marketing.

Cther Segment

Revenue, Revenue increased by 12.0% or approximately $94.4 million, from approximately $783.1 miltion in 2011 to approximately $877.5 million in
2012: The increase in revenue was primarily driven by continued expansion of existing customer relationships as well as revenue contributed by new
customers. The increase in revenue from customers existing as of December 31, 2011 and customers added during 2012 was approximately $71.0 millicn and
approximately $23.4 million, respectively. The increase in revenuc can also be attributed to leveraging sales and marketing investments in this business
segment as well as grealer acceptance of our global services delivery model and increased customer spending on discretionary projects. Within the Other
segment, growth was below the company average across all operating segments within Other, which includes information, media and entertainment services,
communications and high'technology.

Segment Operating Profit. Segment operating profit increased 13.3% or approximately $33.9 million, from approximately $254.1 million in 2011 to
approximately $288.1 million in 2012, The increase in segment operating profit was attributable primarily to increased revenues, achicving operating
efficiencies, including continued leverage of prior sales and marketing investments, and the favorable impact of the depreciation of the Indian rupee versus the
U.S. dollar, partially offset by an increase in compensation and benefits costs resulting primarily from additional headcount to support our revenue growth.
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Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to Year Ended Decenmber 31, 2010
Financial Services Segment

Revenue. Revenue increased by 29.5%, or approximately $573.9 million, from approximately $1,944.5 million during 2010 to approximately
$2.518.4 million in 201 1. The increase in revenue was primarily driven by continued expansion of existing customer relationships as well as revenue
contributed by new customers. The increase in revenue from customers existing as of December 31, 2010 and customers added during 2011 was
approximately $531.3 million and approximately $42.6 million, respectively. Within the segment, revenue from our banking and insurance customers
increased approximately $395.7 million and $178.2 million, respectively, over the prior year. Overall, the fill year 2011 increase in the segment can also be
attributed to leveraging sales and marketing investments in this business segment as well as greater acceptance of our global services delivery model and
increased customer spending on discretionary projects.

Segment Operating Profil. Segment operating profit increased by 30.5%, or approximately $203.7 million, from approximately $668.6 million during
2010 to approximately $872.3 million during 2011. The increase in segment operating profit was attributable primarily to increased revenucs during the ycar.

Healthcare Segment

. Revenie. Revenue increased by 37.8%, or approximately $445.0 million, from approximately $1,177.1 million during 2010 to approximately
$1.622.2 million in 2011 The increase in revenue was primarily driven by continued expansion of existing customer relationships as well as revenue
contributed by new customers. The increase in revenue from customers existing as of December 31, 2010 and customers added during 2011 was
approximately $394.7 million and approximately $50.3 million, respectively. Within the segment, growth was strong among beth our healthcare and life
sciences customers, where revenue during 2011 increased by approximately $279.8 miilion and $165.2 million, respectively. The increase can also be.
attributed to leveraging sales and marketing investments in this business segment as well as greater acceptance of our global services delivery model and
increased customer spending on discretionary projects. o

Segment Operating Profit. Segment operating profil increased 43.1%, or approximately $188.2 million, from approximately $436.9 million during
2010 1o approximately $625.1 million during 201 1. The increase in segment operating profit was attributable primarily to increased revenues, achieving
operating efficiencics, including continued leverage of prior sales and marketing investments, and the impact of the depreciation of the Indian rupee versus the
U.S. dollar, partially offset by an increase in compensation and benefit costs resulting from additional headcount to support our revenue growth.

Manufaciuring/Retail/Logistics Segment

Revenne. Revenue increased by 40.9%, or approximately $347.8 million, from approximately $849.6 million during 2010 to approximately
$1,197.5 million in 2011. The increase in revenue was primarily driven by continued expansion of existing customer relationships as well as revenue
contributed by new customers. The increase in revenue from customers existing as of December 31, 2010 and customers added during 2011 was
approximately $307.2 million and approximately $40.6 million, respectively. Within the segment, growth was strong among both our retail and hospitality
and manufacturing and logistics customers, where revenue during 2011 increased by approximately $221.7 million and $126.1 million, respectively. The
increase can also be attributed to leveraging sales and marketing investments in this business segment as well as greater acceptance of our global services
delivery model and increased customer spending on discretionary projects. ’

Segment Operating Profit. Segment operating profit increased 55.3%, or approximately $156.7 million, from approximately $283.7 million during
2010 o approximatcly $440.4 mitlion during 20! 1. The increasc in segment operating profit was attributable primarily to increascd revenues during the year,
achieving operating
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efficiencies, including continued leverage of prior sales and marketing investments, and the impact of the depreciation of the Indian rupee versus the U.S.
dollar, partially cffset by an increase in compensaticn and benefit costs resulting from additional headcount to support our revenue growth,

Other Segment

Revenue. Revenue increased by 26.1%. or approximately $161.9 million, from approximately $621.2 million in 2010 1o approximately $783.1 million
in 2011. The increase in revenue was primarily driven by continued expansion of existing customer relationships as well as revenue contributed by new
customers. The increase in revenue from customers existing as of December 31, 2010 and customers added during 2011 was approximately $137.9 million
and approximately $24.0 million, respectively. Within the Other segment, growth was particularly strong among our lelecommunication customers, where
revenue during 2011 increased appraximately $75.7 million. The increase can also be attributed to leveraging sales and marketing investments in this
business segment as well as greater acceptance of our global services delivery model and increased customer spending on discretionary projects.

Segment Operating Profir. Segment operating profit increased 22.0%, or approximately $45.8 million, from approximately $208.3 million in 2010 to
approximately $254.1 million in 2011. The increase in segment aperating profit was attributable primarily to increased revenues during the year and the
impact of the depreciation of the Indian rupee versus the U.S. dollar, partially offset by an increase in compensation and benefit costs resulting from
additional headcount to support our revenue growth, continued investment in sales and marketing and an increase in compensation and benefit costs.

Liquidity and Capital Resources .

At December 31, 2012, we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of $2,863.8 million. We have used, and plan to use, such cash for
expansion of existing operations, including our offshore development and delivery centers, continued development of new service lines; possible acquisitions
of related businesses, formation of joint ventures, stock repurchases and general corporate purposes, including working capital. As of December 31, 2012, we
had no third party debt and had working capital of approximately $3,437.0 million. Accordingly, we do not anticipate any near-term liquidity issues.

. Net cash provided by operating activitics was approximately $1,172.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, $875.2 million for the year
ended December 31,2011 and $764.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, The increase in 2012 was primarily attributed to the increase in net
income and more efficient deployment of working capital during 2012 as compared to 201 1. The increase in 2011 as compared to 2010 is primarily attributed
Lo the increase in our net income. Trade accounts receivable increased to $1,345.7 million at December 31, 2012 as compared to approximately
$1,179.0 million at December 31, 2011 and approximately $901.3 million at December 31, 2010. Unbilled accounts receivable increased to approximately
$183.1 million at December 31, 2012 as compared to $139.6 at December 31, 2011 and approximately $113.0 million at December 31, 2010. The increase in
trade accounts reccivable and unbilled receivables during 2012 was duc primarily to increased revenues. We monitor turnover, aging and the collection of
accounts receivable through the use of management reports that arc preparcd on a customer basis and cvaluated by our finance staff. At December 31, 2012,
our days sales outstanding, including unbilled receivabies, was approximately 72 days as compared to 73 days as of December 31, 2011 and 71 days as of
December 31, 2010.

Our investing activities used net cash of approximately $570.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, $350.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2011 and $446.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. The decrease in net cash used in investing activities during 2012 is related to a
"decrease in net purchases of investments, lower payments for acquisiticns, partially offset higher spending for capital expenditures during the year. The
increase in net cash used in investing activities during 2011 as compared to 2010 related to an increase in net purchases of investments, an increase in
spending for capital expenditures during the year and higher payments for acquisitions.
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Our linancing activities used net cash of approximately $343.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 and $255.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2011 and provided net cash of approximately $120.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. The increase in net cash used in financing
activities in both years is primarily related to higher levels of repurchases of our common stock under our stock repurchase program.

As of December 31, 2012, $2,054.5 million of our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments was held by our {oreign subsidiaries. We utilize
a variety of strategies in an effort 1o ensure that our worldwide cash is available in the locations in which it is needed. Most of the amounts held outside of the
United States could be repatriated to the United States but, under current law, would be subject to income taxes in the United States, less applicable foreign tax
credits. However. other than amounts representing pre-2002 undistributed Indian eamings for which we have already accrued U.S. taxes, we intend to
permanently reinvest these funds outside the U.S. and our current plans do not demonstrate a need to repatriate these amounts to fund our U.S. operations. If
such earnings are repatriated in the future, or are no longer deemed to be indefinitely reinvested, we will accrue the applicable amount of taxes associated with
such earnings at that time. Due to the various methods by which such eamings could be repatriated in the future, it is not currently practicable to determine the
amount of applicable taxes that would result from such repatriation.

Our ability to expand and grow our business in accordance with current plans, to make acquisitions and form joint ventures and 10 meet our long-term
capital requirements beyond a twelve month period will depend on many factors, including the rate, if any, at which our cash flow increases, our ability and
willingness to accomplish acquisitions and joint ventures with capital stock, our continued intent not to repatriate foreign eamings, and the availability of
public and private debt and equity financing. We cannot be certain that additional financing, if required, will be available on terms favorable to us, if at all.
We expect our operating cash flow and cash and cash equivalents to be sufficient to meet our operating requirements for the next twelve months.

Commitments and Contingencies

_ As of December 31, 2012, we had outstanding fixed capital commitments of approximately $163.5 million related to our India development center
expansion program, which included expenditures for land acquisition, facilities construction and furnishings to build new state-of-the-art development and
delivery centers primarily in regions designated as SEZs located in India. As of December 31, 2012, we had the followmg cobligations and commnments 1o
make future payments under contractual obligations and commercial commntments

Payments due by peried :

Less than More than
. Tota} 1 year 1-1 vears 3.5 years 5 vears
- . ' . - (io thousands) . o
Operating leases o ) ‘ . 8724314 $124644  $227,199  §143,970  $228,501 .
Fixed capital commitments®» ] . 163484 163484 = — . — =
Other purchase commitmentst? , o R 39 508 B 18 276 21,232 —_ B —
_Total ' ) $927,306 $ 306,404 $ 248,431 $143,970  $228,501

{1)  Relates to our India development and delivery center expansion program.
(2)  Other purchase commitments include, among other things, communications and information technology obligations, as well as other obligations in the
ordinary course of business that we cannot cancel or where we would be required to pay a termination fee in the event of cancellation.

As of December 31, 2012, we had $92.7 million of unrecognized tax benefits. This represents the tax benefits associated with cerain tax positions on
our domestic and intcrnational tax returns that have not been
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rccognized on our tinancial statcments due to uncertainty regarding their resolution. The resolution or settlement of these income tax positions with the relevant
taxing authorities is at various stages and therefore we are unable 1o make a reliable estimate of the eventual cash flows by period that may be required to settle
these matters.

We are involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, the outcome of such
claims and legal actions, if decided adversely, is not expected to have a material adverse effect on our quarterly or annual operating results, cash flows. or
consolidated financial position, Additionally, many of our engagements involve projects that are critical to the operations of our customers’ business and
provide benefits that are difficult to quantify. Any failure in a customer’s systems or our failure to meet our contractual obligations to our ¢lients, including
any breach involving a customer’s confidential information or sensitive data, or our obligations under applicable laws or regulations could result in a claim for
substantial damages against us, regardless of our responsibility for such failure. Although we attempt to contractually limit our liability for damages arising
from negligent acts, errors, mistakes, or omissions in rendering our services, there can be no assurance that the limitations of liability set forth in our
contracts will be enforceable in all instances or will otherwise protect us from liability for damages. Although we have general liability insurance coverage,
including coverage for errors or omissions, there can be no assurance that such coverage will continue to be available on reasonable terms or will be available

- in sufficient amounts to cover one or more large claims, or that the insurer will not disclaim coverage as to any future claim. The successful assertion of one or
more large claims against us that exceed available insurance coverage or changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the imposition of
large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could have a materia! adverse effect on our quarterly and annual operating results, financial position and cash
flows.

Foreign Currency Risk . '

Overall, we believe that we have limited revenue risk resulting from movement in foreign currency exchange rates as approximately 79.4% of our
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012 were generated from customers located in North America. However, a portion of our costs in India, representing
approximately 30.5% of our global operating costs for the year ended December 31, 2012, are denominated in the Indian rupee and are subject to foreign i

- exchange rate flucmations. These foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations have an impact on our results of operations. In addition, a portion of our balance
sheet is exposed to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, which may result in non-operating foreign currency exchange gains or losses upon
remeasurement. In 2012, we reported foreign currency exchange losses, exclusive of hedging gains or losses, of approximately $11.7 million, which were
primarily atiributed to the remeasurement of Indian rupee net monetary assets on Cognizant India’s books to the U.S. dollar functional currency. On an’
ongoing basis, we manage a portion of this risk by limiting our net monetary asset exposure o certain currencies in our foreign subsidiaries, primarily the
Indian rupee.

We entered into a series of foreign exchange forward contracts that are designated as cash flow hedges of certain Indian rupee denominated payments in
India. Cognizant India converts U.S. dollar receipts from intercompany bitlings to Indian rupees to fund local expenses. These hedges to buy Indian rupees
and sell U.S. dollars are intended to partially offset the impact of movement of exchange rates on future operating costs. We recorded losses of $96.1 million
in 2012 and gains of $18.8 million in 2011, on contracts that settled during each year. As of December 31, 2012, we have outstanding contracts with a total’
notional value of $3.353.0 miltion at a weighted average forward rate of 54.13 rupees 1o the U.S, dollar. These contracts are scheduled to mature as follows:
outstanding contracts with a notional value of $1,253.0 million and a weighted average forward rate of 51.0 rupees to the U.S. dollar scheduled to mature in
2013; outstanding contracts with a notional value of $1,200 million and a weighted average forward rate of 54.1 rupees to the U.S. dollar scheduled 1o mature
in 2014; outstanding contracts with a notional value of $780.0 million and a weighted average forward rate of 57.5 rupees to the U.S. dollar scheduled to
mature in 2015; and outstanding contracts with a notional value of $120.0 million and a weighted average forward rate of 65.2 rupees to the U.S. dollar
scheduled to mature in 2016,
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Our foreign subsidiaries are exposed 10 loreign exchange rate risk for transactions dencminated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
respective subsidiary. We also usc foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge balance sheet exposure to certain monctary assets and liabilities denominated in
currcncics other than the functional currency of the subsidiary. These contracts are not designated as hedges and are intended to offset the foreign currency
exchange gains or losses upon remeasurement of these net monetary assets. We entered into a series of foreign exchange forward contracts scheduled to mature
in 2013 which are primarily used to hedge our Indian rupee denominated net monetary assets. At December 31, 2012, the notional value of the outstanding
contracts was $208.6 million and the related [air value was a net liability of $5.2 million. During 2012, inclusive of losses of $8.3 million on these
undesignated balance sheet hedges, we reported net foreign currency exchange losses of approximately $20.0 million.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Other than our foreign exchange forward contracts, there were no off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements or other rclatlonshlps with unconsotidated
entities or other persons in 2012, 2011 and 2010 that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future effect on the company’s financial condition,
revenucs or expenscs, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

Effects of Inflation

Our most significant costs are the salaries and related benefits for our programming staff and other professionals. Competition in India, the United
States and Europe for professionals with advanced technical skills necessary to perform our services offered has caused wages to increase at a rate.greater than
the general rate of inflation. As with other service providers in our industry, we must adequately anticipate wage increases, particularly on our fixed-price
contracts. Historically, we have experienced increases in compensation and benefit costs, including incentive-based compensation, in India; however, this has
not had a material impact on our results of operations as we have been able to absorb such cost increases through price increases or cost management strategies
such as managing discretionary costs, mix of professional staff and utilization levels and achieving other operating efﬁc1cnc1es There can be no assurance
that we will be able 10 offset such cost increases in the future.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Risks

Management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and resulls of operatlons is based on our accompanying consolidated fi nancml
statements that have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these
financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported for assets and liabilities, including the
recoverability of tangible and intangible assets, disclosure of contingent'assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenucs and expenses during the reported period. On an on-going basis, we cvaluate our cstimates. The most significant estimates relate to thc
recognition of revenue and profits based on the percentage of completion method of accounting for certain fixed-bid contracts, the allowance for doubtful
accounts, income taxes, valuation of goodwill and other long-lived assets, valuation of investments and derivative financial instruments, assumptions used i in
valuing stock-based compensation arrangements, contingencies and litigation. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The actual amounts may differ from the estimates used in the preparation of the accompanying
consolidated financial statements. Cur significant accounting policies are described in Note | to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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We belicve the following critical accounting policics require a higher level of management judgments and cstimates than others in preparing the
consolidated financial statcments:

Revenue Recognition. Revenues related to our highly complex information technology application development contracts, which are predominantly
{ixed-price contracts, are recognized as the services are performed using the percentage of completion method of accounting. Under this method, total contract
revenue during the term of an agreement is recognized on the basis of the percentage that each contract’s Lotal labor cost to date bears to the total expected labor
cost (cosl to cost method). This method is followed where reasonably dependable estimates of revenues and costs can be made. Management reviews lotal
expected labor costs on an ongoing basis. Revisions Lo our estimates may resull in increases or decreases to revenues and income and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements in the periods in which they are first identified. If our estimates indicate that a contract loss will be incurred, a loss provision
is recorded in the period in which the loss first becomes probable and reasonably estimable. Contract losses are determined to be the amount by which the
estimated costs of the contract exceed the estimated total revenues that will be generated by the contract and are included in cost of revenues in our consolidated
statenient of operations. Contract losses for the periods presented were immaterial. ‘

Stock-Based Compensation .. Utilizing the fair value recognition provisions prescribed by the authoritative guidance, stock-based compensation cost is
measured al the grant date based on the value of the award and is recognized as expense over the vesting period. Determining the fair value of stock-based
awards at the grant date requires judgment, including estimating Lhe expected term over which the stock awards will be outstanding before they are exercised,
the expected volatility of our stock and the number of stock-based awards that are expected to be forfeited. In addition, for performance stack units, we are
required to estimate the most probable outcome of the performance conditions in order to determine the amount of stock compensation costs to be recorded over
the vesting period. If actual results differ significantly from our estimates, stock-based compensation expense and our results of operations could be materially
impacted.

Income Taxes. Determining the consolidated provision for income tax expense, deferred income tax assets (and related valuation allowance, if any) and
liabilities requires significant judgment, We are required te calculate and provide for income taxes in each of the jurisdictions where we operate. Changes in the
geographic mix of income before taxes or estimated level of annual pre-tax income can affect our overall effective income tax rate. The consolidated provision for
inconic taxes may also change period to period based on non-recurring events, such as the settlement of income tax audits and changes in tax laws, regulations,
or accounting principles.

Our provision for income taxes also includes the impact of provisions established for uncertain income tax positions, as well as the related net interest,

- which can invelve complex issues and may require an extended periad to resolve. Although we believe we have adequately reserved for our uncertain tax
positions, no assurance can be given that the final tax outcome of these matters will not differ from our recorded amounts. We adjust these reserves in light of
changing facts and circumstances, such as the closing of a tax audit. To the extent that the final tax outcome of these matters differs from the amounts
recorded. such differences will impact the provision for income 1axes in the period in which such determination is made.

Signiticant judgment is also required in determining any valuation allowance recorded against deferred income tax assets. In assessing the need for a
valuation allowance, we consider all available evidence for each jurisdiction including past operating results, estimates of future taxable income and the
feasibility of tax planning strategies. In the event we change our determination as to the amount of deferred income tax assets that can be realized, we will adjust
the valuation allowance with a corresponding impact recorded to income 1ax expense in the period in which such determination was made. ’

Our Indian subsidiaries, collectively referred to as Cognizant India, are primarily export-oriented companies and are eligible for certain income lax
holiday benefils granted by the Indian government for export activities conducted within Special Economic Zones, or SEZs, for periods of up to 15 years. We
have constructed and ' : :
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expect to continue to locate most of our newer development facilities in SEZs. Al Indian profits, including those generated within SEZs, are subject to the
Minimum Altemative Tax, or MAT, at the current rate of approximately 20.0%. Any MAT paid is creditable against future corporate income tax within a 10-
year expiration period, subject lo certain limitations. Currently, we anticipate ulilizing our existing MAT balances against our future corporate income tax

~ cbligations in India. However, our ability te do so could be impacted by possible changes to the Indian tax laws as well as the future financial results of
Cognizant India.

Derivative Financial Instruments. Derivative financial instruments are accounted for in accordance with the authoritative guidance which requires that
each derivative instrument be recorded on the balance sheet as either an asset or liability measured at its fair value as of the reporting date. Our derivative
financial instruments consist of foreign exchange forward contracts, We estimate the fair value of each foreign exchange forward contract by using a present
valuc of expected cash flows model. This model utilizes various assumptions, including, but not limited to timing and amounts of cash flows, discount rates,
and credit risk factors. The use of different assumptions could have a positive or negative effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

Investmenis. Our investment portfolio is comprised primarily of time deposits, mutual funds invested in fixed income securities and U.S. dollar
denominated carporate bonds, municipal bonds, certificates of deposit, commercial paper, debt issuances by the U.S. government, 1.S. government agencies,
foreign governments and supranational entities and asset-backed securities. The asset-backed securities include securities backed by auto loans, credit card
receivables, mortgage loans and other receivables and are rated AAA/Aaa. The years of issuance of our asset-backed securities fall in the 2003 to 2012 range.

We utilize various inputs to determine the fair value of our investment portfolio. To the extent they exist, unadjusted quoted market prices for identical
assets in active markets (Level 1) or quoted prices on similar assets (Level 2) are utilized to determine the fair value of each investment in our portfolio. In the
absence of quoted prices or liquid markets, valuation techniques would be used to determine fair value of any investments that require inputs that are both
significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable (Level 3). Valuation techniques are based on various assumptions, including, but not limited to
timing and amounts of cash flows, discount rates, rate of retumn, and adjustments for nonperformance and liquidity. A significant degree of judgment is
involved in valuing investments using Level 3 inputs. The use of different assumptions could have a positive or negative effect on our results of operations
and financial condition. See Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements for additional information related to our security valuation methodologies.

We periodicaliy evaluate if unrealized losses, as determined based on the security valuation methodelogies discussed above, on individual securities
classified as available-for-sale in the investment portfolio are considered to be other-than-temporary. The analysis of other-than-temporary impairment requires
the use of various assumptions, including, but not limited to, the length of time an investment’s book value is greater than fair value, the severity of the
investment's decline, any credit deterioration of the investment, whether management intends to sell the security and whether it is more likely than not that we
will be required to selt the sceurity prior to recovery of ils amortized cost basis, Once a decline in fair value is determined to be other-than-temporary, an
impairment charge is gencrally recorded to income and a new cost basis in the investment is established.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers 1o
make required payments. The allowance for doubtful accounts is determined by evaluating the relative credit-worthiness of each customer, historical
collections experience and other information, including the aging of the receivables. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in
an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required,

Goodwill. We evaluate goodwill for impairment at least annually, or as circumstances warrant. When determining the fair value of our reporting units,
we utilize various assumptions, including projections of future cash flows. Any adverse changes in key assumptions about our businesses and their prospects
or an adverse
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change in market conditions may cause a change in the estimation of {air value and could result in an impairment charge. Based upon our most recent
evaluation of goodwill, there are no significant risks of impairment for any of our reporting units. As of December 31, 2012, our goodwill balance was
$309.2 million.

Long-Lived Asseis and Intangibles. We review long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. In general, we will recognize an impairment loss when the sum of
undiscounted expected future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of such asset. The measurement for such an impairment loss is then based on the
fair value of the asset. If such assets were determined to be impaired, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition. ‘

Risks. The majority of our development and delivery centers, including a majority of our employees, are located in India. As a result, we may be subject
1o certain risks associated with intemationa! operations, including risks associated with foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations and risks associated with
the application and imposition of protective legislation and regulations relating to import and export or otherwise resulting from foreign policy or the variability
of foreign economic or political conditions. Additional risks associated with intémational operations include difficulties in enforcing intellectual property
rights, limitations on immigration programs, the burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws, potential geo-political and other risks associated
with terrorist activities and local and cross border conflicts, and potentially adverse tax consequences, tariffs, quotas and other barriers. We are also subject to
risks associaled with our overall compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. The inability of our management to ensure the adequacy and
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting for future year ends could result in adverse consequences to us, including, but not limited 10, a
loss of investor confidencs in the reliability of our financial statements, which could cause the market price of our stock to decline. See Part I, ltem 1A. “Risk
Faciors.”

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In Febriary 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued guidance related to accumulated other comprehensive income, requiring
the presentation of significant amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income to the respective line items in the statement of operations.
For those amounts required by U.S. GAAP to be reclassified to eamnings in their entirety in the same reporting period, this presentation is required either on the
slatemeni of operations or in a single footnote. For items that are not required o be reclassified in their entirety to eamings, the presentation requirement can be
met by cross-referencing disclosures elsewhere in the footnotes. The pronouncement is effective on a prospective basis effective for interim and annual
reporting periods that start after December 15, 2012, The adoption of this standard affects financial statement presentation only and will have no effect on our
financial condition or consolidated results of aperations. : ' :

In December 2011, the FASB issued guidance requiring enhanced disclosures related to the nature of an entity’s rights to offset and any related
arrangements associated with its financial instruments and derivative instruments. The new guidance requires the disclosure of the gross amounts subject to
rights of set-off, amounts offset in accordance with the accounting standards followed and the related net exposure. In January 2013, the FASB issued an
additional update clarifying the scope of this guidance. The new guidance will be effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, The adoption of
this standard affects financial statement disclosures only and will have no effect on our financial condition or consolidated results of operations.

Forward Looking Statements

The statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K that are not historical facts are forward-looking statements (within the meaning of
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) that involve risks and uncertainties. Such forward-looking statements may be identified by,

LT

among other things, the use of forward-looking terminology such as “believes,” “expects,” “may,” “could,” “would,” “plan,” “intend,”
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“estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “continue,” “should” or “anticipates™ or the negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparable terminology, or by
discussions of strategy that involve risks and uncertainties. From time to time, we or our representatives have made or may make forward-looking statements,
orally or in writing.

Such forward-looking statcmicnts may be included in various filings made by us with the Securitics and Exchange Commission, or press rclcascs or
oral statements made by or with the approval of one of our authorized executive officers. These forward-looking statements, such as statements regarding
anticipated future revenues or operating margins, contract percentage completions, earnings, capital expenditures, liquidity, plans, objectives, and other
statements regarding matters that are net historical facts, are based on our current expectations, estimales and projections, management’s beliefs. and certain
assumptions made by management, many of which, by their nature, are inherentty uncertain and beyond our control. Our actual results, performance or
achievements could differ materially from the results expressed in, or implied by, these forward-looking statements. There are a number of important factors
that could cause our results to differ materially from those indicated by such forward-looking statements, including, but not limited o, continuing worsening
cconomic conditions in the United States and Europe; the loss of customers; the rate of growth in the use of technology in business and the type and level of
technology spending by our clicnts; the risk of reputational harm to us; increased competition from other scrvice providers; the risk that we may not be ablc to
keep pace with the rapidly evolving technological environment; competition for hiring highly-skilled professionals or the loss of key personnel; the risk that
we may not be able to control our costs or maintain favorable pricing and utilization rates; the risk that we might not be able to maintain effective internal
controls; the risk that we may not be able to enforce non-competition agreements with our executives; the risk of liability resulting from security breaches; our
inability to successfully acquire or integrate 1arget companies; changes in domestic and international regulations and legislation, including immigration and
anti-outsourcing legislation; the effect of fluctuations in the Indian rupee and other currency exchange rates; the effect of our use of derivative instruments; the
risk of war, terrorist activities, pandemics and natural disasters; the possibility that me may choose to repatriate foreign eamings or that those eamings may’
become subject to tax on a U.S. basis; the possibility that we may lose certain tax benefits provided to companies in our industry by India; the risk that we
may not be able to enforce or protect our intellectual property rights, or that we may infringe upon the intellectual property rights of others; the possibility that
we could lose our ability to utilize the imellectual preperty rights of others; and the factors set forth in Part I, in the section entitled “Item I'A. Risk Factors” in
this report. You are advised to consult any further disclosures we make on related subjects in the reports we file with the Securities and Exchange
Cormunission, including this report in the sections titled “Part I, Item 1. Business,” “Part [, Item 1A. Risk Factors” and *“Part II, [tem 7. Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements,
whether as a result of new information, future é\{enls or otherwise. except as may be required under applicable securities laws.

Item 7A.  Quuntitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are eprsed to fareign currency exchange rate risk'in the ordinary course of doing business as we transact or hold a portion of our funds in foreign
currencies, particularly the Indian rupee. Accordingly, we periodically evaluate the need for hedging strategies, including the use of derivative financial
instruments, to mitigate the effect of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.and expect to continue to use such instruments in the future to reduce foreign
currency exposure o appreciation or depreciation in the value of centain lorelgn currencies. All hedging transactions are authorized and executed pursuant to
regularly reviewed policies and procedures.

We have entered inlo a series of foreign exchange forward contracts that are designated as cash flow hedges of certain Indian rupee denominated
payments in India. Cognizant India converts U.S. dollar receipts from intercompany billings to Indian rupees to fund local expenses. These U.S. dollar /
Indian rupce hedges are intended to partially offset the impact of movement of cxchange rates on future operating costs. As of December 31, the notional valuc
of these contracts was $3,353.0 million. The outstanding contracts as of :
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December 31, 2012 are scheduled to mature each month during 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016, At December 31, 2012, the net unrealized loss on our
outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts was $296.6 million. Based upon a sensitivity analysis of our foreign exchange forward contracts at
December 31, 2012, which estimates the fair value of the contracts based upon market exchange rate fluctuations, a 10.0% change in the foreign currency
exchange rate against the U_S. dollar with all other variables held constant would have resulted in a change in the fair value of approximately $285.5 million.

Our foreign subsidiaries are exposed to foreign exchange rate risk for ransactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
respective subsidiary. We also use foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge balance sheet exposure to certain monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the subsidiary. These contracts are not designated as hedges and are intended to offset the foreign currency
exchange gains or losses upon remeasurement of these net monetary assets. We entered into a series of foreign exchange forward contracts scheduled to mature
in 2013 which are primarily used to hedge our Indian rupee denominated net monetary assets. At December 31, 2012, the notional value of the outstanding
contracts was $208.6 million and the related fair value was a liability of $5.2 million. Based upon a sensitivity analysis of our foreign exchange forward
contracts at December 31, 2012, which estimates the fair value of the contracts based upon market exchange rate fluctuations, a 10.0% change in the forcign
currency exchange rate against the U.S. dollar with all other variables held constant would have resulted in a change in the fair value of approximately $17.7
million.

We do not believe we are exposed 1o material direct risks associated with changes in interest rates other than with our cash, cash equivalents and short-
term investments. As of December 31, 2012, we had $2,863.8 million of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments most of which are impacted
almost immediately by changes in shori-term interest rates.

We typically invest in highly-rated securities and our policy generally limits the amount of credit exposure to any one issuer. Our investment policy
requires investments to be investment grade with the objective of minimizing the potential risk of principal lass. We may sell our investments prior to theit
stated maturitics for strategic purposes, in anticipation of credit deterioration, or for duration management. As of December 31, 2012, our short-term
investments totaled $1,293.7 million. Our investment portfolic is primarily comprised of time deposils mutual funds invested in fixed income securities and
USs. doltar denominated corporate bonds, municipal bonds, debt issuances by the U.S. govemment and U.S. government agencies, debt issuances by foreign
governments and supranatlonal entities and asset-backed securities. . . -

Item 8. . Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements required 1o be-filed pursuant to this Item 8 are apbended to this Annual Report on Form 10-K. A list of the financiai statements
filed herewith is found in Part IV, “Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedule”.

Item 9. " . Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on:Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Conkrols and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Comrols and Procedures

Our management under the supervision and with the participation of our chlef executive officer and our chief financial officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
or the Exchange Act) as of December 31, 2012. Based on this evaluation, our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer concluded that, as of
December 31, 2012, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that
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jnformation required to be disclosed by us in our reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and (ii) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive
officer and our chicf financial officer, as appropriale 1o allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

No changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) occurred during the
. fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2012 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Responsibility for Financial Statements

Our management is responsible for the integrity and objectivity of all information presented in lhns annual report, The consolidated financial statements
were prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and include amounts based on management’s best
estimates and judgments. Management believes the consolidated financial statements fairly reﬂect the form and substance of transaclions and that the financial
stalements fairly represent the company’s financial position and results of operations.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which is composed solely of indepéndent directors, meets regularly with the company's independent
registered public accounting firm and representatives of management to review accounting, financial reporting, internal control and audit matters, as well as
the nawre and extent of the audit effort. The Audit Commiltee is responsible for the engagement of the independent registered public accounting firm. The
independent reg1slcred public accounting firm has free access to the Audit Committee,

Management’s Report on 7 Internal Contr ol Over Financial Reportmg .

Our management is responsiblé for establlshmg and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, Internal control over financial *
reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(£) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act and is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our chicf executive and
chief financial officers and effected by our Board of Directars, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
{inancial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes
those policies and procedures that:

+  Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets;

+  Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and cxpendlturcs of the company are bcmg made only in accordance wnh authorizations of our
management and directors; and . - :

-+ Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tlmely detection of unauthorized acqu1smon use or disposition of the company’s assets that
~ could have a material effect on the financial statements. -

Our management assessed the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporling as of December 31, 2012. In making this
assessment, the company’s management used the crllerla set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in
{nternal Control-Integrated Framework,

Based on its evaluation, our management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2012, our internal control over financial reporting was effective.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the financial statements included in this annuat report, has issued
an attestation report on our internal control over financial reporting, as stated in their report which is included on page F-2.
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Inherent Limitations of Internal Controls

Becausc of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect all misstateraents. Projections of any cvaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Item 9B. Other Information

We have entered into amended and restated employment agreements with each of Messrs. Francisco D*Souza, our Chief Executive Officer, Gerdon J.

* Coburn, our President, Ramakrishnan Chandrasekaran, our Group Chief Executive — Technology and Operations, Rajeev Mehta, our Group Chief Executive
- Industry and Markets, and Steven Schwartz, our Senior Vice President and General Counsel, which supersede and replace these executives’ exisling
severance and noncompetition agreements. In addition, we have entered inte an employment agreement with Ms. Karen McLoughlin, our Chief Financial
Officer, wha had not previously been a party to a severance and noncompetition or similar agreement. Each of these employment agreements is substantially
similar, as described below. The agreements govern the terms and conditions of the executives’ employment, including their duties and responsibilities,
compensation and benefits, and applicable severance terms.

Each employment agreement became effective February 25, 2013, and will continue in effect until terminated by the executive or by us. Each
employment agreement provides for an annual base salary, which is subject to review and modification by our Compensation Committee. Each executive is
also eligible 1o eamn incentive compensation pursuant to applicable bonus plan(s), and is also eligible to receive the customary fringe benefits that are generally
available to our employees. ' I

Pursuant to the cmployment agreements, upon any termination of employment, the executive is entitled Lo receive any accrued but unpaid amounts or
benefits as of the termination date. Each employment agreement also provides for certain severance payments and benefits upon specified termirations of
employment. Upen a termination of employment without “cause,” other than due to the executive’s death or disability, or for *good reason,” in any case, prior
10 a “"change in control” (each such term as defined in the apphcable employment agreement), then subject to the execution of a release, the executive is entitled
to receive; (i) continued payment of base salary for twenty-two months following termination; (ii) group medical insurance continuation coverage for up to
twelve months following termination; {iii) accelerated vesting of any then-outstanding and unvested equity awards that are (A) subject to continued service
vesting requirements only or {B) subject to performance-based vesting requirements with respect to which all performance objectives have been satisfied and
the applicable performance period has expired so that only continued service vesting requirements remain as of the termination date, and in either case, that
would have otherwise vested during the twelve-month period following termination (had the executive remained employed through such twelve-month period).

If such a termination occurs upon or within twelve months afiera “change in control”, then subject to the execution of a release, the executive is entitled
to receive {in lieu of the severance benefits described above): (a) an amount equal to one times the executive’s annual base salary, payable in instafiments over a
twelve-month period following termination; (b) an amount equal to the executive’s target bonus for the year of termination (assuming 100% achievement of all
applicable targets and objectives), payable in a lump sum within thirty-five days following termination; (c) group medical insurance continuation coverage for
up o twelve months following termination; (d) accelerated vesting of any then-outstanding and unvested equity awards that are (X) subject to continued service
vesting requirements only or (Y) subject to performance-based vesting requirements with respect to which all performance objectives have been satisfied and
the applicable performance period has expired so that only continued service vesting requirements remain as of the termination date, and in either case, that
would have otherwise vested during the twelve-month period following termination (had the executive remained employed through such twelve-month period);
and (¢) accelerated vesting of a prorated porticn of any then-outstanding and unvested cquity awards that are subject to performance-based
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vesting requirements with respect to which the applicable performance period has not expired as of the termination date, based on the company’s determination
of the level of achievement of the applicable performance objectives for the portion of the performance period that oceurs prior to the consummation of the
change in control.

The employment agreements each include an Internal Revenue Code Section 280G “‘cutback” provision, which pravides that any payment or benefit
paid or provided to the executives pursnant to the agreements that would otherwise constitute a “parachute payment™ and be subject 1o an excise tax under
internal Revenue Code Section 4999 will be reduced to the extent necessary so that no portion of such payments or benefits will be subject to the excise
tax. Additionally, each executive will be subject 1o any clawback or recoupment policies, pursuant to which we will be permitted to recoup all or part of certain
severance amounts, cash bonuses or incentive compensation (including equity incentive compensation) paid or awarded to the executive in the event that we are

-required lo restate our financial statements.

The employment agreements each contain confidentiality restrictions effective during and after employment and non-competition and non-solicitation
covenants effective during employment and for one year following the termination of employment. In addition, the employment agreements contain intellectual
property covenants which require the executives to disclose any inventions created by them during employment and for a period of six months following the
termination of employmeni, and provides that the executives will assign certain inventions created during such period to us in accordance with applicable
intellectual property laws.

The foregoing description of the employment agreements does not purport to be complete and is qualified by reference to the full text of the form of
employment agreement, which is attached hereto as Exhibit 10.4 and incorporated by reference herein. :
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PARTIII

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information relating to our directors and nominees for election as directors under the heading “Election of Directors” in our definitive proxy
statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated herein by reference to such proxy statement, The information relating to our executive
officers in response 1o this item is contained in part under the caption “Our Executive Officers” in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the
remainder is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the headings “Section 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,” “Corporate Governance-Code of Ethics” and “Committees of the Board-Audit Committee.”

We have adopted a written code of business conduct and ethics, entitled “Cognizant’s Core Values and Standards of Business Conduct,” that applies to
all of our emplayees, including our principal executive ofticer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer and controller, or persons performing
similar functions. We make available our code of business coenduct and ethics free of charge through our website which is located at www.cognizant.com. We
intend to disclose any amendments to, or waivers from, our code of business conduct and ethics that are required to be publicly disclosed pursuant to rules of ‘
the SEC and the NASDAQ Global Select Market by posting it on our website.

Item 11, Executive Compensation

The discussion under the heading “Executive Compensation,” “Compensation Committee Report,” “Executive Compensation Tables™ and
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” in our definitive proxy statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated
herein by reference 1o such proxy statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The discussion under the heading “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Executive Compcnsat.ion Tables-Equity
- Compensation Plan Information™ in our definitive proxy statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated herein by reference to such

proxy statement.

[tem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The discussion under the heading “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence” in our definitive proxy statement for the
2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated herein by reference to such proxy statement.

Itemn 14. Pnnclpal Accountant Fees and Services )
The discussion under the heading “Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees and Other Matters™ in our deﬁmllve proxy statement for the
2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated herein by reference to such proxy statement.
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PART IV
Item 15, Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules T .
(a) (1) Consolidated Financizal Statements.
. Reference is made to the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements on Page F-1.

(2) Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule.
Reference is made to the Index to Financial Statement Schedule on Page F-1.

(3) Exhibits.
Reference is made to the Index to Exhibits on Page 70.

Schedules other than as listed above are omitted as not required or inapplicable or because the required information is provided in the consolidated
financial statements, including the notes thereto.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant 1o the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behall by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized this 26th day of February, 2013.

‘By:

COGNIZANT TECHNOLOGY SOLUTIONS

CORPORATION

/S/ FRANCISCO D’Souza

- Franclsco D’Souza,

Chlef Exccutive Officer

(Princlpal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. .

/s!

Siguature

FRANCISCO D'Souza

s/

Francisce D'Souza

KAREN MCLOUGHLIN

Karen Mcloughlin

/s/ " Joun E. KLEIN

/s/  LAKSHMI NARAYANAN

.John E. Klein

/s/ THOMAS M. WENDEL

Lakshmi Narsyanan

Is/

© Thomas M. Wendel

- ROBERT W. HOWE

" /s/ ROBERT E. WEISSMAN

Robert W. Howe

Robert E. Weissman

/s/  JoHN N. Fox, JR.

/s/  MAUREEN BREAKIRON-EVANS

John N. Fox, Jr.

Maureen Breakiron-Evans

/s/  MICHAEL PATSALOS—FOX

/s/

Michacel Putsalus-Fux

LEO S. MACKAY, IR
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Leo S. Mackay, Jr,

Chief Executive Officer and Director
. (Principal Exccutivc Officer)

Tlle

Chlef Fmancnal Officer
(Principal FmancnaI and Accounting OfT'ccr)

Chairman of the Board and Director

Vice Chairman of the B(_)afd and Director '

Director

- Dircctor

Director

Director .

Dircctor

Director

Director
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Incorporated by Reference
Filed
Number ExhLibit Deseription Form File No. Exhibit Date Herenith
11 Restated Certificate of Incorporation 8-K 000-24429 3.1 2/13/03
32 Amended and Restated By-laws of the Company as amended on April 18,
- 2008 E 8-K 000-24429 3.1 4/23/08
-'33 Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation, dated May 26, 2004 10-Q  ~ 000-24429 3.1 8/6/04
34 Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation, dated June 13, 2006 _ 8-K 000-24429 31 6/13/06
3.5 Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation, dated June 2, 2011 8-K . 000-24429 31 6/2/11
T 36 Amendment o A'mended and RestatedlBy-laws of the Company, as amended, o :
) dated June 2, 2011 - 8-K-  000-24429 32 6/2/11
41 Rights Agreerﬁenl, dated March 5, 2003, between the Compaﬁy and
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as Rights Agent, which
includes the Certificate of Designations for the Series A Junior Participating
Preferred Stock as Exhibit A, the Form of Right Centificate as Exhibit B and : .
the Summary of Rights to Purchase Preferred Shares as Exhibit C 8-K 000-24429 4.1 . 3/6/03
. 42 Specimen Certificate for shares of Class A common stock . S-4/A 333-101216 4.2 1/30/03
BULAL Form of Indemniﬁcetion Agreement for Directors and Officers T 81 333-49783 . 10.1 49198
10.2% Amended and Restated Cognizant Technology Solutions Key Employees’ - - - - B
' Stock Option Plan - . . . §1 . 33349783 . 102 4/9/98
1031 Amended and Restated Cognizant Technology Solutions Non-Employee - . .
Directors” Stock Option Plan . S-1 . 33349783 | 103 4/9/98
10.4% Form of Amended and Restated Executive Emp!oymeﬁt and Non-Disclosure, ' ' '
) " Non-Competition, and Invention Assignment Agreement, between the.
‘ Company and each of its Executive Officers. *
10.57 Amended and Restaled 1999 Incentive Compensatlon Plan (as Amended and . . .
: Restated Through April 26, 2007) ‘ . S 8-K - 000-24429 10.1 6/8/07
’ ,-10‘61' 2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (as amended and restated effective as of - h o
April 1,2010) ' 8-K 000-24429 101 6/1/10
10.7% Form of Stock Option Certificate ) 10-Q 000-24429 10.1 11/8/04
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108+
10.9

© 1000t
10.11%
10.12¢
10131
10.141
10.15¢
10,161
10.17¢
10.18}
10.19%
10.20¢
10.21%

10.221

Exhibit Description

The Cognizant Technology Solutions Executive Pension Plan

Distribution Agreement between IMS Health Incorporated and the Company,

dated
January 7, 2003

Amended and Restated 1999 Incentive Competition Plan Amendment No

" . 1, which became effective on March 2, 2007

Amended and Restated Key Employees™ Stock Option Plan Amendment
No. 1, which became effective on March 2, 2007

Amended and Restated Non-Employee Directors’ Stack Option Plan
Amendment No. , which became effective on March 2, 2007

Form of Performance Unit Award for grants to certain executive officers

Form of Stock Unit Award Agreement pursuant to the Cognizant
Technology Solutions Corporation Amended and Restated 1999 lncemwe

" Compensation Plan

The Cognizant Technology Soluuons Exccutive Pension Plan, as amended
and reslated

Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation 2009 Incentive Compensanon
Plan

Form of Cogmzant Technology Solunons Corporallon Stock Option
Agreement

Form of Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporauon Notice of Grant of
Stock Option

Form of Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation Restricted Stock Unit

‘Award Agreement Time-Based Vesting

Form of Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporauon Notice of Award of

: Restncted Stock Units Time-Based Vesting .

Form of Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporauon Restricted Stock Uml
Award Agreement Performance-Based Vesting

Form of Cognizant Technelogy Solutions Corporation Notice of Award of
Restricted Stock Units Performance-Based Vesting
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10.23+ Form of Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation Notice of Award of
Restricted Stock Units Non-Employee Director Deferred Issuance 8-K 000-24429 10.8 7/6/09
21.1 List of subsidiaries of the Company ’ *
23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP *
3 Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act, as. )

Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbancs-Oxlcy Act of 2002 (Chicf

. Executive Officer) ‘ *
7 31.2 Centification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14{a) of the Exchange Act, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Chief
Financial Officer) ‘ *
32.1 ' Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (Chief Executive Officer) *
322 . Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C, Section 1350 ((;hief Financial Officer) : '*.
I01LINS ~  XBRL Instance Document : g -_*
- 101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document ‘ ¥
101 .Cr\I._ - .XBRL Taxonomy Extensmn Calculation Linkbase Document ’ *
101.DEF ~ XBRL Taxonomy. Extension Definition Linkbase Document - *
101.LAB " XBRL Taxonomy Extensxon Label L}nkbasc Document _ *
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Exlensxon Prcsenlallon Linkbase Document o N ) » . . ) , *
t A management con(ract or compensalory plzm or arrangement requn‘ed to be t'led asan exhibit | pursuam 10 ltem 15(a)(3) of Form 10-K. i
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index appearing under Item 15(a)(1) present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2012 and December 31,
2011, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2012 in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index
appearing under ltem 15(a)(2) presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated
financial statements. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all malerial respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2012, based on criteria established in /nternal Control—lntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSQ). The Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements and financia! statement schedule, for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in
Management's Report on Internat Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Qur responsibility is to express opinions on these financial
statements, on the financial statement schedule, and on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial stalements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control
over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining,. on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of
internal control ever financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions. '

A company’s internal control over linancial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
-over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain 1o the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (if) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements,

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness 1o future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

PriécwalcrhouscCoopcrs LLP

New York, New York
February 26. 2013
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COGNIZANT TECHNOLOGY SOLUTIONS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSIT[O‘\J
(in thousands, except par values)

At December 31,

2012 2011
Assets R ‘
Current assets: , o o . o i L
Cash and cash equivalents , o - ) ' $ 1,570,077 $ 1,310,906
Short-term investments _ ) ‘ _ !,293,68_1 ~ L121,358
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowances of $25,816 and $24,638, respectivély ' 1,345,661 1,179,043
Unbilied accounts receivable - ‘ o ) 183,085 139,627
Deferred income tax assets, net : . o ‘ 201,894 -+ 109,042
Other current assets 219,896 225,530
Total current asscts ' o ] ‘ B ' C 4,814,294 - 4,085,506 °
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $573,792 and $455,506, respectively ) 971,486 758,034
Goodwill ' ' ‘ , 309,185 288,772
Intangible assets, net _ : _ 87,475 97 616
Deforred income tax assets, nct o o . B o - 178, 824 o 164, 192
Other noncurrent assets 160,307 113, 813
Total assets T T 88,521,571 - $5,507,933
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity . .
Current liabilities: ' : : R T N ‘ )
Accounts payable ) ) , $ 108,707 8§ 72,205
Deferred revenue ' ' a o ' _ 149,696 . 105713
Accrued expenses and olher current liabilities ' ‘ 1,118,927 1,031,787
Total current liabilities S o B ‘ 1377330 1,209,705
Deferred income tax liabilities, net ] . » 2,777 ©3,339
Other nencurrent liabilities ‘ : . . LT T 287081 . 342,003
Total liabilities . 1,667,188 1,555,047
Commitmenis and contingencies (See Note 13) i o ' T L ' :
Stockholders’ Equity: : s L L
Preferred stock, $.10 par value, 15,000 shares aulhonzcd none lssued i S ) = ' -
Class A common stock, $.01 par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized, 301,680 and 303,106 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively R o _ _3,Q17 o 3,031
Additional paid-in capital ’ S - ) ’ T 457,260 692,723
Retained eamings ) : _ ) ) 4,633,789 3,582,526
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ) o - (239,683) (325,394)
Total stockholders’ equity ) 4,854,383 3,952,886
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ’ ‘ L T 86,521,571 $5,507,933
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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COGNIZANT TECHNOLOGY SOLUTIONS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenues
Operating cxpcnscs:

Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization expense shown separately below)

Selting, general and administralive expenses
Depreciation and amortization expense
Income from operations
Other income (expense), net:
Interest income
Other, net
Total other income {expense), net
Income before provision for income taxcs
Provision for income taxcs
Net income '
Basic earnings per share

Unjuled eamimgs per share

Weighted average number of commion shares outstanding—Basic
Dihutive effect of shares issuable under stock-based compensation plans_
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding—Diluted

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
$ 7346472 86,121,156  $4,592,389
4,278,241 3,538,622 2,654,569
1,557,646 1,328,665 972,003
149,089 117,401 103,875
1,361,496 1,136,468 861,852
44,514 39,249 25,793
(18,414) (6,568) {9,065)
26,100 32,681 16,728
1,387,596 1,169,149 878,580
336,333 285,531 145,040
$1,051,263  § 883,618 § 733,540
$ 349 $ 291 8 2.44-
8 344§ 285 S 237 .
.'301,291 303,277 © 300,781
i 4,570 7,074 8,356
305,861 310,351 309,137

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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COGNIZANT TECHNOLOGY SOLUTIONS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010

$1,051,263 $ 883618 $ 733,540

Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Foreign currency translation adjustments 15,133 (7.839) 2,411
Change in unrealized (loss) gain on cash flow hedges, net of taxes of $18,816, ($64,217) and
$1,044 for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively 70,229 (353,762) 12,313
Change in unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes of $105, $372, $408 for the '
years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 20190, respectively 349 . 609 597
85,711 (360,992) 15,321

Other comprehensive income (loss)

$1,136,974 $522;626 $748,861

Comprehensive income

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Balance, December 31, 2009

Net income

Other comprehensive income

Comprehensive income

Corumon stock issucd, stock-based compensation plans
Tax benefit, stock-based cumpensation plans
Stock-based compensation expense

Repurchases of common swock

Busingss combination {sce Note 2)

Balance, Deceber 31, 2010

Net income

Other comprehensive (loss)

Comprehensive income

Common stoch issued, stock-bascd compensation plans
Tax benefit stock-based compensation plans
Stoek-based compensativn expense

Repurchases of common steck

Business combination (see Note 2)

Balonce, December 31, 2011

Net income

Other comprehensive income

Comprehensive income

Common stock issued, stock-based compensation plans
‘Tax henefit, stock based compensation plans
Stock-based compensation expense

Repurchases of common steck

Balance, Deeember 31. 2012

COGNIZANT TECHNOLOGY SOLUTIONS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands)

Class A Common Stack

Accumulated

Additional Other
Pald-in Retained Comprchensive

Shares Amount Capiltal __Earnings _lIncome (Tow) —Toual
297.231 § 2972 S 664,560 1,965,368 3 20,277 § 2,653,177
— —_ _ 733,540 — 733,540
— —_ —_ — 15,321 15,321

§ 7483861

7,529 75 107,009 - - 107,084
—_ — 73,839 - - 73839
—_— —_ 56,984 - - 56,984
(892) @) (58,991) — — (59,000)

73 | 3,485 — — 3486
303,941 3,039 846,886 2,698,908 35,598 3,584,431
— — —_— 883,618 - - 883,618
- — - - (360,992)  _(360,092)

$ 522,626

4513 45 79,506 — — 79,551
— - 39,778 — — 39,778

— — 90,232 — — 90,232
(5,511) (55) {374,092) — — (374,147)
163 2 10413 et — 10415
303,106 3,031 692,723 3,582,526 (325,354) 3,952,886
— —_ — 1,051,262 — 1,051,263

— — - — 85,711 85711

§ 1136974

7176 72 129413 — —_ 129,485
— —_ 48,528 — —_ 48,528

— — 107,355 — —_ 107,355
(8.602) (86) (520359 — = (520,845)
301,680 3 3.017 §_457.260 § 4633789 s {239.683) 34854383

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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COGNIZANT TECHNOLOGY SOLUTIONS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 1,051,263 $ 883,618 $ 733,540
Adjustments Lo reconcile nel income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 156,588 124,175 110,172
Provision for doubtful accounts 5,076 4,582 5,950
Deferred income laxes (117,908) (8.599) {51,509)
Stock-based compensation expense 107,355 90,232 56,984
Excess tax benefits on stock-based compensation plans (48,373) (39,141) (71,919)
Other 2,499 46,036 (7,598)
Changes in assets and liabtlities:
Trade accounts receivable {158,603) (284,167} (278,418)
Other curtent assets (29,833) (99,224) (75,347)
Other noncurrent assels (36,692) (28,805} (24,296)
Accounts payable 32,773 (8,593) 18,597
Other current and noncurrent labilities 208,438 195,038 348,898
Net cash provided by operating aclivities 1,172,583 875,152 764,654
Cash flows from investing activilies:
Purchases of property and equipment (334,465) (288,221) (185,512)
Purchases of investments (1,428,508) (1,338,664) (934,185)
Procecds from maturity or sale of investments 1,252,821 859,404 706,670
Business combinations, net of cash acquired (59,894) (82,800) (33,863)
Net cash (used in) investing activities (570,046} (850,281) (446,890)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Issuance of common stock under stock-based compensation plans 129,484 79,551 107,084
Excess tax benefits on stock-based compensation plans 48,373 39,141 71,919
Repurchases of common stock (520,845} {374,147) (59,000}
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (342,988} (255,455) 120,003
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (378) 521 2,272
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 259,171 (230,063) 440,039
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1,310,906 1,540,969 1,100,930
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 1,570,077 $ 1,310,906 $1,540,969
Supplemental informatien:
Cash paid for income taxes during the year $ 402,008 $ 248,229 $ 127,129

The accompanying noles are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Dollars in thousands, except share data)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The terms “Cognizant,” “we,” “our,” “us” and the “Company" refer to Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation and its subsidiaries unless the
context indicates otherwise.

Description of Business. We are a leading provider of information technology (IT), consulting and business process outsourcing services, dedicated 10
helping the world’s leading companies build stronger businesses. Our clients engage us to help them build more efficient operations, provide solutions to
critical business and technology problems, and to help them drive technology-based innovation and growth. Qur core competencies include: Business,
Process, Operations and IT Consulting, Application Development and Systems Integration, Enterprise Information Management, or EIM, Application Testing,
Application Maintenance, IT Infrastructure Services, or IT [$ and Business and Knowledge Process Outsourcing, or BPO and KPO. We tailor our services to
specific industries and utilize an integrated global delivery model.

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consalidation . The consolidated (inancial statements are presented in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of America, or U.S. GAAP, and reflect the consolidated financial position, results of operations, comprehensive
income and cash flows of our consolidated subsidiaries for all periods presented. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation. ‘

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments. Cash and cash equivalents consist of all cash balances, including money market funds and liquid
instruments. Liquid instruments are classified as cash equivalents when their maturities at the date of purchase are three menths or less and as short-term
investments when their maturities at the date of purchase are greater than three months. ‘

We determine the appropriate classification of our investments in marketable securities at the date of purchase and reevaluate such designation at each
balance sheet date. We have classified and accounted for our marketable securities as available-for-sale. After consideration of our risk versus reward
objeclives, as well as our liquidity requirements, we may sell these securities prior to their stated maturities. As we view these marketable securities as
available to support current operations, we classify such securities with maturities at the date of purchase beyond twelve months as short-term investments
because such investments represent an investment in cash that is available for current operations.

Available-for-sale sceuritics are reported at fair value with changes in unrcalized gains and losses recorded as a separatc component of accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) until realized. We determine the cost of the securities sold based on the specific identification method. Time deposits with
financial institutions are valued at cost, which approximates fair value.

Interest and amortization of premiums and discounts for debt securities are included in interest income. We also evaluate our available-for-sale
investments periodically for possible other-than-lemporary impairment by reviewing factors such as the length of time and extent to which fair value has been
below cost basis. the financial condition of the issuer, whether we intend to sell the security and whether it is more likely than not that we will be required to
seli the security prior to recovery of its amortized cost basis. Once a decline in fair value is determined to be other-than-temporary. an impairment charge is
generally recorded to income and 2 new cost basis in the investment is established. '

Allowance for Doubtfi] Accounts. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to
make required payments. The allowance for doubtful accounts is determined by evaluating the relative credit-worthiness of each customer, historical
collections experience and other information, including the aging of the receivables. We evaluate the collectability of our accounts receivable on an on-going
basis and write-off accounts when they are deemed to be uncollectible.
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Unbilled Accounis Receivable. Unbilled accounts receivable represent revenues on contracts to be billed, in subsequent periods, as per the terms of the -
related contracts. : ’

Shori-term Financial Assets and Lighilities. Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, accounts payable and other accrued liabilities are short-
term in nature and, accordingly, their carrying values approximate fair value.

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the term of the lease or the
estimated useful life of the improvement. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred, while renewals and betterments are capitalized. Deposits paid
towards acquisition of long-lived assets and the cost of assets not put in use before the balance sheet date are disclosed under the caption “capital work-in-
progress” in Notc 4. )

fiternal Use Software. Costs for software developed or obtained for intemal use are capitalized, including the salaries and benefits of employees that
are directly invalved in the installation and development of such software. The capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the lesser of three
years or the software’s useful life. Costs associated with preliminary project stage activities, training, maintenance and all other post-implementation stage
activities are expensed as incurred. :

Goadwill. We allccate the cost of an acquired entity to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values including goodwill
and identiftable intangible assets. We test goodwill at the reporting unit level for impairment at least annually or as circumstances warrant. If an impairment is
indicated, a write-down to fair value (normally measured by discounting estimated future cash flows) is recorded. We do not have any indefinite-lived
intangible assets. : »

Long-Lived Assets and Intangibles, We review long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. We recognize an impairment loss when the sum of undiscounted expected
futurc cash flows is less than the carrying amount of such asscts. The impairment loss would cqual the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset
exceeds the fair value of the asset. Other intangibles consist primarily of customer relationships and developed technology, which are being amortized on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Stock Repurchase Program. Our existing stock repurchase program approved by our Board of Directors in December 2010 and subsequently amended
during 2011 and 2012 allows for the repurchase of $1,000,000 of our outstanding shares of Class A common stock. This stock repurchase program, as
amended, expires on December 31, 2013. We completed stock repurchasés of 13,675,683 shares for $866,566, inclusive of fees and expenses, under this
program. Additional stack repurchases were made in connection with our stock-based compensation plans, whereby Company shares were tendered by
employees for payment of applicable statutory tax withholdings. During 2012, 2011, and 2010 such repurchases totaled 532,592, 504,164 and 292,576
shares. respectively. at an aggregate cost of $34,925, $35,365 and $17,136, respectively. At the time of repurchase, shares are returned to the status of
authorized and unissued shares. We account for the repurchases as constructively retired and record such repurchases as a reduction of Class A common
stock and additional paid-in capital.

Revenue Recognition. Revenucs related to time-and-material contracts arc recognized as the service is performed. Revenues related to fixed-price contracts
that provide for highly complex information technology application development services are recognized as the service is performed using the pereentage of
completion method of accounting, under which the total value of revenue is recognized on the basis of the percentage that each contract's total labor cost to date
bears o the total expected labor costs (cost to cost method). Revenues related to fixed-price contracts that provide solely for application maintenance services are
recognized on a straight-line basis unless revenues are eamed and obligations are fulfilled in a different pattern. Revenues related
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to fixed-price contracts that do not provide for hi ghly complex information technology development services are recognized as services are performed on a
proponlonal performance basis based upon the level of effort. Expenses are recorded as incurred during the contract period.

Revenues related to business process outsourcing, or BPO, contracts entered into on a time-and-material basis are recogmzed as the services are
performed. Revenues from fixed-price BPO contracts are recognized on a straight-line basis, unless revenues are earned and obligations are fulfilled in a
different pattern. Revenues from transaction-priced contracts are recognized as transactions are processed. Amounts billable for transition or set-up activities in
BPO contracts are deferred and recognized as revenue evenly over the period services are provided. Costs related to delivering BPO services are expensed as
incurred with the exception of certain transition costs related to the set-up of processes. personnel and systems, which are deferred during the transition period
and expensed evenly over the period of service. The deferred costs are specific costs directly related to transition or set-up activities necessary to enable the BPO
services. Generally, deferred amounts are protected in the event of early termination of the contract and are monitored regularly for impairment. Impairment
losses are recorded when projected undiscounted operating cash flows of the related contract are not sufficient to recover the carrying amount of the deferred
assets. Delerred transition revenues and costs as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 were immaterial.

Contingent or incentive revenues are recognized when the contingency is satisfied and we conclude the amounis are eamed. Volume discounts are
recorded as a reduction of revenue over the contract period as services are provided.

For contracts with multiple deliverables, we evaluale at the inception of each new contract all deliverables in an arrangement to determine whether they
represent separate units of accounting. For arrangements with multiple units of accounting, primarily fixed-price contracts that provide both application’
mainienance and application development services and certain application maintenance contracts, arrangement consideration is allocated among the units of
accounting, where separable, bascd on their relative sclling price. Relative selling price is delermined based on vendor-specific objective evidence, if it cxists.
Otherwise, third-party evidence of selling price is used, when it is available, and in circumstances when neither vendor-specific objective evidence nor third-
party evidence of selling price is available, management's best estimate of sélling price is used. Revenue is recognized for each unit of accounting based on our
revenue recognition policy described above. )

Fixed-price contracts are cancelable subject to a specified notice period. All services provided by us through the date of cancellation are due and payable
under the contract terms. We issue invoices related to fixed-price contracts based upon achievernent of milestones during a project or other contractual terms.
Differences between the timing of billings, based upon contract milestones or other contractual terms, and the recognition of revenue are recognized as either
unbilled receivables or deferred revenue. Estimates of certain fixed-price contracts are subject to adjustment as a project progresses to reflect changes in expected
completion costs or efforts. The cumulative impact of any revision in estimates is reflected in the financiat reporting period in which the change in estimate
becomes known and any anticipated losses on contracts are recognized immediately. Warranty provisions generally exist under such contracts for a period of
up to nincty days past contract completion and costs related to such provisions are acerued at the time the related revenucs arc recorded.

For all services, revenue is earned when and if evidence of an arrangement is obtained and the other criteria to support revenue recognition are met,
including price that is fixed or determinable, services that have been rendered and collectability that is reasonably assured. Revenues related to services
performed without a signed agreement or work order are not recognized until there is evidence of an arrangement, such as when agreements or work orders are
signed or payment is received:; however, the cost related to the performance of such work is recognized in the period the services are rendered.

We account for reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses as revenues. Subcontractor costs are included in cost of services as they are incurred.
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Stock-Bused Compensation. Stock-based compensation expense for awards of equity instruments to employees and non-employee directors is
determined based on the grant-date fair value of those awards. We recognize these compensation costs net of an estimated forfeiture rate over the requisite
service period of the award. Forfeitures are estimated on the date of grant and revised if actual or expected forfeiture activity differs materially from original
estimates.

Foreign Currency. The asscts and liabilitics of our foreign subsidiarics whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar are translated into U.S. dollars
from local currencies at current exchange rates and revenues and expenses are translated from local cumrencies at average monthly exchange rates. The resulting
translation adjustments are recorded in accurnulated other comprehensive income (loss) on the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position.
The U.S. dollar is the functional currency for certain foreign subsidiaries who conduct business predominantly in U.S. dollars. For these foreign
subsidiaries, non-monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured at historical exchange rates, while monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured at current
exchange rates. Foreign currency exchange gains or losses from remeasurement are included in income. Net foreign currency exchange (losses) included in our
results of operations, inclusive of our undesignated foreign currency hedges, were (320,015), (38,779), and ($9,868), for the years ended December 31,
2012, 201! and 2010, respectively.

Derivative Financial Instruments. Derivative finaneial instruments are accounted for in accordance with the authoritative guidance which requires that
each derivative instrument be recorded on the balance sheet as either an asset or liability measured at its fair value as of the reporting date. Qur derivative
financial instruments consist of foreign exchange forward contracts. For derivative financial instruments to qualify for hedge accounting, the following criteria
must be met: (1) the hedging instrument must be designated as a hedge; (2) the hedged exposure must be specifically identifiable and expose us to risk; and

" (3) it is expected that a change in fair value of the derivative financial instrument and an opposite change in the fair value of the hedged exposure will have a
high degrec of correlation. The authoritative guidance also requires that changes in our derivatives’ fair values be recognized in income unless specific hedge
accounting and documentation criteria arc.met (i.c., the instruments are accounted for as hedges). For items to which hedge accounting is applicd, we record the
effective portion of our derivative financial instruments that are designated as cash flow hedges in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the
accompanying consolidated statements of financial position. Any ineffectiveness or excluded portion of a designated cash flow hedge is recognized in income.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, including the recoverability of tangible and intangible assets, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial
statements. and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. On an on-going basis, management reevaluates these estimates. The most
significant estimates relate to the recognition of revenue and profits based on the percentage of completion method of accounting for certain fixed-bid contracts,
the allowance for doubtful accounts, income taxes, valuation of goodwill and other long-lived assets, valuation of investments and derivative financial
instruments, assumptions used in valuing stock-based compensation arrangements, contingencies and litigation. Management bases its estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The actual amounts may vary from the estimates used
in the preparation of the accompanying consolidated fnancml statements. :

Risks and Uncertainties. The majority of our development and delivery centers and employees are located in India. As a result, we may be subject to
certain risks associated with international operations, including risks associated with foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations and risks associated with the
application and imposition of protective legislation and regulations relating to import and export or otherwise resulting from foreign policy or the variability of
foreign economic or political conditions. Additiona! risks associated with international operations include difficulties in enforcing intellectual property rights,
the burdens of complying with a2 wide variety of foreign laws, potential geo-political and other risks associated with terrorist activities and local or cross border
conflicts and potentially adverse tax consequences, tariffs, quotas and other barriers. :
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Concentration of Credit Risk. Financial instruments that potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and
cash equivalents, time deposils, investments in securities, derivative financial instruments and trade accounts receivable. We maintain our cash and cash
equivalenis and investments with high credit quality financial institutions, invest in investment-grade debt securities and limit the amount of credit exposure lo
any one commercial issuer. Trade accounts reccivable are dispersed across many customers operating in different industries; therefore, concentration of credit
risk is limited.

Income Taxes. We provide for income laxes utilizing the asset and liability method of accounting. Under this method, deferred income taxes are recorded
to reflect the tax consequences in future years of differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their financial reporting amounts at each balance
sheet date, based cn enacted tax laws and statutory tax rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. If it is
determined that it is more likely than not that future tax benefits associated with a deferred income tax asset will not be realized, a valuation allowance is
provided. The effect on deferred income tax asscts and liabilitics of a change in the tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment
date. Tax benefits earned on exercise of employee stock options in excess of compensation charged to income are credited to additional paid-in capital. Our
provision for income taxes also includes the impact of provisions established for uncertain income tax positions, as well as the related interest.

Earnings Per Share, or EPS. Basic EPS excludes dilution and is computed by dividing eamings available to common stockholders by the weighted-
average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS includes all potential dilutive common stock in the weighted average shares
outstanding. For purposes of computing diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively, 4,570,000,
7,074,000, and 8,356,000 shares were assumed to have been outstanding related to common share equivalents. We exclude options with exercise prices that are
greater than the average market price from the calculation of diluted EPS because their effect would be anti-dilutive. We excluded 19,500 shares in 2012,
12.500 shares in 2011, and zero shares in 2010 from our diluted EPS calculation. Also, in accordance with the authoritative guidance, we excluded from the
calculation of diluted EPS options to purchase an additional 79,300 shares in 2012, 38,600 shares in 201 1, and 16,500 shares in 2010, whose combined
exercise price, unamortized fair value and excess tax benefits were greater in each of those periods than the average market price of our common stock because
their effect would be anti-dilutive. We include performance stock unit awards in the dilutive potential common shares when they become contingently issuable
per the authoritative guidance and exclude the awards when they are not contingently issuable.

Accounting Changes and New Accounting Standards.

In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued new guidance, which requires that comprehensive income be presented either
in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate consecutive statements, thus eliminating the option of presenting the components
of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of changes in stockholders’ equity. This became effective January 1, 2012. We adopted this standard
on January 1, 2012 and elected to present comprehensive income in two consecutive statements. The adoption of this standard affects financial statement
presentation only and had no effect on our financial condition or consolidated results of operations. : '

In February 2013, the FASB issued additional guidance related to accumulated other comprehensive income, requiring the presentation of significant
amounis reclassified out of accumulated other comprehénsive income to the respective line items in the statement of operations. For those amounts required by
U.S. GAAP to be reclassified to earnings in their entirety in the same reporting period, this presentation is required either on the statement of operations or in a
single footnote. For items that are not required to be reclassified in their entirety to eamings, the presentation requirement can be met by cross-referencing
disclosures elsewhere in the footnotes. The pronouncement is effective on a prospective basis effective for interim and annual reporting periods that start after
December 15, 2012. The adoption of this standard affects financial statéement presentation only and will have no effect on our financial condition or
consolidated results of operations.
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In September 201 1, the FASB issued new guidance related to goodwill impairment testing. This standard allows, but does not require, an entity to first
assess qualitative factors to determine whether the cxistence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value
of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. IT, afier assessing the totality of events or circumstances, an entily determines it is not more likely than not
that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then performing the two-step impairment test is unnecessary. However, if an entity
concludes atherwise, then it is required to perform the first step of the two-step impairment test by calculating the fair value of the reporting unit and
comparing the fair value with the carrying amount of the reporting unit. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, then the entity is
required to perform the second step of the goodwill impairment test to measure the amount of the impairment loss, if any. The new standard gives an entity the
option to bypass the qualitative assessment for any reporting unit in any period and proceed directly to performing the first step of the two-step goodwill
impairment test. An entity may resume performing the qualitative assessment in any subsequent period. This standard is effective for periods beginning on
January 1, 2012 and the adoption of this standard had no effect on our financial condition or consolidated results of operations. ‘

In December 201 1, the FASB issucd guidance requiring enhanced disclosures related to the nature of an entity’s rights to offset and any related
arrangements associated with its financial instruments and derivative instrumenis. The new guidance requires the disclosure of the gross amounts subject to
" rights of set-off, amounts offset in accordance with the accounting standards followed and the related net exposure. In January 2013, the FASB issued an
_ additional update clarifying the scape of this guidance. The new guidance will be effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The adoption of

this standard affects financial statement disclosures only and will have no effect on our financial condition or consolidated results of operations.

Note 2 — Business Combinations

During 2012, we completed three business combinations for total cash consideration of approximately $28,100 (net of cash acquired). In August of
2012, we entered into a transaction pursuant to which we signed a multi-year service agreement, assumed an assembled workforce, and acquired land,
building and other assets. Under the current authoritative business combination guidelines, this transaction qualified as a business combination. This
transaction expands our business process outsourcing capabilities within the insurance industry. Additionally, in 2012, we completed two business
combinations to strengthen our business and knowledge process outsourcing and research capabilities within the media and healthcare industries. As part of
these ransactions, we acquired customer relationship assets, assembled workforces, and other assets. In addition, during 2012, we settled contingent payment
provisions of approximately $31.400 related to business combinations completed in prior years. )

During 2011, we completed two business combinations for total consideration, including stock, of approximately $91,000 (net of cash acquired). These
transactions strengthen our business process outsourcing and analylics solution offerings and enhance our retail SAP capabilities.

During 2010, we completed three business combinations for total consideration, including stock, of approximately $46,000 (net of cash acquired).
These transactions expand our business process outsourcing expertise within our logistic services, strengthen our business transformation and program
management capabilities and expand our testing services within Europe.
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We made an allocation of the purchase price to the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities acquired, including tax deductible goodwill and non-tax
deductible goodwill as described in the table below:

2012 2011 2010

Total initial consideration, net of cash acquired® $ 28,100 $ 91,000 § 46,000
Purchase price allocated to:

Tax deductible goodwill — 21,367 —

Non-deductible goodwill 19,096 44,713 22,600

Intangible assets 10,000 19,400 25,700
Weighted average life of intangible assets 8.6 years 8.2 years 8.6 years

(1)  Includes stock consideration in 2011 and 2010. : ’ .

The acquisitions in 2012, 2011, and 2010 were included in our consclidated financial statements as of the date which they were acquired and were not
material to our operations, financial position or cash flows. For additional details of our goodWIll and intangible assets see Note 5. :

Note 3 — Investments

Investments were as follows as of December 31:

2012 o 2011 i

Available-for-sale invesiment securities: : ﬁ . - e .
U.S. Treasury and agency debt securities . % 551,236 3 464,938
Corporate and other debt securities T T 290,936 . 202,705 .
Asset-backed securities ) ) S 97,112 . 100,394
MunlClpal debt securities ) N N o 147292 _ . 43,889
Mutual funds T L . . 21,150 . =
Forcign government debt securitics ] ) o . 3,620 10,500
Total available-for-sale investment securities . . 1,011,346 822,926
" Time deposits ' , 282,335 298,432 -
Total investments D : ‘ " $1,293.681  ©  $1,121,358 : ’

Our available-for-sale investment securities consist of U.S. dollar denominated investments primarily in U.S. Treasury notes, U.S. government agency
debt securities, municipal debt securities, non-U.S. government debt securities, U.S. and international corporafe bonds, certificates of deposit, commercial
paper, debt securities issued by supranational institutions, mutual funds invested in fixed income securities and asset-backed securities, including those
backed by auto loans, credit card receivables, mortgage loans and other receivables. Our investment guidelines are to purchase securities which are investment
grade at the time of acquisition. We monitor the credit ratings of the securities in our portfolio on an ongomg baSIS The carrying value of the time deposits
approximated fair value as of December 31,2012 and 2011.
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Available-for-Sale Investment Securities

The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains and losses and fair valuc of available-for-sale invesiment securitics were as follows at December 31+

U.S. Treasury and agency debt securities
Corporate and other debt securities
Asset-backed securities

Municipal debt securities

Mutual funds

Foreign government debt securities

Total available-for-sale investment securities

U.S. Treasury and agency debt securities
Corporate and other debt securities
Asset-backed securities

- Municipal debt securities
Forexgn government debt securities

- Total available-for-sale investment secunhes

2012
Amortized Unreallzed ' Unrenlized
Cost Galny Losses Fair Value
$ 550,317 $ 972 $ (53} § 551,236
289,146 1,812 (22} 290,936
97,004 237 129) 97,112
47,266 93 (67} 47,292
21,583 — (433} 21,150
3,590 30 — 3,620
$1,008,906 53,144 $ (704) 31,011,346
2011
Amortlzed Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Galns_- Losyey Fair Vatue
$463,318 $1,742 $ (122)  §464,938
202,284 902 (481) 202,705
101,068 100 (274) 100,894
43,873 101 (8%) 43,889
10,397 105 @ 10,500 .
$820,940 $2,950 . $ (964)  $822,926

The fair value and related unreahzcd losses of available-for-sale investment sécurities in a continuous unrealized loss position for less than 12'months
and for 12 months or longer were as follows as of December 31:

U.S. Treasury and agency debt securities
Corporaté and other debt securities
Asset-backed securities
Municipal debt securities
Mutual funds

" Toal

U.S. Treasury and agency debt securities
Corporate and other debt securities
Asset-backed securities
Municipat debt securities
Foreign government debt securities

Total

qUi'l(,r= COGNIZANT TECHNOLOGY SOLUTIONS CORP, 10-K

, February 26. 2013

012"

Less than 12 Mnﬁhs 12 Months or More Total
Unrealized - Fair_~ Unrealized Unreallzed -
Fair Value Losses Value Losses Fair Value Losses |
3120118 5 (53) § — 8 — 3120118 5 (53)
25,662 @) 699 @) 26361 - (22)
27,180 (93 1,499 (36) 28,679  (129):
7,908 32) 696 (35). BG4 (67)
O 2L150 (433) — — 21,150 433).
$202,018- $ (632) $2,894 $ (72) $204,912 $ (704)
2011
Less than 12 Months 12 Months or More Total
Unrcallzed Fair Unrealized Unrealized
Falr Value Laosses Value Losses Falr Value Losses
$122024 S () § — 8§ — 5122124 8 (122)
75,076 481) — — 75,076 (481)
58,503  (281) 2,292 33) 60,795  (274)
5,149 an 1,72 (68) 6,881 (85)
1,507 (2) — — 1,507 (2)
-$262,359 $ (863). § 4,024 $ aon) $266,383 3 (964)
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The unrealized losses for the above securities as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 are primarily attributable to changes in interest rates. As of
December 31, 2012, we do not consider any of the investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired. The gross unrealized gains and losses in the above tables
were recorded, net of tax, in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

The contractual maturities of our fixed income available-for-sale investment securities as of December 31, 2012 are set forth in the following table:

Amortized Fair

. . . Cast Value
Due within one year $ 147,037 $ 147,304
Due afier one year up to two years ) B 379,383 380,735

Duc aficr two years up to three years . 362,297 363,434

Dugc after three years up to four years o ) 1,602 ~Lell
Assct-backed securitics ' 97,004 97 112
Fixed income available-for-sale investment securities $ 987,323 $990,196

Asset-backed securities were excluded from the maturity categories because the actual maturities may differ from the contractual maturities since the
underlying receivables may be prepaid without penalties. Further, actual maturities of debt securities may differ from those presented above since certain
obligations provide the issuer the right to call or prepay the obligation prior to scheduled maturity without penalty.

Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale investment securities and the gross gams and losses that have been included in eammgs asa result of those
sales were as follows for the years ended December 31:

2012 “2011 s 2010

Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale investment securities .+ 3697406 ~ $652,992 - §195,693

Gross gains S R %8 2410 . $ 3102 $ 778

Gross losses ‘ . ' L (402) ) (785) (124)

Net gains on sales of available-for-sale investment securities ’ $§ 2008 $ 2317 § 654
4. Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment were as follows as of December 31:

' o ’ . L : . .. R Estlmated Useful Lil;u;!’rirsl ) . : Zdll s 2011 =
Buildings ’ s L ) R $ 423340 $ 321,280
Computer equipment and software . o o o 3 o 352,147 0. 291,883
Fumiture and equipment ) o o 5-9 o 240,988 186,983 ¢

" Land . ) B - . 20,396 16,042
Leasehold land . 60,306 39,186
Capital work-in-progress C 256,272 211,140
Leasehold improvements Shorter of the lease term or

the life of the leased asset 191,829 147,026
Sub-total S o o C 1,545,278 - 1,213,540
Accumulated depreciation and amortization o ) o - (573,792) (455,506)
- Property and equipment, net _ : _ L o ‘ . “$ 971 486 $ 758,034
S L Fl6 '
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Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment was $137,561, $107,257, and $93,190 for the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.

In India, lcaschold land is leased by us from the government of India with lease terms ranging up to 99 years. Leasc payments arc made at the inception
of the lease agreement and amortized over the lease term. Amortization expense of leasehold land is immaterial for the pericds presented and is inciuded in
depreciation and amontization expense in our accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets, net

Changes in goodwill were as follows for the years cnded December 31:

: : 2012 - 2011
Balance, beginning of ycar $288,772 $223.963
Business combinations 19,096 66,080
Cumulative translation adjustments ) 1,317 (1,271)
Balance, end of year $309,185 $288,772

In 2012 and 2011, the increase in goodwill was primarily related to business combinations completed during the period. No impairment losses were
recognized during the three years ended December 31, 2012,

Goodwill has been allocated to our reportable segments as follows as of December 31:

' ' . o . , ) - , 002 . . 2011
Financial Services Lo ) L ) . %3677 $126,550
Healthcare =~ - ) e . ; . 78,977 70,977
Manuf{acturing/Retail/Logistics ) . . 48304 48,057
Other . o ) ' - 44,227 43,188
Total goodwill . o $309,185 § 288,772
Components ol intangible asscts were as follows as of December 31: .
- le]|2
Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
- . o Amount . Amortlzation Amount _
Customer relationships _§ 142,653 $(67,058) . 875,595
Developed technology 4222 . 2204y - 2018
Other 13,921 (4,059) 9,862 .
Total intangible assets $ 160,796 $ (73,321) $ 87475
2011
Gross Corrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount
Customer relationships $ 134,285 $(50,698) $ 83,587
Developed technology 4,158 1,27y . 2,883
Other . 13,216 ) (2,070) 11,146 ;
Total intangible assets $ 151,659 $ (54,043) $97,616
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All of the intangible assets have finite lives and as such are subject to amortization. Amortization of intangible assets totaled $19,027 for 2012,
$16,918 for 2011, and $16,982 for 2010. During 2012, 2011 and 2010, amortization expense of $7,499, $6,774 and $6,297, respectively, relating to
customer refationship intangible assets was recorded as a reduction of revenues. These intangible assets are attributed 1o direct revenue contracts with sellers of
acquired businesses.

Estimated amortization expense related to our existing intangible assets for the next five years are as follows:

Year Amount

2013 $18,220
2014 17,513
2015 12,467
2016 11,874
2017 10,275

6. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities were as follows as of December 31:

2012 2011
Compensation and benefits 3 661,816 $ 632,649
Income taxes 29,570 27,676
Professional fees 315,366 32,861
Travel and entertainment 26,417 18,215
Customer volume incentives 142,945 104,989
Derivative financial instruments 130,923 126,731
Deferred income taxes 454 73
Other 91,436 88,593
Total accrued expenses and other current [iabilities $1,118,927 $1,031,787

7. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) were as follows as of December 31:

2012 2011
Foreign currency translation adjustiments $ 11,572 $ (3,561)
Unrealized (loss) on cash flow hedges, net of taxes {252,810} (323,039)
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes 1,555 1,206
Total accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) $(239,683) $(325,394)

8. Employec Benefits

We contribute to defined contribution plans in the United States and Europe, including a 401 (k) savings and supplemental retirement plans in the
United States. Total expenses for company contributions to these plans were $24,789, $19,453, and $13.447 for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011,
and 2010, respectively.

We maintain employee benefit plans that cover substantially all India-based employees. The employees® provident fund, pension and family pensicn
plans are statutory defined contribution retirement benefit plans.
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Under the plans, employees contribute up to 12% of their base compensation, which is matched by an equal contribution by the Company. For these plans,
we recognized a contribution expense of $54,125, $49,200, and $35,049 for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.

We also maintain a gratuity plan in India thal is a statutory post-employment benefit plan providing defined lump sum benefits. We make annual
contributions to an employees’ gratuity fund established with a govemment-owned insurance corporation to fund a portion of the estimated obligation.
Accordingly, our liability for the graruity plan reflects the undiscounted benefit obligation payable as of the balance sheet date which was based upon the

. employees’ salary and years of service. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the amount accrued under the gratuity plan was 356,737 and 339,916, which

is net of fund assets of $50,427 and $40,744, respectively. Expense recognized by us was $28,496, $29,703, and $16,949 for the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.

9. Income Taxes

Income before provision for income taxes shown below is based on the geographic location to which such income is attributed for years ended
December 31.

2012 ___zn e

United States » ' _ _ % 381,940 $ 344143 $ 220,234
Foreign . - 1,005,656 825,006 658,346
Income before provision for income taxes $1,387,596 $1,169,149 $878,580

The provision for income taxes consists of the following components for the years ended December 31

2012 2008 . 2010

Current: o ‘ . ) 0 o o . )
Federal and state ’ o - . $265,826 § 12044y  § 110713
Foreign 188415 173,689 86,236

Total current . _ , C 4542417 294,130 196,949

Deferred: T S ' C
Federal and state ST T (99.649) 26,549 (12,597)
Forcign - ) ' i _ (18.259) (35,148)  _ (39,312)

* Total deferred ‘ e . Co : (117,908) (8,599 : (51,909}
| Totl provision for income taxes __$ 336333 $285531 § 145,040 -

The reconciliation between our effective income tax rate and the U.S. federal statutory rate is as follows:

2012 % 2011 % 2010 _%
Tax expense, at U.S. [ederal statutory rate $ 485,659 350  § 409,202 350 5 307,503 35.0
State and local income taxes, net of federal benefit 24,032 1.7 20,373 1.7 13,699 1.6
" Non-taxable income for [ndian tax purposes (151,789)  (10.9) (125,708) {10.8) (166,800)  (19.0}
Rate differential on foreign earnings (22,126) (1.6) (26,030) 22) (17,733) (2.0}
Other ) o ) . 557 . 00 7,694 07 8371. 09
Total provision for income taxes o $ 335,333 24.2 $285,531 244 7§ 145,040 16.5
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The significant components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities recorded on the consolidated statements of financial position were as [ollows as

of December 31;

2 2011
Deferred income tax assels:
Net operating losses $ 10,911 § 9742
Revenue recognition 31,628 33,083
Compensation and beneﬁts L 99,110 - 60,358
Stock-based compensation T o 26,993 30,366
Minimum alternative tax (MAT) and other crcdlls ] ) o 118244 120,843
Other : ' 62,416 55,882 .
409,302 - 310,274
Less valuation allowance (6,288) (10,365)
Deferred income lax assels, net 403,014 269,909
Deferred income 1ax liabilities: ’
Undistributed Indian carnings 5,601 5,689
Depreciation and amortization 832 —
[ntangible assets 19,094 24,398
Deferred income tax liabilities - . . . _ 25,527 | 30,087
Net deferred income tax assets $377,487 $269,822

At December 31, 2012, we had foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $34,200. We have recorded a full valuation allowance on
certain foreign net operating loss carryforwards. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, deferred income tax assets related to the MAT were approximately
$163,000 and $112.200, respectively. The calculation of the Minimum Alternate Tax, or MAT, includes all profits realized by our Indian subsidiaries and
any MAT paid is creditable against future corporate income tax within a 10-year expiration period, subject to certain limitations. Our existing MAT assets
expire between March 2018 and March 2023 and we expect to fully utilize them within the applicable 10-year expiration periods.

Our Indian subsidiaries, collectively referred to as Cognizant India, are primarily export-oriented and are eligible for certain income tax holiday benefits
granted by the government of India for export activities conducted within Special Economic Zones, or SEZs, for period of up to 15 years. Our Indian
operations outside of SEZs are subject to corporate income 1ax al a rate of 32.4%. In addition, all Indian profits, including those generated within SEZs, are
subject 10 the MAT, at the current rate of 20.0%. On March 31, 2011, income tax holidays related ro export activities conducted within Software Technology
Parks, or STPs, expired. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, the effect of the income tax holidays for our STPs and SEZs was o
reduce the overall income tax provision and increase net income by approxnmalely $151,789, $125,708, and $166, 800 respectively, and increase diluted

EPS by $0.50, 30.41, and $0.54, respectively.

During the first quarter of 2002, we made a strategic decision lo'pursue an international strategy that includes expanded infrastructure investments in
India and geographic expansion in Europe and Asia. We do not intend to repatriate our foreign earnings for all periods (except with respect to Indian eamings
generated prior 1o 2002) as such earnings are deemed to be indefinitely reinvesied outside the United States. As of December 31, 2012, the amount of
unrepatriated Indian earnings and total foreign earnings (including unrepatriated Indian earnings) upon which no incremental U.S. taxes have been recorded is
approximately $3,406,000 and $3,753,900, respectively. 1f such earnings are repatriated in the future, or are no longer deemed to be indefinitely reinvested, we
will accrue the applicable amount of taxes associated with such eamings at that time. Due to the various methods by which such earnings could be repatriated
in the future. it is not practicable to determine the amount of applicable taxes that would result from such repatriation. '

F-20

Sowite: COERZANT TCCHNGLOGY SOLUTIONS CORF, 10-K, 'i‘])lud(‘ 26, 2013 . Powered by Moringstar™ Decument Besearch ™

rhe mrormation contained herein may nat be copied, adapted ar distibuted and fs ivol warranted fa be accutiate, cormplere of limely. The user gasumes all 1isks for Ay AaMages or lesses arising from any use af this
intarmaticn, evcep! 1o the evlent such damages or lasses canno! be limiied or excluded by applicable law. Past tinancral peiloimance 1s 1o guarantee of fuuie resulls.



Table of Contents

Due to the geographical scope of our operations, we are subject to lax examinations in various jurisdictions. Accordingly, we may record incremental tax
expense, based upon the more-likely-than-nat standard, for any uncertain tax positions. In addition, when applicable, we adjust the previously recorded
income tax expense lo reflect cxamination results when the position is effectively settled. Our ongoing assessments of the more-likely-than-not outcomes of the
examinations and related tax positions require judgment and can increase or decrease our effective income tax rate, as well as impact our operating results The
specific timing of when the resolution of each 1ax position will be reached is uncertain.

Changes in unrecognized income tax benefits were as follows for the years ended December 31:

) o - 202 __ —2011
Balance, beginning of year ) . $56,526 $ 22,950
' Additions based on tax positions related to the current year o ) 37,270 16,897
Additions for tax positions of prior years ) 7,847 7,559
Additions for tax positions of acquired subsidiaries ‘ ‘ 88 - 16,056
Reductions for tax positions due to lapse of statutes of limitations (8,816) (4,190)
Settlements ) : — . (1,591
Foreign currency exchange movement . (194)  _ (1,155)
Balance end of year ‘ " $ 92,721 $56,526

At December 3 1, 2012, the cntire balance of unrccognized inéome tax benefits would affect our effective income tax rate, if recognized. While the,
Company believes uncertain tax positions may be seutled within the next twelve months, it is difficult to estimate the income tax impact of these potential
" resolutions at this time. We recognize accrued interest and penaltics associated with uncertain tax positions as part of our provision for income taxes. The total
amount of accrued interest and penalties at December 31, 2012 and 20! | was approximately $8,209 and $10,884, respectwely, and relates to U. S and
forelgn tax matters. The amount of interest and penaltles expensed in 2012, 2011, and 2010 were |mmater|al

We filea U.S. federal_consohdated income tax return. The U.S. federal statute of limitations remains open for the years 2009 and onward. The statute of
limitations for state audits varies by state. Years still under examination by foreign tax authorities are years 2001 and forward.

Nole 10 — Fair Value Me.lsurements

We measure our cash equwalents, investments and foreign exchange forward contracts at fair value. The authontauve guidance defines fair value as the
exit price, or the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants as of the
measurement date. The authoritative guidance also establishes a fair value hierarchy that is intended 1o increase consistency and comparability in fair value
measurements and retated disclosures. The fair value hierarchy is based on inputs to valuation techniques that are used to measure fair value that are either
obscrvablc or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect assumptions market participants would use in pricing an asset ot liability based on market data )
obtained from independent sources whlle unobservable inputs reﬂect a reporting entity’s pricing based upon their own market assumptions.

’

The fair value hlerarchy consists oflhc followmg three levels:
. Level 1-—Inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

+  Level 2—Inputs are quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in an active market, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in
markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable and market-corroborated inputs which are derived principally from
or corroborated by observable market data.
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+  Level 3—Inputs are derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or value drivers are unobservable.

The following table summarizes our financial assets and (liabilities) measured at fair value on a recurring basis as ol December 31, 2012:

Level ] Level 2 _ Level3 Tata)
Cash equivalents:
Money market funds $411,512 $ — §— $ 411,512
Time deposits — 300,770 — 300,770
Commercial paper — 7,918 — 7,918
Total cash equivalents 411,512 308,688 — 720,200
[nvestments:
Time deposits : ‘ : — 282,335 — 282,335
Available-for-sale investment securities:
U.S. Treasury and agency debt securitics 392,067 159,169 — 551,236
Corporate and other debt securities — 290,936 — 290,936
Asset-backed securities — 97,112 — 97,112
Municipal debt securities — 47,292 — 47,292
Mutual funds 21,150 21,150
Foreign government debt securities — 3,620 — 3,620
Total available-for-sale investment securities 392,067 619,279 — 1,011,346
Total investments 392,067 901,614 — 1,293,681
Derivative financial instruments — foreign exchange forward contracts:
Other current assets —_ 1,344 — 1,344
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities — (130,923) — (130,923)
Other noncurrent assets — 3,436 — 3,436
Other noncurrent liabilities — (175,628) — (175,628)
Total $803,579 $ 908,531 $— $1,712,110
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The following table summarizes our financial assets and (liabilities) measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2011:

Level 1 ) . Level 2 Leveld Tofal .
Cash equivalents: i i ) '
Money market funds $ 128,004 $ — $— $ 128,004
Time deposits = 13,283 — 13,283
Commercial paper : . — 11,626 — 11,626
Total cash equivalents ’ ' 128,004 24,909 — 152,913
Investments: . .
Time deposits . ' — . 298432 @ — 298,432
Available-for-sale investment securities: T . o ) R ) .
U.S. Treasury and agency debt securities : 326,659 © 138279 — 464,938
Corporate and other debt securities - ) L =705 — 202,705
Asset-backed securities - L = 1o0894 — 100,894
Municipal debt securities ) ) o ) — 43889 = — . 43,889
Forcign government debt sccurities o T S ) — 10,500 _— 10,500 :
Total available-for-sale investment securities 326,659 496,267 — 822,926
Total investments ' C o R 326,659 794,699 - — 1,121,358
Derivative financial insiruments — foreign exchange forward contracts: _ ) » )
Other current assets . ) ) ' ' — 30935 000 — 30,935
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities o ) = (126,731) —  (126,731)
Other noncurrent liabilities R ST - o ) (259,104 . — '(259,104)
Total ' : $ 454,663 § 464,708 5— $ 919,371

We measure the fair value of money market funds and U.S. Tréasury securities based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. The fair
value of commercial paper, certificates of deposit, U.S. government agency securities, municipal debt securities, U.S. and international corporate bonds and
foreign government debt securities is measured based on relevant trade data, dealer quotes, or model driven valuations using significant inputs derived from or
corroborated by observable market data, such as yield curves and credit spreads. We measure the fair value of our asset-backed securities using model driven
valuations based on significant inpuls derived from or corroborated by observable market data such as dealer quotes, available trade information, spread
data, current market assumpltions on prepayment speeds and defaults and historical data on deal collateral performance. The value of the mutual funds
invested in fixed income securities is based on the net asset value, or NAV of the fund, with appropriate consideration to the liquidity and any restrictions on
disposition of the investment in the fund. :

We estimate the fair value of each foreign exchange forward contract by using a present value of expected cash flows model. This model calculates the
difference between the current market forward price and the contracted forward price for each foreign exchange contract and applies the difTerence in the rates to
each outstanding contract. The market forward rates include a discount and credit risk factor. The amounts are aggregated by type of contract and maturity.

During the years ended December 31,2012 and 2011, there were no transfers among Level 1, Level 2, or Level 3 financial assets and liabilities.
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Note 11 — Derivative Financial Instruments

In the normal course of business, we usc foreign exchange forward contracts to manage foreign currency exchange rate risk. The estimated fair value of
the foreign exchange forward contracts considers the following items: discount rate, timing and amount of cash flow and counterparty credit risk. Derivatives
may give rise Lo credit risks from the possible non-performance by counterparties. Credit risk is generally limited (o the fair value of those contracts that are
favorable (0 us. We have limited our credit risk by entering into derivative transactions only with highly-rated global financial institutions, limiting the amount
of credit exposure with any one financial institution and conducting ongoing evaluation of the creditworthiness of the financial institutions with which we do

business.

The following table provides information on the location and fair vatues of derivative financial instruments included in our consolidated statements of

financial position as of December 31:

Designation of Declvatives
Cash Flow Hedges — Designated as hedging instruments

Foreign exchange forward contracts

Other Derivatives ~ Not designal_eﬂ as hedging instruments.
Foreign exchange forward contracts

Total

Cash Flow Hedges

_ liabilities

Lacation on Staiement of Financisl

Posltlon

Other current assets

Other noncurrent assets

Accrued expenses and
other current

liabilities
Other noncurrent

Tota_l

QOther current assets

Accrued expenses and

other current
liabilities
Total

2012 2011
Assets Lishilidcs Assets Liabilitles
$12 §$§ — § — § —
3,436 - — —
S 125633 — 126,536
— 175,628 — 259,104 .
4,666 301,261 _ — 385640
14 — 30,935 -
— 5,290 — 195
114 5290 30,935 195

$ 4,780  $306,551  $30,935  §$385.835

We have entered into a series of foreign exchange forward contracts that are designated as cash flow hedges of Indian rupee denominated payments in

India. These contracts are intended to partially offset the impact of movement of exchange rates on future operating costs and are scheduled to mature each’
month during 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016. Under these contracts, we purchase Indian rupees and sell U.S. dollars. The changes in fair value of these

comtracts are initially reporied in the caption “accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)” in our consolidated statements of financial position and are
subsequently reclassified to eamings in the same period the hedge contract matures. As of December 31, 2012, we estimate that $106,000 of the net losses
related to derivatives designated as cash flow hedges recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) is expected to be reclassified into eamings

within the next 12 months.

Souice: COGNIZANT TECHNOLOGY SOLUTIONS CORP, 10-K. February 26. 2013
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The notional value of our outstanding contracts by year of maturity and the net unrealized (loss) gain included in accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) for such contracts were as follows as of December 31:

2012 2011

2012 $ — $1,193,500
2013 1,253,000 1,080,000
2014 . 1,200,000 810,000
2015 780,000 420,000
2016 120,000 —
Total notional value of contracts outstanding $ 3,353,000 $ 3,503,500
Net unrealized (loss) included in accumulated other comprehensive

income (loss), net of taxes $ (252.810) $ (323,039)

Upon settlement or maturity of the cash flow hedge contracts, we record the related gain or loss, based on our designation at the commencement of the
contract, to Indian rupee denominated expense reported within cost of revenues and selling, general and administrative expenses. Hedge ineffectiveness was
immaterial for all periods presented.

The following table provides information on the location and amounts of pre-tax gains (losses) on our cash flow hedges for the years ended December 31:

Incrense {decrease) in Location of Net Derivatlve Galins 3
Derivative Gains (Losscs) Reclassifted Nef Gatn (Loss) Reclassifled
(Losscs) Recopnlzed from Accumulated Other from Accumulated Other
In Accumulated Other Comprchenasive Income (Loss) Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Comprehenslve Income (Loss) Into Income into Income
{effective portion} {effective portion) {efTective portion)
2012 20%1 2012 2011
Cash Flow Hedges — Designated as hedging
instruments » '
Forcign exchange forward contracts $(7,065) $(399,205)  Cost of revenues $(79,335) $15,294

Selling, general

and administrative

expenses (16,775) 3,480
Total $(96,110) $ 18,774

The activity related to the change in net unrealized (losses) gains on cash flow hedges in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) was as follows:

2012 2011
Net unrealized (losses) gains on cash flow hedges, net of taxes, beginning of
period $ (323,029) $ 30,723
Change in fair value, net of tax (10,613) (339,553)
Reclassification into earnings, net of tax 80,842 (14,209)
Net unrealized (losses) gains on cash flow hedges, net of taxes, end of period $(252,810} $ (323,039)
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Other Derivatives

We use foreign exchange forward contracts, which have not been designated as hedges, to hedge balance sheet exposure to certain monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of our foreign subsidiaries. We entered into a series of foreign exchange forward
contracts scheduled to mature in 2013 which are primarily to purchase U.S. dollars and sell Indian rupees. Realized gains or losses and changes in the
estimated fair value of these derivative financial instruments are recorded in Other, net in our consolidated statements of operations.

Additional information related to our cutstanding contracts is as follows as of December 31;

2012 - . 2011
Notional value of contracts outstanding $208,571 $234,239

The following table provides information on the location and amounts of realized and unrealized pre-tax gains (losses) on our other derivative financial
instruments for years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Location of Net Galos {Losses)  Amount of Net Gatns (Losses)

on Derivative Instruments Do on Derivative Instruments
e e e e e P 2012 2011
Other Derivatives — Not designated as hedging |nslrumenls . ) . L L
Forcign cxchange forward contracts . . Other, net - o : $ (8,270) 5 23,621

The related cash flow impacls of all of our derivative activities are reflected as cash flows from operati'ng activities.”

~ 12. Stock-Based Compensatlon Plans

On June 5,2009, our stockholders approvcd the adoption of the Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporanon 2009 Incentive Compensatlon Plan (the
2009 Incentive Plan™), under which 24,000,000 shares of our Class A common stock were reserved for issuance. The 2009 Incentive Plan i is the successor
plan 1o our Amended and Restated 1999 Incentive Compensation Plan which terminated on April 13, 2009 in accordance with its terms (the “1999 Incentive
Plan™), our Amended and Restated Non-Employee Diréctors’ Stock Option Plan (the “Director Plan™) and our Amended and Restated Key Employees’ Stock
Option Plan (the “Key Employee Plan™} which terminated in July 2009 (collectively, the “Predecessor Plans™). The 2009 Incentive Plan wiil not affect any
options or stock issuances outstanding under the Predecessor Plans. No further awards will be made under the Predecessor Plans As of December 31, 2012,
we have 13,982,728 shares avallable for grant under the 2009 Incentive Plan. .

Stock options grantcd o cmployccs undcr our plans have a fife ranging from scven to ten years; vest propomonal]y over four years, unless spcmﬁcd
otherwise, and have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. Grants to non-employee directors vest
propomonally over two years. Stock-based compensauon expense relating to stock opuons is recognized on a straight-line ba51s over the requisite servnce .
penod . i : : - ‘ ] ) - . s ) . E

Restricted stock units vest propomonalely in quanerly or annual mstallmenls over lhree years Stock-based compensanon expense relating o resmc(ed
stock unils is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period.

We granted performance stock units that cliff vest after three years, principally to executive officers, and performance stock units that vest over periods
ranging from ong to three years to employees, inctuding the executive officers. The vesting ofperformance stock units is contingent on both meeting revenue
performance
largel'; and continued service. Stock-based compensation costs for performance stock units 1hat Cllff vestare
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recognized on a straight-line basis and awards that vest proportionally are recognized on a graded-vesting basis over the vesting period based on the most
probable outcome of the performance conditions. If the minimum performance targets are not met, no compensation cost is recognized and any recognized
compensation cost is reversed.

The Company’s 2004 Emplayee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Purchase Plan™), as amended in 2010, pravides for the issuance of up to 9,000,000 shares of
Class A cormmon stock to eligible employees. The Purchase Plan pravides for eligible employees to purchase whole shares of Class A common stock at a price
of 90% of the lesser of: (a) the fair market value of a share of Class A common stock on the first date of the purchase period or (b) the fair market value of a
share of Class A common stock on the last date of the purchase period. Stock-based compensation expense for the Purchase Plan is recognized over the vesting
period of three months on a straight-line basis. As of December 31, 2012, we had 1,960,418 shares available for future grants and issuances under the
Purchase Plan.

The allocation of total stock-based compensation expense between cost of revenues and selling, general and administrative expenses as well as the related
income tax benefit were as follows for the three years ended December 31:

, o 2012 2011 2010
Cost of revenues $ 16,773 $15,257 $ 13,147
Selling. general and administrative expenses 90,582 74,975 43,837
Total stock-based compensation expense o ) $107,355  $90,232 ' $56,984
Income tax benefit ; . $ 26,206 $21,510 $ 13453

We estimate the fair value of each stock option granted using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010, expected volatility was calculated using implied market volatilities. In addition, the expected term, which represents the period of time, measured from
the grant date, that vested options are expected to be outstanding, was derived by incorporating exercise and post-vest termination assumptions, based on
historical data, in a Monte Carlo simu!ation model. The risk-free rate is derived from the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. We have not
paid any dividends. Forfeiture assumptions used in amortizing stock-based compensnhon expense are based on an analysis of historical data.

The fair values of option grants, including the Purchase Plan, were estimated at the date ofgrant during the years ended December 31, 2012, 201 l and
2010 based upon the following assumptions and were as follows:

2012 200F 2010

Dividend yicld ) 0% 0% 0%
Weighted average volatility factor: o o ’ )

Stock options o 36.71% 31.87% 39.98%

Purchase Plan ~ _3231% _34.66% 33.35%
Welghled average expected life (in years) R )

Stock options i 369 354 3.53

Purchase Plan 0.25 025 0.25
Weighted average risk-free interest rate:

Stock options . 0.43% 1.06% 1.55%

Purchase Plan 0.06% 0.05% 0.13%
Weighted average grant date f:ur value: )

Stock options ‘ ) $16.77 . 318.85 - $15.35

Purchase Plan _ , S ) sy s122y §5 875
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During the year ended December 31, 2012, we issued 934,892 shares of Class A common stock under the Purchase Plan with a total vested fair value
of approximately $10,409.

A summary of the activity for siock options granted under our stock-based compensation plans as of December 31, 2012 and changes during the year
then ended is presented below:

Weighted Weighted Aggregate
Average Excrcive Average nterinsie
Number of Price Remaining Life Value
Opilons {in dollars} _{Inyeans} {in thousands)
Outstanding at January 1, 2012 10,498,661 5 23.06
Granted 90,000 59.65
Exercised (4,773,216) 15.88
Cancelled (7,500) 31.06
Expired (6,599) 32.04
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 5,801,346 $ 29.52 C 373 $257,46!
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2012 5,787,914 3 29.44 3.73 $257,305
Exercisable at December 31, 2012 5,674,846 $ 28,76 3.68 $256,101

As of December 31, 2012, $1,244 of total remaining unrecegnized stock-based compensation cost related to stock options is expected lo be recognized
over the weighted-average remaining requisite service period of 1.15 years. The total intrinsic value of options exercised was $256,623, $136,182, and
$270,349 for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.

The fair value of performance steck units and restricted stock units is determined based on the number of stock units granted and the quoted price of
our stock at date of grant.

A summary of the activity for performance stock units granted under our stock-based compensation plans as of December 31, 2012 and changes
during the year then ended is presented below. The presentation reflects the number of performance stock units at the maximum performance milestones.

Weighted Average

Grant Date

Number of Falr Vajue

Unlts {n dollars}
Unvested at January 1, 2012 1,828,928 $ 64.56
Granted 1,113,745 67.10
Vested (446,253) 60.23
Forfeited (24,759) 69.02
Reduction due to the achievement of lower than maximum performance milestones !700,367) 65.42
Unvested at December 31, 2012 1,771,294 % 66.834

As of December 31, 2012, $71,225 of total remaining unrecognized stock-based compensation cost related to performance stock units is expected to be
recognized over the weighted-average remaining requisite service period of 2.20 years.
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A summary of the activity for restricted stock units granted under our stock-based compensation plans as of December 31, 2012 and changes during
the year then ended is presented below:

Welghted
Average Grant Date
Number of Fair Value

Unvested at January 1,2012 2,160,591 $ 66.08
Granted 745,275 67.75
Vested (1,024,014} 61.21
Forfeited ) {97,117) 67.37
Unvested at December 31, 2012 ) 1,784,735 $ 69.39

As of December 31, 2012, $101,935 of total remaining unrecognized stock-based compensation cost related to restricted stock units is expected to be
recognized over the weighted-average remaining requisite service period of 2.03 years.

. Note 13— Commitments and Contingencies

We lease office space and equipment under operating leases, which expire at various dates through the year 2024. Certain leases contain renewal
provisions and generally require us to pay utilities, insurance, taxes, and other operating expenses. Future minimum rental payments under non-cancelable
opcrating Iéases as of December 31, 2012 arc as follows:

2013 R  $124644
2014 e S < 121,172
2015 o ) ) o 106,027
2016 S o o . 8LB06
2017 ) 62,164
Thereafter : " - 228,501
Total minimum lease payments o $ 724,314

v

Rental expense totaled $147,576, $122,035, and $94,863 years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.

Our current India real estate development program includes planned censtruction of 10.5 million square feet of new space between 2011 and the end of
2015. This program includes the expenditure of over $700,000 durmg this period on land acquisition, facilities construction and furnishings to build new
company-owned state-of-the-art IT development and delivery centers in regions primarily designated as SEZs located in India. As of December 3l 2012, we
had outstanding fi fxcd capital commitments of approximately $163 484 related to our India development center expansion program.

We are involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, the outcome of such
claims and legal actions, if decided adversely, is not expected 10 have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows. Additionally, many of our engagements involve projects that are critical to the operations of our customers’ business and provide benefits that are
difficult to quantify. Any failure in a customer's systems or our failure to meet our contraciual obligations to our clients, including any breach involving a
customer’s confidential infonmation or sensitive data, ot our obligations under applicable laws or regulations could result in a claim for substantial damages
against us, regardless of our responsibility for such failure. Although we attempt to contractually llmll our liability for damages arising from negllgenl acts,
€ITOTS, mnstakes or omissions in rendering our services,
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there can be no assurance that the limitations of liability set forth in our contracts will be enforceable in all instances or will otherwise protect us from liability
for damages. Although we have gencral liability insurance coverage. including coverage for errors or omissions, there can be no assurance that such coverage
will continue to be available on reasonable terms or will be available in sufficient amounts to cover one or more large claims, or that the insurer will not
disclaim coverage as to any future claim. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceed available i insurance coverage or changes
in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the impasition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could have a material adverse effect
on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

In the normal course of business and in conjunction with certain client engagements, we have entered into contractual arrangements through which we
may be obligated to indemnify clients or other parties with whom we conduct business with respect to certain matters. These arrangements can include
provisions whereby we agree to hald the indemmified party and certain of their affiliated entities harmless with respect to third-party claims related to such
matters as our breach of certain representations or covenants, or out of our intellectual property infringement, our gross negligence or willful misconduct or
certain other claims made against certain parties. Payments by us under any of these arrangemenis are generally condilioned on the client making a claim and
providing us with full control over the defense and settlement of such claim. [t is not possible to determine the maximum potential amount under these
indemnification agreements due to the unique facts and circumstances involved in each particular agreement. Historically, we have not made payments under
these indemnification agreements so they have not had any impact on our operating results, financial position, or cash flows. However, if events arise
requiring us to make payment for indemnification claims under our indemnification obligations in contracts we have entered. such payments could have
malerial impact on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. :

Note 14 — Segment Information

Qur reportable segments are: Financial Services, which includes customers providing banking/transaction processing, capital markets and insurance
services; Healthcare, which includes healihcare providers and payers as well as life sciences customers; Manufacturing/Retail/Logistics, which includes
manufacturers, retailers, travel and other hospitality customers, as well as customers providing logistics services; and Other, which is an aggregation of
industry segments each of which, individually, represents less than 10% of consolidated revenues and segment operating profit. The Other reportable segment
'in_cludes our infonmation, media and entertainment services, communications and high technology operating segments. Our sales managers, account
executives, account managers and project teams are aligned in accordance with the specific industries they serve.

Our chief operating decision maker evaluates the Company’s performance and allocates resources based on segment revenues and operating profit,
Scgment operating profit is defined as income from operations before unaliocated costs. Generally. operating expenscs for cach operating segment have similar
characteristics and are subject 1o the same factors, pressures and challenges. However, the economic environment and its effects on industries served by our
operating segments may affect revenue and operating expenses to differing degrees. Expenses included in segment operating profit consist principally of direct
selling and delivery costs as well as a per seat charge for use of the development and delivery centers. Certain selling, general and administrative expenses,
excess or shorifall of incentive compensation for delivery personnel as compared to target, stock-based compensation expense, a portion of depreciation and
amortization and the impact of the settlements of our cash flow hedges are not allocated to individual segments in internal management reports used by the
chief operating decision maker. Accordingly, such expenses are excluded from segment operating profit and are separately disclosed as “unallocated” and
adjusted only against our total income from operations. Additionally, management has determined that it is not practical to allocate identifiable assels. by
segment, since such assets are used interchangeably among the segments.
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Revenues from external customers and segment operating profit, before unallocated expenscs, for our reportable segments were as follows for the ycars
ended December 31:

2012 2011 2010
Revenues:
Financial Services $ 3,035447 $ 2,518,422 $ 1,944,450
Healthcare 1,934,898 1,622,157 1,177,113
Manufacturing/Retail/Logistics . 1,498,668 1,197,472 849,643
Qther 877,459 783,105 621,183
Total revenue . i $ 7,346,472 $6,121,156  $4,592,389
: 2012 2011 2010

Segment Operating Profit: - ]
Financial Services ' $ 998,339 $ 872,267 $ 668,595
Healthcare ) 724,454 625,052 436,879
Manufacturing/Retail/Logistics 527,970 440,416 283,676
Other 288,052 254,145 208,306
" Total segment operating profit . : 2,538,815 2,191,880 1,597,456
Less: unallocated costs®m . _ 1,177,319 1,055,412 735,604
Income from operations - - . ) - §1,361,496 $ 1,136,468 -§ 861,852

1) Includes $107,355, $90,232, and 56,984 of stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2012,2011, and 2010, resp’éctively. )

Geographic Area ‘Information

Revenue and long-iived assets, by geographic area, are as follows: -

North ' . co. .

T __Amerea® Eurape® . OtheriSi9) . Total
2012 . L. . - . X e -
Revenuesi S R ) - 8§85, 836 258 . $1,195,4%0 . $ 314,724 $ 7,346,472
Long-lived assetss e 52 149 8,696 T 910641 971,486
2011 - '_. T o e
Revenuest . ‘ . $4,802,958 $ 1,097,475 5220723 T 86,121,156
Long-lived assets« ‘ L ' o 27,387. . - 5,232 725,415 758,034
2010 ' o N o T T ) '
Revenues ) $3,582,719 -§ 855,575 $154,095 $4,592,389
Long-lived assetse 12,198 3,687 554,563 570,448

(1} Revenues are attributed to regions based upon customer location.

(2)  Substantially all relates to operations in the United Statcs.

(3)  Includes revenue from operations in the United Kingdom of $764,936, $698,853, and $559, 297 in 2012, 2011, and 20]0 respectwe]y -
4) ' Long-lived asscts include property and equipment net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. R
(5) Includes our aperations in Asia Pacific, Middle East and Latin America.

(6) . Substantially all of these long-lived assets relate to operations in India.
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15. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Summarized quarterly results for the two years ended December 31, 2012 are as follows:

Three Months Ended

2012 March 3] June 30 Scptember 30, December 31 Full Year
Revenucs $1,711,349 $1,795,220 $1,891,688 $1,948,215 $ 7,346,472
Cost of revenues {exclusive of depreciation and amortization

expense shown separately below) 984,520 1,030,889 1,111,898 1,150,934 4,278,241
Selling, general and administrative expenses 374,178 396,771 384,951 401,746 1,557,646
Depreciation and amortization expense 34,752 35,602 39,453 39,282 149,089
Income from operations 317,899 331,958 355,386 356,253 1,361,496
Net income 243,651 251,932 276,901 278,779 1,051,263
Basic EPS $ 0.80 S 0.83 % 0.93 3 093 b3 3.49
Diluted EPS 3 0.79 5 0.82 $ 0.91 $ 0.92 $ 3.44

Three Months Ended

20t1 Mureh 31 June 30 Seplember 30 December 3 Full Year
Revenues $1,371,253 $1,485,242 $1,600,954 $1,663,707 $6,121,156
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization

expense shown separately below) 782,176 860,871 924,886 970,689 3,538,622
Selling, general and administrative expenses 296,330 326,718 353,161 352,456 1,328,665
Depreciation and amortization expense 27,382 27,695 29,905 32,419 117,401
Income {rom operations 265,363 269,958 293,002 308,143 1,136,468
Net income 208,327 208,045 227,119 240,127 883,618
Basic EPS $ 0.69 S 0.68 $ 0.75 $ 0.79 3 2.91
Diluted EPS g 0.67 $ 0.67 h) 0.73 $ 0.78 $ 2.85
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Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporatien

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
For the Ycars Ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010
(Dollars in Thousands)

Balencc at Chorged to Charged to Balance at
Begioning of Costs and Other Deductions End of
Deseription Period Expenaes Accounts /Other Perjod
Accounts receivable allowance for doubtful accounts:
2012 $24,658 $ 5,051 $ —_ § 3,893 $§25,816
2011 $20,991 $4516 5 — § 849 $24,658
2010 $16,465 $ 5,950 5 —_ $ 1,424 $20,991
Warranty accrual:
2012 $£12,291 $17,063 b —_ $14,514 $ 14,840
2011 $ 9,094 $14.078 3 — $10,881 $12,291
2010 $ 6,575 $10,384 5 — $ 7,865 $ 9,094
Valuation allowance—deferred income tax assets: : ‘
2012 $ 10,365 $ 1,399 5 — § 5,476 $ 6,288
2011 $ 10,684 § 470 5 — § 789 $ 10,365
2010 $ 10,230 $ 1,362 5 — § 908 $ 10,684
F-33
Seoane SULKEART TECHNOLQGY SOLUTIONS CORP, 10-K Februaty 26, 2013 Powered ov Morungsias™ Docurent Research™

The inforination contamed harain may nal be copied, adapted or distributad and is nof waitnnled 10 be accurxie, compléte or timely. The usgs a3suntes all riaks for ony ommsges or losas arlsing from any use of this
NGrmation, excep! 6 the exlent such damages or losses cannol be limited or excluded by applicable taw, Past filancial perfonnance is no Qualaniee of fullie resuits,



Exhibit 10.4

AMENDED AND RESTATED EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT
AND NON-DISCLOSURE. NON-COMPETITION,

AND INVENTION ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT

This Amended and Restated Executive Employment and Non-Disclosure, Non-Competition, and Invention Assignment Agreement (this “Agreement”) is

made as of the day of , 20__ (the “Effective Date™) by and between Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the
“Company” (where applicable, the deﬁnmon of Company shall include the Company's subsidiaries and affiliates and any successors or assigns}}, and
(“Employee™).

WHEREAS, Employee is currently employed by the Company as its ; and
WHEREAS, the Company desires to conlinue to retain the services of Employee; and

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to amend and restate, in its entirety, the partics’ prior ag'rc.cmcms pertaining to Employec’s cmployment, and sct
forth the new terms and conditions of Employee’s employment by the Company;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth and inteading to be legally
bound hereby, the Company and Employee (individually a “Party” and together, the “Parties™) agree as follows: °

1. Definitions.

(a) “Annual Base Salary™ shall mean the rate of annual base salary paid or payable to Employee by the Company (including authorized deferrals
and salary reduction amounts) immediately prior to Employee’s Termination Date.

(b) “Board“ shall mean the Board of Dircctors of Cognizant chhnology Solutions Corporatlon

(c) “Cause” shall mean (1) willful malfeasance or wnl]ful misconduct by the Employee in connection with his employment (ii) continuing fallure ’
10 perform such duties as are reasonably requested by Employee’s supervisor, (iii) failure by the Employee to observe material policies of the Company
applicable to the Employee, (iv) the commission by the Employee of (x) any felony or {y) any misdemeanor mvolvmg moral turp:ludc (v) Employee cngagmg
it any fraudulent act or act of embezzlement, or (vi) any material breach of this Agreement. -

(d) “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

(¢) "Disability” means Employee's totai and permanent d1sab|l|ty as determined in accordance with lhe Company s long-term dlsablllty pohcy,
whether or not Employee is covered by such policy. . ‘ :
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() “Good Reason™ means, the occurrence of one or more of the following events or actions:
(i) A material diminution by the Company of Employee's authority, duties or responsibilities;

(i) A materia! diminution in Employee's overall compensation package, which is not otherwise caused by an overall policy by the
Company to reduce senior employee compensation throughout the Company,

(iii) The failure of the Company 1o obtain from its successors the express assumption of this Agreement; or

(iv) A change, without Employee’s consent, in the principal place of work of the Employee to a location that is more than 50 miles from
his primary work location as of the date of this Agreement. but only if such change occurs on or after a Change in Control.

(g) “Natice of Termination” means a written notice which (i) indicates the specific termination provision in this Agreement relied upon, and
* (i) briefly summarizes the facts and circumstances deemed to provide a basis for termination of Employee’s employment under the provision so indicated.

(h) “Termination Date” shall mean the last day of Employee’s employment with the Company. )
(i) “Tennination of Emplovment” shall mean the termination of Employee’s active embloyment relationship with the Company.

2. Emplovinent. Company hereby continues to employ Employee, and Employee hereby continues to accept such employment, upon the terms and
conditions set {orth herein. . . .

3. Duties.

{a) Pasition. Employee continues to be employed as [insert position title] and shall have the duties and responsibilities assigned by [insert title]
both upon initial hire and as may be reasonably assigned from time to time. Employee shall perform faithfully and diligently all duties assigned to Employee.
Company reserves the right to modify Employcc’s position and duties at any time in its solc and absolute discretion, provided that the dutics assigned are

_consistent with lhe position ofa semor executlve and that Employee continues to report 1o [insert title].

(b) Best Efforts/Fuli-time. "To the maximum exten: permitted by law, Employee agrees to devole Employee's best efforts and entire busmess time
and attention to the Company’s Business during the term of Employee’s employment with the Company. Employee agrees that, during the term of Employee’s
employment, except as otherwise approved in writing by the Company, which approval the Company may in its absolute discretion withhold, Employee will
not, either directly or indirectly, or for himself/herself or through, on behalf of, or in conjunction with any person, persons or legal entity, operate, engage in,
assist, or be employed by any busmess activity 1o or for the benefit of any person or enmy other than the Company provided that the

2.
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foregoing is not inended to prevent an Employee from pursuing hobbies or participating in any other activity which is not to the detriment of Company.
Employee further acknowledges and agrees that Employee has access to the Company’s Core Values and Standards of Business Conduct (the **Conduct
Code") located at www.cognizant.com, and Employee has read and understands the Conduct Code and shall abide by all the terms of said Conduct Code, as
may be amended from time to time, and said Conduct Code shall be incorporated into this Agreement. Employee will abide by all policies and decisions made
by Company, as wel! as all applicable federa, state and local laws, regulations or ordinances. Employee will act in the best interest of Company at all times.

(¢) Work Location. Employee’s principal place of work shall be located in [insert eity, state], or such other location as the parties may agree
upon {rom time to time.

4. ALWill Employment. Employee’s employment with the Company will be “at will,” meaning it is for no specified term and may be terminated by
Employee or the Company at any time, with or without Cause or advance notice, subject to the provisions of Section 9 below.

5. Compensation.

(a) Annual Base Salary. As compensation for Employee’s performance of Employee’s duties hereunder, Company shall pay to Employee a base
salary as most recently determined by the Compensation Commitiee of the Board and last communicated to the Employee, as may be modified by the
Compensation Commiliee of the Board, payable in accordance with the normal payroll practices of Company, less required deductions for state and federal
withholding tax, social security and all other employment taxes and payroll deductions. In the event Employee’s employment under this Agreement is
terminated by either party, for any reason, Employee will earn the Annual Base Salary prorated to the date of termination.

(b} Incentive Compensation Employee wil! be eligible to earn incentive compensation as determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board
in accordance wnh the bonus plan(s) provided to Employee by Company, in accordance with the terms and conditions of such plan(s).

- (@) Stack Options and Other Equity Awards, Except as set forth herein, this Agreement does not modify or change the exlstmg apreements
regarding stock options, stock appreciation rights, restncted stock awards and restncted stock units (each, an “Equity Award” and collectively, “Equity

Awards™) prewously issued to Employee.

i 6. Customary Fringe Benefits. Employee will be ellglbie for all customary and usual fringe benefits generally available to Employees of Company
subject to the terms and conditions of Company’s benefit plan documents. Company reserves the right to change or ¢liminate the fnnge beneﬁls ona.
prospeclive basis, at any time, effective upon notice to Employee ’ -

7. Business Expenses. Employee will be reimbursed for all reasonable, out-of-pocket business expenses inicurred in the performance of Employee’s
duties on behalf of Company. To obtain reimbursement, expenses must be submmed promptly with appropnate supporting documentahon in accordance with
Company s policies. -
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8. Company Access. Employee agrees and consents that, during the term of Employee’s employment with the Company and thereafter, the Company
may review, audit, intercept, access and disclose all messages created, received or sent over the electronic mail and internet access system provided by the
Company with or without notice to Employee and that such review, audit, interception, access, or disclosure may occur during or after working hours.
Employee further consents and agrees that the Company may, at any time, access and review the contents of alt computers, computer disks, other data storage
equipmeni.and devices, files, desks, drawers, closets, cabinets and work stations which are either on the Company’s premises or which are owned or

pravided by the Company.

9. Involuntary Termination of Employment.

(a) Prior to a Change in Control. In the event that Employee’s employment with the Company is involuntarily terminated by the Company for any
reason other than Cause, death or Disability or in the event Employee resigns his employment for Good Reason pursuant to Section 10 and the Company’s
right to cure (as set forth in Section 10) has expired (an “Involuntary Termination™), and in either such case Employee’s employment termination becomes
effective before any Change in Control (as defined in Section 9(e) below) has occurred following the date of this Agreement, Employee shall be entitled to the
payments and benefits described below, provided that Employee executes and does not revoke the Release (as defined in Section 11) and the Release first

becomes effective:

(i) Employee shall receive continued payment of the Employee’s Annual Base Salary, paid in regular installments in accordance with the
Company’s normal payroll practices, over a period of twenty-two (22) months, commencing on or as soon as practicable after the date the Release becomes
effective and within thirty-five days following Employee’s Termination Date.

(ii) The Company shall, for a period of twelve (12) months following the date of Employee’s Termination of Employment, pay the
Employee cach month an amount equal to the monthly COBRA medical insurance cost under the Company’s group medical plan for Employee and, where
applicable, Employee’s spouse and eligible dependents; provided that Employee, and, where applicable, Employee’s spouse and dependents, are eligible for
and timely elect to receive COBRA healthcare continuation coverage and provided further that the payments specified under this Section 9(a)(ii) shall cease if
the Company’s statutory obligation to provide such COBRA healthcare continuation coverage terminates for any reason before the expiration of the 12-month

period.

(i) The portion of any outstanding Equity Awards that were subject to vesting solely upon continuous service with the Company and
would have vested had Employee remained employed by the Company during the twelve (12) month period following Employee’s Termination Date shall
automatically become fully vested and exercisable, as applicable, as of Employee’s Termination Date..Such Equity Awards shall continue to be governed by
and exercised, settled or paid in accordance with the terms of the applicable award agreement.
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(iv) With respect to any outstanding Equity Award that was subject to vesting in whole or in part based on achievement of performance
objective(s). 1o the extent that the applicable performance period has expired on or before Employee’s Termination Date, the performance objective(s) has/have
been satisfied and the only condition to vesting that remains is continuous service until one or more future dates, the portion of such Equity Award that would
have vested had Employcee remained employed by the Company during the twelve (12) month period following Empleyee’s Termination Date shall become
fully vested and exercisable as of Employee’s Termination Date. Such Equity Award shall continue to be governed by and exercised, settled or paid in
accordance with the terms of the applicable award agreement. ‘

(v) Employee shall receive any amounts earned, accrued and owing but not yet paid to Employee as of Employee’s Termination Date and
any benefits accrued and eamed in accordance with the terms of any applicable benefit plans and programs of the Company. The payment of amounts
described in this Section 9(a)(v) are not conditioned upon the Release becoming effective unless the applicable benefit plan or program provides othenwise.

(b) Coincident with_or within One Year Afier a Change in Control. In the event that Employee suffers an Involuntary Termination that becomes effective
coincident with, or within the twelve (12) month period immediately after, the first occurrence of 2 Change in Control following the date of this Agreement,
Employee shall be entitled to the payments and benefits desctibed below in this Section 9(b) in lieu of, and not in addition to, the payments and benefits
described in Section 9(a); provided that Employee executes and does not revoke the Release (as defined in Section 11) and the Release first becomes effective:

. (i) Employee shall receive a cash payment equal to one times Employee’s Annual Base Salary, such amount to be paid in regular
installments in accordance with the Company’s normal payroll practices over a period of twelve (12) months, commencing on or as soon as practicable afier
the date the Release becomes effective and within thirty-five days following Employee’s Termination Date.

(ii) Employee shall receive a cash payment equal to the amount of the target annual bonus that the Employee would otherwise have been
eligible to receive for the performance year in which the Employee's Termination Dale occurs, assuming for this purpose that the Employee and Company
achieved 100% of applicable performance targets and objectives. Payment shall be made in a lump sum payment on or as soon as pracllcable after the date the
Release becomes effecuve and within thirty-five days following Employee’s Termination Date. ‘

(|||) The Company shall, for a period of twelve (12) months following the date of Employee's Termination of Employment, pay Employee
each month an aniount equal to the monthly COBRA medical insurance cost under the Company’s group medical plan for Employee and, where applicable,
Employee’s spouse and eligible dependents; provided that Employee, and, where applicable, Employee’s spouse and dependents, are eligible for and timely
elect.to receive COBRA healthcare continuation coverage and provided further that the payments specified under this Section 9(b)(iii) shall cease if the
Cempany's statutory obligation to provide such COBRA healthcare continuation coverage terminates for any reason before the expiration of the 12-month
period. ‘ )
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(iv) The portion of any outstanding Equity Awards that were subject to vesting solely upon continuous service with the Company shall
automatically become fully vested and exercisable, as applicable, as of Employee’s Termination Date. Such vested Equity Awards shall continue to be
govermned by and exercised, settled or paid in accordance with the terms of the applicable award agresment.

(v) Outstanding Equity Awards the vesting of which is conditioned, in whole or in part, upon the achievement of performance objectives
shall become vested and exercisable as follows: ) ’

¢ (A) To the extent that the applicable performance period has expired on or before Employee’s Termination Date, the performance objective(s)

has/have been satisfied and the only condition to vesting that remains is continuous service until one or more future dates, such Equity Award shall
become fully vested and exercisable as of Employee’s Termination Date.

(B) To the extent that the applicable performance period has not expired on or before Employee’s Termination Date, the Company shall pro-rate the
performance objective(s) for the portion of the performance period that has transpired up to the date of Closing of the Change in Control, make a good
faith determination of the level of achicvement of such pro-rated performance objective as of such Closing Date, and treat as fully vested and exercisable
a proportionate amount of such Equity Award that corresponds with the level of achievement of the pre-rated performance objective, disregarding any
future service conditions that otherwise would apply to such Equity Award.

(vi) Employee shall receive any amounts earned, accrued and owing but not yet paid to Employee as of Employee’s Termination Date and
any benefits accrued and eamed in accordance with the terms of any applicable benefit plans and programs of the Company. The payment of amounts
described in this Section 9(b)(vi) are not conditioned upon the Release becoming effective unless the applicable benefit plan or program provides otherwise.

(c) Termination Due to Death, Disability, or For Cause. If Employee is terminated due to death, Disability, or for Cause, Employee shall receive
any amounts eamed, accrued and owing but not yel paid to Employee as of Employee’s Termination Date and any benefits accrued and earned in accordance
with the terms of any applicable benefit plans and programs of the Company; all other Company obligations to Employee will be extinguished as of the
Termination Date.

(d) Notice of Termination. Any termination on account of this Section 9 shall be communicated by a Notice of Termination to the other Parties
hereto given in accordance with Section 24 hereof.

(¢} Definition of Chanpe in Control. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Change in Control” shal! have the meaning set forth in the
Company’s 2009 Incentive Compensation Plan, as amended from time to time or any successor plan in effect as of Employee’s Termination Date.
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10. Resigpation for Good Reason. If Employee provides notice of his intent to terminate for Good Reason, then, subject to the expiration of the cure period
and Employee’s actual termination as described below, such resignation shall be deemed an Involuntary Termination for purposes of this Agreement and
Employee shall be entitled to the paymenis and benefits described in Section 9 subject to the requirements set forth in this Agreement, including Section 11,
Employce must provide written notice to the Company of his intent to terminate his employment for Good Reason within thinty (30) days of the action or
omission giving rise 10 such claim of Good Reason. Thereafier, the Company shall have a period of thirty (30) days within which it may correct the event or
action that constitutes the grounds for Good Reason as set forth in Employee’s notice of termination. If the Company does not correct the event or action prior to
the expiration of the foregoing cure period, Employee must terminate his employment for Good Reason within thirty (30) days after the expiration of the cure
period, in order for the termination to be considered a Good Reason termination under this Agreement.

11. Release. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no payments or benefits shall be provided under Sections 9 and 10, as applicable (except for those
payments that are owed pursuant to applicable law and/or are specifically not conditioned upon Employee's execution of a release), unless Employee exccutes,
and does not revoke, the Company’s then standard written general release (the “Release™) of any and all claims against the Company and all related parnties
with respect 1o all matters arising out of Employee’s employment by the Company (other than any entitlements under the terms of this Agreement or under any
other plans or programs of the Company in which Employee participated and under which Employee has accrued and earned a benefit) or the termination
thereof. The Company will provide Employee with the form of release agreement within seven days after Employee’s separation from service. To be entitled to
the severance or other benefits, Employee must execute and deliver to the Company the release agreement on or before the last day of the minimum required
waiver consideration period provided under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act or other applicable law or such later date specified in the release
agreement. If Employee timely delivers an executed release agreement to the Company, and Employee does not revoke the release agreement during the minimum
revocation period required under applicable law, if any, the severance or other benefits shall be paid or commence being paid, as specified in this Agreement,
subject to any delay required pursuant to Section 30(b) of this Agreement. If, however, the period during which Employee has discretion to execute or revoke
the release agreement straddles two calendar years, the cash severance or other benefits shall be paid or commence being paid, as applicable, as soon as
practicable in the second of the two calendar years, regardless of within which calendar year Employee actually delivers the executed release agreement to the
Company, subject to the relcasc agreement first becoming cffective. Consistent with section 409A of the Code, Employee may not, dircctly or indircctly,
designate the calendar year of payment. Nothing in this Section 11 shall be construed to alter the terms of this Agreement that condition Employee’s entitlement
to any severance or other benefits upon Employee’s compliance with the restrictive covenants and any other terms and conditions specified in this Agreement.

- 12. Other Paxmem. Any 'paymems and benefits that become due under Sections 9 and 10 hereof shall be in addition to (but not in duplication of) and
not in lieu of any payments and benefits due to Employee under any other plan, policy or program of the Company. except that Employee shall not be entitled
to any payments and benefits under the Company’s then current severance pay policies.
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13. Ne Mitigation. Employee shall not be required to mitigate the amount of any payment or benefit provided for in this Agreement by secking other
employment or otherwise, nor shall the amount of any payment or benefit provided for herein be reduced by any compensation earned by other employment or
otherwise; provided, however, that any obligation of the Company to provide COBRA healthcare continuation coverage under Sections 4 and 5 hereof shall
cease upon Employee becoming covered under a healthcare plan of another employer.

14. Non-Exclusivity of Rights. Except as provided in Scction 12, nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or limit Employee’s continuing or future
participation in of rights under any benefit, bonus, incentive or other plan or program provided by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates and for
which Employee may qualify.

15. No Set-Off. Other than with respect 1o the Recoupment Policy (as hereinafter defined), the Company's obligation to make the payments provided for
in this Agreement and otherwise to perform its obligations hereunder shall not be affected by any circumstances, including, without limitation, any set-off,
counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other right which the Company may have against Employee or others.

16. Taxes.

{2) All payments under this Agreement shall be made subject to applicable tax withholding, and the Company shall withheld from any payments
under this Agreement all federal, state and local taxes as the Company is required to withhold pursuant to any law or govemnmenital rule or regulation. '
Employce shall bear all expense of, and be solely responsible for, all federal, state, local or foreign taxes due with respect to any payment received under this
Agreement, including, without limitation, any excise tax imposed by section 4999 of the Code. '

(b) 1f the payments and benefits received or to be received by Employee in connection with a Change in Control or the termination of Employee’s
employment {whether payable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement (“Contract Payments™) or any other plan, arrangement or agreement with the Company
. or any affiliate (collectively with the Contract Payments, the “Total Payments”), would constitute a “parachute payment” under Section 280G of the Code,
then the Total Payments shall be reduced, in the manner set forth below, by the minimum amount necessary to result in no portion of the Total Payments belng
non-deductible [0 the Company pursuant to Secnon 280G of the Code or subject to the excise 1ax imposed under Section 4999 of the Code. .

(c) All dclermmauons required to be made under this Section 16, including whether a reduction in Tota! Payments is required, the amount of any
such reduction and the assumptions to be utilized in arriving at such determination, shall be made by an accounting or law firm of recognized standing '
reasonably selected by the Company (the “Firm”), which may be, but will not be required to be, the Company’s independent auditors. The Firm shall submit
its determination and detailed supporting calculations to both Employee and the Company within fifteen (15) days after receipt of a notice from either the
Company or Employee that Employee may receive payments which may be “parachute payments.” If the Firm determines that a reduction is required by this
Section 16, the Contract Payments consisting of cash severance shall be reduced to the extent necessary so that no portion of the Total Payments shall be
subject to the excise tax imposed - :
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by section 4999 of the Code, and the Company shall pay such reduced amount to Employee in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. If additional
Contract Payments must be reduced pursuant to this Section 16 afier the cash severance has been reduced to zero, the Contract Payments allocablc to
performance-vested Equity Awards shall next be reduced, followed by the Contract Payments allocable to time-vested Equity Awards, to the extent necessary to
satisfy the requirements of this Section 16. If the Firm determines that none of the Total Payments, after taking into account any reduction required by this
Section 16, constitutes a “parachute payment” within the meaning of section 280G of the Code, it will, at the same time as it makes such determination,
furnish Employee and the Company an opinion that Employee has substantial authority not to report any excise tax under section 4999 of the Code on
Employee's federal income 1ax return.

(d) Employee and the Company shall each provide the Firm access to and copies of any books, records, and documents in the possession of
Employee or the Company, as the case may be, reasonably requested by the Firm, and otherwise cooperate with the Firm in connection with the preparation
and issuance of the determinations and calculations contemplated by this Section 16. The fees and expenses of the Firm for its services in connection with the
determinations and calculations contemplated by this Section 16 shall be borne by the Company.

17. Confidentjal Information. Employce agrees that Employce’s services to the Company have been and will continuc to be of a special. unique and
extraordinary character, and that Employee’s position places Employee in a position of confidence and trust with the Company’s customers and employees.
Eimployee also recognizes that Employee’s position with the Company will give Employee substantial access to Confidential Information (as defined below),
the disclosure of which to competitors of the Company would cause the Company to suffer substantial and irreparable damage. Employee recognizes,
therefore, that it is in the Company’s legitimate business interest to restrict Employee’s use of Confidential Information for any purposes other than the
discharge of Employee’s employment duties at the Company, and to limit any potential appropriation of Confidential Information by Employee for the benefit
of the Company's competitors and to the detriment of the Company. Accordingly, Employee agrees as follows: ’

(a) Employee will not at any time, whether during or afier the termination of Employee’s employment, reveal to any person or entity any of the
trade secrets or confidential information of the Company or of any third party which the Company is under an obligation to keep confidential {including but
not limited to trade secrets or confidential information respecting inventions, products, designs, methods, know-how, techniques, systems, processes,
software programs, works of authorship, customer lists, projects, plans and proposals) (“Confidential Information™), except as may be required in'the
ordinary course of performing Employee’s duties as an emplayee of the Company, and Employee shall keep secret all matters entrusted to Employee and shall
not use or atiempt to use any such information in any manner which may injure or cause loss or may be calculated to injure or cause loss whether directly or
indirectly to the Company. By way of example and not limitation, Confidential Information also includes any and all information, whether or not meeting the »
legal definition of a trade secret, concerning the Company’s actual, planned or contemplated: (i) marketing plans, business plans, strategies, forecasts,
budgets, projections and costs; (ii) personnel information; (ii1) customer, vendor and supplier lists; (iv) customer, vendor and supplier needs, transaction
histories, contacts, volumes, characteristics, ’
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agreements and prices; (v) promotions, operations, sales, marketing, and research and development; (vi) business aperations, internal structures and
financial affairs; (vii) software and operating systems and procedures; (viii) pricing structure of the Company’s services and products; (ix) proposed services
and products; (x) contracts with other parties; (xi) performance characteristics of the Company’s products; and (xii) Inventions and Works as defined in
Section 18. Confidential Information also includes any and all information of Company’s clients and customers which is deemed confidential by such clients
and customers (whether pasl, present or potential), including, but not limited to: marketing tools, inventions, processes, contact lists, materials, software
program code, logic diagrams, flow chans, procedural diagrams, computer programming techniques and know how, maps and any documentation related
thereto.

(b) The above restrictions shall not apply to: (i} information that at the time of disclosure is in the public domain through no fault of Employee:
(ii) information received from a third party outside of the Company that was publicly disclosed without a breach of any confidentiality obligation; or
(i1i) information approved for release by writlen authorization of the Company. In addition, in the event that Employee is requested or required (by oral
questions, interrogatories, requests for information or documents, subpoena, civil investigative demand or similar process) to disclose any of the Confidential
Information, it is agreed that Employee will provide the Company with prompt notice of such request(s) so that the Company may seek an appropriate
protective order or other appropriate remedy andfor waive compliance with the confidentiality provisions of this Agreement. In the event that such protective
order or other remedy is not obtained, or the Company grants a waiver hereunder, Employee may furnish that portion (and only that portion) of the
Confidential Information which Employee is legally compelled to disclose and will exercise its reasonable best efforts to obtain reliable assurance that
confidential treatment will be accorded any Confidential Information so furnished.

(c) Further, Employee agrees that during Employee’s employment Employee shall not take, use or permit to be used any notes, memoranda,
reports, lists, records, drawings, sketches, specifications, soflware programs, data, documentation or other materials of any nature relating to any matter
within the scope of the business of the Company or coneeming any of its dealings or affairs otherwise than for the benefit of the Company. Employee further
agrees that Employee shall not, after the termination of Employee’s employment, use or permiit to be used any such notes, memoranda, reports, lists, records,
drawings, sketches. specifications, software programs, data, documentation or other materials, it being agreed that all of the foregoing shall be and remain the
sole and exclusive property of the Company and that, immediately upon the termination of Employee's employment, Employee shall deliver all of the foregoing
plus any other Confidential Information, and all copies thereof, to the Company, at its main office.

: {d) Employee agrees that upon the termination of Employee's employment with the Company, Employee will not take or retain without written

authorization any documents, files or other property of the Company, and Employee will rerurn promptly to the Company any such documents, files or
property in Employee’s possession or custody, including any copies thereof maintained in any medium or format. Employee recognizes that all documents,
files and property which Employee has received and will receive from the Company, including but not limited to scientific research, customer lists,
handbooks, memoranda, product specifications, and other materials (with the exception of documents relating to benefits to which Employee might be entitled
following the termination of Employcc’s employment with the Company), arc for the
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exclusive use of the Company and employees who are discharging their responsibilities on behalf of the Company, and that Employee has n claim or right to
the continued use, possession or custody of such documents, files or property following the termination of Employee’s employment with the Company.

18. Intellectual Property.

(a) Employee agrees to disclose fully, promptly, and in writing 1o the Company any and all Inventions and Works (each as defined below) which
are conceived, made, reduced to practice, developed, authored, created, drawn or written al any time while Employee is employed by the Company and for a
period of six (6) months thereafter. Employee will generate and provide to the Company adequate and current written records of all Inventions and Works in
the form of notes, sketches, drawings, reports, flow charts, procedural diagrams, logic diagrams, softwarc program code, procedural diagrams, computer
programming techniques or other documents relating thereto or in such other form as will be requested by the Company, which records and any copies thereof
will be and will remain the exclusive property of the Company and will be available to the Company at all times, all available information relating thereto (with
all necessary plans and models) to the Company.

"(b) The Company and Employee agree that “Inventions,” is defined in this Agreement to include any and all new or useful ideas, developments,
discoveries, improvements, designs, formulas, modifications, trademarks, service marks, trade secrets, and other intellectual property, whether patentable or
nol (including without limitation any technology, compuler programs, software, software program code, logic diagrams, flowcharis, procedural diagrams,
computer programming lechniques, test, concept, idea, process, method, composition of matter, formula or technique), and all know-how related thereto,
which Employee conceives, makes, reduces to practice, or develops, solely or jointly with others (i} which relate to the actual or contemplated business, work
or activities of the Company, (ii) which result from or are suggested by any work which Employee has done or may do on behalf of the Company, or by any
information that Employee may receive by virtue of Employee’s employment by the Company, or (iii) which are developed, tested, improved er investigated
either in part or entirely on time for which Employee was paid by the Company, or with the use of premises, equipment or property provided, owned leased,
or contracled for by or on behalf of the Company.

(c) The Company and Employee agree that “Works” is defined in this Agreement to include any and all materials for which copyright protection
may be obtained, inctuding without limitation literary works (including books, pamphlets, articles and other writings), mask works, artistic works’
(including designs, graphs, drawings, blueprints and other graphic works), computer programs, software program code, logic diagrams, flow charts,
procedural diagrams. coniputer programming, compilations, recordings, photographs, motion pictures and other audio-visual works which Employcc
authors, conceives, creates, draws, makes, or writes. solely or jointly with others (i) which relate to the actual or conlemplated business, work or activities of
the Company. (ii} which result from or are suggested by any work which Employee has done or may do on behialf of the Company, or by any information that
Employee may receive by virtue of Employee’s employment by the Company, or (iii) which are developed, tested, improved or investigated either in part or .
entirely on time for which Employee was paid by the Company, or with the use of premises, equipment or property provnded owned, leased, or contracted
for, by, or on behalf of the Cotnpany. :
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'(d) Employee agrees Lo assign, transfer and convey, and hereby assigns, transfers and conveys to the Company all of the rights, titles and

"interests in and lo any and all such Inventions and Works that Employee has or may acquire in such Inventions or Works which are conceived, made,

reduced to practice. developed, authored, created, drawn or written at any time while Employee is employed by the Company and for a period of six

(6) months thereafter. Employee agrees that the Company will be the sole owner of all patents, copyrights, trademarks and other intellectual property rights in

connection therewith, and agrees 1o take all such actions as may be requested by the Company during Employee’s employment with the Company and at any

time thereafler, with respect to any such Inventions or Works to confirm or evidence such assignment, transfer, conveyance or ownership, and to assist in the

Company’s maintenance, enforcement, license, assignment, transfer, or conveyance of rights in respect of the Inventions or Works. Employee understands

that i he is employed by the Company in California, his obligation to assign rights in inventions does not apply to an invention that qualifies fully under the
. provisigns of California Labor Code Section 2870.

() By way of example and not limitation, at any time and from time to time, upon the request of the Company, Employee agrees to execute,
acknowledge, swear to, seal and deliver to the Company, any and all lawful instruments, documents and papers, give evidence and do any and all other
lawfu! acts that, in the opinion of the Company, are or may be necessary or desirable to document such assignment, transfer and conveyance or to enable the
Company lo file and prosecute applications for and to acquire, maintain and enforce any and all patents, trademarks, copyrights and other property rights
under United States, local, state or foreign law with respect to any such Tnventions or Works or to obtain any extension, validation, reissue, continuance or
renewal of any such patent, trademark, copyright, or other intellectual property right. By way of further example and not limitation, Employee agrees to meet
with the Company representatives or attomeys for the purpase of initiating, maintaining or defending litigation, administrative or other proceedings; and to
participate fully in litigation, administrative or other proceedings as requested by the Company. In the event that the Company may be unable, for any reason
whatscever, after reasonable effort, 1o secure Employee’s signature on any patent, copyright, trademark or other intellectual property application ot other
papers, Employee hereby irrevocably designates and appoints the Company and its duly authorized officers and agents, as Employee’s agent and attorney-in-
fact to act for and on behalf of Employee to execute, acknowledge, swear to, seal and deliver to the Company and to file any such apphcatlon or appllcatlons
or other papers, and o do all other lawf{ully permited acts to further the provisions of Section 18 of this Agreement.

(f) The Company agrees to reimburse Employee for reasonable expenses incurred by Employée in complying with the prov1smns of Sections
- 18(d) and 18(e) of this Agreement. The Company and Employee agree that Employee is not entitled to additional compensation beyond that pald o Employee
for the period of time that he is employed by the Company, which compensaticr, along with the Company’s understandings set forth in this Agreement, is
expressly acknowledged to be adequate consideration for all of the Employee promises and obligations set forth in this Agreement. - '~
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() Employee expressly acknowledges and states that all Works which are made by Employee (solely or jointly with others) are being created at the
instance of the Company and are “warks made for hire,” as that term is defined in the Copyright Act of 1976, 17 USC § 101. In the event that such laws are
inapplicable or in the event that any such Works, or any part thereof, are determined by a court of competent jurisdiction not to be a work made for hire, this
Agreement will operate as an irrevocable and unconditional assignment by Employee to The Company of all Employee’s right, title and interest (including,
without limitation, all rights in and 1o the copyrights throughout the world, including the right to prepare derivative works and the rights to all renewals and
extensions) in the Works in perpetuity.

(h) Employee represents that Attachment A to this Agreement describes all inventions and works, whether patentable or not, which have been
conceived, made, reduced to practice, developed, authored, created, drawn or written prior to Employee’s employment by the Company; provided, however,
that, Employee has not disclosed in Attachment A information that is a trade secret belonging te another, or which is the subject of a contract preventing
Employee’s disclosure of the information to the Company.

19. Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation . In further consideration of the compensation to be paid to Employee hereunder, Employee acknowledges that
during the course of Employee's employment with the Company, Company will provide Employee Confidential Information, which Employee promises to not
disciose. Further, Employec will become and/or remain familiar with the Company’s trade secrcts and with other Confidential Information concerning the
Company and that Employee’s services shall be of special, unique and extraordinary value to the Company, and therefore, the Employee agrees that some
restrictions on Employee’s activities during and after Employee’s employment are necessary to protect the goodwill, Confidential Information and other
fegitimate interests of the Company:

(a) During the period of Employee’s employment by the Company and, if Employee’s employment with the Company terminates for any reason,
for a period of one (1) year thereafler (“Covenant Period™), except with the written consent of the Board, Employee shall not directly or indirectly, own, control,
finance or participate in the ownership, control or financing of any Direct Competitor or Secondary Competitor. For the purposes of this Agreement, a “Direct
Competitor” is defined as those entities listed on-Attachment B, Jas shall be madificd from time-to-time by Company upon written notice to Employee /. A
“Secondary Competitor” is defined as a person, business or enterprise which directly or indirectly engages in information techriology consulting and )
technology services, management consulting services, or owtsourcing services, including, but not limited to, technology strategy consulting, systems
development, enterprise software package implementation and maintenance, data warehousing and business intelligence, application testing, application
maintenance, infrastructure management, and business process outsourcing, in the Territory. For purposes of this Agreement, Territory is defined as any state
in the United States and any country in the world in which the Company has sold or performed any services at the time of the termination of the Employee’s

employmént with the Company. '

(b) During the Covenant Period, the Employer further agrees that Employee shall not be employed by or provide services in any capacity to, a
Direct Competitor in any part of the world. In addition, during the Covenant Period, Employee agrees that Employee shall not, in the Territory, provide
services the same as or similar to the services that Employee provided to the Company during a one (1) year period lmmedlately precedmg the termination of
the Emp]oyec s employment with the Company te any Secondary Competitor. -
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(c) In further consideration for the Company’s promises herein, Employee agrees that for the period beginning with the termination of Employee’s
employment with the Company for any reason, and for a period of one (1} year thereafter, Employce will not directly or indirectly solicit or recruit any part-
time or full-time employee, representative or consultant of the Company or its subsidiaries or affiliates to work for a third party other than the Company or its
subsidiaries or affiliates or engage in any activity that would cause any employee, representative or consultant (o violate any agreement with the Company or
its subsidiaries or affiliates. The floregoing covenant shall not apply to any person afler two (2) months have elapsed after the date on which such person’s
employment by the Conipany has terminated.

(d) The foregoing restrictions shall not be construed to prohibit Employee’s ownership of less than one percent (1%) of any class of securities of
any corporation which is engaged in any of the foregoing businesses and has a class of securities registered pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, provided that such ownership represents a passive investment and that neither Employee nor any group of persons including Employee in any
way, either directly or indircctly, manages or exercises control of any such corporation, guarantees any of its financial obligations, otherwise takes any part in
its business, other than exercising Employee’s rights as a stockholder, or seeks to do any of the foregoing.

20. Employee Representations..

(a) Employee represents and warrants that this Agreement and his employment by the Company does not conflict with and will not be constrained
by any prior business relationship or contract, that Employee does not possess trade secrets or other proprictary information arising out of any ptior business
relationship of contract that, in Employee’s best judgment would be utilized in connection with Employee’s employment with the Company. Employee further
agrees that he will not disclose any such trade secrets or other proprietary information to the Company or others.

(b) Employee represents and warrants that (i) before signing this Agreement, he has read this Agreement and is entering into this Agreement freely
and with knowledge of its contents with the intent to be bound by it and the restrictions contained herein; (if) the restrictions imposed on Employee by this
Agreement are fair, reasonable and proper and required for the protection of the Company’s business interests, particularly its investments in Employee ( e.g., -
Employee's job knowledge and skills), its Confidential Information, as well as the goodwill developed, and its business relationships, with its clients,
customers and prospective clicnts and customers; and (jii) the restrictions imposcd on Employee by this Agreement, particularly, the post-termination
restrictions, shall not preclude Employee from eaming a living or engaging in Employee’s profession or trade, or pursuing a career or a business.

14 . 0 o ,
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21. Equitable Relief.

{a) Employee acknowledges that the restrictions contained in Sections 17, 18, and 19 hereof are reasonable and necessary to protect the legitimate
interes(s of the Company and its affiliates, that the Company would not have entered into this Agreement in the absence of such restrictions, and that any
violation of any provision of those Sections will result in irreparable injury to the Company. Employec represents that Employee's experience and capabilities
arc such that the restrictions contained in Section 17, 18, and 19 hereof will not prevent Employee from obtaining employment or otherwise carning a living at
the same general level of ¢cconomic benefit as is currently the case. Employee further represents and acknowledges that (i) Employee has been advised by the
Company to consult Employee’s own legal counsel in respect of this Agreement, and (ii) that Employee has had full opportunity, prior to execution of this
Agreement, 1o review thoroughly this Agreement with Employee’s counsel. '

{b) Employee agrees that the Company shall be entitled to preliminary and permanent injunctive relief, without the necessity of proving actual
damages, as well as an equitable accounting of all earings, profits and other benefits arising from any violation of Sections 17, 18, and 19 hereof, which
rights shall be cumulative and in addition to any other rights or remedies to which the Company may be entitled. The period of the injunction shall be
measured from the date of a court order granting the injunctive relief. In the event that any of the provisions of Sections 17, 18, and 19 hereof should ever be
adjudicated to exceed the time, geographic, service, or other limitations permitted by applicable law in any jurisdiction, then such provisions shall bc deemed
reformed in such jurisdiction to the maximum time, geographic, service, or other limitations permitted by applicable law.

(c) Employee irrevocably and unconditionally (i} agrees that any suit, action or other legal proceeding arising out of Section 17, 18, and 19
hereof. including without limitation, any action commenced by the Company for preliminary and permanent injunctive relief or.other equitable relief, may be
brought in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey, or if such court does not have jurisdiction or will not accept jurisdiction, in any
court of general jurisdiction in New Jersey, (ii) consents to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of any such court in any such suit, action or proceeding, and
(iii) waives any objection which Employee may have to the laying of venue of any such suit, action or proceeding in any such court. Employee also
irrevocably and unconditionally consents te the service of any process, pleadmgs notices or other papers in a manner permitted by the notice prov1snons of
Sectnon 24 hereof, :

22. Term of Agreement. This Agreemenl shall continue in ful! force and effect for lhe duration of Employee s employment with the Company; provnded,
however, that afler the termination of Employee’s employment during the term of this Agreemenl ll'us Agreemcnl shall remain in effect until all of the
obligations of the Parties hereunder are sallsﬁed ot have expired. -

23. Successor Company. The Company shall require any successor or successors (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or
otherwise) to all or substantially all of the business and/er assets of the Cempany, by agreement in form and substance satisfactory to Employee, to
acknowledge expressly that this Agreement is binding upon and enforceable against the Company in accordance with the terms hereof, and 10 become jointly
and scverally obligated with the Company to perform this Agreement in the same manner and 1o the same extent that the Company would be rcqmrcd to -
perform if no such succession or successions had 1aken place. Failure of the Company to obtain such agreement prior to the effectiveness of any such
succcssion shall be a breach of this Agreement. As used in this Agreement, the Company shall mean the Company as hcrein before dcﬁncd and any such
SUCCESSOT OF SUCCESSOTS 10 its business and/or assets, Jomlly and severally.
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24. Notice. All notices and other communications required or permitted hereunder or necessary or convenient in connection herewith shall be in writing
and shall be delivered personally or mailed by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, or by overnight express courier service, as follows:

If 10 the Company, to:

Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporauon
500 Frank W. Burr Blvd.

Teaneck, NJ 07666

Aun: General Counsel

If to Employce, to:

|insert information)

or to such other names or addresses as the Company or Employee, as the case may be, shalt designate by notice to the other Parties hereto in the manner
specified in this Section; provided, however, that if no such notice is given by the Company following a change in contral, notice at the last address of the
Company or 10 any successor pursuant to this Scction 24 shall be deemed sufficient for the purposes hereof. Any such notice shall be deemed delivered and
effective when received in the case of personal delivery, five days after deposit, postage prepaid, with the U.S. Postal Service in the case of registered or
certified mail, or on the next business day in the case of overnight express courier service.

25. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted under the laws of the State of New Jersey without giving effect to any conflict
of laws provisions,

26. Contents of Agreement, Amendment and Assignment .

{a) This Agreement, including the Conduct Code, supersedes all prior agreements with respect to the subject matter hereof, scts forth the entire
understanding between the Partics hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and cannot be changed, modified, extended or terminated except upon written
amendment executed by Employee and executed on the Company’s behalf by a duly authorized officer, except for revisions or additions to Attachment B,
which may be unilaterally modified by Company upon written notice to Employee; provided, however, that this Agreement, except as expressly set forth in
Section 9. does not supersede, modify or change any existing written award agreements regarding stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock
awards. restricted stock units, performance awards, performance units or other stock-based awards issued to Employee prior to the effective date of this
Agreement. The provisions of this Agreement may provide for payments to Employee under certain compensation or bonus plans under circumstances where
such plans would not provide for
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payment thereof. It is the specific intention of the Parties that the provisions of this Agreement shall supersede any provisions to the contrary in such plans,
and such plans shall be deemed to have been amended to correspond with this Agreement without further action by the Company, the Company’s Board of
Directors or the Board unless such amendment would contravene the provisions of section 409A of the Code and result in the imposition of additional taxes
under section 409A of the Code upon Employee. .

(b} Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as giving Employee any right 1o be retained in the employ of the Company, or as changing or
modifying the “at will” nature of Employee’s employment status.

(<) All of the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the respective heirs,
representatives, successors and assigns of the Parties hereto, except that the duties and responsibilities of Employee and the Company hereunder shall not be
assignable in whole or in part by the Company. If Employee should die after Employee’s Termination Date and while any amount payable hereunder would
still be payable to Employee hereunder if Employee had continued 1o live, all such amounts, unless otherwise provided herein, shall be paid in accordance
with the terms of this Agreement to Employce’s deviscs, legates or other designees or, if there is no such designee, to Employee’s cstate.

27. Severability. If any provision of this Agrecement is declared illegal, invalid, or otherwise uncnforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, such
provision shall be reformed, if possible, to the exient necessary to render it legal, valid, and enforceable, or otherwise deleted, and the remainder of the terms of
this Agreement shall not be affected except to the extent necessary to reform or delete such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision.

28. Remedies Cumulative; No Waiver. No right conferred upon the Parties by this Agreement is intended to be exclusive of any other right or remedy,
and each and every such right or remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to any other right or remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing
at law or in equity. No delay or omission by a Party in exercising any right, remedy or power hereunder or existing at law or in equity shall be construed as a
waiver thereof.

_ 29. Miscellaneous. All section headings are for convenience only. This Agreement may be execuled in scveral counterparts, each of which is an original.
It shall not be necessary in making proof of this Agreement or any counterpart hereof to produce or account for any of the other counterparts.

30. Section 409A.

‘ (2) Interpretation. This Agreement is intended to comply with the requirements of section 409A of the Code, and specifically, with the “short-term
deferral exception™ under Treas. Reg. section 1.409A-1(b)(4) and the “separation pay exception” under Treas. Reg. section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii), and shall in all
respects be administered and construed in accordance with section 409A of the Code. If any payment or benefit hereunder cannot be provided or made at the
time specified herein without incurring sanctions on Employee under section 409A of the Code, - ' '
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then such payment or benefit shall be provided in full at the earliest time thereafter when such sanctions will not be imposed. For purposes of section 409A of
the Code, all payments to be made upon a Termination of Employment under this Agreement may only be made upon a “separation from service” (within the
meaning of such term under section 409A of the Code), each payment made under this Agreement shall be treated as a separate payment, the right to a series of
installment payments under this Agreement is to be treated as a right to a series of separate payments, and if a payment is not made by the designated payment
date under this Agreement, the payment shall be made by December 31 of the calendar year in which the designated date occurs. To the cxtent that any payment
provided for hereunder would be subject to additional tax under section 409A of the Code, or would cause the administration of this Agreement to fail to satisfy
the requirements of section 409A of the Code, such provision shall be deemed null and void to the extent permitted by applicable law, and any such amount
shall be payable in accordance with 6(b) below. In no event shall the Employee, directly or indirectly, designate the calendar year of payment. Nothing herein
shall be construed as having modified the time and form of payment of any amounts or payments of *‘deferred compensation™ (as defined under Treas. Reg.
section 1.409A-1(b)}(1). after giving effect to the exemptions in Treas. Reg. sections 1.409A-1(b){(3) through (b)(12)) that were otherwise payable pursuant to
the terms of any agreement between the Company and Employee in effect on or after January 1, 2005 and prior to the date of this Agreement.

- (b) Payment Delay. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if it is necessary to postpone the commencement of any payments or benefits
otherwise payable under this Agreement as a result of Employee’s “separation from service” with the Company to prevent the imposition of any accelerated or
additional tax under section 409A of the Code, then the Company will postpone the commencement of the payment of any such payments or benefits
hereunder (without any reduction in such payments or benefits ultimately paid or provided to Employee) that are not otherwise paid within the “short-term
deferral exception™ under Treas. Reg. section 1.409A-1(b)(4} and the “‘separation pay exception” under Treas. Reg. section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii), until the first
payroll date that occurs after the date that is six months following Employee’s “separation of service” with the Company. If any payments are postponed due to
such requirements, such postponed amounts.will be paid to Employee in a lump sum on the first payroll date that occurs afier the date that is six months
following Employee's “separation of service” with the Company. If Employee dies during the postponement period prior to the payment of the postponed
amount, the amounts withheld on account of section 409A of the Code shall be paid to lhe personal representanve of Employee’s estate within sixty (60) days
‘after the date of lhe Employee’s death. .

. (c) Relmbursements All renmbursemems prowded under this Agreemem shall be made or provided in accordance with the requiréments of section
409A of the Code, including, where applicable, the requirement that (i) any reimbursement is for expenses incurred during Employee’s lifetime (or during a

" shorter periad of time specified in this Agreement), (ii) the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement during a calendar year may not affect the expenses
cligible for reimbursement in any other calendar year, (iii) the reimbursement of an eligible expense will be made on or before the last day of the taxable year
following the year in which the expense is incurred, and (iv) the right to reimbursement is not subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.
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31. Recoupment Policy. Employee acknowledges that Employee shall be subject to and hereby agrees 10 abide by the terms of any ¢lawback or
recoupment policy that the Company has adopted or may hereafter adopt, as may be amended from time to time, with or without notice (the “Recoupment
Policy™) to further the Company’s interests in enhancing its corperate governance practices and/or to comply with applicable law, rules or regulations
promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Comniission or the rules of the national securities exchange on which shares of the common stock of the
Company are listed for trade. Employee understands that pursuant to the Recoupment Policy, the Company may seek 1o recoup all or part of any severance
payments, bonus or other incentive compensation paid to certain officers and former officers, including Equity Awards, in the event that the Company is
required to restate its financial statements. In consideration of the continued benefits to be received from the Company (or a subsidiary) and the right to
participatc in, and receive future awards under, the Company's cash and cquity-based incentive programs, Employce hereby acknowledges, understands and
agrecs that:

(a) The Recoupment Policy applies to severance, cash bonuses and other incentive compensation, including Equity Awards, paid or awarded to
Employee prior to ot after the date on which the Recoupment Policy is adopted, and Employce agrees that, to the cxtent provided in the Recoupment Policy, the
Recoupment Policy shall apply to cquity and other award agreements outstanding as of the date of this Agreement or hereafier cxecuted, and such agreements
shall be deemed amended by, and to incorporate, the terms of the Recoupment Policy even if the Recoupment Policy is not explicitly referenced therein;

(b) The Company shall be fully entitled to enforce the Recoupment Policy against Employee in accordance with its terms, and Employee promptly
shall comply with any demand authorized by the Board of Directors of the Company pursuant to the terms of the Recoupment Policy for repayment, return or
rescission of, severance payments, a cash bonus or other incentive compensation. including Equity Awards, subject to the Recoupment Policy; and

(¢} Nothing in this acknowledgement shall be construed to expand the scope or terms of the Recoupment Policy, and Employee is not waiving any
defenses Employee may have in the event of an action for recoupment of compensation under the Recoupment Policy, other than (i) waiving any defense
regarding the retroactive application of the Recoupment Policy to prior or existing payments or awards and (i) waiving any claim that the integration clause of
any agreement excludes the application of the Recoupment Policy. : -

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned, inténding to be legally bound, have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.

COGNIZANT TECHNOLOGY SOLUTIONS CORPORATION

Allest; By:
Its:
Witness . [Employee]
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ATTACHMENT A
I, The following is « complete list of all inventions and works that have been conceived, made, reduced to practice, developed, authored, created,
drawn or written by me alone or jointly with others prior to my engagement by the Company.

0O  None

See below.

X  Due to a preexisting contract with another party, | cannot disclose certain Inventions or Works that would otherwise be included on the above-
described list.

O Additional sheets are attached.
{number)

EMPLOYEE:

Signature:

Name:

(Print)
Title:

Date:
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ATTACHMENT B - List of Direct Competitors
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SCHEDULE TO EXHIBIT 10.4 — FORM OF AMENDED AND RESTATED EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AND NON-DISCLOSURE, NON-
COMPETITION, AND INVENTION ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT

COGNIZANT TECHNOLOGY SOLUTIONS CORPORATION HAS ENTERED INTO AN AMENDED AND RESTATED EXECUTIVE
EMPLOYMENT AND NON-DISCLOSURE, NON-COMPETITION, AND INVENTION ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT WITH EACH OF THE

FOLLOWING PERSONS:

FRANCISCO D'SOUZA

GORDON COBURN

KAREN MCLOUGHLIN
RAMAKRISHNAN.CHANDRASEKARAN
RAJEEV MEHTA

MALCOLM FRANK

STEVEN SCHWARTZ

IDENTICAL TO THE FORM PROVIDED HEREiN.
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LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMFANY

Name of Entity

Cognizant Technology Solutions Argentina S.R.L.

Cognizant Technology Solutions Australia Pty Lid.

marketRx Pty Lid.

PIPC Pty Ltd.

Cognizant Technology Solutions Austria GmbH

Cognizant Technology Solutions Belgium SA

Cognizant Servigos de Tecnolegia e Software do Brasil S/A.

Cognizant Technology Solutions Canada, Inc

Cognizant Technology Solutions (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

Cognizant Technology Solutions Cyprus Limited

Cognizant Technology Solutions s.r.o

Cognizant Technolegy Solutions Denmark ApS

Cognizant Technology Solutions Finland Oy

Cognizant Technology Solutions France S.A.

Cognizant Technology Solutions GmbH

Cognizant Technology Sclutions Hong Kong Ltd.

PIPC (Hong Kong) Limited

Cognizant Technolegy Solutions Hungary Kft

Cognizant Technology Solutions India Pvi. Limited

Ygyan Consulting Private Lid.

Cognizant Technology Services Private Limited,

Cognizant Global Services Private Limited

Excellence Data Rescarch Private Limited .

Cognizant Technology Solutions Ireland Limited

Cognizant Technology Solutions Isle of Man Limited '

Cognizant Technology Solutions Iralia, S.p.A.

Cognizant Japan KK

Cognizant Technalogy Solutions Jersey Limited

Cognizant Business Services Limited

Cognizant Technology Solutions Luxembourg S A.R.L.

Ygyan Consulting Private SDN BHD

CogDev Malaysia SDN BHD

Cognizant Technology Selutions Ltd.

Cognizant {Mauritius) Development Limited -

Cognizant (Mauritius) Ltd.

Cognizant Technology Solutions de Mexico S.A. de C.V.

Cognizant Technology Solutions New Zcaland Limited

Cognizant Technology Solutions Norway AS

Cognizant Technology Solutions Philippines, Inc.
“Medicall Philippines Inc. | ‘ '

Cognizant Technology Solutions Poland sp. z 0.0.

Cognizant Technology Solutions Portugal, Unipessoal LDA

Cognizant Technology Solutions Saudi LLC

Cognizant Technology Solutions Asia Pacific Pte Ltd.

PIPC Pte Limited

Cognizant Technology Solutions Slovakia, s.r.o.

Cognizant Technology Solutions South Africa (Pty} Ltd.

Cognizani Technology Solutions Spain S.L.

Suurce: COGNIZANT TECHNOLOGY SOLUTIONS CORP. 10-K. February 26. 2013
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Jurisdiction

Argentina
Australia
Australia
Australia
Austria

Belgium

Brazil

Canada

China

Cyprus

Czech Republic
Denmark
Finland

France

Germany

Hong Kong SAR
Hong Kong SAR
Hungary

India

India

India

India

India

Treland

Isle of Man -
Italy

Japan .
Jersey . P
Jersey ’

Luxembourg

Malaysia
Malaysia
Mauritius
Mauritius
Mauritius
Mexico

New Zealand
Norway
Philippines
Philippines
Poland
Portugal
Saudi Arabia
Singapore
Singapore
Slovakia

- South Africa

Spain
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Name of Entity
Cognizant Technology Solutions Sweden AB
CogDev Solutions AB
Cognizant Technology Solutions AG
Cognizant Technology Solutions {Thailand) Co., Ltd.
Cognizant Technology Solutions Benelux B.V.
Cognizant Technology Solutions B.V.
Cognizant Technology Solutions (Netherlands) B.V.
Cognizant Technology Solutions (T&T) Limited
Cognizant Technology Solutions UK Limited
marketRx (UK) Limited
PIPC Global Holding Company Limited
PIPC (UK) Limited )
Cognizant Technology Solutions Global Services Limited
Cognizant Technology Solutions U.S. Corporation
CSS Investment LLC . ’
Cognizant Technology Solutions Overseas Corporation
- marketRx Inc.
Cognizant Technology Solutions Holdings LLC
Cognizant Technology Solutions Americas Corporation
Cognizant Technology Solutions Services, LLC
" Cognizant Business Services Corporaticn -
_ Cognizant Domestic Holdings Corporation
© Medicall, Inc. . . S

Souice: COGN!ZANTl’ECHNUL()G‘:‘VSULUTIDNS CORP, 10-K, February 26, 2013
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Jurisdictlon
Sweden
Sweden
Switzerland
Thailand
The Netherlands
The Netherlands
The Netherlands
Trinidad and Tobago
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United States
United States
United States
United States
United States
United States
United States

_United States "~

" United States

" United States
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Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We hereby conscnt 1o the incorporation by reference in the Registration Staiement on Form 8-8 (Nos. 333-59439, 333-86909, 333-43402, 333-68772,
333-114464, 333-127308, 333-144125, 333-160450, and 333-169534) of Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation of our report dated February 26, 2013,
relating to the financial statements, {inancial stalement schedule and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form
10-K.

PricewalterhouseCoopers LLP

New York, New York
February 26, 2013
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION
i, Francisco D'Souza, certify that:

1. 1 have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation,

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect 10 the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial mformauon included in this report, fairly present in all malenal respecls

the financial condition. results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

.. 4 The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disciesure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and i5d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparanon of financial statements for
extemal purposes in accordance with generally accepled accounting principles; .

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

" d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
) recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has matenally affected or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s interhal control over financial reporting; and : :

5.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I have dlsclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to lhe
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) " All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control aver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the reglstrant s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud. whether or not material, that lnvolves management or other employees who have'a SIgmﬁcant role in the registrant’s internal
control over ﬁnancml reponlng ‘ . .

Dated: February 26, 2013

/8/ _FRANCISCO D’Souza
Francisco D'Souza,
Chlef Executive Officer
{PHuclpal Executive Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Karen McLoughlin, certify that:
1. Ihave reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
stalements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report,

3 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this repert, faicly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsibie for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e)) and intemal control over financial reporting (as deﬁned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures 1o be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consclidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entlities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; .

b) Designed such intemal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting te be designed under our
supervision. to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of ﬁnanctal statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely 10 materially affect, the registranl’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying ofticer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Dated: February 26, 2013

" /S/° KAREN MCLOUGHLIN

Karen MeLoughlin
Chief Finunclal Officer
{Principat Financlal and Accounting Oflicer)
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EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation (the “Company”} for the period ended
December 31, 2012 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), the undersigned, Francisco D*Souza, Chief

Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:
(1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: February 26, 2013

/8/  FRANCISCO D’Souza

Franclsco D*Souza,
. Chief Executive Officér
(Principal Executive OfMicer) )

* A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporatien and will
be retained by Cognizant Technology Solutiens Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Comemission or its staff upon

request.
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EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation (the “Company™) for the period ended
December 31, 2012 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), the undersigned, Karen McLoughlin, Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that: :

(1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Dated: February 26, 2013 '

/8! KAREN MCLOUGHLIN

Karen McLoughiin
Chiel Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

* A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Cognizant Technology Selutions Corporation and will .
be retained by Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon '
request. ‘ - . - - ’ o
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